

Gladys Tarcila Lima Caldeira

# THE ROLE OF STARGAZIN IN THE PATHOGENESIS OF PSYCHIATRIC DISORDERS

Tese de doutoramento em Biologia Experimental e Biomedicina, ramo de Neurociências e Doença, orientada pela Professora Doutora Ana Luísa Carvalho e pelo Investigador Doutor João Miguel Peça Lima Novo Silvestre, apresentada ao Instituto de Investigação Interdisciplinar da Universidade de Coimbra.

Junho 2017



Universidade de Coimbra

Gladys Tarcila Lima Caldeira

# THE ROLE OF STARGAZIN IN THE PATHOGENESIS OF PSYCHIATRIC DISORDERS

PhD thesis presented to the Institute for Interdisciplinary Research from the University of Coimbra (IIIUC) for the fulfillment of the requirements for a Doctoral degree in Experimental Biology and Biomedicine, specialization in Neuroscience and Disease, under the supervision of Doctor Ana Luísa Monteiro de Carvalho (Life Science Department) and co-supervision of Doctor João Miguel Peça Lima Novo Silvestre (IIIUC).

## June, 2017



Universidade de Coimbra

Gladys Tarcila Lima Caldeira

# O PAPEL DA STARGAZINA NA PATOGÉNESE DE DOENÇAS PSIQUIÁTRICAS

Tese de doutoramento apresentada ao Instituto para a Investigação Interdisciplinar da Universidade de Coimbra (IIIUC) para a prestação de provas de Doutoramento em Biologia Experimental e Biomedicina na especialidade de Neurociências e Doença, sob a orientação da Professora Doutora Ana Luísa Monteiro de Carvalho (Departamento de Ciências da Vida) e co-orientação do Investigador Doutor João Miguel Peça Lima Novo Silvestre (IIIUC)

Junho de 2017



Universidade de Coimbra

Este trabalho foi realizado no CNC-Centro de Neurociências e Biologia Celular, Universidade de Coimbra, e financiado por fundos FEDER através do Programa Operacional Fatores de Competitividade – COMPETE, e por fundos nacionais através da Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (FCT) através do projeto estratégico UID/NEU/04539/2013 e da bolsa de doutoramento SFRH/BD/51962/2012. Este projecto foi financiado através dos financiamentos PTDC/NEU-NMC/0750/2012, FCT, Portugal, NARSAD Independent Investigator Grant, Brain and Behavior Research Foundation, EUA, e Fondation Jerôme Lejeune, França (atribuídos a Ana Luísa Carvalho), e dos projectos IF/00812/2012 (Programa Investigador FCT), PTDC/NEU-SCC/3247/2014, FCT, Portugal, PCIG13-GA-2013, Marie Curie Actions, e NARSAD Young Investigator Award, Brain and Behavior Research Foundation, EUA (atribuídos a João Peça).

This work was performed at the CNC-Center for Neuroscience and Cell Biology, University of Coimbra and funded by FEDER funds through the Operational Programme Factors Competitiveness – COMPETE, and by national funds from the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT) through the strategic project UID/NEU/04539/2013 and the PhD scholarship SFRH/BD/51962/2012. This project was funded through the grants PTDC/NEU-NMC/0750/2012, FCT, Portugal, NARSAD Independent Investigator Grant, Brain and Behavior Research Foundation, USA, and Fondation Jerôme Lejeune, France (to Ana Luísa Carvalho), and IF/00812/2012, FCT investigator programme, Portugal, PTDC/NEU-SCC/3247/2014, FCT, Portugal, PCIG13-GA-2013, Marie Curie Actions, and NARSAD Young Investigator Grant, Brain and Behavior Research Foundation, USA (to João Peça).

Parts of this work were performed in collaboration with Doctor Carlos Pato (SUNY Downstate Medical Center), Doctor Célia Carvalho (University of Azores) and Doctor Ka Wan Li (Neuroproteomics laboratory, Center for Neurogenomics and Cognitive Research, Vrei University, Amsterdam).

#### **Cover note**

The image on the cover of this thesis is a representation of a cortical neuron over a DNA double helix.



"Her brother has a disease, an illness with the shape and sound of a snake. It slithers through the branches of our family tree. It must have broken her heart to know that I was next."

Nathan Filer in "The Shock of the Fall"

# **AGRADECIMENTOS**

A parte mais difícil desta tese é conseguir explicar a importância que todas as pessoas que se seguem tiveram nesta etapa. O agradecimento principal é ao que quer que conspire para que naminha vida apareçam e permaneçam pessoas como estas, pessoas maravilhosamente diferentes e complexas. Não há nada mais difícil do que conseguir amizades sinceras, que acalmam a turbulência, e são companheiras em qualquer missão. Mas, vencendo as probabilidades, eu somo muitos amigos assim. Eles trouxeram-me até aqui e levar-me-ão onde eu quiser ir.

À professora Ana Luísa agradeço por ser um modelo a seguir, por nos ensinar muito mais que Ciência, por acreditar genuinamente em cada um de nós e fazer questão de o mostrar. Não tenho palavras para agradecer a confiança e a motivação diárias e por todas as oportunidades que me proporcionou. Obrigada por nos dar a liberdade necessária ao nosso crescimento sem nunca nos desamparar. E claro, obrigada pelo imensurável apoio durante cada uma das fases do trabalho e na correcção da tese. É um enorme privilégio fazer parte deste grupo.

Ao João Peça agradeço a indiscritível ajuda neste trabalho, pelos conselhos e críticas valiosas e pelo encorajamento constante. Obrigada pelo apoio e olhar atentos de quem sabe um pouco de quase tudo. O trabalho tornou-se muitíssimo mais fácil graças a isso.

Agradeço ainda aos dois, professora Ana Luísa e João Peça, pela oportunidade de trabalhar neste projecto tão rico e complexo que me ensinou tanto e fortaleceu a tantos níveis.

Ao professor Carlos Duarte agradeço a ajuda na discussão do trabalho, na ajuda na resolução de qualquer problema e por nos agraciar todos os dias com a sua boa disposição e frequentemente com os seus docinhos.

Ao Ramiro e ao Paulo Pinheiro pelos conselhos e opiniões acerca do trabalho que contribuíram para o seu desenvolvimento.

À Susana, por ser uma constante inspiração neste caminho. Obrigada por me motivares e encorajares a fazer mais, a acreditar que tudo correria bem. Por me ensinares tudo o que sei e por não ligares ao alerta totó. Não conheço ninguém que respire isto como respiras e por isso e por muitas outras razões foi um privilégio ter-te como minha chefinha e principalmente ter-te como minha amiga. Obrigada por me levares pela mão até ao fim.

À Sandra, a quem admiro cada dia mais, por ter uma força sobre-humana, que não conhece cansaço e muito menos sestas. Que bom que cruzaste o meu caminho e fizeste parte da PhD-associated moldagem do carácter. Na verdade, na definição de Adib Jatene (que me deste a conhecer), sempre foste uma médica, cuja tarefa é tão só curar e aliviar, e na impossibilidade disto, confortar. Para mim e para todos no lab não cabe tão bem a ninguém este papel.

À Dona Céu por ser tão especial. Obrigada Dona Céu por todo o seu carinho e cuidado, por olhar por nós com o olhar de mãe, que conforta e acalma os dias maus. Obrigada por nos receber sempre com esse sorriso sincero e amigo. É muito bom poder contar com a sua amizade.

À Marina, que acha que é a co-piloto mas que já sabe voar sozinha. Obrigada pelo incansável apoio, nas experiências em que preciso de ajuda, naquelas em que preciso de companhia, naquelas em que não preciso de nada mas tu estás na mesma porque é isso que as equipas fazem. Contigo sei que não há nada que não possa fazer, ou que tenha que ultrapassar sozinha. A Starteam existe por tua causa, por seres incrivelmente dedicada e disponível e por não olhares a meios para aliviar a pressão de alguém. Obrigada principalmente pela tua amizade verdadeira, pelo teu cuidado e sensibilidade. Eu sei que essa percepção fora do comum não se fica por reconhecer padrões esquisitos ou reparar nos mais recônditos pormenores das indumentárias, mas também a usas para uma capacidade *Nature-grade* de captar a essência de cada um. Fun fact para ti: Coisas boas acontecem a pessoas boas.

À Jeannette por ser uma fofinha, por ser tão forte e persistente, por ser a "minha pessoa", por ter sempre um abracinho para dar, por encontrar sempre o "spot" e por fazer o melhor Tikka massala e Banoffee pie. Obrigada Tia Jeannette por todo o teu carinho! (E não finjas que não percebes português!).

À Tati, que olha por nós como a sua mantinha em construção, nos acarinha e conforta todos os dias. Obrigada Tati, pelos conselhos sábios e "clássicos", por todos os momentos de riso real e de risinho nervoso. Obrigada pela confiança, pelos conselhos e pelo apoio constante. Sem ti, nada disto seria a mesma coisa!

À Joana Fernandes, por fazer parte do meu karass. Obrigada pela amizade verdadeira, pelas partilhas, pelos risos, pelas conversas sem mimimi e por mostrares que nunca devemos parar de buscar pelo que nos preenche e valoriza. Estarei sempre pronta para um pão de queijo, que eventualmente poderá ser na casa da mamãe <sup>©</sup>

À Marili(e)ne, companheira de secretária e dos vales e planícies desta jornada. Obrigada Line, por seres tão simples e tão fácil de agradar. Não deixes nunca que te digam que esse chocolate foi a mais, nunca é a mais! Obrigada sestra por todos os conselhos e confidências. Estarei sempre por perto para apagar eventuais incêndios!

À Domi, outra gémea que já foi companheira de secretária e que é companheira das noitadas, companheira das viagens, companheira das reclamações, tradutora oficial, fotógrafa paciente e dedicada. Obrigada Domizinha, ficou mais fácil quando voltaste e trouxeste contigo a tua boa disposição, os bons conselhos e os incentivos.

À Debby, porque somos um match! Obrigada Debbyzinha por seres uma agradável surpresa. Obrigada pela empatia, pelas conversas complexas que nos fazem pensar, obrigada pelas partilhas e pela confiança. Pessoas inteiras, humildes e diferentes como tu tornam tudo mais interessante. Espero continuar por muito tempo a saber que "We're good". YOLO.

À Beazoca, mestre do RNA, pela incansável ajuda. Obrigada por seres uma espalha brasas e pores aquilo tudo a mexer como deve ser. RIP Patchteam, qTeam forever, que achas?

À Luísa e à prima Guidinha por me ajudarem tanto durante este trabalho, pelas dicas e conselhos e sobretudo pelo carinho e amizade.

À Sara, pela sua incrível dedicação e cuidado, por nos facilitar imensamente o trabalho e sobretudo por ser sempre tão querida e motivadora com seu sorriso sempre pronto e a sua boa disposição.

À Laurinha, a minha primeira "long-term" pupila, que já nasceu ensinada mas que nunca deixou que isso afectasse o seu jeito gentil e humilde e a sua dedicação. Foi um prazer enorme ter-te comigo e conhecer toda essa decisão e força de vontade numa pessoa só.

Ao Tiago Rondão, por toda a ajuda neste trabalho e por mostrar que é possível fazer tudo e bem com muita calma e tranquilidade.

À lnês pela sua calma e delicadeza e pelo sorriso constante.

A todos os alunos de rotação que passaram por mim e trouxeram novos olhares e novas ideias, todos contribuíram de alguma forma para este trabalho.

To Moh, for showing me that we can find truly special people in every corner of the world. Thank you for your permanent big smile, I am incredibly grateful for having you on my side. Sure you'll be successful in your "pursuit of Happyness".

À Lara por ser sempre querida e amiga, e por acreditar que tenho sempre razão. Não é verdade, eu digo sombrancelha. Obrigada pela confiança, por acreditares em mim e me incentivares em todas as situações. Obrigada também pela tua ajuda pronta neste trabalho. À Joana Guedes, por ser um furacão do Norte que na verdade não é do Norte. Obrigada por me mostrares que a determinação e o trabalho árduo dão frutos, que devemos correr atrás da nossa bola e não baixarmos as orelhas. Precisamos de muitos e muitas como tu! Obrigada pela amizade e por me agraciares todos os dias com um "Oh Gladisinha!" que me faz sorrir. É muito bom ter-te "deste lado"!

Aos loucos do karaoke, Calmeiro e Renato, vocês são incomparáveis e vou dizer isto só uma vez, partilhar isto convosco foi espectacular.

Ao Bruno Cruz, pela ajuda imprescindível neste trabalho e pelas Happy hours.

Ao Ivan que não diz uma frase certa mas que não olha a meios para nos ajudar quando precisamos. Obrigada Cavals!!

Ao Rui e à Miri que fizeram a coisa mais fofinha e riquinha do mundo. Obrigada meninos por todo o vosso carinho, pela motivação e boa disposição. Sou uma zia feliiiz!

À Maria Cristina e ao Fábio que deixaram a sua marca quando passaram por cá. Mi manchi!!!

Às Marta e Joana Ferreira que já partiram para novos horizontes mas que ficam sempre no nosso coração, obrigada pelos conselhos e as dicas e por serem um exemplo a seguir.

À Maria Joana, que tem a energia toda do mundo dentro dela, que tem um sorriso inigualável e um carácter e disposição que deixa qualquer um à toa. Adorei partilhar contigo uma parte desta etapa.

A todas as pessoas que passaram pelo lab e que contribuíram para tornar estes anos tão especiais. Luís Ribeiro, Graciano, Pedro Afonso, Carlos, Pedro Alves, obrigada por tudo.

A todos os membros dos grupos ALC, JP, RDA e CBD que fazem do nosso trabalho um lugar especial.

Ao meu grupo do BEB por partilharem esta experiência comigo e por se terem mostrado pessoas tão especiais. Dina, Sofia, Sofia, Jeannette, Ivan, Sara, Andreia, Mohamed, Lara, Susana and Ravi, thank you all.

À Sara e à Ana Teresa pelas palavras amigas, pelas partilhas e pela companhia nos muitos almoços.

Às minhas meninas "ali do lado", Sara, Dina e Patrícia por me terem acolhido na vossa família. Obrigada por serem assim espectaculares, divertidas e sorridentes. É mesmo bom poder contar com a vossa amizade e saber que nunca estou sozinha, dentro e fora do CNC. Agora vou contar-vos a história da mula...

Às minhas Sofias, pelas confidências, pelas partilhas e pelos ensinamentos. Foi muito bom poder contar com a vossa companhia nesta aventura!

À Cristina, Luísa, Sandra, Tatiana e Luana, que tão pacientemente me acompanharam no início desta jornada. Por me terem feito sentir em casa e por me ensinarem tanto, de forma tão tranquila e carinhosa. Tive muita sorte em poder contar com o vosso apoio e amizade.

Aos CELindos. É um prazer fazer parte deste grupo. Obrigada por todo o vosso apoio e compreensão, por serem tão generosos nas partilhas, nos conselhos e nos incentivos. Obrigada especialmente à Vanessa pela ajuda valiosa desde o início desta aventura.

Aos meus amigos de verdade que apesar de longe cultivam permanentemente o laço que nos une e me (nos) torna mais fortes. Obrigada Zé, Mafalda, Paulo, Daniela, Raquel, Anaísa e Tatiana por existirem e me fazerem assim feliz. À Joana Pedro, que vê tão bem com o coração e por ser uma verdadeira amiga, fiel e dedicada que faz tudo pelos seus. És muito especial, Joaninha e tenho muita sorte em poder contar com o teu carinho e confiança. Foste absolutamente indispensável durante esta jornada. Obrigada por tudo.

Ao Michelino por ser incrivelmente divertido e amigo. Tenho muitas saudades de te ter por perto Michi! Obrigada por todos os momentos em que gozaste comigo e nos que me apoiaste e motivaste. 🗢

Ao Luís Martins, por infindáveis motivos que no singular já fariam dele o melhor amigo. Fiel escudeiro, não tenho palavras para ti. Escrevo isto numa altura em que já não vens às 4, o que torna os meus dias muito menos irritantes mas (ligeiramente) menos divertidos. Gosto de pensar que fiz na tua vida pelo menos parte da diferença que fazes na minha, fratello.

À Ana, porque não consigo imaginar uma pessoa melhor para me acompanhar por tantos anos e por tantas etapas diferentes. Obrigada pela tranquilidade de saber que fazes e farás sempre parte da minha vida, por teres sido a minha casa e a minha consciência por tantas vezes. Não teria conseguido sem ti, pessoa normal que me seguia nas praxes e que me ensinou a pendurar meias. E como nós duas não primamos pela pieguice e declarações fofinhas, vou ter que usar a frase mais bonita que já li da tua mãe: "Somos irmãs com olhos diferentes".

Ao Luis, por guardares para mim uma parte significativa desse teu enorme coração. Por, sem dares conta, acalmares qualquer temporal com o teu jeito leve e sensato. Obrigada por me escolheres para ser a tua companhia nesta viagem.

A toda a minha família pelo apoio e amor incondicional, principalmente à Clarisse que me mostra que o amor sincero sobrevive a um Oceano inteiro. Obrigada princesa, pela admiração e carinho. O seu sorriso e os seus "Oiiii" iluminam os meus dias.

Aos meus pais, que fazem o impossível para me ver feliz, que me incentivam a olhar mais longe, que acreditam e me fazem acreditar que não há caminho nenhum que esteja cortado para mim. Não há nada que se compare à felicidade de ter vocês na minha vida e poder contar convosco para qualquer viagem. Este trabalho é vosso, todas as minhas conquistas são vossas. Obrigada.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABBREVIA	ITIONS	i
KEYWORD	S	iii
PALAVRAS	5-CHAVE	iii
ABSTRACT		v
<b>RESUMO</b>		vii
CHAPTER <sup>2</sup>	1 Introduction	1
1.1.	Psychiatric disorders	3
1.1.1.	Schizophrenia	3
1.1.2.	Intellectual disability	12
1.1.3.	Shared genetics of psychiatric disorders	15
1.1.4.	Mouse models of psychiatric disorders	15
1.2.	Glutamatergic synapses	20
1.2.1.	Metabotropic receptors	21
1.2.2.	NMDA receptors	21
1.2.3.	AMPA receptors	22
1.2.4.	Stargazin, an auxiliary subunit for AMPAR	25
1.2.5.	The TARP family	27
1.2.6.	Stargazin regulates AMPAR trafficking, synaptic stabilization and kinetics	28
1.2.7.	Stargazin interaction with AMPAR	30
1.2.8.	Other Stargazin interactors	32
1.3.	Synaptic plasticity	33
1.3.1.	The role of stargazin in synaptic plasticity	36
1.4.	The CACNG2 gene as a susceptibility gene for psychiatric disorders	37
OBJECTIVE	ES	39
<b>CHAPTER</b>	<b>2</b> Identification and <i>in vitro</i> characterization of disease-associated variants of the CACNG2 gene	41
2.1.	Summary	43
2.2.	Introduction	44
2.3.	Results	46
2.3.1.	SCZ-associated mutation, S148N, is predicted to affect the function of stargazin	46
2.3.2.	Disease-associated stargazin variants present altered surface diffusion properties	48
2.3.3.	Effects of mutations, V143L and S148N, on stargazin's expression, trafficking to the surface	and ability
	to interact with AMPAR	50
2.3.4.	Stargazin disease-associated variants impact AMPAR trafficking and stabilization at the sy	napse53
2.3.5.	Intellectual disability-associated stargazin variant impairs homeostaticsynaptic scaling	55
2.3.6.	The cognitive enhancer tianeptine reverts the deficits induced by the S148N mutation in	stargazin-
	mediated trafficking of AMPAR	58
2.3.7.	The absence of stargazin, or the expression of the disease-associated variant Stg <sup>SCZ</sup> ,	influence
	inhibitory synapse density and dendritic arborization	60
2.3.8.	Newly identified stargazin interactors are implicated in psychiatric disorders	63
2.4.	Discussion	66

2.5.	Material and Methods	71
2.5.1.	Whole-genome sequencing data analysis	71
2.5.2.	Sanger sequencing of the exons of the CACNG2 gene	72
2.5.3.	Prediction Tools	72
2.5.4.	Protein structure representation	72
2.5.5.	Constructs and primers for neuronal transfection	73
2.5.6.	Cortical neuron cultures (High-density and Banker cultures)	73
2.5.7.	Neuronal transfection with calcium phosphate	74
2.5.8.	HEK 293T cells transfection with calcium phosphate	74
2.5.9.	Viral production and neuronal transduction	75
2.5.10.	Immunocytochemistry for morphology and quantitative fluorescence analysis	75
2.5.11.	Quantum dots labeling and imaging	76
2.5.12.	Total protein and P2 extracts - cultured rat cortical neurons and HEK cells	77
2.5.13.	Immunoprecipitation	78
2.5.14.	SDS-PAGE and Western Blot	78
2.5.15.	Silver staining for in gel protein detection	79
2.5.16.	Colloidal Coomassie blue staining	79
2.5.17.	Protein identification by liquid chromatography coupled to MS analysis (LC-MS/MS)	79
CHAPTER 3 Ge	neration and characterization of <i>knock-in</i> mice for the ID-associated stargazin mutation, V143	L83
3.1.	Summary	85
3.2.	Introduction	86
3.3.	Results	
3.3.1.	Generation of the Stg <sup>ID</sup> <i>knock-in</i> mice	87
3.3.2.	Homozygous Stg <sup>ID</sup> knock-in (StgV143L <sup>+/+</sup> ) mice show increased locomotor activity and no d	stinct
	anxiety-like behaviors	88
3.3.3.	The ID-associated stargazin mutation affects motor learning in the rotarod	91
3.3.4.	Stg <sup>ID</sup> knock-in mice present impaired spontaneous alternation phenotype	93
3.3.5.	Nesting behavior is affected by the ID-associated mutation	95
3.4.	Discussion	97
3.5.	Material and Methods	
3.5.1.	Vector design	105
3.5.2.	Embryonic Stem Cells and Mouse Embryonic Fibroblasts cell culture	
3.5.3.	Behavioral characterization of stargazin V143L knock-in mice	115
<b>CHAPTER 4</b> (1	osing remarks and Future Perspective	119
CHAPTER 5 Re	ferences	129

# **ABBREVIATIONS**

AAC	Anterior cingulate cortex			
AMCA	Aminomethylcoumarin acetate			
AMPA	Amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazole propionic acid			
AMPAR	AMPA receptor			
ANOVA	Analysis of variance			
ARC	Activity-regulated cytoskeleton-associated protein			
ASD	Autism spectrum disorder			
BCA	Bicinchoninic acid			
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor			
BSA	Bovine serum albumin			
CACNG2	Calcium voltage-gated channel auxiliary subunit gamma 2			
CaMKII	Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II			
CLAP	Chymostatin, leupeptin, antipain and pepstatin			
CTD	Carboxy terminal domain			
CTR	Control			
DDM	n-Dodecyl β-D-maltoside			
DIV	Days <i>in vitro</i>			
DLPFC	Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex			
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid			
DS	Dorsal striatum			
DTT	Dithiothreitol			
ECF	Enhanced chemifluorescence			
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid			
EM	Electron microscopy			
EPSC	Excitatory post synaptic currents			
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum			
GABA	Gamma aminobutyric acid			
GABAR	GABA receptors			
GFP	Green fluorescent protein			
GluA	Glutamate receptor, ionotropic, AMPA			
HA	Hemaglutinin			
HBSS	Hank's balanced salt solution			
HEK	Human embryonic kidney			
HEPES	N-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazine-N"-(2-ethanesulfonic acid)			
ID	Intellectual disability			
lgG	Immunoglobulin G			
IP	Immunoprecipitation			
KAR	Kainate receptors			
KD	Knockdown			
kDa	Kilodalton			
КО	Knock-out			
LBD	Ligand binding domain			

LTD	Long term depression
LTP	Long term potentiation
М	Membrane domain
MAGUK	Membrane-associated guanylate kinase
MAP2	Microtubule associated protein 2
Mecp2	Methyl CpG binding protein
MEM	Minimum essential medium eagle
mGluR	Metabotropic glutamate receptor
mRNA	Messenger RNA
NA	Nucleus accumbens
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
NMDAR	NMDA Receptors
NTD	N-terminal domain
NTD	Amino terminal domain
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
РСР	Phenylcyclidine
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PDZ	Postsynaptic density 95-discs large-zona occludens
PFC	Prefrontal cortex
PIC	Portuguese island collection
РКА	Protein kinase A
РКС	Protein kinase C
PMSF	Phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride
PSD	Postsynaptic density
PSD95	Postsynaptic density protein 95
PVDF	Polyvinylidene fluoride
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNAi	Interference RNA
RT	Room temperature
SCZ	Schizophrenia
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
SDS-PAGE	SDS-poliacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SEM	Standard error of the mean
shRNA	Short-hairpin Ribonucleic Acid
Stg	Stargazin
TARP	Transmembrane AMPAR-regulatory protein
TBS	Tris-buffered saline
ТМ	Transmembrane domain
TTX	Tetrodotoxin
VGAT	Vesicular GABA transporter
VGLUT	Vesicular glutamate transporter 1
VS	Ventral striatum
VTA	Ventral tegmental area
GWAS	Genome-wide association studies

# **KEYWORDS**

Stargazin

AMPAR

Schizophrenia

Intellectual Disability

# **PALAVRAS-CHAVE**

Stargazina

Recetores AMPA

Esquizofrenia

Défice Intelectual

# ABSTRACT

Psychiatric disorders including intellectual disabilities and mood and affective disorders affect around one quarter of the general population. Schizophrenia and intellectual disability have been consistently associated to both cognitive and social impairment as a putative consequence of impaired synaptic function. However, although numerous genes have been suggested to predispose for these disorders, the mechanistic alterations at the basis of their pathophysiology remain obscure.

Synaptic networks are growingly recognized as major players in the development of schizophrenia, intellectual disability and other psychiatric disorders. In fact, recent reports accredited a major importance for *de novo* mutations in genes that encode glutamatergic postsynaptic proteins with roles in the modulation of synaptic strength. Importantly, these studies reinforce the notion that genes affected by mutations in schizophrenia partially overlap those mutated in autism and intellectual disability (Fromer et al., 2014; Hamdan et al., 2011; Kirov et al., 2012; Krumm et al., 2014; Network and Pathway Analysis Subgroup of Psychiatric Genomics, 2015; Purcell et al., 2014; Schizophrenia Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics, 2014), suggesting that these disorders may share a common underlying feature: synaptic dysfunction. Thus, studying rare and highly penetrant risk mutations using animal models harboring these mutations may largely contribute to the understanding of the molecular mechanisms and neuronal circuit dysregulation that are implicated in psychiatric disorders.

The *CACNG2* gene, which codes for stargazin, has been pointed out as a susceptibility gene for psychiatric disorders (Liu et al., 2008; Nissen et al., 2012; Wilson et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2013). Stargazin is an auxiliary subunit for glutamate receptors of the AMPA type (AMPAR), which modulates AMPAR function, and is required for AMPAR trafficking to the surface and to synapses and for the homeostatic synaptic scaling of AMPAR. Using whole-genome sequence analysis, we identified a new *CACNG2* variant in a patient afflicted with schizophrenia (Stg<sup>SCZ</sup>). We found that Stg<sup>SCZ</sup>, and a previously identified stargazin variant associated to intellectual disability (Stg<sup>ID</sup>), present altered cell surface trafficking properties, and fail to deliver AMPAR to synapses. Furthermore, Stg<sup>ID</sup> fails to mediate homeostatic plasticity whereas Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> affects the number of inhibitory synapses and neuronal dendritic arborization in cortical neurons. Our results show that different mutations in the *CACNG2* gene originate distinct effects on protein function, thus contributing to different cellular and eventually behavior phenotypes.

To further study the effects of the intellectual disability-associated mutation on stargazin function and on the development of disease-associated phenotypes, we designed and characterized a novel *knock-in* mouse line carrying the Intellectual disability-associated mutation on the *CACNG2* gene, V143L. Assessment of locomotor activity, anxiety-like behaviors and cognitive performance showed that homozygous stargazin V143L *knock-in* mice present increased locomotor activity, deficits in spontaneous alternation, in motor learning and in nesting behavior.

Overall, the effects of disease-associated *CACNG2* mutations in cellular processes and in the behavioral phenotype of stargazin V143L *knock-in* mice suggest that stargazin plays an important role in the regulation of mechanisms underlying neuropsychiatric disorders.

## RESUMO

As doenças psiquiátricas, incluindo défice intelectual e distúrbios de humor e do foro afetivo, afetam cerca de um quarto da população mundial. A esquizofrenia e o défice intelectual têm sido consistentemente associados a défices cognitivos e sociais, putativamente consequentes de alterações na função sináptica. No entanto, apesar da identificação de inúmeros genes predisponentes para doenças psiquiátricas, as alterações subjacentes a estas doenças são ainda pouco claras.

As redes sinápticas têm sido cada vez mais reconhecidas como importantes intervenientes no desenvolvimento da esquizofrenia, défice intelectual e outras doenças psiquiátricas. De facto, dados recentes atribuem uma grande relevância a mutações *de novo* em genes codificantes de proteínas constituintes da sinapse glutamatérgica, com funções importantes na modulação da força sináptica. Estes estudos reforçam a idéia de que genes afetados por mutações em esquizofrenia coincidem parcialmente com os afetados em autismo e défice intelectual (Fromer et al., 2014; Hamdan et al., 2011; Kirov et al., 2012; Krumm et al., 2014; Network and Pathway Analysis Subgroup of Psychiatric Genomics, 2015; Purcell et al., 2014; Schizophrenia Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics, 2014), sugerindo que estas doenças possam partilhar uma causa: a disfunção sináptica. Assim, o estudo de mutações raras e com alta penetrância, através de animais modelo que são portadores dessas mutações, pode contribuir grandemente para a compreensão dos mecanismos moleculares e alterações nos circuitos neuronais que estão implicados nestas doenças.

O gene *CACNG2* que codifica para a stargazina foi apontado como potencial gene de susceptibilidade para doenças psiquiátricas (Liu et al., 2008; Nissen et al., 2012; Wilson et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2013). A stargazina é uma subunidade auxiliar dos receptors AMPA que modula a sua função e é essencial para o tráfego destes para a superfície celular assim como para o escalamento de receptores AMPA mediado por bloqueio da actividade. Com recurso a sequenciação de genoma inteiro identificámos uma variante do gene *CACNG2* num doente esquizofrénico (Stg<sup>SCZ</sup>). Observámos que a variante Stg<sup>SCZ</sup>, e também outra variante, previamente identificada num doente com défice intelectual (Stg<sup>ID</sup>) apresentam alterações nas propriedades de difusão na membrana e mostraram-se deficientes na mediação do tráfego de receptores AMPA para as sinapses. Além disto, a variante Stg<sup>ID</sup> impede a mediação de alterações homeostáticas enquanto que a variante Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> influencia o número de sinapses inibitórias e a complexidade da arborização dendrítica em neurónios corticais. Os nosso resultados mostram que diferentes mutações no gene *CACNG2* dão origem a efeitos distintos na função da proteína, contribuindo para diferentes fenótipos celulares e possivelmente comportamentais.

De modo a aprofundar o estudo dos efeitos da mutação associada a défice intelectual na função da stargazina e também no desenvolvimento de fenótipos correlacionados com doença, gerámos e caracterizámos uma linhagem de murganhos portadores da mutação associada a défice intelectual no gene *CACNG2*, V143L. A avaliação da actividade locomotora, ansiedade e desempenho cognitivo mostrou que os murganhos portadores da mutação em homozigotia apresentam uma maior actividade locomotora, défices na alternação espontânea, na aprendizagem motora e na elaboração de ninhos.

No geral, o efeito destas mutações no gene *CACNG2* nos mecanismos celulares e fenótipo comportamental dos animais que são portadores da mutação V143L sugere um papel para a stargazina na regulação de mecanismos subjacentes ao desenvolvimento de doenças psiquiátricas.

# **CHAPTER 1**

Introduction

## **1.1.** Psychiatric disorders

Mental disorders affect approximately one quarter of the worldwide population and thus represent a major social and economic burden for most countries (Trautmann *et al.*, 2016). As chronic disorders and often shrouded by stigma and prejudice, they severely impact the lives of patients and their families. Psychiatric disorders such as depression, bipolar disorder, intellectual disability (ID), schizophrenia (SCZ) and autism spectrum disorders (ASD) are often associated to the presentation of abnormal thoughts, impaired memory and learning, social and self-care deficits. Although a growing number of studies focus on understanding their etiology and on pinpointing the mechanisms that stem these disorders, these aspects are still obscure. These difficulties originate mainly from the fact that neuropsychiatric disorders are complex and heterogeneous, presenting variable neurological symptoms that often overlap between different disorders (Kirov *et al.*, 2008), as well as variable onset and pharmacological response. Furthermore, many of them are characterized by a strong genetic component that rarely relies on major effects from a small set of genes but rather on the sum of modest effects from a pool of genes that ultimately characterize the vulnerability to develop these disorders (Purcell *et al.*, 2014).

Recent evidence suggests that changes in genes encoding synaptic proteins that intervene or regulate neuronal transmission might participate in the pathology of these disorders. Furthermore, many of these alterations are common to different psychiatric disorders suggesting that they might share etiologic mechanisms (Fromer *et al.*, 2014; Purcell *et al.*, 2014).

#### 1.1.1. Schizophrenia

SCZ is a devastating disorder that affects about 1% of the worldwide population. Studies including twins and adoption cases have demonstrated that this disorder shows a high heritability (about 80% in monozygotic twins) (Sullivan *et al.*, 2003), emphasizing the importance of genetics on its etiology. However, environmental factors also play an important role as several factors have been described to influence the onset and severity of symptoms (van Os *et al.*, 2010).

SCZ symptoms are divided in three main categories: positive (delusions, hallucinations, disorganized speech), negative (social withdrawal, affective flattening and anhedonia) and cognitive symptoms (lack of prioritization, focus or motivation, decreased verbal fluency). According to the last edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5), for a SCZ diagnosis, two of these symptoms must be present for at least six months and include at least one month of active symptoms (American Psychiatry Association, 2013). Usually the first psychotic symptoms occurring in the late adolescence or early adulthood account for the first reference for a consultation, but a

decline in social and cognitive functioning is often observed much earlier (<10 years) in the prodromal phase of the disease (Gourzis *et al.*, 2002; Kahn *et al.*, 2015). Due to smoking, unhealthy diet and lifestyle, and also to the use of antipsychotic drugs, patients with SCZ usually have increased risk for obesity, diabetes and for the development of cardiovascular problems, which, along with the increased suicide attempt rate, combine to reduce life expectancy by approximately 20 years [reviewed in (Laursen *et al.*, 2014)].

The risk for onset and relapse of psychotic disorders such as SCZ is thought to be increased by psychological stress. Interestingly, the onset of SCZ has been highly correlated with stressful life events (Day *et al.*, 1987), suggesting an inability to handle changes and adapt. In agreement, a possible explanation for the late onset of SCZ is that cells and circuits are able to compensate for a certain amount of stimuli during a given period, before a threshold is reached and the homeostatic capacity of the network is exhausted (Ramocki and Zoghbi, 2008). An initial study involving around 40 patients with psychosis, relatives and controls showed that psychotic patients have greater sensitivity to everyday minor stress situations than controls, as an increase in psychosis intensity was associated with the occurrence of minor stressors in daily life (Myin-Germeys *et al.*, 2005). These results have recently been corroborated in larger studies (Klippel *et al.*, 2017). Accordingly, another study focusing on understanding how SCZ patients respond to life events during the first phases of the disease showed that SCZ patients recognize positive and negative life events as less controllable and poorly handled, comparing to controls (Horan *et al.*, 2005).

Disruption of neuronal homeostasis at a molecular level has been associated with neuropsychiatric phenotypes (Ramocki and Zoghbi, 2008). In fact, MECP2, a transcription factor that was shown to be indispensable for homeostatic plasticity (Zhong et al., 2012), when disrupted can lead to the development of Rett syndrome, characterized by intellectual disability, anxiety and behavioral problems (Ramocki and Zoghbi, 2008). Also, several susceptibility genes for SCZ are required for homeostatic plasticity, including genes encoding ARC (Beigue et al., 2011), CaMKII (Groth et al., 2011) and dysbindin (Dickman and Davis, 2009). Accordingly, an imbalance in the ratio of excitatory to inhibitory activity (E/I imbalance) has been suggested to be at the basis of SCZ. Either the hyperexcitability of pyramidal neurons or the hypoactivity of inhibitory neurons could elevate the E/I ratio leading to the behavior and cognitive symptoms of SCZ, including social dysfunction (Lisman, 2012). Environmental factors play a pivotal role in the etiology of SCZ. In fact, males have about 1.4 times greater probability of developing SCZ than females. Pre- and perinatal events including infections and malnutrition, obstetric complications, low birth weight, late fatherhood and maternal drug abuse have been described to influence the vulnerability to develop SCZ. [reviewed in (Kahn et al., 2015)]. Socioeconomic factors have recently been associated to SCZ, and include childhood adversity, urban life and immigration. In fact, migrant individuals have an increased risk

4

of about 4.6 of developing SCZ (McGrath *et al.*, 2004). The observation of cognitive and social problems in children who later developed SCZ supports the neurodevelopmental theory of SCZ (Howes and Kapur, 2014). Interestingly, some of the risk factors for SCZ, such as in utero inflammation, caesarean section and social isolation have been correlated with increased concentration of dopamine in the striatum (Howes and Kapur, 2014).

Hypoxia prevails in the embryonic and fetal brain and is important for the regulation of the vascular growth induction in the embryo through the hypoxia induced factor 1 (HIF-1). Furthermore, around 1-2% of all genes are regulated by hypoxia. Thus, it has been hypothesized that hypoxia in prenatal and perinatal phases contributes to neurodevelopmental changes that later in life culminates in SCZ (Schmidt-Kastner *et al.*, 2006). In agreement with this theory is the implication of a large number of genes, regulated by hypoxia, in the etiology of SCZ. Among these genes are the *BDNF, COMT, DNTBP1, NRG1, RELN, TNF-alpha* and *RGS4* [reviewed in (Lang *et al.*, 2007; Schmidt-Kastner *et al.*, 2006)].

#### 1.1.1.1. The dopamine hypothesis in SCZ

Several hypotheses regarding the pathogenesis of SCZ have been postulated. Most of them were proposed based on the observation of effects of therapeutic agents in the development of symptoms. The dopamine hypothesis of SCZ arose from the observations that administration of amphetamine and other compounds that increase dopamine concentration can induce psychotic symptoms, similar to those characteristic of SCZ. This hypothesis gained strength with the observation that antipsychotics drugs that are effective for some SCZ symptoms antagonize dopamine D2/D3 receptors (Creese et al., 1976; Seeman et al., 1976). Several genes that are closely related to the dopaminergic system have been implicated in SCZ, suggesting that alterations in the pathways where they participate might underlie the development of the disorder. The association between SCZ and the DRD1 (Cichon et al., 1996), DRD2 (He et al., 2016; Jonsson et al., 2003), DRD3 (Jonsson et al., 2004), DRD4 (Lung et al., 2002) and DRD5 (Muir et al., 2001) genes, which code for dopamine receptors, has been addressed multiple times. Furthermore, polymorphisms in the gene encoding tyrosine hydroxylase, the rate-limiting enzyme for the biosynthesis of catecholamines, including dopamine and noradrenaline, have been associated with SCZ (Horiguchi et al., 2014; Pae et al., 2003). The catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) gene is localized in a chromosome region strongly implicated in SCZ, the 22q11 region. COMT is involved in the degradation of dopamine and is thus crucial for the regulation of its levels. One of the most studied polymorphisms in SCZ is the V158M polymorphism in the COMT gene, since it leads to increased catabolism of dopamine in the prefrontal cortex (PFC), impairing cognition and slightly increasing the risk for SCZ (Egan et al.,

2001). In addition, this polymorphism has been shown to predispose male schizophrenic carriers to aggressive behavior (Singh *et al.*, 2012). Polymorphisms in genes encoding the vesicular monoamine transporters 1 and 2 (VMAT 1 and 2) (Chu and Liu, 2010; Lohoff *et al.*, 2014; Lohoff *et al.*, 2008), the dopamine transporter (DAT) (Cordeiro *et al.*, 2010) and DARPP32 (Hu *et al.*, 2007) were also associated with increased risk for the disorder. Hyperactivity of the mesolimbic pathway, accompanied by hypoactivity in the mesocortical pathway are believed to account for the symptoms of SCZ (Brisch *et al.*, 2014). However, it has been proposed that the effects on the dopaminergic pathways might be a consequence from decreased GABAergic activity primarily in the limbic area and in the PFC resulting from the hypofunction of glutamate receptors of the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) type, NMDAR, occurring preferentially in these neurons (Adams *et al.*, 2013; Stahl, 2013). A representation of the main dopaminergic pathways implicated in SCZ is shown in





**Figure 1.1. The dopamine circuits of SCZ.** Hyperactivity of the mesolimbic pathway, which projects from the VTA to the limbic structures, is thought to account for the positive symptoms of SCZ. Selective hypofunction of the NMDAR of the GABAergic neurons ultimately leads to decreased inhibition of the glutamatergic neurons that regulate the activity of the mesolimbic pathway and increased inhibition of the mesocortical pathway, which projects from the VTA to the PFC. The nigrostriatal pathway, which projects from the SN to the striatum, is affected by antipsychotic drugs, which leads to extrapyramidal symptoms such as dyskinesia and parkinsonism. VTA – ventral tegmental area; NA – nucleus accumbens; PFC – prefrontal cortex; GP – globus pallidus; SN – substantia nigra; DS – dorsal striatum; VS – ventral striatum; hNMDA – NMDAR hypofunction. Adapted from (Adams *et al.*, 2013; Stahl, 2013).

#### 1.1.1.2. The glutamate hypothesis in SCZ

Phencyclidine (PCP), ketamine and MK-801, which are potent antagonists of the NMDAR, lead to the development of SCZ-like symptoms in healthy controls, exacerbate the symptoms in SCZ patients and increase the release of dopamine (Allen and Young, 1978; Barbon *et al.*, 2007; Coyle *et al.*, 2003; Lahti *et al.*, 2005). These observations have contributed to the postulation of the NMDAR hypofunction hypothesis of SCZ. According to this line of thought, the defective functioning of the NMDAR might underlie some clinical symptoms of SCZ and be at the basis of the observed dopaminergic dysfunction (Figure 1.1). In agreement with the NMDAR hypofunction hypothesis is the observation of an amelioration of SCZ symptoms with the use of activators of glycine and D-serine, which are NMDAR co-agonists (Heresco-Levy and Javitt, 2004), and with supplementation with D-serine (Fujita *et al.*, 2016; Kantrowitz *et al.*, 2010).

Evidence shows that NMDAR hypofunction affects preferentially GABAergic interneurons. A reduction of 73% in GABAergic neurons expressing the GluN2A subunit of NMDAR was observed in *postmortem* anterior cingulate cortex samples from SCZ patients (Woo *et al.*, 2004). The inhibition of NMDAR with ketamine resulted in a reduction of GAD67 expression in cultured cortical neurons and of the inhibitory synaptic transmission in prefrontal cortex slices (Cohen *et al.*, 2015). Furthermore, the ablation of NMDAR from cortical and hippocampal interneurons in mice, resulted in disinhibition of cortical excitatory neurons, and reduced neuronal synchrony. Also, SCZ-like phenotypes were noted, including hyperlocomotion, mating and nesting deficits, anxiety-like behaviors and impairments in social and working memory (Belforte *et al.*, 2010). These observations corroborate the hypothesis that NMDAR hypofunction in interneurons might contribute to SCZ pathology. However, what leads to NMDAR or be secondary to defects on synaptic proteins and receptors that regulate NMDAR-mediated signaling.

NMDAR are ionotropic glutamate receptors, composed of two obligatory GluN1 subunits and two GluN2 (GluN2A, GluN2B, and GluN2C) and/or GluN3 (GluN3A and GluN3B) subunits. Interestingly, the expression of some of these subunits has been found altered in samples from SCZ patients brains [see (Beneyto and Meador-Woodruff, 2008; Weickert *et al.*, 2013) for evidence of decreased expression of GluN1, GluN2A and GluN2C and (Mueller and Meador-Woodruff, 2004) for increased expression of GluN3A]. Furthermore, modifications in genes that encode the subunits of NMDAR have also been implicated in the disorder (Itokawa *et al.*, 2003; Iwayama-Shigeno *et al.*, 2005; Liu *et al.*, 2015; Ohtsuki *et al.*, 2001; Qin *et al.*, 2005; Tang *et al.*, 2006).

In agreement with a specificity for NMDAR hypofunction in inhibitory neurons is the observation that synaptic targeting of NMDAR in hippocampus pyramidal neurons and in excitatory synapses of interneurons relies on different mechanisms. Interestingly, in interneurons, NMDAR synaptic targeting is dependent on both AMPAR containing the GluA2 subunit and on the AMPAR auxiliary protein stargazin (Mi *et al.*, 2004).

The implication of AMPAR altered function, expression or localization as a possible trigger of NMDA hypofunction has been proposed; however, the results regarding the alteration of AMPAR expression and function in SCZ *postmortem* brain samples are still inconclusive and often contradictory. Regarding the prefrontal cortex, a brain region implicated in SCZ, some studies reported no changes in the mRNA levels of these receptors (Healy *et al.*, 1998), whereas others describe decreased (Beneyto and Meador-Woodruff, 2006) or increased (Dracheva *et al.*, 2005) expression. The alterations in the protein levels of these subunits are not consensual either, and both decrease (Eastwood *et al.*, 1997), increase (Tucholski *et al.*, 2013), and no changes (Breese *et al.*, 1995; Hammond *et al.*, 2010) have been observed. These discrepancies, however, may come from differences in sample processing, detection methods and brain regions analyzed.

Interestingly, it has been shown that the N-glycosylation of AMPAR GluA2 subunits is impaired in SCZ, suggesting abnormal trafficking of AMPAR from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) to the cell surface (Tucholski *et al.*, 2013). Immature glycosylation of GluA2 subunits has also been previously described in *stargazer* mice, which lack stargazin (Tomita *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, an increase in AMPAR GluA1 subunit expression in endosomes was observed in the brains of schizophrenics, compatible with increased endocytosis of these receptors (Hammond *et al.*, 2010).

Metabotropic glutamate receptors have also been implicated in SCZ; in fact, a selective agonist for metabotropic glutamate receptors 2/3 was the first drug for SCZ not acting as a dopamine antagonist to be developed, and besides ameliorating the positive and negative symptoms in SCZ, it does not show some adverse effects typically present with the conventional antipsychotics (Patil *et al.*, 2007). Accordingly, altered mRNA and protein levels of these receptors have been described in SCZ (Ghose *et al.*, 2009; Gupta *et al.*, 2005; Volk *et al.*, 2010).

Many other proteins that play a major role in glutamatergic transmission show altered expression levels in *postmortem* brain tissue from SCZ patients, supporting the hypothesis of an important role for glutamate in the pathogenesis of this disorder. Some of these proteins are indicated in Table 1.1.

#### 1.1.1.3. The synaptic hypothesis in SCZ

As previously mentioned, SCZ is a highly complex disorder with a strong genetic component. Genetic studies mainly rely on linkage and association studies. Linkage studies consist on the evaluation of large pedigree samples aiming at identifying chromosomal regions that are likely to contain genes associated to a given disorder. Association studies search for genetic polymorphisms that putatively affect the expression and/or function of a gene associated to the disorder (Lang *et al.*, 2007).

Protein	Alteration	Brain Region	Molecule	Reference
		Cerebellum	mRNA	(Kapoor <i>et al.,</i> 2006; Verrall <i>et</i>
DAAO	t			al., 2007)
		PFC and hippocampus	Protein	(Bendikov <i>et al.,</i> 2007)
Dysbindin	ŧ	DLPFC	mRNA	(Weickert <i>et al.,</i> 2004)
G72	1	DLPFC	mRNA	(Korostishevsky et al., 2004)
GRIP		PFC, occipital cortex	mRNA	(Dracheva <i>et al.,</i> 2005)
	ſ	DLPFC	Protein	(Hammond <i>et al.</i> , 2010)
SAP197	1	DLPFC	Protein	(Hammond <i>et al.</i> , 2010)
Serine	1	Hippocampus	Protein	(Steffek <i>et al.,</i> 2006)
racemase	Ļ	PFC and hippocampus	Protein	(Bendikov <i>et al.,</i> 2007)
Vglut1	¥	PFC and hippocampus	mRNA	(Eastwood and Harrison, 2005)
	1	ACC	mRNA	(Oni-Orisan <i>et al.</i> , 2008)
	<b>↓</b>	ACC	Protein	(Oni-Orisan <i>et al.,</i> 2008)

Table 1.1. Proteins implicated in glutamatergic transmission displaying altered expression in SCZ patients postmortem tissue

Upward or downward oriented arrow represents increased or decreased expression, respectively (Column 2) mRNA – messenger RNA, DLPFC – dorsal lateral prefrontal cortex, ACC – anterior cingulate cortex, PFC – prefrontal cortex.

Growing evidence from genetic studies supports a role for synaptic proteins in the etiology of SCZ. In fact, a genome-wide association study (GWAS) including data from over 60.000 participants implicated synaptic genes in the pathogenesis of SCZ (Network and Pathway Analysis Subgroup of Psychiatric Genomics, 2015). Furthermore, recent reports attributed a major importance to *de novo* mutations in genes that encode glutamatergic postsynaptic proteins with roles in the modulation of synaptic strength. In the study conducted by Purcell and colleagues, mutations are enriched in genes of the voltage-gated calcium ion channel, genes involved in the signaling complex of the activity-regulated cytoskeleton-associated scaffold protein (ARC) post-synaptic density, genes of the PSD95 signaling complex, as well as targets of the FMRP protein, implicated in fragile X (Purcell *et al.*, 2014). Fromer and colleagues corroborated these observations by showing that *de novo* mutations are overrepresented in glutamatergic synapse genes including genes related to ARC signaling, targets of the FMRP complex and also genes coding proteins in the NMDAR complex. Importantly, many of the genes with *de novo* mutations identified in this study overlap those affected by *de novo* mutations in other psychiatric disorders such as ASD and ID (Figure 1.2) (Fromer *et al.*, 2014). Table 1.2 shows some genes implicated in SCZ.



**Figure 1.2. Synaptic proteins involved in SCZ and ID.** Genes encoding for glutamatergic synapse proteins have been implicated in the development of SCZ. Many of those genes overlap in different psychiatric disorders, including ASD and ID. The figure represents a dopaminergic, a GABAergic and a glutamatergic synapse where some proteins implicated in SCZ (red) and ID (yellow) are depicted. DR – dopamine receptor, COMT – Catechol-O-methyltransferase, mGluR – metabotropic receptor, GABAR – GABA receptor, AMPAR – AMPA receptor, NMDAR – NMDA receptor, KAR – Kainate receptor, NRG1 – Neuregulin 1, ERBB4 – Erb-B2 Receptor tyrosine kinase 4, DISC1 – disrupted in schizophrenia 1, TSC – tuberous sclerosis, IQSEC2 – IQ motif and sec7 domain 2, FMRP – fragile X mental retardation protein, KAL – kalirin, CYFIP1 – cytoplasmic FMRP interacting protein 1, SSR – serine racemase, Ube3A – ubiquitin protein ligase E3A, EAAT – excitatory amino acid transporter, ARC – activity regulated cytoskeleton protein, DAAO – D-amino acid oxidase, RalGEF - Ral guanine nucleotide dissociation stimulator, AKAP5 – A-kinase anchoring protein 5.

The identification of a common pathway in SCZ and especially between psychiatric disorders is the utopia of genetic studies. Such discovery would enable the establishment of therapeutic strategies suiting patients with classical to complex manifestations of these disorders. However, despite the immensurable efforts being made in the field, key issues regarding these disorders remain obscure. Although numerous genes have been implicated in these disorders, different kinds of genetic studies have contributed to their identification. While many common SNPs and CNVs have been identified for a number of genes, other genes were associated to these disorders by linkage studies or even by the identification of rare *de novo* variants, urging the assessment of the net effect of these variants, or even of the involved pathways, for the resultant disorder (Hall *et al.*, 2015).

Although growing evidence ascertains a pivotal role for synaptic plasticity genes in psychiatric disorders, the specific mechanisms impacted or the degree of the alterations in the synaptic function in individuals carrying different mutations are questions that need to be answered before therapeutic strategies can be implemented. The identification of rare but penetrant variants poses a good chance into tackling these issues (Hall *et al.*, 2015). The generation of animal models bearing these mutations contributes largely to the elucidation of mechanisms and circuits implicated in

disease as these animal models allow studying the correlation between changes in mutated proteins function and phenotypes that are associated to psychiatric disorders.

Gene	Protein	Function	Alteration	Reference
AKAP5	A-kinase anchoring protein 5.	Binds to and regulates PKA	CNV	(Wilson <i>et al.,</i> 2006)
ARC	Arg 3.1	Activity Regulated Cytoskeleton Associated Protein. Regulates activity- dependent endocytosis of AMPAR and homeostatic plasticity	SNP	(Huentelman <i>et al.,</i> 2015)
CACNA1C	Calcium Voltage-Gated Channel Subunit Alpha1 C.	Involved in calcium-dependent processes namely neurotransmitter release.	SNP	(Cross-Disorder Group of the Psychiatric Genomics, 2013)
CACNB2	Calcium Voltage-Gated Channel Auxiliary Subunit Beta 2	Member of the voltage-gated calcium channel superfamily	SNP	(Cross-Disorder Group of the Psychiatric Genomics, 2013)
CNTNAP2	Caspr2	Neurexin-like; cell adhesion molecule	CNV	(Friedman <i>et al.,</i> 2008)
СОМТ	Catechol-O- methyltransferase	Participates in catecholamine degradation	SNP	(Straub <i>et al.,</i> 2007)
CYFIP1	Cytoplasmic FMRP interacting protein 1	Mediates translation repression	CNV	(Stefansson <i>et al.,</i> 2008)
DAAO	D-amino acid oxidase	Degrades D-serine	SNP	(Yang et al., 2013)
DISC1	Disrupted in SCZ 1	Neurite outgrowth and cortical development	Translocation	(Millar <i>et al</i> ., 2000)
DLG2	PSD93	Post-synaptic scaffold protein	CNV	(Walsh <i>et al.,</i> 2008)
DLGAP2	SAPAP2	Synapse organization and signaling	SNP	(Li <i>et al.,</i> 2014)
DTNBP1	Dysbindin	Organelle biogenesis	SNP	(Funke <i>et al.,</i> 2004)
ERBB4	Erb-B2 Receptor Tyrosine Kinase 4	Member of tyr protein kinase family	CNV	(Walsh <i>et al.,</i> 2008)
G72	D-Amino Acid Oxidase Activator	DAAO oxidase activator – D-serine degradation.	SNP	(Korostishevsky <i>et al.,</i> 2004)
GABRA1	GABARa1	GABA <sub>A</sub> R subunit	SNP	(Petryshen <i>et al.</i> , 2005)
GABRA6	GABARa6	GABA₄R subunit	SNP	(Petryshen <i>et al.</i> , 2005)
GABRP	GABARπ	GABAR subunit	SNP	(Petryshen <i>et al.</i> , 2005)
GAD1	GAD67	Glutamic acid decarboxylase	SNP	(Straub <i>et al.</i> , 2007)
KALRN	Kalirin	Rho-GEF kinase	SNP	(Kushima <i>et al.</i> , 2012) (Russell <i>et al.</i> , 2014)
NRG1	Neuregulin 1	Mediates cell-cell signaling	Missense mutation	(Walss-Bass <i>et al.</i> , 2006)
NRXN1	Neurexin 1	Cell surface receptors that bind neuroligins	CNV	(Kirov <i>et al.,</i> 2008) (Rujescu <i>et al.,</i> 2009)
<i>РРРЗСС</i>	Calcineurin	Phosphatase	SNP	(Liu <i>et al.</i> , 2007)

Table 1.2. Genes	implicated in SCZ
------------------	-------------------

RELN	Reelin	Extracellular matrix protein that controls	SNP	(Ovadia and Shifman,
		cell-cell interaction	Missense	2011)
			mutation	(Zhou <i>et al</i> ., 2016b)
SHANK3	Shank3	Post-synaptic scaffold protein	Nonsense	(Zhou <i>et al.,</i> 2016a)
			mutation	
SLC1A2	EAAT2	Glutamate transporter	SNP	(Deng <i>et al.,</i> 2004)
SLC1A6	EAAT4	Glutamate transporter	SNP	(Deng <i>et al.,</i> 2007)
SSR	Serine racemase	Conversion of L-serine to D-serine	SNP	(Morita <i>et al.,</i> 2007)

The name and function of the proteins is in accordance with the Genecard Human gene database (<u>http://www.genecards.org/</u>). CNV – copy number variation, SNP – single nucleotide polymorphism.

### 1.1.2. Intellectual disability

Intellectual disability (ID) is the most common neurodevelopmental disorder and affects 1 to 3% of the worldwide population. It is much more prevalent in males than females partially due to the fact that some of the syndromic forms of ID are X-linked. ID is an early-onset disorder that comprises a large variety of non-syndromic and syndromic conditions that present impairments in adaptive function in three domains: conceptual (language, reading, writing and memory, among others), social (empathy, interpersonal communication skills, etc.) and practical (personal care, job responsibilities and organization). Thus, the diagnosis is based on the assessment of adaptive function and also takes into consideration the IQ, which is considered low when the score is approximately two standard deviations below the population, that is, about 70 (American Psychiatry Association, 2013). An IQ below 50 is presented by moderate to severe ID patients (Chelly *et al.*, 2006).

The etiology of most cases of ID is unknown; however, advances in microarray and genome sequencing techniques allowed the identification of chromosomal abnormalities and point mutations in about 25% of the ID patients. Around 15% of the cases are estimated to be due to environmental insults such as prenatal malnutrition, premature birth, neurotoxicity, brain ischemia, infections and fetal alcohol syndrome (Chelly *et al.*, 2006).

Non-syndromic ID patients display deficits in cognitive function without presenting other symptoms, whereas for syndromic ID other features such as autism, epilepsy and dysmorphism are concomitant with intellectual deficit (Kaufman *et al.*, 2010; Volk *et al.*, 2015). Syndromic forms of ID are widely studied disorders and the alterations underlying the pathophysiology of most of them have been unraveled. Importantly, the recognition of these processes has contributed to the identification of mechanisms that play important roles in cognition. The following syndromes are highly incident in the general population and present ID as a major symptom:

12
**Fragile X syndrome** (FXS) is the most common form of inherited ID. It is characterized by macroorchidism in males, large ears and hands and asymmetric facial features. As an X-linked condition, it affects more severely males, who present hyperactivity, anxiety and autistic-like phenotypes (Zoghbi and Bear, 2012). This syndrome is caused by the loss of function of the FMRP protein as a consequence of *FMR1* gene silencing through promoter hypermethylation. FMRP interacts with mRNAs encoding important synaptic proteins, including PSD95, CaMKII, AMPAR subunits, ARC and mGluR5, and serves as a negative regulator of translation of several mRNA transcripts. It has been suggested that the lack of repression of mGluR5 signaling by FMRP, deregulates protein synthesis downstream of mGluR5 leading to FXS. A common feature of FXS is the increased density of immature spines suggesting a role for FMRP in both pruning and maturation of synapses (Volk *et al.*, 2015; Zoghbi and Bear, 2012).

**Angelman syndrome** patients display balance problems, behavior abnormalities, hyperactivity and dysmorphic features. The majority of the cases are a consequence of maternal deletion of a locus containing the ubiquitin protein ligase E3A (UBE3A) gene. This gene encodes for a ubiquitin ligase that is pivotal in activity-dependent proteasomal protein degradation (Volk *et al.*, 2015; Zoghbi and Bear, 2012). On the other hand, a common CNV found in autism patients that results in the duplication or triplication of a chromosome region including the UBE3A gene has been shown to affect the glutamatergic transmission in mice and to induce autism-related behavioral traits (Smith *et al.*, 2011).

**Tuberous sclerosis** is characterized by the presence of benign tumors and epilepsy. It is caused by mutations in the TSC1 and TSC2 genes, which encode for harmartin and tuberin, respectively. These proteins form a complex that negatively regulates the mTOR pathway (Zoghbi and Bear, 2012).

**Rett syndrome** is an X-linked form of ID characterized by autistic-like behaviors, motor impairments, epilepsy and cognitive deficits. It is caused by mutations in the *MECP2* gene, which encodes a transcription factor that regulates transcription.

The advances in sequencing technology enabled the identification of many genes associated with non-syndromic ID. Among those genes are 1) the *SYNGAP1* gene, which encodes a Ras-GAP protein that localizes to the dendritic spines where it suppresses NMDAR-mediated synaptic plasticity and AMPAR trafficking (Clement *et al.*, 2013); 2) *OPHN1* which encodes a Rho-GAP (oligophrenin1) that inhibits RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 (Khelfaoui *et al.*, 2007) and regulates AMPAR trafficking by interacting with components of the clathrin-mediated endocytosis machinery. The loss of oligophrenin1 impairs synapse and spine maturation (Nadif Kasri *et al.*, 2009); 3) *STXBP1* which encodes for Munc18, a protein that regulates vesicle release; genetic ablation of *STXBP1* results in blockade of neurotransmitter release (Toonen *et al.*, 2006).

Many other genes implicated in syndromic and non-syndromic ID encode proteins with major roles in synaptic transmission (Table 1.3).

Gene	Protein	Function	Alteration	Reference
CACNA1G	Cav3.1c	Low voltage-gated Ca <sup>2+</sup> channel	SNP	(Najmabadi <i>et al.,</i> 2011)
CNTNAP2	Caspr2	Neurexin-like; cell adhesion mlecule	SNP	(Zweier, 2012)
DGL3	SAP-102	Membrane-associated guanylate kinase (MAGUK); regulates NMDAR		(Tarpey <i>et al.</i> , 2004)
EPB41L1	4.1N	Neuronal cytoskeleton – regulation of AMPAR	SNP	(Hamdan <i>et al.,</i> 2011)
GRIA3	GluA3	AMPAR subunit	Translocation Microdeletion SNP	(Wu <i>et al.,</i> 2007) (Gecz <i>et al.,</i> 1999)
GRIK2	GluK6	Kainate receptor subunit	Deletion	(Motazacker <i>et al.,</i> 2007)
GRIN1	GluN1	NMDAR subunit	SNP	(Hamdan <i>et al.</i> , 2011)
GRIN2A	GluN2A	NMDAR subunit	SNP	(Endele <i>et al.,</i> 2010)
GRIN2B	GluN2B	NMDAR subunit	SNP	(Endele <i>et al.,</i> 2010)
IQSEC2	IQ Motif And Sec7 Domain 2	guanine nucleotide exchange factor for the ARF family of small GTP-binding proteins	SNP	(Shoubridge <i>et al.</i> , 2010)
KIAA2022	KIAA2022	Neuronal development	SNP	(Athanasakis <i>et al.</i> , 2014)
NRXN1	Neurexin1	Neurexin-neuroligin complexes — synaptic contacts	SNP	(Camacho-Garcia <i>et al.,</i> 2012; Zweier <i>et al.</i> , 2009)
OPHN1	Oligophrenin 1	Rho-GTPase activating protein	Deletion	(Bergmann <i>et al.,</i> 2003)
PLXNA3	Plexin A3	Receptor for Semaphorins	SNP	(Athanasakis <i>et al</i> ., 2014)
PLXNB3	Plexin B3	Receptor for Semaphorins	SNP	(Athanasakis et al., 2014)
RALGDS	RalGEF	Effector of Ras-related RalA and RalB GTPase	SNP	(Najmabadi <i>et al.,</i> 2011)
SCN2A	Na(V)1.2	Voltage-gated Na <sup>+</sup> channel	SNP	(Rauch <i>et al.,</i> 2012)
SEMA5A	Semaphorin 5A	Bifunctional axonal guidance cue	Microdeletion	(Mosca-Boidron <i>et al.,</i> 2016)
SHANK2	Shank2	Scaffold protein in glutamatergic synapses	CNV, SNP	(Berkel <i>et al.,</i> 2010)
SHANK3	Shank3	Scaffold protein in glutamatergic synapses	SNP	(Hamdan <i>et al.,</i> 2011)
STXBP1	Munc18	Regulation of SNARE complex	SNP	(Hamdan <i>et al.</i> , 2011; Hamdan <i>et al.</i> , 2009b; Rauch <i>et al.</i> , 2012)
SYNGAP1	SynGAP	Ras GTPase activating protein	SNP	(Hamdan <i>et al.</i> , 2009a; Rauch <i>et al.</i> , 2012)
TET1	Methylcytosine dioxygenase	DNA methylation and gene activation	SNP	(Harripaul <i>et al.,</i> 2017)

# Table 1.3. Genes implicated in ID

The name and function of the proteins is in accordance with the Genecard Human gene database (http://www.genecards.org/). CNV – copy number variation, SNP – single nucleotide polymorphism.

## 1.1.3. Shared genetics of psychiatric disorders

Presently, the diagnosis of psychiatric disorders is based solely in the symptoms displayed by patients (American Psychiatry Association, 2013); however, there is considerable heterogeneity within diagnostic categories and patients often display clinical features from more than one disorder. Furthermore, the symptoms presented by an individual at the date of the diagnosis may vary substantially along time and follow completely distinct routes for different patients (O'Donovan and Owen, 2016).

The observation of increased risk for developing a psychiatric disorder for the relatives of affected individuals is in agreement with the reports that many genetic associations overlap among different psychiatric disorders, pointing for biologic pleiotropy (Fanous *et al.*, 2012; Fromer *et al.*, 2014; Porteous, 2008; Zhou *et al.*, 2016a). One study involving around 20 000 SCZ patients where ID CNVs were analyzed showed that a large proportion of the ID loci are probable risk factors for SCZ (Rees *et al.*, 2016). One possibility to overcome the difficulties in the diagnosis of patients with a complex pattern of symptoms, likely reflecting the presence of a pool of genetic alterations that are common among different disorders, is the establishment of a stratification strategy based on endophenotypes. It could be useful to define endophenotypes that cluster groups of clinical symptoms or other biomarkers, such as measures of cognition, brain structure, electrophysiology and biochemical characteristics, among others. This stratification would likely contribute to the development of more personalized and thus efficient therapeutic strategies (Figure 1.3). This pleiotropy also poses a problem for the study of cellular or animal models and requires awareness and caution concerning the correlation between the observed phenotypes and specific disorders.

# 1.1.4. Mouse models of psychiatric disorders

Given the complexity of most psychiatric disorders, finding a single disease model that recapitulates all the symptoms and particularities of a disorder is almost utopic. Nonetheless, animal models for these and other types of disorders have had an immensurable value in the elucidation of the mechanisms and players that intervene in the etiology of these disorders. Animal models have allowed the unravelling of protein function, the correlation between circuits and specific phenotypes and the validation of therapeutic approaches.

There are countless different models for psychiatry disorders. From systems biology tools to cell cultures and animal models, each offers different approaches and advantages that suit specific goals. With the advance of genetic tools, the generation of mouse models harboring mutations in

a specific gene or set of genes has become routine. As complex organisms, mouse models enable the study of synapses, circuits and behaviors, providing valuable information regarding protein function, regulatory mechanisms and for the design of therapeutic strategies (Mitchell *et al.*, 2011).



**Figure 1.3. Data driven classification**. The diagnosis of psychiatric disorders currently relies solely on the symptoms displayed by the patients. However, recent evidence suggest a significant genetic overlap between disorders. The consideration of other factors for diagnosis, such as genetics, molecular and circuitry alterations and also the life experience of each patient would contribute to the establishment of a more personalized stratification, allowing the development of more personalized and efficient therapies (Insel and Cuthbert, 2015)

Mouse models for SCZ fit generally into four categories: 1) induced by changes during development, 2) induced by drugs, 3) induced by lesions in specific brain regions and 4) induced by genetic manipulation (Jones *et al.*, 2011). One example of a neurodevelopmental model is the gestational MAM (methylazoximethanol) model. This antimitotic drug, when administered to pregnant rats affects brain development in a manner that is dependent on the gestational day. MAM animals present hyperactivity, reduced social interaction and deficits in the prepulse inhibition test (PPI) (Jones *et al.*, 2011). The prepulse inhibition is a natural response in which a prestimulus (weaker) diminishes the startle reflex to a subsequent, stronger stimulus. This adaptation is impaired in SCZ patients and the PPI is therefore a common test used in animal models of SCZ (Braff *et al.*, 1978). Another developmental model is the post-weaning isolation model in which the animals are separated from their littermates after weaning, for long periods. Given the importance of social hierarchy and interaction for normal development, social deprivation leads to changes in neuronal development. These animals show deficits in the novel object recognition (NOR) test, spatial learning and increased social interaction (Jones *et al.*, 2011).

Post-development administration of drugs such as amphetamines or PCP (NMDAR antagonist) recapitulates some features of psychiatric disorders such as psychosis and cognitive impairment, which corroborates the involvement of both dopaminergic and glutamatergic systems in SCZ. Besides PPI impairment, these animals also display deficits in NOR and T-maze delayed alternation (Jones *et al.*, 2011).

Lesion models have largely contributed to the elucidation of the role of different brain regions in specific functions (Alstott *et al.*, 2009). The most common lesion model is the neonatal ventral hippocampal lesion by the injection of ibotenic acid, developed as a correlate for the changes in hippocampus observed in first-episode SCZ patients (Jones *et al.*, 2011).

The animal models for ID also include models generated by changes during development, induced by brain lesions and genetic models. ID models can be generated by changes induced during development through administration of MAM or maternal exposure to teratogenics such as alcohol. Brain lesions at early development are usually induced by hypoxia or by status epilepticus, leading to prolonged epileptogenesis, behavioral deficits and hyperexcitability of hippocampal networks (Scorza and Cavalheiro, 2011).

Finally, genetic models represent the vast majority of the models for ID and SCZ. Numerous genes implicated in these disorders have been modified in order to recapitulate missense or nonsense mutations, identified in patients or families. Furthermore, the deletion or overexpression of genes allow the inference of a gene product function, and implication in disease-related mechanisms and behaviors. Some genetic mouse models for synaptic genes implicated in SCZ and ID and referred in Tables 1.2 and 1.3, are indicated in Table 1.4.

Gene	Type of modification	Reference							
CAMK2A	Missense mutation Kl	Increased dendritic arborization, decreased spine density and excitatory synaptic transmission. Hyperactivity, impaired social interaction, increased repetitive behaviors	(Stephenson <i>et al.,</i> 2017)						
DISC1	Deletion – truncation	(Koike <i>et al.,</i> 2006)							
DTNBP1	Spontaneous deletion mutation	Deregulated spine formation and retraction, decreased PPI, Hyperactivity, spatial memory deficits Impaired motor learning and T-maze forced alternation test	(Jia <i>et al.</i> , 2014) (Talbot, 2009) (Takao <i>et al.</i> , 2008)						
FMR1	КО	Hyperactivity, learning deficits	(The Dutch-Belgian Fragile X Consortium, 1994)						
KALRN	КО	Reduced neuropil volume	(Russell et al., 2014)						

Table 1.4. Genetic mo	se models of	ID and	SCZ
-----------------------	--------------	--------	-----

	NRG1	Membrane domain	Hyperactivity	(Karl <i>et al.,</i> 2007)				
		mutant , KO	Reduced PPI. Hyperactivity.	(Stefansson et al.,				
				2002)				
		ctoNRG1	Hyperactivity, Impaired PPI, impaired social activity.					
			Impaired reference spatial memory.					
Ì	NRLG1	КО	Deficits in spatial learning and memory, stereotyped	(Blundell <i>et al.</i> , 2010)				
			behavior, reduced NMDA/AMPA ratio at corticostriatal					
			synapses					
Ì	NRXN1	КО	Decrease in mEPSC frequency in hippocampus, impaired	(Etherton <i>et al.,</i> 2009)				
			PPI, increased grooming behaviors, impaired nest					
			behavior, improved motor learning					
		Transgenic (OV)	Hyperactivity, reduced PPI, reduced social interaction,	(Yin <i>et al</i> ., 2013)				
			deficient spatial working and reference memory. Reduced					
			mEPSC frequency in hippocampus and reduced mIPSC in					
			the forebrain					
	OPHN1	КО	Deficits in spatial memory, impaired social behavior and	(Khelfaoui <i>et al.,</i> 2007)				
			hyperactivity. Reduced paired-pulse facilitation in					
			hippocampus.					
	<i>РРРЗСС</i>	КО	Impaired working memory, increased locomotor activity,	(Miyakawa et al.,				
			impaired social interaction, decreased PPI.	2003)				
	SHANK2	КО	Reduced social interaction. Decreased NMDAR	(Won <i>et al.,</i> 2012)				
	SHANK3	Insertion	Striatal synaptic transmission defects. Impaired social					
		Nonsense mutation KI	interaction	(Zhou <i>et al</i> ., 2016a)				
			Synaptic defects in PFC and social dominance behavior					
	STXBP1	КО	Complete loss of neurotransmitter secretion	(Verhage <i>et al.,</i> 2000)				
	SYNGAP	КО	Excess mushroom-shaped spines, impaired transient	(Carlisle <i>et al.,</i> 2008)				
			NMDAR-dependent regulation of spine cytoskeleton;	(Clement <i>et al.,</i> 2012)				
			Accelerated synapse maturation – E/I balance disruption					
	TSC2	Inactivating mutation	Deficits in learning and memory	(Ehninger <i>et al.,</i> 2008)				
	UBE3A	КО	Impaired neocortical experience-dependent plasticity	(Yashiro <i>et al.,</i> 2009)				

KI - knock-in, KO - knock-out, OV - overexpression, cto - conditional overexpression

Rodent models are indisputable key tools in the translation of genetic findings regarding psychiatric disorders. The elucidation of mechanisms through which risk genes lead to molecular and behavior changes is crucial for the identification of the central pathways affected in these disorders. A limitation attributed to the use of animal models comes from the observed genetic overlap between different psychiatric disorders, which hinders the discrimination between phenotypes correlated to one or other disorder. Furthermore, the complexity of these disorders makes it unlikely that a full range of symptoms could be modelled in non-human animals (Davis and Isles, 2014).

In order to circumvent these limitations, recent studies on animals base their characterization not only in animal behavior but also on electrophysiological recordings, on the characterization of circuitry using optogenetics and imaging studies.

Furthermore, for some genes different mouse models have been developed aiming at addressing different questions. This is the case of the NRG1 gene. Transmembrane domain *knock-out* mice in which neuregulin1 is not present at the membranes and thus lacks functionality, presented both hyperactivity and reduced PPI, which are phenotypes often observed in animal models of psychiatric disorders (Stefansson *et al.*, 2002). On the other hand, mice that conditionally overexpress neuregulin1 (ctoNrg1) were developed to mimic the high levels of neuregulin1 observed in the forebrains of SCZ patients. These animals exhibited hyperactivity, impaired PPI, social activity and spatial reference memory and present both glutamatergic and GABAergic transmission deficits. These deficits were abrogated in adulthood upon cessation of overexpression, which suggests that these alterations are reversible and opens a window of opportunity for therapeutic treatment (Yin *et al.*, 2013).

Interestingly, hyperactivity and PPI deficits presented by both models were reverted by clozapine, suggesting that this drug might be effective in the amelioration of the features correlated to these phenotypes, in patients harboring mutations in the *NRG1* gene (Stefansson *et al.*, 2002; Yin *et al.*, 2013). This observation is a good example of the validity and utility of animal models in the testing and development of therapies.

Most animal models developed so far are *knock-out* mice, which lack the expression of a particular protein of interest. *Knock-out* mice are a reliable tool not only to study the function of proteins and specific mechanisms in which they participate, but also allow the correlation between absence of a functional protein and specific processes and/or behaviors that correlate to disease. More recently, *knock-in* models expressing disease-associated human mutations have been developed. These models show increased human validity, by allowing the expression of protein variants identified in humans, and present cellular, circuits and behavior phenotypes that more closely relate to patients symptoms.

*Knock-in* mice for an ASD-associated *de novo* mutation in the gene encoding CaMKII were recently generated. This mutation decreased the interaction between CaMKII and Shank3 and NMDAR and affected the excitatory synaptic transmission in cultured neurons. Mice harboring this mutation presented hyperactivity, deficient social interaction and increased repetitive behaviors (Stephenson *et al.*, 2017).

In a recent work from Zhou and colleagues, two lines of *knock-in* mice were developed for two variants of Shank3, one carrying a mutation identified in an ASD patient and the other expressing a Shank3 variant identified in a SCZ patient. Interestingly, the effect of the two variants was distinct. Whereas the ASD-linked mutation in Shank3 affected striatal synaptic transmission and impaired social interaction, the SCZ-linked mutation induced profound synaptic defects in the PFC and affected social dominance behavior (Zhou *et al.*, 2016a). These data demonstrate that mutations in the same gene may have distinct phenotypic outcomes. The study of the effect of different mutations in the same gene, associated to specific disorders, allows the establishment of a variant/phenotype correlation, shedding light on the specific mechanisms and phenotypes associated to a given disorder.

## **1.2.** Glutamatergic synapses

Glutamate is the main excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain and is thus able to influence virtually any circuit in the brain. Normal glutamatergic signaling is vital for the functioning and maintenance of neuronal circuits, behaviors and responses to environmental stimuli (Iacobucci and Popescu, 2017). For this reason, glutamate receptors have been intensively studied in the past years (Shepherd and Huganir, 2007). Numerous proteins, including metabotropic and ionotropic receptors, compose the postsynaptic compartment of glutamatergic synapses.

Glutamate metabotropic receptors (mGluRs) are G-protein coupled receptors that are important for synaptic transmission modulation. Upon glutamate binding, these receptors transmit signals through the receptor protein to intracellular signaling partners (Niswender and Conn, 2010).

The ionotropic receptors consist in three distinct types, the kainate receptors (KAR), NMDAR and AMPAR, named based on their affinity for the glutamate analogues, kainate, NMDA and AMPA, respectively. Despite their similar structure, ionotropic receptors present different current kinetics. Glutamate binding to AMPAR generate a fast influx of cations that rapidly subsides. These currents determine the onset and maximal amplitude of the excitatory postsynaptic currents (EPSC) following a synaptic stimulus. Upon AMPAR-mediated membrane depolarization, NMDAR are released from the magnesium blockade, allowing the entry of calcium. NMDAR-mediated currents, in contrary to AMPAR-mediated ones, rise and decline more slowly and contribute to the decay phase of the EPSC (Iacobucci and Popescu, 2017). Both types of receptors have been implicated in neuropsychiatric disorders and their modulation as a therapeutic strategy has been proposed several times [reviewed in (Chang *et al.*, 2014; McCullumsmith *et al.*, 2012; Ward *et al.*, 2015)]

#### 1.2.1. Metabotropic receptors

mGluRs couple to G-proteins to modulate synaptic transmission through the activation of intracellular signaling pathways. The eight different subtypes of mGluRs (mGlu1-8) are divided in three subgroups according to their distinct molecular and pharmacological properties. Group I mGluRs includes mGlu1 and mGlu5, which couple to G<sub>q</sub>-proteins and stimulate phospholipase C (PLC), and the synthesis of IP<sub>3</sub> and diacylglycerol, leading to an increase in the intracellular calcium concentration and PKC activation. Importantly, group I mGluRs bind to Homer proteins which are linked to IP<sub>3</sub> receptors and Shank proteins that associate with PSD95 and NMDAR (Uematsu et al., 2015). Group II includes mGlu2 and mGlu3 and group III includes mGlu 4, 6, 7, and 8. Groups II and III are negatively coupled to adenylate cyclase and thus inhibit cyclic AMP formation (Cartmell and Schoepp, 2000). The mGluRs topology includes an extracellular N-terminal domain (NTD), three extracellular and three intracellular loops, and an intracellular C-terminal domain (CTD). The intracellular domains are necessary for the interaction with G-proteins to modulate transmission through intracellular second messengers (Ferraguti and Shigemoto, 2006). Depending on the receptor subtype, mGluRs localize in the presynaptic or postsynaptic compartments allowing the modulation of synaptic transmission by distinct mechanisms. Group I receptors were shown to localize away from active zones but restricted to postsynaptic sites, whereas Group II receptors localize perisynaptically, both in post- and presynaptic terminals. Group III receptors, on the other hand, localize in the presynaptic compartment, near the active zones (Cartmell and Schoepp, 2000). These receptors have important roles in both Hebbian and homeostatic plasticity mechanisms (Gladding et al., 2009; Hu et al., 2010) and particularly mGluR5 has been extensively implicated in neuropsychiatric disorders, namely Fragile X and other autism spectrum disorders (Dolen and Bear, 2008).

#### 1.2.2. NMDA receptors

NMDAR are highly permeable to calcium but ion influx is impacted by voltage-sensitive magnesium blockade. Thus, their activation requires previous depolarization of the plasma membrane. Furthermore, the activation of these receptors is dependent on the binding of a co-agonist, usually D-serine or glycine, to the obligatory subunit, GluN1 (Paoletti *et al.*, 2013).

NMDAR are heterotetrameric receptors composed by seven possible subunits, one GluN1, four GluN2 and two GluN3 subunits. Functional NMDAR contain at least one GluN1 subunit, to where the co-agonist binds, and one GluN2 subunit which provides the site for glutamate binding (Iacobucci and Popescu, 2017). Differences in the C-tail length, due to alternative splicing, account

for subunits of different size, ranging from 900 to 1480 aminoacids. Importantly, these differences influence the trafficking of NMDAR. NMDAR contain an NTD, involved in the assembly of subunits; the ligand-binding domain (LBD), which binds glycine or D-serine in the case of GluN1 and GluN3 and glutamate for GluN2; the transmembrane domain (TMD), which includes three membrane spanning domains (M1, M3 and M4) and one reentrant pore loop (M2), and the CTD involved in receptor trafficking and binding to cytoplasmatic proteins (Paoletti *et al.*, 2013).

Although the GluN1 subunit is widely expressed from embryonic stage to adulthood, expression of the GluN2 variants varies throughout development and across brain regions. During embryonic stage only GluN2B and GluN2D subunits are expressed, and the expression of GluN2A starts after birth whereas the expression of GluN2D drops. GluN2C is expressed later in development, around the postnatal day 10. GluN3A expression peaks in early postnatal stage whereas GluN3B expression increases constantly; in adulthood GluN3B is expressed mainly in motor neurons. These differences in expression pattern suggest that different subunits have different roles in cellular processes such as synaptogenesis and synaptic maturation in the case of GluN2B, GluN2D and GluN3A (expressed early during development), and synaptic plasticity in the case of GluN2A and GluN2B, which are the predominant subunits in the hippocampus and cortex of the adult brain (Paoletti *et al.*, 2013).

Many important forms of plasticity that underlie memory and learning require NMDAR. In fact, both long-term potentiation (LTP) and long-term depression (LTD) depend on calcium influx through NMDAR ion channels. Since the direction of plasticity depends on the magnitude and time of calcium increase, which is influenced by NMDAR composition, it has been speculated that receptor composition dictates whether potentiation or a depression occurs (Paoletti *et al.*, 2013). Accordingly, mice lacking GluN2A subunit present deficient LTP (Sakimura *et al.*, 1995), whereas specific GluN2B blockers affect LTD (Massey *et al.*, 2004).

Although the excess of calcium through NMDAR is excitotoxic and leads to neuronal death, the hypofunction of these receptors has also been linked to numerous disorders. Thus, both agonists and antagonists have been proposed as potential therapeutic strategies for different disorders (Paoletti *et al.*, 2013).

#### 1.2.3. AMPA receptors

AMPAR are ionotropic glutamate receptors that mediate fast excitatory synaptic transmission. AMPAR undergo rapid activity-regulated recycling at the plasma membrane and also dynamic AMPAR membrane diffusion between synaptic and extrasynaptic sites. Four closely related genes, *GRIA1-4* encode the GluA1, GluA2, GluA3 or GluA4 subunits of AMPAR that assemble in homomeric or heteromeric tetramers (dimers of dimers) (Hollmann and Heinemann, 1994). The protein sequences of GluA subunits usually comprises around 900 aminoacids resulting in a molecular weight of about 105 kDa (Santos *et al.*, 2009).

AMPAR subunits consist in the NTD, the LBD and the TMD. The TMD consists of four hydrophobic domains, three of which span the membrane (M1, M3 and M4), and one that is a reentrant loop (M2), that forms the channel pore. Furthermore, AMPAR present a short intracellular CTD that is a substrate for post-translational modifications (such as phosphorylation) and protein interactions with intracellular partners. The NTD and LBD assemble in two-fold symmetric dimers of dimers and the TMD assemble in four-fold symmetry. In consequence, there is a different dimerization between subunits, according to the domain layer (Greger *et al.*, 2017; Santos *et al.*, 2009; Zhao *et al.*, 2016). (Figure 1.4).



**Figure 1.4. AMPAR membrane topology and structure.** Representation of an AMPAR subunit domain structure (**A**) Structure of a GluA2 homomeric receptor based on the model 3KG2 (Protein DataBank) and designed in PyMol software. Individual subunits are colored differently (**B**). The dimerization between subunits occurs differently in each domain layer (**C**). NTD – N-terminal domain, LBD – Ligand-binding domain, TMD – Transmembrane domain, M1-M4 – Membrane domains 1-4, CTD – C-terminal domain, ECS – Extracellular space, ICS – Intracellular space. Adapted from (Greger *et al.*, 2017; Nakagawa *et al.*, 2006).

Subunit composition varies according to brain region, cell type and developmental stage (Song and Huganir, 2002). GluA1, GluA2 and GluA3 are expressed in the cortex, hippocampus, olfactory regions, basal ganglia and amygdala, whereas GluA4 is more expressed in the cerebellum and reticular thalamic nuclei (Santos *et al.*, 2009). Typically, AMPARs are GluA1:GluA2 or GluA2:GluA3 heteromers (Wenthold *et al.*, 1996).

Synaptic strength is tightly regulated by the number of synaptic AMPAR and, in many synapses, the increase and decrease in the number of these receptors at the post synapse underlie LTP and LTD, respectively (Anggono and Huganir, 2012).

AMPAR subunits can undergo several post-translational modifications, such as phosphorylation (Rosenmund *et al.*, 1994; Tan *et al.*, 1994; Wang *et al.*, 1994), palmitoylation (Hayashi *et al.*, 2005) and ubiquitination (Widagdo *et al.*, 2015). Post-transcriptional editing (Krampfl *et al.*, 2002) also occurs, with significant impact in the case of the GluA2 subunit, and alternative splicing results in flip/ flop variants (Sommer *et al.*, 1990) or in receptor subunit variants with different cytoplasmic tail length (Kohler *et al.*, 1994). All these variations lead to the differential modulation of AMPAR function, interactions and pharmacological or kinetic properties. In fact, the GluA2 mRNA is edited in >99% cases, resulting in the switch of a glutamine for an arginine (Q/R) in the M2 domain of GluA2 and rendering AMPAR impermeable to calcium. GluA2-containing AMPAR also present linear current-voltage relationship whereas receptors lacking the GluA2 subunit are permeable to calcium and present an inwardly rectifying current-voltage relationship (Anggono and Huganir, 2012; Wright and Vissel, 2012)].

Several kinases phosphorylate AMPAR, which is crucial for the regulation of their trafficking and function. GluA1 is phosphorylated by CaMKII and PKC in serine 831, which leads to increased single channel conductance, and by PKA at serine 845, which enhances the mean open probability (Banke *et al.*, 2000; Barria *et al.*, 1997; Roche *et al.*, 1996). Interestingly, the combined but not the individual elimination of the phosphorylation of these sites prevents LTP, suggesting that the phosphorylation of one site might compensate for the other (Lee *et al.*, 2010). LTD, however, is dependent on serine 845 phosphorylation (Lee *et al.*, 2010). GluA2 is phosphorylated in serine 880 by PKC and in tyrosine 867 by Src. Phosphorylation of these residues is thought to be important for AMPAR internalization (Chung *et al.*, 2000; Hayashi and Huganir, 2004).

Furthermore, AMPAR interact with proteins that function as auxiliary subunits and regulate their trafficking, surface expression, subcellular localization and gating. Examples of these proteins are the transmembrane AMPAR regulatory proteins (TARPs), cornichons (CNIH), CKAMP44 (shisa9), PORCN, GSG1L, SynDIG1 and Caspr1. These proteins are differentially expressed throughout the brain, interact with specific AMPAR subunits and present different subcellular localizations, influencing AMPAR differently.

As will be further discussed in this chapter, stargazin, a member of the TARP family, is required for LTP and LTD in a phosphorylation-dependent manner (Tomita *et al.*, 2005b). Some CNIH proteins and GSG1L are also required for synaptic plasticity, since the deletion of both CNIH2 and 3, which specifically interact with the GluA1 subunit, impacts LTP (Herring *et al.*, 2013). Accordingly, the deletion of GSG1L, which affects the effect of the CNIHs in AMPAR, increases LTP (Gu *et al.*, 2016). Although GSG1L is important for the regulation of synaptic strength in hippocampal neurons, it does not affect AMPAR desensitization and deactivation kinetics (Mao *et al.*, 2017).

CKAMP44 modulates short-term plasticity by affecting the AMPAR desensitization rate and by decreasing paired-pulse ratio of AMPAR currents in hippocampal neurons (von Engelhardt *et al.*, 2010). PORCN and ABHD6 were recently identified as AMPAR interactors and both were described to increase GluA1 levels in heterologous cells while decreasing the glutamate-evoked whole cell currents. The PORCN-mediated effect on AMPAR is due to the retention of AMPAR intracellularly (Erlenhardt *et al.*, 2016) and overexpression of ABHD6 also led to a drastic reduction in AMPAR-mediated excitatory neurotransmission in neurons (Wei *et al.*, 2016).

SynDIG1 is a transmembrane protein that interacts with AMPAR and regulates their expression in nascent synapses in an activity-dependent manner, which suggests a role for this interaction in synaptic plasticity (Kalashnikova *et al.*, 2010).

Recently, Caspr1 was shown to interact with AMPAR and regulate their surface and synaptic expression, and the amplitude of glutamate-evoked AMPAR-mediated currents in an hetereologous system (Santos *et al.*, 2012).

Similarly to stargazin, Shisa6 contains a PDZ binding site that binds to PSD95 PDZ domains, and consequently stabilizes AMPAR at synapses. Furthermore, Shisa6 also protects AMPAR from full desensitization (Klaassen *et al.*, 2016).

Besides these auxiliary subunits, AMPAR interacts with intracellular proteins that participate in AMPAR regulation, namely SAP97, a MAGUK that was suggested to affect AMPAR maturation and trafficking, 4.1N, an actin cytoskeleton protein that binds to GluA1 and regulates its surface expression, GRIP that regulates the trafficking and synaptic targeting of AMPAR and plasticity, PICK1, which mediates GluA2 synaptic removal upon LTD induction, NSF, a component of the SNARE complex required for the insertion of GluA2 into the membrane and synapses and AP2, which interacts with GluA2 and participates in the NMDA-induced internalization of AMPAR (Anggono and Huganir, 2012).

#### 1.2.4. Stargazin, an auxiliary subunit for AMPAR

*Stargazer* mice, which lack stargazin protein expression, arose in the Jackson Laboratory as a result of a spontaneous mutation in chromosome 15. *Stargazer* mice present with ataxic gait, eye-blink conditioning impairment, absence seizures and a distinctive head tossing phenotype, the star gazing phenotype (Letts *et al.*, 1998; Noebels *et al.*, 1990).

Stargazin is a 37kDa membrane spanning protein with a cytosolic amino terminus, four transmembrane domains and a cytosolic carboxy terminus (Figure 1.4). Taking into consideration its modest sequence similarity (around 25%) with the  $\gamma$  ( $\gamma$ 1) subunit of the skeletal muscle voltage-

25

gated Ca<sup>2+</sup>channel (coded by the *CACNG1* gene), and the shared phenotypes between the *stargazer* mice and the tottering, ducky and lethargic mouse models, which present a defect in the Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel subunit, stargazin was suggested as the  $\gamma$ 2 subunit for these channels (Letts, 2005).

Defective Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry was first proposed to account for the observed decrease in the mRNA levels of BDNF, with consequent decrease in the expression of  $\mathsf{GABA}_A$  receptor  $\alpha 6$  and  $\beta 3$  subunits in cerebellar granule cells (Thompson et al., 1998), thus contributing to ataxia and eye-blink conditioning impairment in stargazer mice (Letts et al., 1998; Qiao et al., 1998). However, Hashimoto and colleagues described an impairment of AMPAR function in stargazer and suggested this impairment was the most likely responsible for the cerebellar dysfunction observed in stargazer. Their data showed that EPSCs at mossy fibers to granule cells synapses were devoid of the fast component mediated by AMPAR whereas the slow component, mediated by NMDARs, was unchanged (Hashimoto et al., 1999). Furthermore, this alteration was not accompanied by a decrease in the protein levels of AMPARs and was not observed in the hippocampus of stargazer or the cerebellum of BDNF knock-out mice (Hashimoto et al., 1999). Later on, it was suggested that the decreased levels of BDNF mRNA in the cerebellum of stargazer mice could be attributed to an abnormal response to the glutamate receptor-mediated upregulation of BDNF mRNA, which did not respond to AMPAR stimulation but showed intact NMDA modulation-mediated response (Meng *et al.*, 2007). Additionally, it was proposed that the expression and assembly of  $GABA_AR$  is regulated by AMPAR-mediated excitability or is a downstream consequence of AMPAR activity loss (Payne et al., 2007).

In 2000, Chen and colleagues showed that calcium currents are normal in *stargazer* mice corroborating the previous hypothesis (Hashimoto *et al.*, 1999) that altered calcium channel function was unlikely the primary cause for the defect in cerebellum granule cells in *stargazer* mice. Evidence for an AMPAR defect emerged from the observation of lack of AMPAR-mediated currents in *stargazer* cerebellum granule cell cultures, whilst the NMDAR-mediated currents were not significantly different from the control (Chen *et al.*, 2000). Furthermore, AMPAR subunits GluA2, GluA3 and GluA4 were virtually inexistent at granule cells synapses whereas modest labeling at the cytoplasm indicated the expression of AMPAR in these cells. Their data also showed that stargazin physically interacts with GluA1, GluA2 and GluA4 subunits, as well as with several PDZ domain-containing proteins such as PSD95, SAP-97, SAP-102 and PSD93. Although the PDZ binding domain of stargazin does not interfere with the binding to AMPAR, it is required for stargazin clustering at the synapse.

26

# 1.2.5. The TARP family.

Besides stargazin and  $\gamma$ 1, six other  $\gamma$ -subunit-related genes have been identified. Due to their role in the regulation of AMPAR, the proteins encoded by these genes comprise the transmembrane AMPAR regulatory proteins (TARP) family. TARPs share a high homology with each other, (around 60%) and present lower homology with  $\gamma$ 1 and claudin-1, an adhesion protein (23% of sequence similarity) (Tomita *et al.*, 2003). Based on sequence similarity and functional properties, TARPs are divided in subgroups. Based on their roles on the modulation of the desensitization decays of AMPAR, stargazin and  $\gamma$ 3 represent the Type Ia TARPs, whereas  $\gamma$ 4 and  $\gamma$ 8 are Type Ib TARPs (Cho *et al.*, 2007). The remaining TARPs,  $\gamma$ 5 and  $\gamma$ 7, represent the type II.  $\gamma$ 5 specifically regulates GluA2containing AMPAR and, along with  $\gamma$ 7, show distinct properties comparing to Type I TARPs, as, for instance, the requirement of GluA2 mRNA edition for the regulation of GluA2-containing AMPARs (Kato *et al.*, 2008; Kato *et al.*, 2007). TARPs characteristics are summarized in the Table 1.5.

		71	71				
	Pharm	nacology	Chan	nel properties	Trafficking	PDZ-binding motif	
	Kainate	Glutamate	Deactivation and	Steady-state	Rectification		
	efficacy	efficacy	desensitization rates	current			
Type Ia (γ2 and γ3)	++ +			++	++	+	Typical (TTPV)
Type lb (γ4 and γ8)	b (γ4 and γ8) ++ ++			+++	++	+	Typical (TTPV)
Type II (γ5) ↔		_*	+	_*	+	$\leftrightarrow$	Atypical (SSPC)
Type II (γ7)	+	$\leftrightarrow$	-	++	+	$\leftrightarrow$	Atypical (TSPC)

Table 1.5. Clas	sification	of the typ	be I and ty	pe II TARPS.
-----------------	------------	------------	-------------	--------------

\* - specific to GluA2, (+) – positive regulation, (-) – negative regulation, ( $\leftrightarrow$ ) – neutral regulation. Adapted from (Kato *et al.*, 2010a).

TARPs are differently expressed throughout the brain; stargazin is enriched in the cerebellum, cortex, hippocampus and thalamus (both in pyramidal cells and interneurons), whereas v3 is more expressed in the cortex, v4 in the olfactory bulb and v8 in the hippocampus. Both stargazin, v3 and v8 expression is low in neonatal stages but increases in adulthood. In contrast, v4 expression peaks at postnatal day 6 and then decreases in later development. All four TARPs co-immunoprecipitate with AMPAR in extracts from the brain regions where they are highly expressed (Tomita et al., 2003). Type II TARP v7 is expressed in the cerebellum whereas v5 is expressed both in the cerebellum and hippocampus (Kato et al., 2008; Kato et al., 2007).

The C-terminal of the different types of TARPs presents distinct features that affect AMPAR regulation. In fact, the C-terminal of Type I but not Type II TARPs is necessary for the trafficking of AMPAR to the surface (Tomita *et al.*, 2005a). Although both types of TARPs contain a PDZ binding domain in their C-terminal, the sequences are different, leading to a weaker binding to PSD95 in

the case of type II TARPs. Furthermore, the C-terminal of type I but not type II TARPs presents a set of serine residues that contribute largely to the phosphorylation state of the TARP (Kato *et al.*, 2010b), and whose importance in synaptic plasticity has been described (Louros *et al.*, 2014; Tomita *et al.*, 2005b). In addition, Type I TARPs also increase AMPAR glutamate affinity, and decrease deactivation and desensitization rates in a much greater extent than type II TARPS [reviewed in (Kato *et al.*, 2010b)]. Type I TARPs affect dendritic growth of neocortical pyramidal neurons in an NMDAR-dependent manner, whereas type II TARPs fail to do so (Hamad *et al.*, 2014).

Despite belonging to the same subfamily, stargazin and v8 are distributed differently at the synapse in hippocampal neurons; whereas stargazin localizes mainly to the synaptic area, v8 is distributed both in the synaptic and extrasynaptic area. Furthermore, these proteins are regulated by different sets of kinases and phosphatases in cortical neurons, suggesting that their function is correlated to the activation of different intracellular signaling pathways (Inamura *et al.*, 2006).

## 1.2.6. Stargazin regulates AMPAR trafficking, synaptic stabilization and kinetics

Stargazin is essential for the regulation of AMPAR surface expression and function, by several distinct mechanisms. Along with other TARPs, stargazin masks ER retention signals facilitating AMPAR export from the ER (Vandenberghe *et al.*, 2005b). In fact, the C-terminus of stargazin contains a membrane sorting signal that pulls AMPAR to the surface through the interaction with stargazin in a region that is not the cytoplasmic tail. This ability is not receptor-dependent, as the C-terminal domain of stargazin, when coupled to other proteins, also mediates their trafficking to the basolateral membrane in Madin-Darby canine kidney cells, where basolateral sorting may reflect somatodendritic sorting in neurons, suggesting that stargazin sorting signal either directs sorting vesicles to the basolateral membranes or allows enhanced endocytosis from the apical membrane (Bedoukian *et al.*, 2008). In addition, nPIST, a protein enriched in the Golgi, interacts with the C-tail of stargazin helping AMPAR exit the Golgi (Cuadra *et al.*, 2004), where they become fully glycosylated (Shepherd and Rosell, 2007).

The C-terminal of stargazin contains nine serine residues that are phosphorylated by PKC and CaMKII (Tomita *et al.*, 2005b). CaMKII activation leads to the rapid recruitment and stabilization of AMPAR at the synapse by decreasing their mobility at synaptic sites. This effect does not require the phosphorylation of AMPAR subunits, but is dependent on the CaMKII-dependent phosphorylation of stargazin and consequent binding to PSD95 (Opazo *et al.*, 2010). Recently, stargazin was shown to interact with negatively charged lipid bilayers in a phosphorylation-dependent manner due to the presence of several positively charged aminoacids (arginine residues)

near the phosphorylatable serine residues in the C-tail of stargazin. Importantly, this interaction with the lipids prevents the interaction with PSD95, which is resumed after the phosphorylation of stargazin (Sumioka *et al.*, 2010). On the other hand, the phosphorylation of threonine 321 in the PDZ domain of stargazin by PKA disrupts the interaction with PSD95 (Chetkovich *et al.*, 2002; Choi *et al.*, 2002).

Besides enhancing the trafficking of AMPAR to the cell surface, stargazin is important for the stabilization of these receptors at the synapse, and the interaction with PSD95 is essential for this mechanism (Chen *et al.*, 2000). This interaction regulates the number of AMPAR at the synapse and although the increase in the expression of stargazin increases the number of AMPAR at the cell surface, the synaptic currents do not change if the PSD95 levels are kept constant. On the other hand, increasing the number of PSD95 slots recruits new AMPAR to the synapse without changing the number of surface AMPAR (Schnell *et al.*, 2002).

Tianeptine is a widely used antidepressant structurally similar to tricyclic antidepressants but with particular pharmacological properties, since unlike most of the antidepressant drugs it fails to modulate the monoaminergic system [reviewed in (McEwen *et al.*, 2010)]. Although its mode of action remains elusive, tianeptine has been shown to prevent and reverse stress-induced remodeling of hippocampal neurons (Magarinos *et al.*, 1999) and stress-induced diminished performance in the eight-arm radial- and Y-mazes (Conrad *et al.*, 1996; Luine *et al.*, 1994). Furthermore, it enhances spontaneous alternation and left-right discrimination in the T-maze (Jaffard *et al.*, 1991), thus resulting in a beneficial effect in memory and learning. Recent evidence show that tianeptine regulates AMPAR function. In fact, it leads to an increase in the phosphorylation of Serine 831 and Serine 845 of GluA1 subunits in the hippocampus (Svenningsson *et al.*, 2007) and potentiates AMPA-elicited firing activity in a CaMKII- and PKC-dependent manner (Szegedi *et al.*, 2011). More recently it was found to be a potent modulator of AMPAR surface diffusion through the CaMKII-dependent phosphorylation of stargazin, favoring its binding to PSD95 (Zhang *et al.*, 2013).

Stargazin not only regulates the trafficking and stabilization of AMPAR but also enhances their activity (Yamazaki *et al.*, 2004). It was shown to reduce AMPAR channel desensitization (Priel *et al.*, 2005; Turetsky *et al.*, 2005), to slow deactivation in response to glutamate and to accelerate the recovery from desensitization (Priel *et al.*, 2005). In *Xenopus oocytes*, stargazin increased glutamate-evoked currents to a much greater extent than it increased the surface expression of GluA1, suggesting that stargazin enhances GluA1 function independently from its effect on receptor trafficking. Single AMPAR channel activity recordings showed that stargazin increases the frequency of channel opening (Tomita *et al.*, 2005a). Interestingly, stargazin enhances the effect of AMPAR potentiators that slow the deactivation and desensitization of these receptors, abolishing, in

addition, the preference for flip or flop alternatively spliced versions of AMPAR subunits (Tomita *et al.*, 2006).

AMPAR lacking the edited version of the GluA2 subunit are calcium-permeable and are subject to voltage-dependent blockade by polyamines. Stargazin was shown to reduce the polyamine blockade of calcium permeable AMPAR, increasing their single-channel conductance (Soto *et al.*, 2007). Interestingly, the threshold of glutamate concentration at which AMPAR autoinactivate is increased when stargazin is present (Morimoto-Tomita *et al.*, 2009). The desensitization of AMPAR leads to the dissociation between stargazin and AMPAR in a few milliseconds, contributing to a short-term modulation of synaptic strength (Morimoto-Tomita *et al.*, 2009). More recently, this activity-mediated dissociation of AMPAR and stargazin was shown to induce an increased surface diffusion of the receptors, allowing the exchange of desensitized receptors by naïve ones (Constals *et al.*, 2015).

#### 1.2.7. Stargazin interaction with AMPAR

Distinct domains of stargazin are responsible for stargazin's effects on AMPAR trafficking and activity (Figure 1.5). Whereas the cytoplasmic tail of stargazin determines receptor trafficking, the first extracellular domain controls the channel properties; the disruption of the latter interaction alters the amplitude and shape of synaptic responses (Bedoukian *et al.*, 2008; Tomita *et al.*, 2005a). Also, kainate sensitivity requires the first extracellular and the second transmembrane domain of stargazin (Tomita *et al.*, 2005a). In 2007, Tomita et al. showed that stargazin-dependent regulation of AMPAR requires the glutamate-binding module, since a mutation equivalent to the Lurcher mutation in GluAδ2 (which corresponds to a residue in the extracellular region of GluA1) prevented stargazin-mediated AMPAR trafficking and gating (Tomita *et al.*, 2007).



**Figure 1.5. Stargazin domain structure**. Stargazin contains an intracellular N-terminal segment, four transmembrane domains, two extracellular loops and a C-terminal domain that includes a PDZ domain binding motif (yellow line) and nine serine residues (red dots), which are phosphorylated by CaMKII and PKC and are required for synaptic plasticity mechanisms. Different domains of stargazin regulate the interaction and regulation of AMPAR (gray boxes). ECS – extracellular space, ICS – intracellular space, EX – extracellular domain, TM – transmembrane domain. Adapted from (Price *et al.*, 2005).

By swapping the domains of stargazin by the correspondent domains from  $\gamma$ 5, a TARP that does not regulate the trafficking of AMPAR, Tomita and colleagues proposed that the first extracellular domain and the intracellular tail of stargazin are indispensable for stargazin binding to AMPAR. They showed that the inclusion of an HA-tag in the end of the first extracellular domain but not in the middle prevented the interaction with AMPAR, suggesting a role for this region in the interaction. Additionally, deletion analysis of the C-terminal of stargazin identified a critical role for residues 212 to 268 in this interaction (Tomita *et al.*, 2004).

The importance of the first extracellular domain (Ex1) of stargazin for the interaction with AMPAR was further corroborated by Cais and colleagues, who additionally showed that Ex1 binds to both the N-terminal domain (NTD) an the ligand binding domain (LBD) of GluA2, and that this interaction is implicated in aspects of AMPAR gating (Cais *et al.*, 2014).

Recent cryo-electron microscopy studies focusing on the interaction of GluA2-AMPAR with stargazin showed that besides the extracellular domains of stargazin, which modulate the LBD closure and affect conformational rearrangements of the LBD associated with AMPAR activation and desensitization, also the transmembrane domains of stargazin (TM) interact with AMPAR and buttress the ion channel pore (Zhao *et al.*, 2016). The latter interaction is mediated by an interface between the TM3 and TM4 of stargazin and the membrane domains 1 and 2 of one GluA2 subunit and the membrane domain 4 of the adjacent GluA2 subunit (Twomey *et al.*, 2016; Zhao *et al.*, 2016). Additionally, a two-steps mechanism for this interaction was recently proposed, based on systematic mutagenesis and electrophysiology data (Ben-Yaacov *et al.*, 2017). According to this model, the binding of stargazin to AMPAR is sufficient to destabilize the channel closed-state, which promotes channel opening upon binding of the agonist. In turn, agonist binding leads to conformational changes that allow the interaction between the extracellular parts of stargazin and AMPAR, stabilizing the open state (Ben-Yaacov *et al.*, 2017). This model is in agreement with previous data on the role of stargazin on the stabilization of the open state of AMPAR (Shaikh *et al.*, 2016).

The stoichiometry of the AMPAR-stargazin complex remains elusive. It has been proposed that AMPAR assemble with a variable number of TARP molecules, depending on their availability (Hastie *et al.*, 2013; Shi *et al.*, 2009). Neurons with high TARP expression, such as hippocampal pyramidal

neurons, would present a higher TARP/AMPAR stoichiometry, comparing to neurons expressing lower levels of TARPs, such as dentate gyrus granule neurons, providing a mechanism for cell-specific regulation of AMPAR (Shi *et al.*, 2009). Twomey and colleagues suggested that the preferred stoichiometry of the GluA2-stargazin interaction is one or two stargazin molecules for each tetramer of GluA2 (Twomey *et al.*, 2016), whereas others proposed that one to four stargazin molecules assemble with each receptor (Hastie *et al.*, 2013; Zhao *et al.*, 2016). In addition, the stoichiometry between AMPAR and different members of the TARP family vary; the maximum of four y3 molecules interact with each AMPAR whereas for y4 this number rarely goes above two (Hastie *et al.*, 2013). The existence of multiple stoichiometry states that depend on TARPs levels attributes an important role to the expression level of these proteins on AMPAR function.

#### 1.2.8. Other Stargazin interactors

Stargazin has been shown to interact with several proteins apart from AMPAR; however, the purport of some of these interactions has not been fully elucidated. Following is a list of the interaction partners reported to this date:

- Besides PSD95, stargazin associates to other synaptic PDZ proteins such as PSD93, SAP-97, SAP-102 (Chen *et al.*, 2000), MUPP1 and OMP-25. However, whereas all these proteins interact with stargazin *in vitro*, only PSD93 and PSD95 were shown to interact with stargazin in the brain (Dakoji *et al.*, 2003).
- MAGI-2, a scaffolding protein that interacts with several ligands, including NMDAR, interacts with stargazin in the cortex, in a manner dependent on the C-terminal domain of stargazin (Deng *et al.*, 2006).
- nPIST, a Golgi-enriched PDZ protein, interacts with stargazin in the hippocampus and might be implicated in the stargazin-mediated trafficking of AMPAR (Cuadra *et al.*, 2004).
- Stargazin interacts with Erbin, a PDZ domain-containing protein that is specifically localized at excitatory synapses in cortical inhibitory neurons and that has been shown to be required for the stabilization of stargazin, whose levels decrease in the absence of Erbin, and for the surface expression of AMPAR at these synapses (Tao *et al.*, 2013).
- The light chain (LC2) of the microtubule-associated protein 1A (MAP1A) is a protein that regulates neuronal differentiation and microtubule dynamics. This protein forms a complex with stargazin and GluA2 and the interaction is believed to play a role in the trafficking of AMPAR to the cell surface, in cerebellar neurons (Ives *et al.*, 2004)

- Adaptor protein (AP)-2, AP-3 and AP-4, members of the adaptor protein complexes which regulate vesicular trafficking of membrane proteins, were shown to interact with stargazin. The interaction with AP-4 was suggested to be necessary for the proper somatodendritic localization of AMPAR and regulation of autophagic pathways in neurons (Matsuda *et al.*, 2008). AP-2 and AP-3 form a complex with stargazin and, whereas the AP-2 interaction is required for NMDA-induced AMPAR endocytosis, the AP-3 interaction regulates the late endosomal/lysosomal trafficking of AMPAR and consequently controls the recycling of AMPAR to the cell surface (Matsuda *et al.*, 2013)
- Stargazin was recently shown to interact with serine racemase, an enzyme involved in the conversion of L-serine to D-serine, a co-agonist of NMDAR. By binding to stargazin and PSD95, serine racemase localization at the membrane is facilitated, rendering the enzyme inactive. The activation of AMPAR leads to serine racemase internalization and thus disrupts its interaction with stargazin. In turn, more D-serine is produced, which potentially promotes NMDAR activation. These observations suggest that serine racemase might bridge AMPAR and NMDAR functions (Ma *et al.*, 2014).
- Finally, ARC, a protein implicated in SCZ and required for memory and learning, was shown to interact with stargazin; the interaction was found to be necessary for ARC-mediated AMPAR downregulation through decrease of surface GluA1 (Zhang *et al.*, 2015).

### 1.3. Synaptic plasticity

Synaptic plasticity is a process through which specific changes in activity culminate in changes in synaptic strength that persist even when the triggering stimulus has ceded (Martin *et al.*, 2000). Synaptic plasticity is believed to represent a cellular foundation for memory and learning. Cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying synaptic plasticity have been widely studied since the first model for synaptic plasticity was formulated in 1949, by Donald Hebb. The Hebbian forms of plasticity, LTP and LTD are rapidly induced, long-lasting processes, which in many synapses are inextricably linked to the modulation of AMPAR.

LTP and LTD are induced by distinct patterns of activity. LTP requires the simultaneous activation of pre and postsynaptic neurons, which allows the maximization of calcium influx through NMDAR following activity-dependent depolarization of the membrane with consequent release of magnesium block. On the other hand, LTD results from the repeated activation of the presynaptic neurons at low frequencies in the absence of activation of the postsynaptic neuron, which due to the incomplete blockade of NMDAR, is sufficient for the entry of calcium. Experimentally, LTP can be induced in hippocampal slices by the high frequency (usually, 50-100Hz for 1 sec) stimulation of Schaffer collaterals which results in the large depolarization of the postsynaptic CA1 neurons and consequent calcium entry. LTD is induced by low frequency stimulation of the presynaptic neurons (usually 1-3Hz for 5-15 min) which causes a modest depolarization of the postsynaptic neuron and an equally modest entry of calcium through the NMDAR (Luscher and Malenka, 2012). LTP can be induced chemically in cultured neurons by different protocols, and shares key properties of LTP induced by high frequency stimulation in hippocampal slices. These protocols include stimulation with glutamate, with forskolin which leads to a rise in the cAMP levels, with APV, a NMDAR blocker which leads to a homeostatic increase in NMDAR levels, enabling a subsequent potentiation upon membrane depolarization, with glycine, a NMDAR cofactor, or KCl, which induces the depolarization of the type I mGluRs is able to induce LTD and the stimulation with DHPG, an agonist of these receptors, is commonly used for chemical LTD induction (Naie *et al.*, 2007).

The GluA1 subunit of AMPAR was extensively correlated to LTP. In fact, this subunit and CaMKII, which is responsible for its phosphorylation in serine 831, were both shown to be indispensable for LTP, as in mutant mice lacking their expression LTP induction was abolished (Barria et al., 1997; Meng et al., 2003; Pettit et al., 1994; Silva et al., 1992). The CaMKII-dependent phosphorylation of GluA1 is essential for activity-dependent recruitment of GluA1-containing AMPAR to the synapse, whereas their stabilization at the post synaptic density (PSD) requires the intervention of PDZbinding proteins. Furthermore, many of the auxiliary subunits that decorate AMPAR have been implicated in both LTP and LTD, suggesting that they not only modulate AMPAR under basal conditions but are also important for the changes occurring in these receptors in response to changes in activity. A widely accepted model for LTP postulates that, under basal conditions, AMPAR are retained in nanodomains (slots) containing PSD95, through the interaction between TARPs and PSD95. Due to the remodeling of actin filaments, to which PSD95 nanodomains are anchored, AMPAR are continually repositioned in the PSD. Thus, the number of AMPAR at the synapses is maintained. When LTP is induced, the CaMKII-mediated phosphorylation of TARPs enhances their binding to PSD95 and consequently increases the retaining capacity of the slots for AMPAR, mediating synaptic potentiation [reviewed in (Henley and Wilkinson, 2016)].

LTD, on the other hand, results from the endocytosis of AMPAR; however, despite extensive study, the precise molecular pathways underlying LTD remain obscure. One hypothesis is that, in the hippocampus, calcium signaling plays a bidirectional role in plasticity (Malenka and Bear, 2004), as NMDAR-dependent entry of high levels of calcium would activate CaMKII, which has low affinity for calcium, whereas low levels of calcium would selectively activate calcineurin, a phosphatase with high affinity for Ca<sup>2+</sup>. The activation of calcineurin leads, in turn, to the dephosphorylation of several

proteins at the PSD, namely GluA1(Lee *et al.*, 1998). However, recent evidence defied this hypothesis by demonstrating that although APV, a competitive antagonist of NMDAR indeed blocks LTD, this process was not prevented by MK801, a non-competitive antagonist of these receptors. This suggests that LTD induction is not dependent on the ion flux through NMDAR but rather on NMDAR-dependent intracellular signaling pathways (Mayford *et al.*, 1995; Nabavi *et al.*, 2013). These results have been discussed and different observations have been described in terms of MK-801 effectiveness in blocking LTD in the hippocampus. More studies are necessary to tackle the specific role of NMDAR in LTD (Babiec *et al.*, 2014). Nevertheless, there is a general consensus with regard to the loss of synaptic AMPAR during LTD.

The activation of group I mGluRs is also able to induce LTD; however the mechanisms of mGluRdependent LTD vary among brain regions. In the cerebellum, LTD induction requires the activation of phospholipase C (PLCβ), generation of inositol trisphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>), release of calcium from intracellular stores and the activation of PKC, whereas in the hippocampus mGluR-dependent LTD is independent of the increase in calcium, PLCβ or PKC [reviewed in (Luscher and Huber, 2010)] but instead involves Homer 1b/c, which couples mGluR5 to the calcium-independent ERK signaling cascade. Furthermore, evidence suggest that mGluR-LTD is dependent on rapid dendritic protein synthesis which is regulated by the interaction of Homer with mGluRs. Protein synthesis in though to promote AMPAR endocytosis and presynaptic neurotransmitter release (Gladding *et al.*, 2009).

Changes in the number of synapses are also observed following activity stimuli triggering long-term plasticity (Hasegawa *et al.*, 2015). During LTP, spines were shown to increase in volume before the accumulation of AMPAR (Kopec *et al.*, 2006). Furthermore, in hippocampus, theta burst stimulation led to the formation of new spines (Nagerl *et al.*, 2004).

Oppositely, LTD was shown to decrease the lifetime of synapses and to lead to the selective removal of synapses, putatively altering connectivity (Wiegert and Oertner, 2013). Specifically, mGluR-mediated LTD leads to robust spine shrinkage and elimination that lasts for up to 24h (Ramiro-Cortes and Israely, 2013).

When a synapse is potentiated, it becomes more excitable and more prone to further potentiation. When one synapse undergoes LTD, further synaptic depression is facilitated. If unimpeded, these processes pose a problem for the neuronal networks stability. Nonetheless, homeostatic mechanisms that compensate for these changes enable the maintenance of stable function.

Currently, the best-studied form of homeostatic plasticity is synaptic scaling, which is displayed by central glutamatergic neurons.

Synaptic scaling was first described in cultured cortical neurons, where the blockade of activity with the sodium channel blocker tetrodotoxin (TTX), or blocking of GABA-mediated inhibition with bicuculline, generated compensatory changes in synaptic strength that respectively increased or decreased mEPSC amplitudes. Furthermore, these changes were shown to be independent form NMDAR-mediated signaling (Turrigiano *et al.*, 1998). Similar results were obtained in cultured spinal neurons, where, the authors found this modulation to be regulated by the accumulation of AMPAR at synapses (O'Brien *et al.*, 1998). Both Ca<sup>2+</sup>-permeable AMPAR (Maghsoodi *et al.*, 2008; Sutton *et al.*, 2006) and GluA2-containing AMPAR (Gainey *et al.*, 2009; O'Brien *et al.*, 1998) have been implicated in homeostatic plasticity, but evidence suggests that their function is assigned to distinct mechanisms. Whereas more global synaptic scaling, triggered by the inhibition of neuronal firing alone, regulates both GluA1 and GluA2-containing receptors, the simultaneous blockade of action potentials and NMDARs is accounted for by homeostatic mechanisms that specifically increase GluA1 levels, through local dendritic synthesis [reviewed in (Fernandes and Carvalho, 2016)]. Numerous proteins play a role in homeostatic plasticity, namely PICK1 and ARC, which regulate AMPAR endocytosis (Anggono *et al.*, 2011; Shepherd *et al.*, 2006), PSD95 and PSD93 (Sun and Turrigiano, 2011), CaMKII (Groth *et al.*, 2011) and calcineurin (Arendt *et al.*, 2015), which,

respectively, phosphorylate and dephosphorylate GluA1 and stargazin (Louros et al., 2014).

#### 1.3.1. The role of stargazin in synaptic plasticity

Amongst a vast range of synaptic proteins, stargazin has also been implicated in both LTP and LTD. The NMDAR-induced activation of PKC and CaMKII, with consequent phosphorylation of stargazin, is required for LTP; in fact, expression of a non-phosphorylatable version of stargazin was sufficient to prevent LTP in hippocampal slices. Conversely, the dephosphorylation of stargazin, mediated by calcineurin, results in the formation of a ternary complex between stargazin and the adaptor proteins AP2 and AP3, allowing the NMDAR-induced endocytosis of AMPAR (Matsuda *et al.*, 2013), indispensable for LTD (Nomura *et al.*, 2012; Tomita *et al.*, 2005b). Furthermore, the phosphorylation of stargazin by PKA, at the threonine residue 321, disrupts stargazin interaction with PSD95, preventing activity-dependent clustering of stargazin, and consequently AMPAR, at synapses (Stein and Chetkovich, 2010).

In addition to modulating trafficking and stabilization of AMPAR at synapses, stargazin was shown to be required for the activity-dependent switch from GluA2-lacking to calcium impermeable, GluA2-containing AMPAR, a form of synaptic plasticity displayed by parallel fiber to stellate cell synapses in the cerebellum (Jackson and Nicoll, 2011).

Stargazin also plays a role in short-term plasticity, since upon desensitization after glutamate binding, AMPAR dissociate from stargazin and thus are less stable at the synapses. This mechanism is thought to allow rapid replacement of desensitized AMPAR by naïve receptors, allowing faster recovery from desensitization-mediated synaptic depression. In fact, when the glutamate bindingdependent loss of the AMPAR: stargazin interaction is prevented, the glutamate-induced increase in AMPAR mobility is lost, with effects on short-term plasticity (Constals *et al.*, 2015).

A recent study from our laboratory showed that stargazin controls AMPAR synaptic accumulation during homeostatic scaling. In the absence of stargazin, synaptic scaling is impaired in cortical neurons (Louros et al., 2014). Accordingly, stargazin is indispensable for experience-dependent plasticity at the retinogeniculate synapse. Refinement of this synapse is specifically disrupted during the experience-dependent phase in *stargazer* mice lacking stargazin expression (Louros *et al.*, 2014).

# 1.4. The CACNG2 gene as a susceptibility gene for psychiatric disorders

Growing evidence points towards the *CACNG2* gene, which encodes for stargazin, as a potential susceptibility gene for psychiatric disorders, namely SCZ, bipolar disorder and ID. In fact, the *CACNG2* gene is located in the 22q chromosome region, which has been strongly implicated in the pathogenesis of SCZ (DeLisi *et al.*, 2002; Gill *et al.*, 1996; Wilson *et al.*, 2006), and risk-conferring single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) were identified in the *CACNG2* gene of a subgroup of SCZ (Liu *et al.*, 2008; Yang *et al.*, 2013), and bipolar disorder (Nissen *et al.*, 2012) patients. Additionally, copy number variations (CNVs) of the *CACNG2* gene (Wilson *et al.*, 2006) and altered stargazin expression levels have been described in *postmortem* brain samples from SCZ (Beneyto and Meador-Woodruff, 2006) and bipolar disorder patients (Silberberg *et al.*, 2008). Recently, a missense mutation was identified in the *CACNG2* gene in an 8-year-old non-syndromic intellectual disability patient and was suggested to affect the function of the protein (Hamdan *et al.*, 2011).

In addition, changes in the mRNA and protein levels of other TARPs, namely  $\gamma$ 3,  $\gamma$ 4,  $\gamma$ 5,  $\gamma$ 7 and  $\gamma$ 8 have been detected in the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) cortex of schizophrenic patients (Drummond *et al.*, 2013).

As reviewed in this chapter, stargazin plays a pivotal role in the regulation of AMPAR and synaptic plasticity, thus changes in its function likely contribute to alterations in neuronal transmission and possibly to disruption of synaptic homeostasis. Taken together, we propose to study the role of stargazin in the development of psychiatric disorders, namely SCZ and ID.

# **OBJECTIVES**

Genetic studies indicate that proteins of the glutamatergic synapse play a pivotal role in the etiology of psychiatric disorders (Fromer *et al.*, 2014; Hamdan *et al.*, 2011; Kirov *et al.*, 2012; Krumm *et al.*, 2014; Network and Pathway Analysis Subgroup of Psychiatric Genomics, 2015; Purcell *et al.*, 2014; Schizophrenia Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics, 2014). Stargazin is a postsynaptic AMPAR auxiliary subunit that regulates AMPAR trafficking and function. Importantly, stargazin is implicated in LTP and LTD, and recent data from our laboratory showed that stargazin is required for AMPAR synaptic scaling in a phosphorylation-dependent manner (Louros *et al.*, 2014; Tomita *et al.*, 2005b). Emerging evidence suggests that the *CACNG2* gene, which codes for stargazin, is a susceptibility gene for neuropsychiatric disorders (Hamdan *et al.*, 2011; Liu *et al.*, 2008; Wilson *et al.*, 2006; Yang *et al.*, 2013).

Given the crucial role of stargazin in excitatory synapse function and plasticity, and the recent implication of the stargazin-encoding gene in neuropsychiatric disorders, the main goal of this work was to elucidate the role of stargazin in these disorders, focusing on SCZ and intellectual disability since mutations in *CACNG2* were found in association to these two diseases. Therefore, we pursued the following objectives:

- We searched for exonic mutations in the CACNG2 gene in psychiatric disorder patients from the Portuguese Island Collection (PIC). We used both whole-genome and exon sequencing data. This task was performed in collaboration with Dr. Carlos Pato, Dr. Ayman Fanous and Dr. Célia Carvalho.
- 2) We characterized the cellular phenotypes originated by expression of two stargazin variants, one described in an intellectual disability patient (Hamdan *et al.*, 2011) and the other one identified by us in a SCZ patient. We employed a molecular replacement approach to examine the cellular impact of stargazin mutations. Endogenous stargazin expression in cortical neurons was depleted by shRNA-mediated *knock-down* and wild-type (WT) or disease-associated variants of stargazin were expressed. We characterized alterations in the cell surface mobility of stargazin, in AMPAR traffic and in synaptic scaling triggered by expression of the stargazin variants. We further evaluated effects in the neuritic tree and in synapse density in neurons expressing the disease-associated stargazin variants.
- 3) We searched for new stargazin interactors. Using co-immunoprecipitation assays followed by mass spectrometry, we identified new stargazin interaction partners, some of which have been implicated in psychiatric disorders.

4) We generated *knock-in* mice for the stargazin mutation associated with intellectual disability, Stg<sup>ID</sup>, and performed the behavioral characterization of these mice. Stg<sup>ID</sup> mice, generated through gene targeting, were submitted to behavior tests to evaluate locomotor activity, social behavior, anxiety-related phenotypes and cognition.

Herein we describe the first missense mutation in the *CACNG2* gene associated to SCZ. ID- and SCZ-associated mutations in *CACNG2* showed disruptive effects on stargazin surface mobility, basal and activity-dependent AMPAR trafficking, synapse number and neuritic network. The animal model that we produced expressing mutated stargazin showed an ID-like phenotype, including defective working memory and motor learning, and altered social behavior. Our findings support a role for stargazin in the pathogenesis of cognitive disorders such as SCZ and intellectual disability.

Data presented on Chapter 2 and 3 is under preparation for submission as a research paper:

**Caldeira GL**, Louros S, Rondão, T, Rodrigues, MV, Pato, C, Chen, C, Peça J, Cavalho AL. Human mutations in the *CACNG2* gene result in cellular and behavior phenotypes related to psychiatric disorders (in preparation).

# **CHAPTER 2**

Identification and *in vitro* characterization of diseaseassociated variants of the *CACNG2* gene

# 2.1. Summary

Stargazin is a postsynaptic protein that physically interacts with and regulates AMPAR expression and function. Stargazin is required for several mechanisms of synaptic plasticity, such as long-term potentiation and long-term depression, and for homeostatic scaling of AMPARs at the synapse. Interestingly, single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) analyses provide evidence associating the *CACNG2* gene encoding stargazin with SCZ and bipolar disorder, and the *CACNG2* gene is located in a region of chromosome 22 strongly implicated in these disorders. A recent study identified a missense mutation in the *CACNG2* gene in an intellectual disability (ID) patient. Given the crucial role for stargazin in excitatory transmission and synaptic plasticity, and the genetic data suggesting that the stargazin gene may be a susceptibility gene for cognitive disorders, herein we explore a role for stargazin in these disorders.

Using whole-genome sequencing data from patients from the Portuguese Island Collection, we identified a missense mutation in the *CACNG2* gene in a SCZ patient. To investigate the mutational effects on protein function, we studied neuronal alterations elicited by expression of this variant of stargazin (Stg<sup>SCZ</sup>), or by expression of the previously described ID-linked stargazin variant (Stg<sup>ID</sup>). We show that the two mutations result in shared and distinct effects on stargazin function. Whereas both mutations affect the cell surface diffusion of stargazin and its role in the trafficking of AMPARs, the ID-linked stargazin variant fails to homeostatically scale AMPARs upon blockade of neuronal activity, or to enhance the synaptic expression of AMPAR upon exposure to the anti-depressant and cognitive enhancer drug tianeptine. Furthermore, the expression of Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> (but not of Stg<sup>ID</sup>) affects the number of inhibitory synapses and dendritic arborization in dissociated rat cortical neurons. These results suggest that different disease-associated mutations in the *CACNG2* gene originate both common and disparate cellular phenotypes, which are likely related to their role in disease pathogenesis. Our data provide new mechanistic insight into how genetic deficits in *CACNG2* gene can lead to alterations in AMPAR traffic and neuronal network formation, and corroborate recent evidence that attributes a major role to synaptic network components in psychiatric disorders.

# 2.2. Introduction

SCZ is a devastating disorder that affects around 1% of the population worldwide. It is characterized by a heterogeneous set of clinical manifestations that include positive symptoms such as delusion and hallucinations, negative symptoms such as anhedonia and blunted affect, and also cognitive symptoms. Despite countless efforts, the mechanisms implicated in the development of SCZ have not yet been fully elucidated, hindering the attempts to develop effective therapy.

It is well known that genetics plays an important role in the development of most psychiatric disorders, and several genes implicated in a wide range of pathways have been associated to these disorders. Recent evidence from genome-wide association studies implicated genes encoding synaptic proteins in the pathogenesis of SCZ (Fromer *et al.*, 2014; Network and Pathway Analysis Subgroup of Psychiatric Genomics, 2015; Purcell *et al.*, 2014). Synaptic networks have been growingly recognized as major players in the development of SCZ; in fact, recent reports attributed a major importance to *de novo* mutations in genes that encode glutamatergic postsynaptic proteins with major roles in the modulation of synaptic strength. Importantly, these studies reinforce the notion that genes affected by mutations in SCZ overlap those mutated in autism and intellectual disability (Fromer *et al.*, 2014; Kirov *et al.*, 2012; Purcell *et al.*, 2014).

Emerging evidence suggests that stargazin, a synaptic protein which is an auxiliary subunit of AMPAR, may play a role in the development of these disorders. In fact, SNPs and CNVs in the *CACNG2* gene, which codes for stargazin, were associated with SCZ and bipolar disorder (Liu *et al.*, 2008; Wilson *et al.*, 2006; Yang *et al.*, 2013). The mRNA and protein levels of stargazin were shown to be altered in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex of SCZ patients (Beneyto and Meador-Woodruff, 2006) but not in the anterior cingulate cortex (Drummond *et al.*, 2013). Furthermore, a missense mutation in the *CACNG2* gene was found in an intellectual disability patient and was suggested to affect stargazin function (Hamdan *et al.*, 2011).

Stargazin is a 37 kDa protein that is highly expressed in the cortex, cerebellum and hippocampus (Tomita *et al.*, 2003). It was the first identified TARP and it plays an important role in the expression, trafficking and kinetic modulation of AMPARs (Bedoukian *et al.*, 2006; Chen *et al.*, 2000; Tomita *et al.*, 2005a; Vandenberghe *et al.*, 2005b). Phosphorylation and dephosphorylation of stargazin were shown to be required for LTP and LTD, respectively (Tomita *et al.*, 2005b), and recently our laboratory described the implication of stargazin in homeostatic plasticity and experience-dependent plasticity in the retinogeniculate synapse (Louros *et al.*, 2014).

Herein we describe a missense mutation in the third exon of the *CACNG2* gene in a SCZ patient from the Portuguese Island Collection. This variant, Stg<sup>SCZ</sup>, as well as the one previously identified by Hamdan and colleagues (Hamdan *et al.*, 2011) in an intellectual disability patient, Stg<sup>ID</sup>, present

increased cell surface mobility, and impact the delivery of AMPAR to the synapse in rat cortical neurons. Expression of Stg<sup>ID</sup> also impairs synaptic scaling, whereas Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> expression affects dendritic arborization and the number of inhibitory synapses in cortical neurons, which correlates with E/I imbalance in SCZ patients [reviewed in (Anticevic and Lisman, 2017)]. Taken together, our results suggest that stargazin might be a player in mechanisms that are disrupted in psychiatric disorders, and corroborate the hypothesis that mutations in the same gene can culminate in different cellular phenotype which may be associated with different symptoms, characterizing distinct disorders.

# 2.3. Results

#### 2.3.1. SCZ-associated mutation, S148N, is predicted to affect the function of stargazin

In order to study a possible relevant role for stargazin in the etiology of psychiatric disorders, we searched for mutations in the CACNG2 gene in patients from the Portuguese Island Collection (PIC). The PIC, which is a part of the Genomic Psychiatry Cohort (GPC) (Pato et al., 2013), includes individuals and multiplex families with SCZ and/or bipolar disorder from the Portuguese islands, Madeira and Azores, and mainland (Pato et al., 1997; Pato et al., 2004). The population from the Portuguese Islands is a geographically isolated and genetically homogeneous population, where several families present more than one affected individual; it is therefore an interesting population for genetic studies (Pato et al., 1997). After diagnosis and selection of subjects to be included in this group, their genomic DNA was extracted from whole blood as described previously (Pato et al., 2004; Pato et al., 2013; Sklar et al., 2004) and whole genome sequencing was performed. The information regarding the CACNG2 gene sequence from 35 control individuals, 19 bipolar disorder, 11 SCZ and 2 depression patients was kindly provided by Dr. Carlos Pato and Dr. Ayman Fanous. In collaboration with Dr. Célia Carvalho from the University of Azores, we increased the number of individuals to be included in this study. To do so, we extracted genomic DNA from whole blood from 15 control indiviuals, 5 SCZ and 3 bipolar disorder patients and sequenced the four exons of the CACNG2 gene using Sanger sequencing (Figure 2.1A).

We identified a new mutation in the *CACNG2* gene, c.725G>A, in a SCZ patient. This mutation leads to the replacement of a serine residue for an asparagine residue in the 148<sup>th</sup> position of the protein sequence (p.S148N) (Figure 2.1B). This variant was not previously described in any of the databases collecting sequencing variants for the general population that we used, at the date of our search (May 2017): Exome Variant Server (http://evs.gs.washington.edu/EVS), SwissVar (http://swissvar.expasy.org), dbSNP (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/projects/SNP) or Exome Aggregation Consortium (ExAc; http://exac.broadinstitute.org).

Sequence analysis of the four exons of *CACNG2* was also performed for the parents and one of the siblings of the proband (a deceased sibling, with a SCZ diagnosis, was not included in this study since the DNA was not available for analysis). This analysis showed that the mother, with major depression diagnosis, is also a carrier of the mutation (Figure 2.1 C,D), whereas the father and a healthy sibling do not carry this variant.

A *de novo* missense mutation in the same gene was recently described in an 8 year-old patient with moderate, non-syndromic, intellectual disability (Hamdan *et al.*, 2011). This mutation (Figure 2.1 E) leads to substitution of valine143 for a leucine residue in stargazin (p.V143L).

Both mutations affect residues highly conserved among species (Figure 2.1F), suggesting that these sites may be important for the function of stargazin. Accordingly, S148N and V143L mutations were predicted to be damaging to the function of stargazin by the PolyPhen-2 (Adzhubei *et al.*, 2013) (Figure 2.1G,H, respectively for S148N and V143L), SIFT(Kumar *et al.*, 2009) and PROVEAN (Choi *et al.*, 2012) prediction tools.

A.																							
	Controls	50																					
	Schizophrenia	16																					
	Bipolar disorde	r 22																					
	Major depressio	<b>n</b> 2																					
B.																							
	Position	Gene	Ref.	All	ele	e/V	ari	ant	t	Т	ype	e		P	opu	lation		Diagnosi	is	]			
	22q13.1	CACNG2			G/	A				Mis	ser	nse	!	Саι	ıcas	ian (PIC)		Schizophre	nia				
C.																	D	· I [	1		●	Mutation can	rier
	Proband – 9007-27							4 (	; (	G .	T (	C.	T I	G /	A A	T A A			-   L	$\overline{\mathbf{v}}_{2}$	?	Unknown gei	notype
	Mother – 9007-26							4 (	5 (	G .	T (	C .	T	G /	A A	ΤΑΑ		Ĺ		Ē		Schizophrenia	a
	Non-affected brother – 9007-28																			Major Depres	sion		
	Father – 9007	-25				(	C 4	1 (	; (	G .	T (	C .	T	G /	A G	ΤΑΑ					$\square$	Deceased	
E.																		3	4	5			
	Position	Gene	Ref.	All	ele	e/Va	aria	ant	t	T	ype	e		P	opu	lation		Diagnosi	is				
	22q13.1	CACNG2			G/	C				Mis	ser	nse		Cau	ıcas	ian (PIC)	Int	ellectual Dis	ability				
E								143					148			_				-			
г.	Homo sa	piens	A	G	I	F	F	V	S	Α	G	L	S	Ν	Ι	G		PROBABLY	DAMA	GING w	ith a s	core of 0.982	
	Mus mus	culus	A	G	Ι	F	F	۷	S	A	G	L	S	Ν	Ι					SCZ			
	Rattus nor	veaicus	A	G	Ι	F	F	۷	S	Α	G	L	S	Ν	Ι	-		0.20	0.40		0,00	0.00	100
	Gallus aallus a	lomesticu	s A	G		F	F	۷	S	Α	G	L	S	Ν	Ι	0.	00	PROBABLY	0.40 ( DAMA(	<b>GING</b> wi	0.60 ith a se	0.80 core of 0.967	1.00
	Danio R	lerio	A	G	L	F	F	۷	S	A	G	L	S	Ν	Ι	. п.				ID			
	Ovis a	ries	A	G		F	F	V	S	A	G	L	S	Ν	Ι					IU			
																- 0.	00	0.20	0.40		0.60	0.80	1.00

**Figure 2.1. Identification of a new missense mutation in the** *CACNG2* **gene.** Using whole-genome or exome sequencing data from patients from the Portuguese Island Collection (**A**), a new point mutation was identified in heterozygosity in exon 4 of the *CACNG2* gene in a SCZ patient (**B**). The point mutation results in the replacement of serine 148 for an asparagine. The mother of the proband, who suffers from major depression, is also a carrier of this missense mutation (**C**,**D**). Another mutation was previously found in exon 3 of the *CACNG2* gene in an 8-year-old patient with intellectual disability (**E**). Both mutations lead to the replacement of highly evolutionarily conserved residues (**F**) and were predicted to be damaging to the function of the protein. This prediction was performed using PolyPhen-2 (Adzhubei *et al.*, 2013), a tool designed for the prediction of functional effects of human SNPs (**G**, **H**).

# 2.3.2. Disease-associated stargazin variants, Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> and Stg<sup>ID</sup>, present altered surface diffusion

#### properties

Stargazin has a function in stabilizing AMPAR at synaptic sites, through its binding to the postsynaptic scaffold protein PSD95, in a phosphorylation-dependent manner (Bats *et al.*, 2007; Chen *et al.*, 2000; Schnell *et al.*, 2002; Sumioka *et al.*, 2010). On the other hand, stimuli that promote the dephosphorylation of stargazin are described to mediate the trafficking of stargazin to extrasynaptic sites where it can be internalized (Matsuda *et al.*, 2013; Schnell *et al.*, 2002; Tomita *et al.*, 2005b). It was previously demonstrated that the immobilization of AMPAR at synaptic sites requires both the phosphorylation of stargazin and its binding to PSD95 in a CaMKII-dependent manner. Thereby, this interaction regulates the lateral diffusion of stargazin-associated AMPAR between extrasynaptic and synaptic sites (Bats *et al.*, 2007; Opazo *et al.*, 2010). Importantly, the lateral diffusion of AMPAR ensures high-frequency synaptic transmission by allowing the rapid exchange of desensitized and naïve receptors, highlighting the importance of this dynamics mediated by stargazin (Constals *et al.*, 2015; Heine *et al.*, 2008).

To explore the effect of the disease-associated mutations on the diffusion properties of cell surface stargazin, we co-transfected low-density cortical neurons with plasmids encoding Homer-GFP, for synapse identification, and HA-tagged *wildtype* (WT) stargazin (Stg<sup>WT</sup>) or stargazin variants, Stg<sup>ID</sup>or Stg<sup>SCZ</sup>. We monitored individual stargazin complexes by single nanoparticle imaging of HA-stargazin using quantum dots (QDs) labeled for HA (Figure 2.2A).

We observed that Stg<sup>ID</sup> and Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> particles display increased global and synaptic diffusion coefficient (Figure 2.2 B,C) and a higher mean square displacement (Figure 2.2 D), suggesting that these particles are more mobile than the Stg<sup>WT</sup> ones. In agreement, the fraction of immobile particles of the disease-associated variants is slightly decreased (Figure 2.2 E), and their synaptic residence time, or the time they spend at synapses, is decreased (Figure 2.2F).


**Figure 2.2. Disease-associated mutations affect stargazin surface diffusion properties.** The trajectory of single particles of stargazin variants (Stg<sup>WT</sup>, Stg<sup>ID</sup> and Stg<sup>SCZ</sup>) was assessed using QuantumDots coupled antibodies to target the extracellular HA-tag in stargazin (**A**). The diffusion coefficient, which correlates with the speed of the particles, was significantly increased both when considering all particles (global particles) and synaptic Stg<sup>ID</sup> and Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> particles, compared to Stg<sup>WT</sup> (**B**,**C**). Evaluation of the Mean Square Displacement (MSD) showed that the surface area covered by stargazin disease-associated variant particles was larger than that covered by Stg<sup>WT</sup> (**D**). Accordingly, the fraction of immobile particles was smaller for Stg<sup>ID</sup> and Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> than WT stargazin (**E**), and they showed less time spent at the synapses (**F**). \*\*\*\*p<0.0001, One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnet's multiple comparison test. Data from three independent experiments is presented as median ±25%-75% interquartile range. N(Stg<sup>WT</sup>)=825, N(Stg<sup>ID</sup>)=693, N(Stg<sup>SCZ</sup>)=685 particles.

## 2.3.3. Effects of mutations in stargazin on its expression, trafficking to the surface and ability to interact with AMPAR

Stargazin is a four transmembrane domain protein (Letts et al., 1998) that contains a C-terminal intracellular region with nine phosphorylatable serine residues and a PDZ-binding motif, which allows its interaction with PSD95 and PSD93 (Dakoji et al., 2003). Through co-immunoprecipitation assays, stargazin was shown to physically interact with AMPAR in a manner dependent on the first extracellular domain and on the C-terminal domain (Tomita et al., 2004). Later, the second extracellular domain of stargazin was also implicated in this interaction (Cais et al., 2014). More recently, cryo-EM structure of the homomeric GluA2 AMPAR saturated with stargazin molecules showed that the extracellular domains of stargazin are positioned to modulate the AMPAR ligandbinding domain (LBD) closure and to affect the conformation of the LBD layer that is associated with the activation and desensitization of the receptor. Furthermore, the third and fourth transmembrane domains (TM3 and TM4) interact with transmembrane domains of the AMPAR subunits, including the pore helices (Twomey et al., 2016; Zhao et al., 2016). Interestingly, both mutations, identified in SCZ and intellectual disability patients, are situated in TM3 (Figure 2.3). Considering the importance of this domain for the interaction with AMPAR it is plausible that a significant change in its structure could weaken stargazin's interaction with AMPAR. As mentioned before, the Polyphen-2 prediction tool, that takes into consideration evolutionary conservation and the structure of the protein, predicted the two mutations to be deleterious to the function of stargazin (Figure 2.1 G, H). We therefore evaluated the effect of V143L and S148N on the total and cell surface expression of stargazin in neurons, and on stargazin's interaction with AMPAR.

To study whether the disease-associated mutations in stargazin affect its expression levels, highdensity cortical neurons were transduced with lentivirus expressing HA-tagged Stg<sup>WT</sup>, Stg<sup>ID</sup> or Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> (Figure 2.4 A), and mRNA and protein levels of HA-tagged stargazin were evaluated. Both mRNA and protein levels (Figure 2.4 B, C) of the Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> variant were slightly, albeit not significantly decreased, when compared to the levels of Stg<sup>WT</sup>. To test whether Stg<sup>ID</sup> and Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> are trafficked to the neuronal surface similarly to Stg<sup>WT</sup>, we transfected low-density cortical neurons with plasmids encoding HA-tagged Stg<sup>WT</sup>, Stg<sup>ID</sup> or Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> (Figure 2.4 D). Cell surface and intracellular HA-stargazin pools were immunolabeled with an antibody against the HA tag (Figure 2.4 E), which is extracellularly located in the cell surface protein (Fig. 2.4 A). Both the cell surface (Figure 2.4 F) and the intracellular labeling (Figure 2.4 G) of HA-stargazin, as well as the ratio between cell surface and intracellular fractions (Figure 2.4 H), were evaluated. In cells transfected with the disease-associated variants, the cell surface HA-stargazin levels were lower than in cells expressing WT HA-stargazin, whereas intracellular HA-stargazin levels were similar in all conditions. The cell surface/intracellular ratio of HA-stargazin was decreased for Stg<sup>ID</sup> and Stg<sup>SCZ</sup>, suggesting that these variants are less trafficked to the cell surface.

To investigate whether stargazin variants interact with AMPAR, we co-transfected HEK 293T cells with plasmids encoding the HA-tagged stargazin variants and GluA1 (Figure 2.4 I). We immunoprecipitated HA-stargazin, and evaluated co-immunoprecipitation of GluA1 (Figure 2.4 J). Non-immune IgGs were used for negative controls. GluA1 co-immunoprecipitated with both variants suggesting that the mutations do not significantly impact the interaction with GluA1 AMPAR subunit.



**Figure 2.3. Protein structure of WT stargazin and localization of the disease-associated stargazin variants.** Stargazin structure was modeled based on the 5kk2.1.E model, using the Swiss-model tool. Protein structure representations were obtained using PyMoI software. In the left panel, residue leucine 143 (ID-associated variant) is labeled in green (**A**). In the middle panel the residues valine 143 (top) and serine 148 (bottom), which are present in WT stargazin, are labeled in white (**B**). The right panel shows asparagine 148 (SCZ-associated variant) in blue (**C**). Bottom panels are magnifications of the panels above. TM – transmembrane domain.



Figure 2.4. Disease-associated stargazin variants expression and interaction with AMPAR. High-density cortical cultures were transfected or transduced at DIV 10 with lentivirus expressing HA-tagged Stg<sup>WT</sup> or the stargazin variants Stg<sup>ID</sup> or Stg<sup>SCZ,</sup> under the control of the synapsin promoter (**A**). A slight decrease in the mRNA (B) or protein levels (C) of the Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> variant was observed, compared to Stg<sup>WT</sup>. qPCR and immunolabeling of HA-stargazin were performed from total extracts from  $\geq$  six independent experiments. Data are presented as mean±SEM. Low-density cortical neurons were transfected at DIV12 with plasmids encoding HA-stargazin variants followed by immunostaining for HA at DIV14 (D). Representative images of Stg-HA cell surface and intracellular distribution (E), and quantification of cell surface (F) and intracellular (G) intensity of Stg-HA clusters, showed a reduction in surface expression levels of Stg<sup>ID</sup> and Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> not accompanied by changes in the intracellular levels. Thus, the ratio between the two fraction showed a reduction for both disease-associated variants, compared to Stg<sup>WT</sup>, which reached statistical significance for Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> (**H**). Clusters were quantified from  $\geq$  30 cells from  $\geq$  five independent experiments.\*\*p<0.01; t-test. Data are presented as mean±SEM. Scale bar represents 5 µm. HEK 293T cells were transfected with expression plasmids for GluA1 and Stq-HA variants (I). Total protein extracts were used to immunoprecipitate HA-tagged stargazin (negative controls were performed with non-immune IgGs). Immunoprecipitated samples were probed by immunoblotting for HA-stargazin and GluA1. Both Stg<sup>ID</sup> and Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> variants interacted with GluA1-containing AMPAR (J). Right: guantification of GluA1 co-immunoprecipitation with stargazin from four independent experiments. Data are presented as mean±SEM.

#### 2.3.4. Stargazin disease-associated variants impact AMPAR trafficking and stabilization at the

#### synapse

Stargazin associates with AMPAR in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) (Vandenberghe *et al.*, 2005a) during a late phase of AMPAR maturation (Shanks *et al.*, 2010), and mediates complexed AMPAR trafficking out of the ER, through a membrane sorting signal present in its C-terminal region (Bedoukian *et al.*, 2006; Bedoukian *et al.*, 2008). Stargazin then mediates AMPAR trafficking to the cell membrane and their stabilization at the synapse (Jackson and Nicoll, 2011; Opazo *et al.*, 2010). Receptor immobilization at synapses requires stargazin phosphorylation by CaMKII (Opazo *et al.*, 2010) and interaction with PSD95, through the PDZ binding motif present at the C-terminal domain (Bats *et al.*, 2007; Chen *et al.*, 2000; Schnell *et al.*, 2002; Sumioka *et al.*, 2010). Accordingly, *stargazer* mice, which lack stargazin, present decreased levels or even absence of AMPAR at the synapse in different brain regions (Barad *et al.*, 2012; Chen *et al.*, 2000; Shevtsova and Leitch, 2012). Importantly, stargazin also affects AMPAR kinetics, as it reduces receptor desensitization and slows receptor deactivation, in a manner dependent on its first extracellular domain (Priel *et al.*, 2005; Tomita *et al.*, 2005).

Besides this extensively documented functions, stargazin was also shown to regulate the sensitivity of AMPAR to antagonists (Cokic and Stein, 2008) and the pharmacology of AMPAR potentiators (Tomita *et al.*, 2006), the channel conductance and polyamine block of calcium-permeable AMPAR (Shelley *et al.*, 2012; Soto *et al.*, 2014; Soto *et al.*, 2007), and the AMPAR-dependent clustering of

NMDAR in hippocampal interneurons (Mi et al., 2004). In addition, stargazin is involved in several synaptic plasticity mechanisms, such as LTP, LTD and homeostatic plasticity (Jackson and Nicoll, 2011; Louros et al., 2014; Nomura et al., 2012; Tomita et al., 2005b), which depend on AMPAR traffic. To determine if the disease-associated mutations affect the stargazin-mediated trafficking of AMPAR to the cell membrane and their stabilization at the synapse, we utilized a molecular replacement strategy. We transfected low-density cortical neurons with control shRNA (CTR) or with a specific shRNA that depletes the levels of endogenous stargazin [KD; (Louros et al., 2014)]. Stargazin shRNA is expressed from a bicistronic vector that leads to co-expression of GFP (Figure 2.5 A), thereby providing a way to identify transfected neurons. As previously described (Louros et al., 2014), stargazin silencing led to a decrease on the cell surface and synaptic levels of GluA1containing AMPAR (Figure 2.5. B-D), assessed by immunolabeling GluA1 using an antibody specific for the extracellular N-terminal region. AMPAR clusters were considered synaptic when colocalizing with PSD95, whose expression was not affected by stargazin silencing (Fig. 2.5 B, E). To test stargazin mutants, cells were co-transfected with stargazin shRNA and shRNA-refractory stargazin, either Stq<sup>WT</sup> (KD + Stq<sup>WT</sup>) or the disease-associated variants of stargazin (KD + Stq<sup>ID</sup> or KD + Stq<sup>SCZ</sup>) (Figure 2.5 A). Whereas WT stargazin rescues cell surface (Figure 2.5 B, C) and synaptic (Figure 2.5 B, D) AMPAR levels to control levels, both Stg<sup>ID</sup> and Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> failed to mediate AMPAR traffic to the cell surface and to the synapse. Neither variant affected PSD95 levels (Figure 2.5 E). Taken together, these data indicate that the disease-associated stargazin mutations affect the role of stargazin in trafficking GluA1-containing AMPAR to the surface and to synapses.



**Figure 2.5.** Disease-associated stargazin variants impact AMPAR trafficking and stabilization at synapses. Low-density cortical neurons were transfected at 7 DIV with pLL-shRNA-CTR, pLL-shRNA-Stg, which down-regulates endogenous stargazin, or co-transfected with pLL-shRNA-KD and pcDNA-Stg-HA variants (**A**). Total surface and synaptic levels of GluA1 were analyzed by immunocytochemistry at DIV 11. Representative images of GluA1 distribution (**B**) and quantification of total and synaptic intensity of GluA1 clusters (**C**, **D**) show impaired trafficking of GluA1-containing AMPAR in neurons transfected with Stg<sup>ID</sup> and Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> variants. GluA1 accumulation at synaptic sites was assessed by the colocalization with PSD95 clusters, whose intensities are not significantly different between conditions (**E**). Clusters were quantified from n≥25 cells imaged from three independent experiments; \*\*\*\*p< 0.0001; \*\*\*p<0.001; one-way ANOVA. Data are presented as mean ± SEM. Scale bar represents 8 µm.

#### 2.3.5. Intellectual disability-associated stargazin variant impairs homeostatic synaptic scaling

Normal cognition and behavior depend on tight neuronal homeostatic control mechanisms that are influenced by several molecular processes, whose dysregulation overlaps among several neuropsychiatric disorders (Ramocki and Zoghbi, 2008). Altered proteins that are required for homeostatic processes may lead to dysfunctional neuronal networks with weakened synaptic flexibility, eventually causing overlapping clinical phenotypes (Ramocki and Zoghbi, 2008). In agreement with this hypothesis is the observation that the same genes, particularly the ones involved in the modulation of synaptic plasticity, have been implicated in intellectual disability, ASD and several behavioral disorders such as bipolar disorder and SCZ (Cross-Disorder Group of the Psychiatric Genomics, 2013; Fromer *et al.*, 2014; Kirov *et al.*, 2012; Power *et al.*, 2017; Purcell *et al.*, 2014; Volk *et al.*, 2015).

Another important observation is that in many of these disorders, individuals present periods with normal development before disease onset, suggesting that neurons are able to compensate for slight changes over time before an accumulation of events causes system dysfunction (Ramocki and Zoghbi, 2008). In fact, in the case of SCZ the common onset stage is late adolescence or early adulthood, and is often associated with stressful events.

A study focusing on understanding how SCZ patients respond to life events during the first phases of the disease showed that SCZ patients recognize positive and negative life events as less controllable and poorly handled, comparing to controls (Horan *et al.*, 2005; Myin-Germeys *et al.*, 2001). Accordingly, the SCZ patient carrying the mutation in *CACNG2* identified in this work, as well as his mother, who suffers from major depression, demonstrated an exacerbated response to neutral stressors, comparing to the control population (Célia Carvalho, personal communication), when evaluated in a stress scale (Carvalho *et al.*, 2015). Interestingly, a recent study reported an increase in the stargazin levels in the anterior cingulate cortex of monkeys associated with stress

coping induced by social isolation (Lee *et al.*, 2016), suggesting that stargazin may be implicated in stress-related adaptive mechanisms.

Amongst a vast range of synaptic proteins, stargazin has been implicated in both LTP and LTD since its phosphorylation and dephosphorylation were shown to be required for the induction of these forms of plasticity, respectively (Matsuda *et al.*, 2013; Nomura *et al.*, 2012; Tomita *et al.*, 2005b). LTP and LTD are rapidly induced and long-lasting plasticity processes, which allow the strengthening or weakening of specific synapses, contributing to memory storage in the brain. However, the intrinsic positive feed-back nature of LTP and LTD (when a synapse undergoes LTP or LTD it becomes more or less excitable, respectively, and is further potentiated or depressed more easily), leads to a stability problem for neuronal circuits, which could easily be driven to runaway excitation or synaptic silencing. Homeostatic plasticity is a set of mechanisms that counteract these disturbances, maintaining neuronal activity within physiological range [reviewed in (Fernandes and Carvalho, 2016)]. These homeostatic mechanisms at the synaptic level participate in neuronal homeostasis, and may be compromised in neuropsychiatric disorders (Wondolowski and Dickman, 2013). Interestingly, a previous study from our laboratory showed that homeostatic scaling up of AMPAR upon chronic blockade of activity requires stargazin (Louros *et al.*, 2014).

Given the role of stargazin in homeostatic plasticity mechanisms (Louros et al., 2014), and the implication of these mechanisms in the etiology of neuropsychiatric disorders (Ramocki and Zoghbi, 2008; Wondolowski and Dickman, 2013), we evaluated the effect of disease-associated stargazin mutations on stargazin-mediated homeostatic scaling of GluA1-containing AMPAR. To do so, we transfected low-density cortical neurons at DIV 7 with control shRNA (CTR), or a shRNA specific for stargazin (KD), to knock-down endogenous stargazin, or co-transfected neurons with the stargazin shRNA and the shRNA-insensitive stargazin variants (KD + Stg<sup>WT</sup>, KD + Stg<sup>ID</sup> KD + Stg<sup>SCZ</sup>). At DIV 9, neurons were incubated with 1µM TTX for 48h, and surface GluA1-containing receptors and total PSD95 were immunolabeled (Figure 2.6 A, B). An increase in the surface and synaptic GluA1 expression after blockade of activity with TTX was observed in the control condition. This homeostatic upregulation of synaptic AMPAR in response to prolonged blockade of activity has been extensively reported in different systems [reviewed in (Fernandes and Carvalho, 2016)]. As previously reported (Louros et al., 2014), synaptic upscaling of GluA1-containing AMPAR was prevented by the depletion of stargazin, and rescued by introduction of the shRNA-refractory WT form of stargazin (Stg<sup>WT</sup>) (Fig. 2.6 B-D). Although to a smaller extent, expression of Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> rescued the GluA1 levels at the cell surface upon incubation in TTX (Fig. 2.6 B-D), but expression of the Stg<sup>ID</sup> variant did not result in increased levels of surface and synaptic GluA1 as a response to activity blockade (Fig. 2.6 B-D). These data suggest that the ID-associated stargazin mutation completely abolishes stargazin-mediated scaling of AMPAR whereas Stgscz, although deficient in promoting the trafficking of AMPAR to the surface under basal conditions, is able to respond to neuronal activity manipulations that trigger homeostatic plasticity. These results indicate that the two mutations in stargazin, although present in the same transmembrane domain, differentially affect the function of stargazin in mediating activity-dependent AMPAR traffic.





## 2.3.6. The cognitive enhancer tianeptine reverts the deficits induced by the S148N mutation in stargazin-mediated trafficking of AMPAR

Tianeptine is a widely used antidepressant structurally similar to tricyclic antidepressants but with particular pharmacological properties. This drug has drawn much attention since it challenges the monoamine hypothesis of depression. Unlike most of the antidepressant drugs, tianeptine does not modulate the monoamine axis but instead activates a cascade of events that culminate in cellular adaptations with antidepressant effects, which include the phosphorylation of AMPAR. In fact, tianeptine does not show affinity for kainate, AMPA, NMDA, GABA or monoamine neurotransmitter receptors and does not interfere with the reuptake of serotonin, a common target of antidepressant drugs [reviewed in (McEwen *et al.*, 2010)], but studies involving radioligand binding and cell-based functional assays identified tianeptine as a µ-opioid receptor agonist, implicating these receptors in the clinical effects of the drug (Gassaway *et al.*, 2014).

Tianeptine has been shown to prevent and reverse the stress-induced remodeling of hippocampal neurons (Magarinos *et al.*, 1999), and to prevent stress-induced effects on the performance in the eight-arm radial- and Y-mazes (Conrad *et al.*, 1996; Luine *et al.*, 1994). Furthermore, tianeptine was shown to have a beneficial effect on learning and working memory since it increased spontaneous alternation and left-right discrimination the in T-maze (Jaffard *et al.*, 1991).

Although tianeptine does not bind to AMPAR, it was shown to have an effect on AMPAR function. In fact, it leads to an increase in the phosphorylation of Ser831 and Ser845 of GluA1 subunits in the hippocampus (Svenningsson *et al.*, 2007) and potentiates AMPA-elicited firing activity in a CaMKII and PKC-dependent manner (Szegedi *et al.*, 2011). More recently it was found to be a potent modulator of AMPAR surface diffusion through the CaMKII-dependent phosphorylation of stargazin, which favors its binding to PSD95 (Zhang *et al.*, 2013).

Given the effects of tianeptine on stargazin, we tested whether it can revert the AMPAR trafficking defects related to the disease-associated mutations in stargazin (Stg<sup>ID</sup> and Stg<sup>SCZ</sup>). Cortical neurons where stargazin was silenced (Stg KD), or which express either WT stargazin or the stargazin variants (KD + Stg<sup>WT</sup>, KD + Stg<sup>ID</sup> KD + Stg<sup>SCZ</sup>), were incubated with 100 µM of tianeptine for 30 minutes (Figure 2.7 A). Neurons were then fixed and stained for cell-surface GluA1 and PSD95 (Figure 2.7 B). In control neurons, exposure to tianeptine results in an increase in surface and synaptic levels of GluA1 that is abrogated when stargazin is absent (Stg KD), suggesting that the effect of tianeptine on AMPAR synaptic expression is through stargazin. Interestingly, tianeptine can partially rescue the defect in surface and synaptic AMPAR levels in neurons expressing Stg<sup>SCZ</sup>, but not in neurons expressing Stg<sup>ID</sup> (Figure 2.7 C, D).



**Figure 2.7. Tianeptine reverts the defects in AMPARtrafficking in neurons expressing Stg**<sup>SCZ</sup>. Low-density cortical neurons were transfected at DIV7 with pLL-shRNA-CTR, pLL-shRNA-Stg which downregulates endogenous stargazin, or co-transfected with pLL-shRNA-Stg and pcDNA-Stg-HA mutants. Transfected neurons were incubated in tianeptine (100  $\mu$ M) for 30 min and total surface and synaptic GluA1 levels were analysed by immunocytochemistry (**A**). Representative images of GluA1 distribution (**B**) and quantification of total and synaptic intensity of GluA1 clusters (**C**,**D**) show that tianeptine increases the surface levels of GluA1, an effect that is abolished when stargazin is absent or when the Stg<sup>ID</sup> variant is expressed. On the other hand, Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> expressing neurons respond to the tianeptine stimulus by partially increasing the levels of surface and synaptic GluA1. GluA1 accumulation at synaptic sites was assessed by the colocalization with PSD95 clusters. Clusters were quantified from n≥20 cells imaged from three independent experiments; \*\*\*\*p< 0.0001; \*\*p<0.01; \*\*p<0.05; #p<0.05; ##p<0.01 two-way ANOVA, multiple comparison tests. Data are presented as mean ± SEM. Scale bar represents 8 µm. Data were kindly provided by Susana Louros.

# 2.3.7. The absence of stargazin, or the expression of the disease-associated variant Stg<sup>SCZ</sup>, influence inhibitory synapse density and dendritic arborization

Behavioral deficits in SCZ, ASD and other psychiatric disorders have been hypothesized to be related to disturbances in the excitation/inhibition balance (Reviewed in (Lisman, 2012; Rogasch *et al.*, 2014))(Yizhar *et al.*, 2011). Accordingly, several studies described SCZ-associated changes in excitatory (Halim *et al.*, 2003; Kristiansen *et al.*, 2006; Toro and Deakin, 2005; Weickert *et al.*, 2004) and inhibitory synapse markers (Hoftman *et al.*, 2015; Volk *et al.*, 2002). A well-documented feature of SCZ is a reduction in the volume of cortical gray matter (Ellison-Wright and Bullmore, 2010; Fornito *et al.*, 2009), which has been calculated in around 5-8% in the prefrontal cortex (Bennett, 2011a). Possible explanations for this loss in cortical areas are a regression of synapses and/or alterations in the complexity of the dendritic arbor in subjects with SCZ. According to a quantitative evaluation of the contributions of cellular components to the volume of gray matter in the cortex, synapses represent around 6% of the total volume, whereas dendrites occupy around 30% of the volume of the cortex (Bennett, 2011a, b). Here, we evaluated how expression of the ID- and SCZ-associated stargazin variants affects the density of excitatory and inhibitory synapses, and cortical neurons dendritic arborization.

To explore the influence of stargazin and of disease-associated variants of stargazin in the regulation of synapse density, we silenced stargazin expression in low-density cortical neurons and introduced either WT stargazin or the ID- and SCZ-associated stargazin variants (KD + Stg<sup>WT</sup>, KD + Stg<sup>ID</sup> KD + Stg<sup>SCZ</sup>) (Figure 2.8A). To evaluate excitatory and inhibitory synapses we labeled VGLUT and VGAT, respectively, by immunocytochemistry (Figure 2.8B). Quantification of the number and intensity of VGLUT clusters showed no significant variation between conditions (Figure 2.8 C), whereas the number and intensity of VGAT clusters were decreased in neurons depleted for stargazin or expressing Stg<sup>SCZ</sup>, suggesting defects in inhibitory synapses in these situations (Figure 2.8 D).

Interestingly, stargazin overexpression in developing cortical neurons has been shown to result in increased dendritic arborization (Hamad *et al.*, 2014). We analyzed the dendritic arbor of young (DIV 11) and mature (DIV 14) cortical neurons after stargazin depletion and expression of either WT stargazin of the disease-associated stargazin variants (KD + Stg<sup>WT</sup>, KD + Stg<sup>ID</sup> KD + Stg<sup>SCZ</sup>) (Figure 2.9 A). Sholl analysis showed a decreased number of intersections in young neurons where stargazin was absent or which expressed the variant associated with SCZ (Figure 2.9 B,C), but no significant differences in mature neurons expressing either of the constructs (Figure 2.9 B, D). These observations suggest that stargazin contributes to the dendritic tree complexity in an early stage of neuronal development, and that the SCZ-associated variant of stargazin is unable to mediate this

stargazin function. Interestingly, stargazin silencing or expression of Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> in older neurons did not affect the neuronal dendritic arbor, indicating that the role of stargazin in this regard is restricted to an early stage of neuronal development.



#### Figure 2.8. Neurons expressing the Stg<sup>sC2</sup> variant present decreased inhibitory synapse marker intensity

and number. Low- density cortical neurons were transfected at DIV10 with pLL-shRNA-CTR or pLL-shRNA-Stg, which silences endogenous stargazin, or co-transfected with pLL-shRNA-Stg and pcDNA-Stg-HA variants. Immunocytochemistry for VGLUT1 and VGAT was performed at DIV 14 (**A**). Representative images of VGAT and VGLUT distribution (**B**) and quantification of the fluorescence intensity and number of clusters of VGLUT1 (**C**) and VGAT (**D**) showed decreased intensity of VGAT puncta in neurons depleted for stargazin or expressing the Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> variant. Clusters were quantified from n≥39 cells imaged from five independent experiments; \*\*p<0.01; one-way ANOVA, Bonferroni test. Data are presented as mean ± SEM. Scale bar represents 8 µm.



**Figure 2.9. Expression of the Stg**<sup>SCZ</sup> **variant affects cortical neurons dendritic arbor.** Low-density cortical neurons were transfected at DIV 7 or DIV 10 with pLL-shRNA-CTR, pLL-shRNA-Stg, which downregulates endogenous stargazin, or co-transfected with pLL-shRNA-Stg and pcDNA-Stg-HA variants. The dendritic arbor was analyzed at DIV 11 or DIV 14 (respectively for neurons transfected at 7 DIV or 10 DIV ) by tracing GFP, co-expressed from the bicistronic pLL-shRNA Stg plasmid (**A**). The number of neurite intersections at different distances from the soma was analyzed with the Neurolucida software Sholl analysis tool. In young neurons *knock-down* of stargazin or expression of the Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> variant led to significantly less intersections at long distances from soma, *i.e.* shorter dendrites (**B**, **C**), whereas in older neurons no changes were observed among the different conditions (**B**, **D**). Results were obtained from three independent experiments for mature neurons and from four independent experiments for young neurons;\*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01; two-way ANOVA. Data are presented as mean ± SEM.

#### 2.3.8. Newly identified stargazin interactors are implicated in psychiatric disorders

Besides AMPAR and the MAGUKs, stargazin was shown to interact with several other proteins, including AP-2, AP-3 and AP-4, involved in endocytosis (Matsuda *et al.*, 2013; Matsuda *et al.*, 2008), nPIST, a protein implicated in the trafficking of membrane proteins (Cuadra *et al.*, 2004), MAGI-2, a scaffold protein suggested to mediate the interaction of stargazin/AMPAR complexes with other postsynaptic molecules (Deng *et al.*, 2006), and Erbin, a protein that is specifically expressed in cortical interneurons, and is crucial for stargazin stability, among others.

The *in vitro* data obtained in the first part of this work suggest that besides its known role as an AMPAR auxiliary protein stargazin might play other cellular functions. We hypothesized that stargazin's yet undescribed interactors could explain its influence on the number of inhibitory synapses and on dendritic arborization, and also its putative role in psychiatric disorders.

To perform an unbiased characterization of the stargazin interactome, stargazin was immunoprecipitated from total or membrane-enriched cortical neurons extracts, and coimmunoprecipitated proteins were analyzed by silver-staining (Figure 2.10 A) and identified by mass spectrometry, in collaboration with Dr. Ka Wan Li (Vrei University, Amsterdam).

Mass spectrometry analysis identified 44 stargazin-interacting proteins (Figure 2.10 B,C), two of which, mGluR5 and Plexin1, we confirmed by western blot analysis given their importance for neuronal function (Figure 2.10 D).

Α.	С.	Stargazin interaction partners (Total extracts)	
		DCC-interacting protein 13-alpha	APPL1
		3-ketoacyl-CoA thiolase, mitochondrial	Acaa2
MW L Control IgG Stg IP		AP-2 complex subunit mu	Ap2m1
250		Armadillo repeat protein	Arvcf
150		CysteinetRNA ligase, cytoplasmic	Cars
100		CLIP-associating protein 2	Clasp2
75		Acyl-CoA-binding protein	Dbi
		Dynactin subunit 1	Dctn1
50		ATP-dependent RNA helicase A	Dhx9
		Elongation factor 1-beta	Eef1b
37 👝 Sīg		Elongation factor 1-gamma	Eef1g
The same		ELKS/Rab6-interacting/CAST family member 1	Erc1
25		Guanine nucleotide-binding protein G(I)/G(S)/G(T) subunit beta-2	Gnb2
20		Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5	Grm5
15		Histone deacetylase 2	Hdac2
13		Stress-70 protein, mitochondrial	Hspa9
		NF-kappa-B essential modulator	Ikbkg
В.		IQ motif and SEC7 domain-containing protein 2	lqsec2
(D) for ation of the sector of (D) for ations)		Insulin receptor substrate 1	lrs1
Stargazin Interaction partners (P2 fractions)		Junction plakoglobin	Jup
Plexin-A1	Plxna1	Potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily KQT member 2	Kcnq2
DCC-interacting protein 13-alpha	Appl1	Kinesin-like protein KIF21A	Kif21a
Elongation factor 1-gamma	Letig	Leucine zipper protein 2	Luzp2
Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5	Grm5	Myelin expression factor 2	Myef2
Tubulin beta-3 chain	Tubb3	AsparaginetRNA ligase, cytoplasmic	Nars
3 beta-nydroxysteroid denydrogenase/Deita 5>4-isomerase	Hedah 1	Nucleoside diphosphate kinase B	Nme2
type I	HS03D1	Membrane-associated phosphatidylinositol transfer protein 2	Pitpnm2
		Plexin-A1	Plxna1
		Glycogen phosphorylase, brain form	Pygb
Control IaG Sta IP		Quaking Protein	QKI Dala 10
D.		Kas-related protein Kab- IU	Rabiu
Plexin A1	250 kDa	GTP-Dinding nuclear protein Ran	Kdli Del24
		605 ribosomal protein LZ4	Rpiz4 PpiZa
mCluDE	15010	60S acidic ribosomal protein D/a	nµi/a Polo0
IIIGIUKS	150 KDa	405 ribosomal protain 52	Rpipu Rpc2
		405 ribosomal protein 52	Rns3
Stargazin	27 100	Signal-induced proliferation-associated 1-like protein 1	Sina111
Staryazili	57 KDd	Beta-synuclein	Snch
		SOGA-3	Sona3
		T-complex protein 1 subunit alpha	Tcn1
		DNA topoisomerase 2-beta	Top2b
		ValinetRNA ligase	Vars

**Figure 2.10. New stargazin interaction partners.** Stargazin was immunoprecipitated from the membrane fraction or total extracts of 11 DIV high-density cortical neurons. The protein content of immunoprecipitated samples was characterized by mass spectrometry. Only proteins which were co-immunoprecipitated with stargazin and were not present in the control condition (immunoprecipitation using non-immune IgGs), in at least one duplicate of two independent experiments, were considered. Stargazin and co-immunoprecipitated proteins can be visualized in a silver nitrate stained gel (A). Stargazin binding parterns were identified through mass spectrometry analysis (**B**, **C**). The co-immunoprecipitation of mGluR5 and PlexinA1 with stargazin was confirmed by Western Blot (**D**).

Interestingly, several proteins identified in our screening have been implicated in SCZ and/or intellectual disability and others play pivotal roles in important cellular processes. A summary of those functions is depicted in Table 2.1.

### Table 2.1. New interactors of stargazin

Protein	Function
μ subunit of AP-2	AP-2 is a protein involved in the endocytic pathway that was previously
	identified as an interactor of stargazin (Matsuda et al., 2013).
Arcvf (Armadillo Repeat gene deleted in Velo-	Member of the catenin family; associated with SCZ and also with learning
Cardio-Facial syndrome)	and working memory deficits in mice (Mas et al., 2009; Sanders et al.,
	2005; Suzuki <i>et al.</i> , 2009).
CLASP2 (CLIP-associated protein 2)	CLASP2 is a nervous system enriched, microtubule plus end-tracking
	protein that has been shown to play a role in the regulation of dendritic
	development, since its <i>knock-down</i> results in a less complex dendritic tree
Fuel	In cortical neurons (Hur <i>et al.</i> , 2011).
Erci	Rabb Interacting protein; associated with childhood apraxia of speech (They open et $a(-2012)$ )
(nh) (( nyatain subunit hata 2)	(Inevenion et al., 2013).
GIDZ (G protein subunit beta 2)	Associated with SC2 (Fromer <i>et al.</i> , 2014).
HDACZ (IIIStone deacetylase 2)	of mcluP2 augmenting their therapeutic effect: these observations
	support HDAC2 as a promising target to improve SC7 treatment (Kurita et
	al 2012: Kurita et al 2013) Recent next-generation sequencing data
	showed <i>de novo</i> mutations in the HDAC2 gene as potentially causative of
	intellectual disability (Martinez <i>et al.</i> , 2017).
Hspa9	The knock-down of the heat shock protein family A, member 9, also
	known as mortalin, in the medial prefrontal cortex is associated with
	alterations in sensorimotor gating in rats, a common observation in SCZ
	(Gabriele <i>et al.,</i> 2010).
IQSEC2	Mutations in the IQSEC2 gene, which codes for a guanine nucleotide
	exchange factor, have been reported to cause nonsyndromic intellectual
	disability (Shoubridge et al., 2010) and X-linked intellectual disabilities
	(Gandomi et al., 2014; Kalscheuer et al., 2015; Tran Mau-Them et al.,
	2014).
KCNQ2	KCNQ2, a member of the voltage-gated potassium channel family, has
	been recently implicated in ID with childhood onset seizures (Hewson <i>et</i>
	al., 2017)
maluks	Extensively implicated in Fragile X syndrome [reviewed in (Dolen and
Dlavia A1	Bedr, 2008)] dia SCZ [reviewed in (Malosin <i>et al.</i> , 2015)].
	repulsive factor for avon guidance. Null mice for this factor present
	reductions in dendritic length and branching suggesting a role for
	plexinA1-mediated signaling in dendritic arborization (Fenstermaker <i>et</i>
	<i>al.</i> , 2004).
Quaking	Quaking is an RNA binding protein, which is encoded by a gene located in
	a susceptibility locus for SCZ in chromosome 6 (Aberg et al., 2006); its
	overexpression in hippocampal neurons was recently demonstrated to
	reduce dendritic arborization (Irie et al., 2016).

### 2.4. Discussion

SCZ and intellectual disability are different neuropsychiatric disorders, with distinct clinical features, although significant genetic overlap between the two diseases has been found (e.g. (Carroll et al, 2016; Cochoy et al., 2015; de Sena Cortabitarte et al., 2017; Fromer et al., 2014; Li et al., 2016; McCarthy et al., 2014; Parente et al., 2017; Rauch et al., 2012; Sun et al., 2011)), suggesting a possible shared genetic etiology. One major unanswered question is how different mutations in the same gene can contribute to different clinical phenotypes. Independent reports have suggested CACNG2 as a susceptibility gene for psychiatric disorders, namely SCZ and bipolar disorder (Ament et al., 2015; Beneyto and Meador-Woodruff, 2006; Drummond et al., 2013; Liu et al., 2008; Nissen et al., 2012; Yang et al., 2013), and identified a mutation in CANCG2 linked to intellectual disability. Here, we identified a missense mutation in CACNG2 in a SCZ patient, and describe the in vitro characterization of cellular phenotypes caused by the CACNG2 mutations identified in SCZ and intellectual disability patients. The aim of this work was to elucidate the neuronal mechanisms involving stargazin that are affected by the two disease-associated mutations, with the goals of understanding the mutational effect on protein function and how different mutations in the same gene can lead to different cellular phenotypes, which may help explain the distinct clinical symptoms associated to these mutations. We show for the first time that ID- and SCZ-associated mutations in CACNG2 lead to common and distinct effects on AMPAR traffic, homeostatic plasticity, neurite outgrowth and response to the antidepressant and cognitive enhancer drug tianeptine.

#### Commonality in cellular phenotypes associated with stargazin variants

Stargazin was the first TARP to be identified and shown to regulate AMPAR. Its importance in regulating AMPAR trafficking, gating and in synaptic plasticity has been extensively studied since the year of 2000, when their interaction was described for the first time (Chen *et al.*, 2000). Stargazin diffusion at the neuronal surface is regulated by interaction with intracellular proteins, namely the synaptic scaffold PSD95, and impacted by stargazin phosphorylation (Opazo *et al.*, 2010). Immobilization of stargazin at the synapse mediates synaptic trapping of AMPARs. The C-tail of stargazin is partially bound to the plasma membrane through electrostatic interactions and disruption of this interaction in a phosphorylation-dependent manner is necessary for binding to PSD95 (Sumioka *et al.*, 2010). Thus, this interaction controls stargazin stabilization at the synapse, and recent reports show that phosphorylation of the stargazin C-tail leads to its extension into the PSD, and facilitates binding to PSD95, thus increasing synaptic strength (Hafner *et al.*, 2015). This

evidence suggests that the stargazin-PSD95 interaction is highly controlled and rather sensitive to structural changes in either of the proteins.

Both ID- and SCZ-associated mutations in stargazin affect the cell surface lateral diffusion of the protein, increasing its mean square displacement and diffusion coefficient. This suggests that these mutations impact the mechanisms that contribute to stargazin lateral membrane diffusion, which besides being regulated by stargazin phosphorylation (Kristiansen *et al.*, 2006) could be partially determined by interactions mediated by the third transmembrane domain where the two mutations reside. Further studies are necessary to assess if disease-associated stargazin variants interact less with PSD95 and/or other proteins that might help stargazin stabilization at the synapse. Furthermore, in order to understand the effect of altered diffusion of stargazin in the stabilization of AMPAR at the synapses, it would be important to evaluate the cell surface mobility of single AMPAR particles in cells expressing these disease-associated variants.

Recent structural studies have characterized the AMPAR-stargazin complex by cryo-electron microscopy (Twomey et al., 2016; Zhao et al., 2016), and the protein-protein interfaces were further characterized using a combination of mutagenesis and electrophysiology (Ben-Yaacov et al., 2017). These analyses have ascertained a function for transmembrane domain 3 in stargazin in AMPAR modulation. According to Zhao and colleagues, the TM3 and TM4 transmembrane domains form extensive hydrophobic interactions with M1 and M2 from one GluA2 subunit (the AMPAR subunit in the analyzed complex) and with the M4 of the adjacent subunit, enabling the modulation of AMPAR by stargazin. Furthermore, a conserved acidic region spanning 85-95 residues is present in the extracellular loops of stargazin, adjacent to the  $\alpha$ -1 helix and interacts with positively charged lipids on the lower lobe of the LBD of the receptor. Stargazin is thus ideally positioned to modulate domain closure and efficacy of partial agonists (Zhao et al., 2016). A two-steps mechanism was additionally proposed; firstly, the binding of stargazin to AMPAR membrane domains would be sufficient to induce conformational changes in these domains, destabilizing the channel closed state and thus enabling a more efficient opening upon agonist binding; in a second stage, the conformational changes induced by agonist binding would allow the interaction between extracellular parts of stargazin and the receptor, stabilizing the open state (Ben-Yaacov et al., 2017). The two disease-associated mutations in stargazin that we studied are localized in the TM3, which suggests that they may interfere with stargazin's interaction with AMPAR subunits, given the prime role described for this domain in stargazin. In fact, a previous study that identified the V143L mutation in stargazin in an ID patient described a decrease in the interaction of the Stg<sup>ID</sup> variant with GluA1 and GluA2 AMPAR subunits (Hamdan et al., 2011). However, we found that both Stg<sup>ID</sup> and Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> variants bind to the GluA1 subunit of AMPAR when co-expressed in a heterologous system, and could not detect changes in the interaction. It would be important to complement these studies by testing the interaction between the stargazin variants and AMPAR in neurons. Additionally, it is possible that although no differences in the binding of stargazin variants to AMPAR GluA1 subunit can be detected in immunoprecipitation studies, the functional effect of stargazin on regulating efficacy of agonists or receptor kinetics is altered. These aspects deserve to be further investigated.

One striking common feature of Stg<sup>ID</sup> and Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> is that both variants affect basal AMPAR surface expression. In the case of Stg<sup>ID</sup>, our results are in agreement to what was previously reported by Hamdan and colleagues, who found decreased total and surface expression of GFP-GluA1 and decreased amplitude and frequency of AMPAR-mediated mEPSCs upon overexpression of stargazin V143L in neurons (Hamdan et al., 2011). We now find, employing a molecular replacement approach, that depletion of endogenous stargazin and expression in cortical neurons of either stargazin V143L or S148N results in impaired AMPAR traffic. These result show that both variants of stargazin fail to mediate AMPAR traffic to the cell surface and to synapses, suggesting that they impact glutamatergic transmission.

#### Differences in cellular phenotypes generated by ID- and SCZ-associated stargazin variants

Besides common effects on the basal trafficking of AMPAR to the surface and to the synapse, Stg<sup>ID</sup> and Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> also display distinct cellular phenotypes. Notably, the Stg<sup>ID</sup> mutation interfered with stargazin-dependent scaling of AMPAR upon blockade of neuronal activity, whereas in neurons expressing Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> AMPAR synaptic upscaling was observed. Additionally, whereas Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> expression resulted in increased AMPAR traffic to synapses induced by tianeptine, neurons expressing Stg<sup>ID</sup> failed to show a tianeptine-induced increase in synaptic AMPARs. One possibility is that the Stg<sup>ID</sup> mutation results in a structurally altered protein whose function cannot be modulated by mechanisms that increase its trafficking role. It is possible that Stg<sup>ID</sup> is unable to interact with proteins implicated in plasticity mechanisms, and in the mechanisms induced by tianeptine. In fact, several proteins required for the synaptic scaling of AMPAR are binding partners of stargazin, namely CaMKII (Groth *et al.*, 2011; Opazo *et al.*, 2010; Tomita *et al.*, 2005b), ARC (Shepherd *et al.*, 2006; Zhang *et al.*, 2015), mGluR5 (Hu *et al.*, 2010) and PSD95 (Sun and Turrigiano, 2011).

Stargazin function is tightly regulated by posttranslation modifications which could be putatively affected by the disease-associated mutations. CaMKII and PKC-dependent phosphorylation, and calcineurin-dependent dephosphorylation, of the nine serines localized in the C-terminal of stargazin have been associated with homeostatic and long-term plasticity mechanisms (Louros *et al.*, 2014; Nomura *et al.*, 2012; Tomita *et al.*, 2005b), whereas phosphorylation of the threonine residue 321 by PKA regulates the interaction between stargazin and PSD95 and, in turn, the

anchoring of AMPAR at synapse (Choi *et al.*, 2002; Stein and Chetkovich, 2010). Although the Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> variant presents a deleterious effect in basal trafficking of AMPAR, it is able to mediate homeostatic plasticity and to respond tianeptine, known to increase CaMKII-mediated stargazin phosphorylation and in turn its binding to AMPAR (Zhang *et al.*, 2013). This phosphorylation-dependent effect of tianeptine on the function of stargazin suggests that the opposite behaviors presented by the Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> and Stg<sup>ID</sup> variants could rely on differential phosphorylation. Further evaluation of the phosphorylation levels and affinity to interaction partners of these disease-associated stargazin variants would be helpful to understand how these mutations impact the trafficking of AMPAR and why two mutations in the same transmembrane domain originate different behaviors in terms of plasticity-induction.

Considering that the stabilization of AMPAR at the synapse is dependent on the CaMKII-mediated phosphorylation of stargazin, and given that both disease-associated variants present a higher diffusion coefficient concomitant with less time spent at the synapse, it would be interesting to test the effect of tianeptine in the diffusion properties of the variants. In addition, directed mutagenesis of the phosphorylatable serines in the C-terminal of stargazin variants in order to prevent or to mimic phosphorylation would inform on whether changes in the levels of phosphorylation underlie the effects of the mutations.

In accordance to reports describing changes in inhibitory synapse markers in SCZ (Hoftman *et al.*, 2015; Volk *et al.*, 2002), we report that stargazin depletion or expression of Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> (but not Stg<sup>ID</sup>) result in a decrease on the density of inhibitory synapses in cortical neurons, as measured by evaluating VGAT labeling. In agreement with our observations, a study involving 42 SCZ patients, described a reduction in VGAT levels in the prefrontal cortex (Hoftman *et al.*, 2015). However, another study did not find changes in the ratio between VGLUT1/VGAT in SCZ patients (Fung *et al.*, 2011), suggesting that these changes may be restricted to some SCZ endophenotypes.

The observed decrease in inhibitory synapse density upon stargazin silencing or Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> expression suggest either a stargazin-dependent regulation of inhibitory synapses or a compensatory response to reduced AMPAR expression. According to this second possibility, it was recently demonstrated that the selective decrease of surface and synaptic GluA1 and GluA2-containing AMPAR by anti-AMPAR antibodies produced in auto-immune encephalitis, while not changing the density of excitatory synapses or affecting NMDARs, led to a decrease in VGAT staining and inhibitory synapses currents (Peng *et al.*, 2015). Given that VGAT is a presynaptic protein, its regulation by stargazin or AMPAR would require a trans-synaptic effect. Stargazin, on the other hand, was shown to mediate cell adhesion, which might be facilitated by stargazin localization at sites of close cellular contact (Price *et al.*, 2005). Our study revealed changes in inhibitory synapse density in neurons expressing the SCZ-associated stargazin mutation, but not the ID-associated variant, indicating that

these two mutations differentially affect the mechanisms through which stargazin impacts the formation/maintenance of inhibitory synapses. These mechanisms are currently not known.

We demonstrated that the dendritic arborization of young (DIV 11) cortical neurons was affected by the absence of stargazin or the expression of the Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> variant, but not by expression of Stg<sup>ID</sup>. Stargazin has been previously shown to affect dendritic arborization, as its overexpression led to increased complexity of the dendritic tree of neocortical pyramidal neurons (Hamad *et al.*, 2014). In addition, stargazin interacts with several proteins that are associated with dendritic arborization regulation, namely CaMKII (Stephenson *et al.*, 2017), CLASP2, PlexinA1 and quaking proteins. A decreased ability for Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> to bind one of these or other proteins could be the basis for alterations in dendritic arborization in neurons expressing Stg<sup>SCZ</sup>; thus, evaluation of the interaction between these proteins and stargazin variants would be relevant to address this question. Of note, both stargazin depletion and Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> expression affected dendritic complexity of young neurons, but did not produce an effect in older neurons, suggesting a role for stargazin in a particular developmental stage, which cannot be carried out by Stg<sup>SCZ</sup>.

One of the main observations in the brains of subjects with SCZ is the decrease in the volume of cortical grey matter (Bennett, 2011b), which could be explained by changes in the number of synapses and/or in the complexity of dendrites. Interestingly, the Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> variant affected both processes in cortical neurons, further supporting a contribution for Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> in the development of the disorder.

In conclusion, here we describe two different mutations in *CACNG2* that present different effects on the function of the protein and confer different sensitivity to treatment with tianeptine. Both mutations affect surface diffusion of stargazin, and one of its first and well-described functions, the trafficking and stabilization of AMPAR receptors in baseline conditions. However, whereas the V143L variant associated to ID does not mediate synaptic scaling of AMPAR upon blockade of activity, the SCZ-associated S148N mutation affects dendritic arborization and the density of inhibitory synapses in cortical neurons. Our observations are in agreement with several studies showing cross-disorder effects of gene variants (e.g. (Fanous *et al.*, 2012; Network and Pathway Analysis Subgroup of Psychiatric Genomics, 2015; Zhou *et al.*, 2016a)).

The finding of common effects for genetic variants of stargazin associated with different disorders may help explain the occurrence of shared clinical phenotypes. On the other hand, the identification of mutation-specific defects provides insight on how different mutations in stargazin can be associated with different clinical manifestations. Direct association of clinical symptoms with cellular defects is difficult at this point, but the mutation-specific cellular phenotypes that we identify could be harnessed for targeted therapy.

## 2.5. Material and Methods

Evidence shows that genetics plays a pivotal role in the development of most psychiatric disorders. Although for some of these disorders no single causative gene is known, many genes, particularly genes that encode synaptic proteins, were shown to be implicated, even if with a mild effect, in the generation of these disorders. The CACNG2 gene encodes for stargazin, an important protein in the expression and regulation of AMPAR. Interestingly, existent data pointed CACNG2 as a putative susceptibility gene for SCZ, bipolar disorder and intellectual disability. In order to deepen the knowledge about this protein in a context of disease we searched for exonic mutations in the DNA of SCZ and bipolar disorder patients from the Portuguese Island Cohort. To do so, we used whole genome sequencing data, kindly provided by Dr. Carlos Pato (SUNY Downstate Medical Center), and in addition, for a different group of patients, we sequenced the exons of the CACNG2 gene, in collaboration of Dr. Célia Carvalho (University of Azores). In this study, we identified a new missense mutation in the CACNG2 gene of a SCZ patient. Furthermore, a de novo missense mutation in the same gene was recently described in an 8 year-old patient with moderate, non-syndromic intellectual disability. Thus, in the first part of this work, we studied, in vitro, the impact of these mutations in the function of the protein and its possible role in the development of disease-related phenotypes.

We used overexpression and protein silencing through RNAi technology to study the impact of stargazin variants in several features of stargazin expression and function. Therefore, low-density cortical cultures cells were transfected with the calcium phosphate method. Low-density cortical cultures were used for imaging purposes, specifically to address the role of the mutations in the surface diffusion of stargazin, in the trafficking and synaptic scaling of AMPAR, in the number of excitatory, inhibitory and finally in the dendritic arborization of transfected neurons. Dense cortical cultures, transduced with lentiviruses, and HEK cell cultures transfected with the calcium phosphate method, were used to obtain total and P2 extracts for mRNA level quantification and for immunoprecipitation and/or Western Blot analysis.

#### 2.5.1. Whole-genome sequencing data analysis

Sequencing data from the *CACNG2* gene was extracted from whole-genome sequencing data kindly provided by the group of Dr. Carlos Pato (SUNY Downstate Medical Center) specifically for this gene. The DNA of 35 controls, 19 bipolar disorder patients, 11 SCZ patients and 2 major depression patients was used for this purpose. Sequence analysis was performed using the IVG2.3 software (Broad Institute, MA, U.S.A.).

#### 2.5.2. Sanger sequencing of the exons of the CACNG2 gene

To increase the number of individuals in this study, and since we focused only in the coding regions of the *CACNG2* gene, we additionally sequenced through Sanger sequencing (GATC Biotech) the exons in *CACNG2* in 15 controls, 3 bipolar disorder patients and 5 SCZ patients. The DNA was extracted from whole blood collected in 8 ml EDTA tubes and kept refrigerated until utilization for the extraction, using the DNA Isolation Kit for Mammalian Blood from Roche. The primers used to amplify the *CACNG2* exons are shown in Table 2.2.

#### 2.5.3. Prediction Tools

In order to predict the impact of *CACNG2* mutations in the function of stargazin, we used three different prediction tools.

The PolyPhen-2 prediction tool uses eight sequence-based and three structure-based predictive features selected automatically by an algorithm. PolyPhen-2 calculates the probability of a mutation to be damaging and estimates the chance of the result being a false (specificity) or a true (sensitivity) positive. The mutation is also qualitatively classified as benign, possibly damaging or probably damaging (Adzhubei *et al.*, 2013; Adzhubei *et al.*, 2010).

SIFT (Sorting intolerant from tolerant) algorithm predicts whether an aminoacid substitution affects the function of the protein based on the conservation of that residue throughout evolution (Kumar *et al.*, 2009). The PROVEAN (Protein variation effect analyzer) is an alignment-based score that predicts the damaging effects of variations by measuring the change in sequence similarity to a protein sequence homolog before and after the alteration (Choi *et al.*, 2012).

#### 2.5.4. Protein structure representation

Protein structure representative images were obtained using PyMol, a system that allows the molecular visualization, analysis and creation of high quality images for protein structure (The PyMol Molecular Graphic System, Version 1.8 Schrodinger, LLC). Protein DataBank files, supported by PyMol software, were obtained from the Swiss Model repository. Swiss Model is a database of annotated 3D protein structures generated by a homology-modelling pipeline that also allows the interactive building of models if a sequence has not been modeled previously (Guex *et al.*, 2009).

#### 2.5.5. Constructs and primers for neuronal transfection

For *knock-down* experiments we used a shRNA construct generated and validated previously in our laboratory (Louros *et al.*, 2014). For the generation of shRNA-resistant constructs we performed site directed mutagenesis using specific primers that introduced two silent mutations in HA-tagged WT stargazin inserted in a pcDNA3.1 plasmid (a gift from Dr. Daniel Choquet, IINS, Bordeux, France). Stargazin mutants, V43L and S148N, were generated by the introduction of single point mutations through site directed-mutagenesis. All mutations were confirmed by DNA sequencing.

Viral vectors were generated in our laboratory by cloning PCR-amplified HA-stargazin variants into the pLL 3.7 vector downstream of a segment containing the mCherry cDNA and a T2A self-cleaving peptide. Expression driven by the synapsin promoter allowed the expression of the mCherry fluorescent protein and the HA-tagged stargazin variants specifically in neurons.

Cloning and mutagenesis assays were performed using the PrimeStar HS from Takara. For enzymatic digestions, PCR products and plasmid DNAs were incubated for 2h at 37°C. All the restriction enzymes were purchased from New England Biolabs. Mutagenesis and amplification primers are shown in Table 2.2.

#### 2.5.6. Cortical neuron cultures (High-density and Banker cultures)

Primary cultures of rat cortical neurons were prepared from the cortices of E17 Wistar rat embryos. The cortices were incubated with trypsin (2mg/ml, 10 min, 37°C, GIBCO Invitrogen) in Ca<sup>2+</sup>- and Mg<sup>2+</sup>-free Hank's balanced salt solution (HBSS: 5.36 mM KCl, 0.44 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 137 mM NaCl, 4.16 mM NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, 0.34 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O, 5 mM glucose, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 10 mM HEPES and 0.001% phenol red), washed 6 times with HBSS and then mechanically dissociated. After counted, the cells were plated in neuronal plating medium (MEM supplemented with 10% horse serum, 0.6% glucose and 1 mM pyruvic acid) in poly-D-lysine (0.1 mg/ml) coated 6-well plates (0.85x10<sup>6</sup> cells per well). The medium was replaced, after 2 hours, by Neurobasal medium supplemented with SM1 (1:50), 0.5 mM glutamine and 0.12 mg/ml gentamycin. For imaging assays we used the Banker culture system. Cortical cells were plated at a low density ( $0.3x10^6$  cells per dish) in 60 mm dishes containing five poly-D-lysine coated coverslips (18mm). As described before, the medium was exchanged by supplemented neurobasal medium 2 hours after plating. In this type of cultures, commonly named Banker cultures (Kaech and Banker, 2006), neurons grew facing a confluent feeder layer of astroglial cells but were kept apart from the glial cells by wax dots placed on the coverslips. The cultures were treated with 5  $\mu$ M cytosine arabinoside, two days after plating, to prevent the

overgrowth of glial cells and were maintained in an incubator with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, at 37°C. Conditioned medium was partially replaced by fresh supplemented neurobasal medium every 3 days.

Cells were stimulated with  $1\mu$ M TTX for 48 hours at DIV 7 to induce up scaling of AMPAR and with  $100\mu$ M tianeptine for 30 min at DIV 11 to promote stargazin phosphorylation.

Low-density cultures were used for imaging by immunocytochemistry or Quantum-dots analysis whereas dense cultures were used for mRNA extraction and total or P2 extracts protein extracts followed by immunoprecipitation and/or western blot. All animal procedures were reviewed and approved by ORBEA and DGAV Portugal.

#### 2.5.7. Neuronal transfection with calcium phosphate

The constructs mentioned above were transfected into cortical neuron cultures using calcium phosphate-mediated transfection protocol (Jiang *et al.*, 2004). A CaCl<sub>2</sub> solution (2.5 M in 10 mM HEPES) was added, dropwise, to the DNA diluted in TE, to a final concentration of 250 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>. This solution was then added to the equivalent volume of HEPES-buffered transfection solution (274 mM NaCl, 10 mM KCl, 1.4 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 11mM dextrose and 42 mM HEPES, pH=7.2). The DNA precipitates (100 µl) were added, dropwise, to the coverslips in conditioned medium and 2 mM of kynurenic acid. The cultures were incubated for 2 h at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. The DNA precipitates were dissociated by adding acidic medium containing 2mM kynurenic acid and approximately 5 mM HCl for 15 minutes at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Coverslips were then transferred to the original dish. Number of days expressing the constructs varied according to the experiment.

#### 2.5.8. HEK 293T cells transfection with calcium phosphate

Human embryonic kidney (HEK) 293T cells plated in 6-well plates and and cultured to 70% confluency were transfected using the calcium phosphate method with 5 µg of pcDNA 3.1 GluA1 and 5 µg of pcDNA 3.1-HA-Stg<sup>WT</sup>, pcDNA 3.1-HA-Stg<sup>ID</sup> or pcDNA 3.1-HA-Stg<sup>SCZ</sup>. To allow the formation of DNA precipitates, a solution of 2 M CaCl<sub>2</sub> was added dropwise to the diluted DNA. This mixture was then added to HEPES-buffered transfection solution (50 mM HEPES, 280 mM NaCl, 1.5 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, pH 7.05) and incubated for 20 min, at room temperature (RT), in the dark. The precipitates were added to the cells and incubated at 37°C, in 5%CO<sub>2</sub> for 5 hours. After this period, the medium was completely changed in order to remove the remaining precipitates and prevent toxicity. The cells were kept at 37°C, in 5%CO<sub>2</sub>, for 48h for expression.

#### 2.5.9. Viral production and neuronal transduction

HEK293T cells plated in 100 mm dishes were co-transfected as described above, with 10 µg of pCMV-ΔR8.91 and 6µg of pMD (VSVG), to express structural viral proteins, and with 10 µg of the construct of interest to express control shRNA, stargazin shRNA (also expresses GFP) and the HA-tagged stargazin variants (also expresses mCherry). Cells were incubated with the precipitates at 37°C, in 3%CO<sub>2</sub> for 5 hours. After this time the medium was completely replaced and the cells were incubated at 37°C, in 5%CO<sub>2</sub>, for 48h to express the plasmid content. The medium containing the viral particles was collected and filtered with a 45µm filter Stericup (Millipore) and centrifuged at 22000 rpm, for 2 hours at 4°C (Beckman Coulter, OptimaTM L-100 XP ultracentrifuge, rotor 28i). After discarding the supernatant, 200µl of bovine serum albumin (BSA) 1% in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 10 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 1.8 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>) were added to the pellet. After brief and gentle resuspension, the solution was aliquoted and stored at -80°C. The viral titers and the multiplicity of infection (MOI) were determined as below:

 $Titer (TU/l) = \frac{Target cell number x \% of mCherry positive cells}{volume of viral supernatant (ml))/100}$  $MOI = \frac{Volume of viral supernatant(ml)x titer(TU/ml)}{Target cell number}$ 

Dense cortical cultures were transduced at DIV 10 with a MOI=5 (represents about 80% of neuronal infection) and maintained for four days.

#### 2.5.10. Immunocytochemistry for morphology and quantitative fluorescence analysis

Cells were fixed for 15 min in 4%sucrose/4%paraformaldehyde in PBS at RT and permeabilized for 5 min with 0,25% Triton X-100, in PBS at 4°C. Unspecific staining was blocked by incubation with 10% BSA in PBS for 30 min, at 37°C. The neurons were then incubated with the primary antibody diluted in 3% BSA in PBS for 2h at 37°C or overnight at 4°C. Before and after incubating with the secondary antibody, also diluted in 3% BSA in PBS, for 45 min, 37 °C, cells were washed 6 times with PBS. Coverslips were mounted in DAKO (Gostrup, Denmark) fluorescent mounting medium. In order to stain surface proteins, live cells were incubated with primary antibody diluted in conditioned medium for 10 minutes and then fixed and stained as described above. For the cellular localization assays, to allow the distinction between the surface and intracellular pools, cells were live stained with the primary antibody (diluted in conditioned medium), fixed and stained with the secondary antibody. After permeabilization and blocking, cells were stained for the second time with the same

primary antibody (diluted in 3%BSA in PBS) and then stained with a secondary antibody coupled to a different fluorophore.

The imaging was performed using a Zeiss Axiovert 200 M microscope and a 63X-1.4 NA oil objective. In each experiment, cells were treated simultaneously and stained with the same antibody preparations and images were acquired blind to condition with the exact same settings for all conditions. Blind to condition quantification was performed in Fiji analysis software, with a macro that automatized quantification steps. The region of interest (ROI) was chosen randomly, by using MAP2 and/or GFP staining to confirm that the selected dendrite was GFP-positive, *i. e.* from a transfected neuron. The threshold was defined to include detectable clusters and the intensity, area and number of particles of the selected area were analyzed. Synaptic puncta were defined by their colocalization with PSD95.

For dendritic arborization analysis, images were acquired with an Objective Plan-Apochromat 20x/0.8 and the Sholl analysis was performed using the Neurolucida software. In Sholl analysis, circumferences with crescent and defined radius were designed from the soma. To evaluate the arborization of a neuron, the number of intersections to a given circumference was calculated. The further and more numerous the intersections are the more complex the arborization of the neuron is. Primary and secondary antibodies are indicated in Table 2.3.

#### 2.5.11. Quantum dots labeling and imaging

Stargazin variants surface diffusion was evaluated by using quantum dots as fluorescent probes as described in (Bruchez, 2005). Low-density 12 DIV cells were co-transfected with plasmids encoding Homer-GFP, for synapse identification, and each of the HA-tagged stargazin variants. At DIV 14, cells were incubated for 10 min at 37°C with anti-HA antibody (1:3000) diluted in conditioned medium. After one washing step, anti-rat IgG conjugated QD655 (diluted 1:10 in PBS) was diluted in conditioned medium with BSA 2% (1/2000) and incubated with cells for 5 min at 37°C. All washes were performed in ECS containing (in mM) NaCl 145, KCl 5, Glucose 10, Hepes 10, CaCl<sub>2</sub> 2 and MgCl<sub>2</sub> 2), supplemented with BSA 2% at 37°C. After washing, neurons were mounted in an open chamber (K.F. Technology SRL) and imaged in ECS. Single-particle tracking was performed as in (Opazo *et al.*, 2010). Cells were imaged at 37°C on an inverted microscope (AxioObserver Z1, Carl Zeiss) equipped with a Plan Apochromat 63× oil objective (NA = 1.4). Homer1C-GFP signal was detected by using a HXP fluorescence lamp (For QDs: excitation filter 425/50 and emission filters 655/30, Chroma). Fluorescent images from QDs were obtained with an integration time of 50 ms

with up to 600 consecutive frames. Signals were recorded with a digital CMOS camera (ORCA Flash 4.0, Hamamatsu). QD-labeled Stg-HA was imaged on randomly selected dendritic regions.

The tracking of single QDs was performed with a software, using the Matlab tool (Mathworks Inc., Natick, USA). Single QDs were identified by their diffraction limited signals and their blinking fluorescent emission. The trajectory of a QD tagged receptor could not be tracked continuously due to the random blinking events of the QDs. When the positions before and after the dark period were compatible with borders set for maximal position changes between consecutive frames and blinking rates, the subtrajectories of the same receptor were reconnected. The values were determined empirically: 2–3 pixels (0.32–0.48  $\mu$ m) for maximal position change between two frames and maximal dark periods of 25 frames (1.25 s). MSD curves were calculated for reconnected trajectories of at least 20 frames. The QDs were considered synaptic if colocalized with Homer dendritic clusters for at least five frames. Diffusion coefficients were calculated by a linear fit of the first 4–8 points of the mean square displacement (MSD) plots versus time depending on the length of the trajectory within a certain compartment. The resolution limit for diffusion was 0.0075  $\mu$ m2/s as determined by (Groc et al., 2004) whereas the resolution precision was ~40 nm.

#### 2.5.12. Total protein and P2 extracts - cultured rat cortical neurons and HEK cells

For total extract preparation, cortical neurons or HEK cells were washed with ice-cold PBS and then incubated with Teen buffer (25 mM Tris pH 7.4, 1mM EDTA, 1 mM EGTA, 150 mM NaCl and 1% Triton X-100) supplemented with phosphatase (50 mM sodium fluoride, 1.5 mM sodium orthovanadate and 1mM okadaic acid) and protease (DTT, PMSF, Chymostatin, leupeptin, aprotinin and pepstatin) inhibitors. Cells were scraped and sonicated for 45s. Cellular extracts were then centrifuged at 16,100 x g for 10 min at 4°C and the resultant pellet was discarded. Protein concentration was determined with the bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay kit and the samples were denatured using denaturating loading buffer (NZYTech 5x Loading buffer).

To obtain P2 extracts, cortical neurons were washed with ice-cold PBS and then incubated with HEPES A (4mM HEPES pH 7.4 and 0.32 M sucrose) supplemented with protease and phosphatase inhibitors. Cells were scraped and homogenized with a potter, followed by further homogenization in a motor glass-teflon homogenizer at 900 rpm, at 4°C. The samples were centrifuged at 900 x g for 15 min, 4°C to remove the pellet (P1) containing the nuclear fraction. The supernatant 1 (S1) was centrifuged at 18000 x g for 15 min to yield a pellet containing washed crude synaptosomal fraction (P2). The resultant pellet was resuspended in 500  $\mu$ l of supplemented Teen buffer + DDM (25 mM

Tris pH 7.4, 1mM EDTA, 1 mM EGTA, 150 mM NaCl and 1% DDM) and sonicated for 45 s. P2 samples were used for immunoprecipitation.

#### 2.5.13. Immunoprecipitation

For immunoprecipitation assays, cellular extracts were diluted with supplemented Teen buffer to the concentration of 2  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ l. The extracts (about 1.6 mg of protein) were pre-cleared by incubation with 30  $\mu$ l of sepharose A beads 2x (GE Healthcare) diluted in Teen buffer, for 1 h at 4°C. After centrifugation at 3000x *g* for 1 min, the supernatant was divided in two tubes, one to be incubated with the antibody and the other to be incubated with species-matched, non-specific IgGs, overnight, at 4°C. 80  $\mu$ l of beads were added to the extracts and incubated for 2 h at 4°C. Following centrifugation at 3000x *g*, 1 min, to spin down the beads bound to the antibody-protein complexes, 30 $\mu$ l of the supernatant were recovered to evaluate the efficiency of the immunoprecipitation. The beads were washed six times: three times with Teen, twice with 1% Triton supplemented Teen and once with 150 mM NaCl supplemented Teen. After a final centrifugation at 3000 x *g* for 1 min, the supernatant was discarded and the proteins were eluted from the beads by 40  $\mu$ l of loading buffer 2x (diluted from the NZYTech loading buffer 5x). Samples were processed by SDS-PAGE followed by Western Blot, silverstaining or coomassie blue staining and mass spectrometry analysis.

#### 2.5.14. SDS-PAGE and Western Blot

Samples were processed by SDS-PAGE in 11% polyacrylamide gels. Proteins were transferred overnight at 40V or for 1h30min at 300 mA to a PVDF membrane (Millipore). After blocking with 5% blocking solution (GE Healthcare), in 0.1% Tween-20 supplemented TBS (20mM Tris, 137 mM NaCl, pH 7.6) (TBS-T), membranes were incubated with the primary antibody (in 3-5% blocking solution in TBS-T) for 2h at RT or overnight at 4°C. Following three 15 min washes with TBS-T, membranes were incubated with alkaline phosphatase-conjugated secondary antibody (in 5% blocking solution in TBS-T) for 45 min at RT and then washed three times with TBS-T. The membranes were developed with the alkaline phosphatase substrate ECF, and the fluorescent signal was acquired in a Storm 860 Gel and Blot system (GE Healthcare). Primary and Secondary antibodies are shown in Table 2.3.

#### 2.5.15. Silver staining for in gel protein detection

Silver staining was performed as previously described (O'Connell and Stults, 1997). Proteins were fixed for 30 min in a solution containing 25% methanol and 25% acetic acid. The gel was washed in 50% ethanol and 30% ethanol and then sensitized with Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>(0.2 g/l) for 1 min. After washing twice with water, the gel was stained with AgNO<sub>3</sub> (2 g/l) for 20 min and developed in a solution containing 37% formaldehyde (0.7 ml/l), 30 g/l Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>and 10 mg/l Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> until bands became visible (about 20 min). The staining was stopped with a solution containing Tris (50 g/l) and 2.5% acetic acid. Image acquisition was performed with a Canon LiDE 110 scanner.

#### 2.5.16. Colloidal Coomassie blue staining

The colloidal coomassie blue staining was performed as previously described (Candiano *et al.*, 2004). The dye solution was prepared as follows: Phosphoric acid (to a final concentration of 10%) was added to 1/10 of the final volume of water, followed by ammonium sulfate (final concentration of 10%). After dissolution, Coomassie blue G-250 (final concentration 0.12%) was added with the help of a strainer. After the solids were dissolved, water was added up to 80% of the volume and under stirring, anhydrous methanol was added to complete the volume. Gels were stained for 2 h at RT, destained with water and cut with a clean scalpel.

#### 2.5.17. Protein identification by liquid chromatography coupled to MS analysis (LC-MS/MS)

For MS analysis purposes, samples in 1x loading buffer were incubated with 8 µl of 30% acrylamide (Biorad) for 30 min to alkylate cysteinyl residues. After resolving the sample by SDS-PAGE, polyacrylamide gels were stained with colloidal Coomassie blue and cut in five slices, for each gel lane, and processed as described previously (Chen, 2011). Briefly, gel pieces were subjected to tryptic digestion. The resulting peptides were separated through HPLC using a capillary reverse phase C18 column. Protein identification was carried out on the Electrospray LTQ-Orbitrap (Thermo Fisher Scientific) with a stainless steel nano-bore emitter (Proxeon, 30 µm ID).

MS analysis was performed in collaboration with Dr. Ka Wan Li (Neuroproteomics laboratory, Center for Neurogenomics and Cognitive Research, Vrei University, Amsterdam).

## Table 2.2 Oligonucleotide primer sequences.

Use	Section	Sequence
Amplification of the Exon 1 (human) (FW)	2.1.2.	5'CAAGCCTCTTCCCGTGTGATC3'
Amplification of the Exon 1 (human) (RV)	2.1.2.	5'GTGGTGGAAGGAGTGAACTAAG3'
Amplification of the Exon 2 (human) (FW)	2.1.2.	5'GATCCTCTCTGCAGTACTGCG3'
Amplification of the Exon 2 (human) (RV)	2.1.2.	5'CGGAAAGGAGAGAGGCTTAGC3'
Amplification of the Exon 3 (human) (FW)	2.1.2.	5'CCTCTCCTCTAAGGCTGTGTC3'
Amplification of the Exon 3 (human) (RV)	2.1.2.	5'CAACACGACCTAGTGCAAGTCTT3'
Amplification of the Exon 4 (human) (FW)	2.1.2.	5'GCGGATGTCCATCTACACC3'
Amplification of the Exon 4 (human) (RV)	2.1.2.	5'TGGTACATGGGAAATCATGC3'
Amplification of shRNA cDNA (FW)	2.1.5.	5'TGAAGAACGAGGAAGTTATGTTCAAGAGACATAACTTCC TCGTTCTTCTTTTTT-3'
Amplification of shRNA cDNA (RV)	2.1.5.	5'ACCTTCAATACTGGGTAAGGAAGTTCTCTCCTTACCCAGT ATTGAAGGAAAAAA3'
Mutagenesis primer for the generation of shRNA resistant Stg-HA constructs (FW)	2.1.5.	5'GCGAGCAAAAAGAATGAGGAAGTCATGACCCATTC3'
Mutagenesis primer for the generation of shRNA resistant Stg-HA constructs (RV)	2.1.5.	5'GAATGGGTCATGACTTCCTCATTCTTTTGCTCGC3'
Mutagenesis primer for the V143L mutation (FW)	2.1.5.	5'CCGGCATCTTCTTCCTGTCTGCAGGTCTG3'
Mutagenesis primer for the V143L mutation (RV)	2.1.5.	5'CAGACCTGCAGACAGGAAGAAGATGCCGG3'
Mutagenesis primer for the S148N mutation (FW)	2.1.5.	5'CGTGTCTGCAGGTCTGAATAACATCATTGGCATCA3'
Mutagenesis primer for the S148N mutation (RV)	2.1.5.	5'TGATGCCAATGATGTTATTCAGACCTGCAGACACG3'
Amplification primers for Stg-HA cDNA (FW)	2.1.5.	5'GCGGCGCGCCGATGGGGCTGTTTGATCGAGGTG3'
Amplification primers for Stg-HA cDNA (RV)	2.1.5.	5'GCGGATCCTTATACGGGGGGTGGTCCGGC3'
Amplification Primers for T2A cDNA (FW)	2.1.5.	5'GCTGTACAAGTTAATTAAAGGTAGTGGAGAGGGCAGAG G3'
Amplification Primers for T2A cDNA (RV)	2.1.5.	5'GCGGCGCGCCTGGGCCAGGATTCTCCTCGACG3'

### Table 2.3. Antibodies used in the present study.

Primary antibody (host species)	Application (Dilution)	Brand	
GluA1 C-terminal (Rabbit)	WB (1:1000)	Millipore (MA,USA)	
GluN1 N-terminal (Mouse, IgG1)	ICC (1:100)	Neuromab (CA, USA)	
GluA1 N-terminal (Mouse, IgG2a)	ICC (1:100)	Millipore (MA, USA)	
GluA1 N-terminal (Sheep)	ICC (1:200)		
HA (mouse)	ICC (1:200/1:500)	Invivogen CA, USA)	
	Quantum dots (1:300000)		
	WB (1:1000)		
MAP2 (Chicken)	ICC (1:5000)	Abcam (Cambridge, UK)	
Normal rabbit IgG	IP (1:200)	Millipore (MA, USA)	
PSD95 (Mouse)	ICC (1:200)	Thermo Scientific	
Stargazin (Rabbit)	WB (1:750)	Millipore (MA, USA)	
	ICC (1:200)		
VGAT	ICC (1:1000)	Synaptic Systems (Gottingen, Germany)	
VGLUT1 (Guinea pig)	ICC (1:5000)	Millipore (MA, USA)	
Secondary antibody	Application (Dilution)	Brand	
(host species)			
Alexa 488-conjugated anti-rabbit	ICC (1:5000)	Molecular Probes (Leiden, The Netherlands)	
Alexa 488-conjugated anti-rat	ICC (1:5000)	Molecular Probes (Leiden, The Netherlands)	
Alexa 568-conjugated anti-rabbit	ICC (1:5000)	Molecular Probes (Leiden, The Netherlands)	
Alexa 568-conjugated anti-rat	ICC (1:5000)	Molecular Probes (Leiden, The Netherlands)	
Alexa 568-conjugated anti-mouse	ICC (1:5000)	Molecular Probes (Leiden, The Netherlands)	
Alexa 568-conjugated anti-sheep	ICC (1:5000)	Molecular Probes (Leiden, The Netherlands)	
Alexa 647-conjugated anti-mouse	ICC (1:5000)	Molecular Probes (Leiden, The Netherlands)	
Alexa 647-conjugated anti-guinea pig	ICC (1:5000)	Molecular Probes (Leiden, The Netherlands)	
Alkaline Phosphatase-conjugated anti-rabbit	WB (1:10000)	Jackson ImmunoResearch (Pennsylvania, USA)	
Alkaline Phosphatase-conjugated anti-mouse	WB (1:10000)	Jackson ImmunoResearch (Pennsylvania, USA)	
AMCA-conjugated anti-chicken	ICC (1:200)	Jackson ImmunoResearch (Pennsylvania, USA)	

## **CHAPTER 3**

Generation and characterization of *knock-in* mice for the intellectual disability-associated stargazin mutation, V143L.
# 3.1. Summary

Two disease-associated mutations in the *CACNG2* gene affect the cellular function of the encoded protein, stargazin (Chapter 2). These mutations, described in an intellectual disability patient and in a SCZ patient, affect the surface diffusion properties of stargazin and impact the synaptic trafficking of AMPAR and homeostatic plasticity. These observations prompt the generation of animal models of disease, to further study the consequences of the disease-associated mutations in *CACNG2* on several aspects of synaptic transmission, synapse composition, neuronal morphology and on animal behavior.

Here, we generated *knock-in* mice carrying either hetero- or homozygous insertion of the ID-associated stargazin (Stg<sup>ID</sup>) mutation, and sought to assess *in vivo* the impact of this stargazin mutation on animal behavior. Considering the expression pattern of stargazin and its putative role in psychiatric disorders such as intellectual disability and SCZ, we focused on behavior tasks that rely on the function of brain areas where stargazin is highly expressed and/or behavior paradigms that are relevant in a disease context.

We observed that Stg<sup>ID</sup>*knock-in* mice display altered behavioral phenotypes, namely increased locomotor activity, impaired working memory and motor learning, and altered nesting behavior. Our results show that the intellectual disability-related V143L mutation in stargazin contributes to a disease-like behavioral phenotype, and suggest a potential role for stargazin in the pathophysiology of human cognitive disorders.

# 3.2. Introduction

The prevalence of intellectual disability (ID) ranges from 1% to 3% of the population, and the disease is characterized by impairments that affect adaptive functioning in three domains: conceptual (language, reading, writing and memory, among others), social (empathy, interpersonal communication skills) and practical (personal care, job responsibilities and organization). The ID diagnosis is based on clinical assessment of adaptive function and also takes into account the IQ, which is considered low when the score is approximately two standard deviations below the average population IQ, that is, about 70 or below (American Psychiatry Association, 2013).

Although the most severe forms of ID are associated with chromosomal abnormalities or gene defects, near 60% of the patients remain without a genetic diagnosis. Research on genetic causes has traditionally focused on the X-chromosome due to the significant higher incidence of ID in males (Athanasakis et al., 2014). Indeed, many X-linked disorders such as fragile X and Rett syndrome present ID as a major symptom. The development of new sequencing techniques allowed the recognition of an endless number of *de novo* and/or X-linked mutations, putatively causative of ID, linking numerous genes to the pathogenesis of this disorder. Among those are genes that encode for proteins that play a pivotal role in synaptic transmission, including NMDAR, AMPAR and KAR subunits (Endele et al., 2010; Hamdan et al., 2009a; Hamdan et al., 2009b; Motazacker et al., 2007; Najmabadi et al., 2011; Tarpey et al., 2004; Wu et al., 2007) [reviewed in (Kaufman et al., 2010)]. A missense mutation (V143L) in the CACNG2 gene, which codes for stargazin, was described in an intellectual disability patient (Hamdan et al., 2011). In the previous chapter, we reported that this mutation affects the surface diffusion properties of stargazin, impacts AMPAR synaptic trafficking and homeostatic synaptic scaling. In an attempt to further elucidate the effect of the V143L mutation on the function of stargazin, and to appraise its causal role in the development of behavioral phenotypes that correlate with ID symptomatology, we generated a knock-in mouse line for the stargazin V143L mutation, and characterized some of their behavior features. To do so, we used a gene targeting approach, which allowed the directed modification of one nucleotide in the third exon of the CACNG2 gene via homologous recombination (Figure 3.1). This technique enabled the expression of Stg<sup>ID</sup> in all the cells that would naturally express stargazin.

Given the expression pattern of stargazin, the brain regions that closely relate to ID and the phenotypes/features most commonly observed in ID and other psychiatric disorder models, we submitted these mice to a battery of tests to allow the evaluation of motor ability, anxiety-like behavior and, most importantly, cognitive performance.

# 3.3. Results

## 3.3.1. Generation of the Stg<sup>ID</sup>knock-in mice.

Gene targeting enables the introduction of directed modifications in the genome through homologous recombination and is a popular method to generate animal model that have greatly increased our understanding of neuropsychiatric disorders(Peca *et al.*, 2011; Peca and Feng, 2012). This technique makes use of mouse embryonic stem cells (ES cells), which are pluripotent cells from the inner cell mass of the blastocyst and can contribute to the formation of both somatic and germline tissues (Starkey and Elaswarapu, 2010).

To target the *CACNG2* gene and mediate the modification of the nucleotide in the third exon of the gene found to be mutated in an ID patient, we designed a targeting vector containing two homology arms, the long arm (LA) and the short arm (SA), and a third arm containing the modification to be inserted in the mouse genome, the middle arm (MA). In order to allow the genotyping of the animals, we included a random sequence, non-homologous to the mouse genome, in the SA/MA junction. The design of genotyping primers specific for this region allowed the discrimination between WT and Stg<sup>ID</sup>*knock-in* (StgV143L<sup>+</sup>) alleles (Figure 3.1 A, B).

The vector also contained two selection markers, a neomycin (NEO) cassette that confers resistance to geneticin, and a Diphtheria toxin (DTA) cassette, which sits outside the homology region. Whereas the first enables the selection of cells where the vector was successfully incorporated, the second allows the selection of cells where non-homologous insertion into the genomic DNA took place. However, because non-homologous insertion may occur in silent regions of the genome where DTA is not expressed, further screening is required to discriminate between these two situations. After electroporation of our vector into R1 ES cells, derived from the crossing of 129/Sv and 129/SvJ substrains, their DNA was isolated and we performed a third selection method, based on a PCR reaction where positive amplification only occurs if homologous recombination took place. Positive ES cell colonies were then expanded and microinjected into blastocysts of C57/B6 mice. The resulting chimeras were crossed with C57/B6 mice for at least four generations before biochemical and behavioral analyses.

Confirmation of the correct targeting was performed by sequencing the third exon of the *CACNG2* gene in WT and homozygous *knock-in* (StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup>) mice (Figure 3.1C). Western blot analysis of whole brain lysated from WT, StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> mice shows stargazin expression (Figure 3.1D)



**Figure 3.1. Stg<sup>ID</sup>knock-in mice generation and genotyping.** A vector containing two selection markers, Neo and DTA and three homology arms was constructed: the short and the long arm allowed homologous recombination with the genomic DNA of mouse embryonic stem (ES) cells, and the middle arm contained the ID-associated point mutation (V143L) (red bar) (**A**). A forward primer designed against a synthetic random sequence (non-existing in the mouse genome – green bar), inserted upstream the middle arm, allows the specific targeting of the mutated allele. A 400bp band, amplified by PCR, indicates the presence of at least one mutated allele (**B**). The discrimination between homozygous and heterozygous animals requires a second PCR, using a forward primer directed against the original region replaced by the random sequence in the *knock-in*. The directed mutagenesis was confirmed by sequencing of the third exon in WT and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> animals, by Sanger sequencing (**C**). The expression of stargazin in WT, StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> and StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> mice in total brain lysates was confirmed by Western blot (**D**).

# 3.3.2. Homozygous Stg<sup>ID</sup>knock-in (StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup>) mice show increased locomotor activity and no distinct anxiety-like behaviors.

Psychiatric disorders are highly complex disorders, associated to numerous and diversified symptoms. The diagnosis of these disorders relies on the identification of a certain number and type of symptoms that must be present for a minimum amount of time. It is unlikely that a single patient displays all the symptoms associated with these disorders and likewise, it is a difficult task

to mimic all the symptoms of a disorder in animal models. On the other hand, there is significant symptom overlap among psychiatric disorders, and animal models for a given psychiatric disorder often display symptoms that are related to other psychiatric disorders (Yin *et al.*, 2013; Zhou *et al.*, 2016a). In the wake of these observations and taking into account the expression pattern of stargazin and its association to both ID and SCZ, we characterized Stg<sup>ID</sup>*knock-in* mice behavior in cognition tests but also regarding other behavior phenotypes that have been previously found to be altered in models of these disorders, such as locomotor activity, anxiety-like, and nesting behaviors (Ehninger *et al.*, 2008; Miyakawa *et al.*, 2003; Moretti *et al.*, 2005; The Dutch-Belgian Fragile X Consortium, 1994; Zhou *et al.*, 2016a).

Given the early onset of ID, and the diagnosis of SCZ at early adulthood, we tested for behavior alterations in animals in early adulthood (6-8 weeks old). In order to assess the locomotor activity and anxiety-like behaviors, the animals were tested in the open field (OF) arena and in the elevated plus maze (EPM). The OF was first proposed by Calvin Hall in 1934 to measure emotionality in rats and from then on it has been widely used for different species and purposes. Numerous studies validated the observation that towards higher luminosity levels animals move less due the freezing phenotype associated to anxiety-like behaviors. In addition, anxious/fearful animals spend less time in the center and take longer to first explore that part of the arena (Gould, 2009; Walsh and Cummins, 1976). The EPM consists of four arms that are elevated from the ground; two of them are enclosed by walls whereas the other two are open and thus subjected to more illumination. Mice have a natural tendency to avoid open, unprotected spaces, a behavior that is magnified in animals showing anxiety-like phenotypes (Gould, 2009).

Representative trajectories performed by WT, heterozygous Stg<sup>ID</sup>*knock-in* (StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup>) and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> mice, left in the OF arena for 60 minutes, are shown in Figure 3.2 A. To evaluate locomotor activity, the total distance traveled and velocity were assessed and displayed separately for male (Figure 3.2 B-E) and female (Figure 3.2 F-I) mice, due to evident disparate results between genders. Although no significant changes were observed in the behavior of males with different genotypes, StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> females showed increased locomotor activity, compared to WT females, characterized by increased distance traveled (Figure 3.2 F) and increased velocity (Figure 3.2 G). The time spent in the center and the latency to enter the center for the first time do not vary significantly among genotypes (Figure 3.2 D,E, H, I) or between genders (data not shown). These results are in agreement with similar anxiety-like levels between StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup>, StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> and WT animals.



**Figure 3.2. Female StgV143L**<sup>+/+</sup> **mice show hyperactivity.** Locomotor activity was evaluated using the open field test. A representative trace of the total trajectory performed by an animal from each genotype is displayed in **A**. Both male (**B-E**) and female (**F-I**) mice were placed for 60 minutes in a 40 cm x 40 cm arena whose center was illuminated with 100 lux. Total distance traveled by the mice as well as their average velocity were increased in female StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> mice (**F**, **G**), comparing to WT females, suggesting hyperactivity. Both the time spent in the center and the latency to enter the center for the first time were not significantly different between genotypes or genders, suggesting that these mice do not present anxiety-like behaviors. \*\*p<0.01 One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnet's multiple comparison test. N=5,8,8 for WT, StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup>, StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> male animals, respectively, and N=9,8,6 for WT, StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> female mice, respectively.

Representative trajectories of WT, StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> mice in the EPM are shown in Figure 3.3 A. Neither the time spent in the open arms (Figure 3.3 B,D) nor the latency to enter the open arms for the first time (Figure 3.3 C, E) showed significant differences among genotypes, supporting the inexistence of differences in the anxiety levels between WT and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> animals. Taken together, these data show that mice expressing the ID-associated stargazin mutation in homozygosity present hyperactivity without displaying anxiety-like phenotypes.



**Figure 3.3. Stg<sup>ID</sup> knock-in mice do not show anxiety-like behaviors.** Anxiety-like behavior was evaluated using the elevated plus maze, a plus-shaped platform containing two arms enclosed by walls and two open arms that were exposed to 100 lux. Animals explored the maze for 10 minutes and the preference for the open and closed arms was assessed (**A**). The latency to enter open arms for the first time (**C**,**E**) and the time spent in the open arms (**B**, **D**) did not vary significantly between genotypes either for males (**B**,**C**) or females (**D**,**E**), suggesting that animals carrying the ID-associated stargazin mutation do not present increased anxiety comparing to controls. N=5,8,8 for WT, StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup>, StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> males, respectively, and N=9,8,6 for WT, StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup>, StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> females, respectively.

#### 3.3.3. The ID-associated stargazin mutation affects motor learning in the rotarod

Stargazin is highly expressed in the hippocampus, cortex and cerebellum; however, whereas in the hippocampus and cortex other TARPs are also expressed ( $\gamma$ 8 and  $\gamma$ 3, respectively), in the cerebellum stargazin is by large the most abundant TARP (Tomita *et al.*, 2003). In agreement with an important function for stargazin in the cerebellum, *stargazer* mice, which lack stargazin, present cerebellar ataxia (Chen *et al.*, 2000).

Thus, aiming at assessing the effect of the ID-associated stargazin mutation in cerebellum function, and to assess if motor abnormalities could interfere with the performance of StgV143L mice in other behavior tests, mice were submitted to a cerebellum-dependent task, the rotarod assay. This test consists on the evaluation of the time that a mouse withstands in the top of a rotating beam with increasing velocity, a behavior that directly correlates with motor balance. The time spent in the beam (in seconds) was measured for two consecutive days, averaged from three trials each day.

On average, no significant differences among genotypes were observed in the time the animals endure on the apparatus, in the first or second day (Figure 3.4 A, E). Although StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> females present a slight increase in the mean time spent on the rotating beam, comparing to WT females, which is in agreement with the increased locomotor activity presented in the open field arena, these differences are not statistically significant (Figure 3.4 E). These observations suggest that the ID-associated stargazin mutation does not interfere with the motor ability of these animals in this particular cerebellum-dependent task. In the rotarod assay, the performance improvement on the second day, compared to the first day, correlates with the ability to learn and adapt to the task. Analysis of the performances on the two consecutive days shows that on average animals from the three genotypes are able to learn the task and improve in the second day; however, paired analysis showed that although WT animals always endure significantly more time in the second day (Figure 3.4 B,F), StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> females and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> males and females fail to do so (Figure 3.4 G, D, H), suggesting an effect of the ID-associated mutation in motor learning in this task.



**Figure 3.4.Stg**<sup>ID</sup> *knock-in* mice motor learning in the rotarod assay is impaired. Evaluation of motor function was performed using the rotarod test. In this test, the time withstanded on a rotating beam with increased velocity (4 to 40 mps in 5 minutes) was evaluated in two consecutive days. The average time spent on the rotarod did not significantly vary between genotypes in either of the two days (**A**, **E**). Analysis of the improvement in the second day, for each animal, showed that although WT (**B**,**F**) and StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> male animals (**C**) perform significantly better in the second day, StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> females (**G**) and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> mice of both genders (**D**,**H**) do not improve significantly, suggesting that the ID-associated mutation affects learning in this task.\*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, Paired t-test. N=5,8,8 for WT, StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup>, StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> males, respectively, and N=9,9,6 for WT, StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup>, StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> females, respectively.

#### 3.3.4. Stg<sup>ID</sup>knock-in mice present impaired spontaneous alternation phenotype

Stargazin is required for synaptic plasticity mechanisms such as LTP and LTD (Tomita *et al.*, 2005b), which are thought to underlie learning and memory. Furthermore, it is expressed in the cortex and hippocampus, two of the most important brain regions for those processes. Working memory is associated with the ability to process and retain information regarding the surrounding environment. This type of memory has been widely associated with the prefrontal cortex both in rodents (Sanchez-Santed *et al.*, 1997) and in humans and primates (Yang *et al.*, 2014), but other regions, such as the hippocampus and the thalamus, have also been implicated in this type of memory [reviewed in (Lalonde, 2002; Yoon *et al.*, 2008).

The T-maze is used for different tests that enable the evaluation of several features of spatial working memory and that take advantage of the fact that rodents are naturally motivated to explore their environment to look for food, water or shelter. One of those tests evaluates the spontaneous alternation. Animals are placed at the base of the T and are allowed to choose one of the arms. If a second trial is performed shortly after the first, the rodent usually chooses the arm not visited before (alternation) in order to fully explore the environment, demonstrating memory of the first arm (Deacon and Rawlins, 2006; Dudchenko, 2004).

Taking into account the importance of stargazin for synaptic plasticity mechanisms underlying memory and learning, and also its high expression in the cortex and hippocampus, we evaluated the effect of the ID-associated stargazin mutation in spatial working memory, by testing Stg<sup>ID</sup>*knock-in* mice for spontaneous alternation in the T-maze. Spontaneous alternation was evaluated in five trials divided in two rounds. In the first round, immediately after mice chose an arm, their movement was restricted to that arm for 30 seconds. After this time, animals were removed from the maze and placed back in the start arm. If the previously unexplored arm was now chosen, we considered there was spontaneous alternation.

Although WT animals presented a percentage of alternations significantly higher than 50%, *i. e.* than what would be expected by chance, both StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> mice failed to do so, suggesting an impairment in spontaneous alternation, compatible with impaired working memory (Figure 3.5 A). As observed before for locomotor activity and motor function/learning, when evaluated separately in the T-maze, males and females show a distinct phenotype; whereas StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> males show a tendency for decreased spontaneous alternation (Figure 3.5 B), StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> females were able to alternate as efficiently as WT females (Figure 3.5 C), suggesting that protective or compensatory mechanisms might take place differently between genders.



**Figure 3.5. Spontaneous alternation is impaired in StgV143L**<sup>+/-</sup> **and StgV143L**<sup>+/+</sup> **mice.** Spontaneous alternation was evaluated in five trials using a T-maze. In this task, divided in two rounds, the animals are allowed to choose one of the two arms of the maze and are kept in that arm for 30 seconds. After another 30 seconds they are re-placed in the start arm and, again, allowed to choose one of the arms. Alternation is considered when the animal does not visit the same arm twice. WT animals alternated significantly more than 50% of the times whereas StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> animals failed to do so (**A**). A similar trend was observed for males (**B**) when evaluated separately, whereas StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> females alternated as efficiently as the WT females (**C**). \*\*p<0.01 One sample t-test against a value of 50. N=5,9,9 for WT, StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup>, StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> males, respectively, and N=7,8,7 for WT, StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup>, StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> for females, respectively.

#### 3.3.5. Nesting behavior is affected by the ID-associated mutation

When provided with suitable material, mice build nests, which in the wild allow them to hide, conserve their temperature and protect them during reproduction periods. The ability to build nests is impaired by different stimuli and genetic manipulations. In fact, several models for ASD, SCZ and other syndromes that include intellectual disability as major symptom showed deficits in nesting behavior (Blundell *et al.*, 2010; Etherton *et al.*, 2009; Miyakawa *et al.*, 2003; Moretti *et al.*, 2005).

To investigate whether the nesting behavior was intact in Stg<sup>ID</sup> knock-in animals, animals were isolated and a cotton disk was included in the cage. After 12 hours, the nest built with the cotton disk was evaluated by seven observers blinded to animal genotype, who graded the nest from 1 to 5 according to the rating scale described in (Deacon, 2006). We observed that most of the WT animals gathered the completely shredded cotton to form a high, round shaped nest, whereas nests coming from StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> mice often presented intact pieces of cotton with random shapes; furthermore, cotton was sometimes found spread throughout the cage (Figure 3.6 A). Accordingly, nests from both StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup>, either male or female, were scored

significantly worse than nests built by WT animals, suggesting that the ID-associated stargazin mutation interferes with the animal's ability to build a nest (Figure 3.6 B, C). Considering that no motor problems were found in these mice, the decrease in the nest score is not likely caused by the inability to shred the cotton disk, but possibly by lack of interest or carelessness. Furthermore, for WT animals, nests made by males were scored substantially higher than the ones made by females.



**Figure 3.6. Nest building is impaired in StgV143L**<sup>+/-</sup> **and StgV143L**<sup>+/+</sup> **mice.** Nesting behavior was evaluated by isolation of the animals and inclusion of a cotton disk in the cage for 12 hours. Nests were scored, by observers blinded to the animal genotype, from 1 to 5, where 5 corresponds to a well-built nest. Representative nests for WT, StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> mice show that although nests from WT animals include totally shredded cotton pieces, put together to form a round and high structure, StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> mice nests included intact pieces of cotton, displaying random shapes (**A**). Nests from StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> males (**B**) and females (**C**) were scored significantly lower than those from WT animals, suggesting that *knock-in* mice have impaired nest building behavior. \*p<0.05, \*\*\*p<0.001, \*\*\*\*p<0.001, Unpaired t-test.

# 3.4. Discussion

In the previous chapter, we characterized two mutations in the *CACNG2* gene, identified in patients with two different psychiatric disorders, and that result in shared and distinct cellular phenotypes when expressed in neurons. Although both mutations affect stargazin surface diffusion properties and impair the trafficking of AMPAR to the surface, only the ID-associated mutation, V143L, affects homeostatic plasticity.

To further evaluate the consequences of this mutation in stargazin function and animal behavior, we generated *knock-in* mice that express the ID-associated form of stargazin. Using a gene targeting approach we induced the homologous recombination-mediated modification of one nucleotide in the third exon of the *CACNG2* gene, leading to the production of the stargazin V143L variant.

Preliminary data from our lab show that stargazin is expressed in the brain of both StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> mice, but its levels are decreased in postsynaptic densities (PSDs) isolated from StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> mice whole brain lysates (data not shown), in comparison to PSDs isolated from WT littermates, suggesting impaired synaptic accumulation of mutant stargazin.

In this chapter, we describe the performance of Stg<sup>ID</sup> *knock-in* animals in a set of behavior tests that enable the evaluation of some features that depend on the function of brain regions where stargazin is highly expressed, such as the cortex, cerebellum and hippocampus and that correlate with phenotypes previously observed in models of ID and SCZ. We assessed locomotor activity, the presence of anxiety-like behaviors, nesting behavior, motor learning and cognitive performance.

#### Female Stg<sup>ID</sup>knock-in mice present hyperactivity

In order to assess locomotor activity, we evaluated the behavior of Stg<sup>ID</sup> knock-in animals in the open field arena. StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> females showed an increase in the total distance traveled as well as in the velocity displayed, suggesting increased locomotor activity. Hyperactivity has been observed in several mouse models bearing mutations or lacking proteins implicated in psychiatric disorders, namely the model that mimics high expression levels of Neuregulin1 (Yin *et al.*, 2013), and *knock-out* animals for GluA1 (Wiedholz *et al.*, 2008), calcineurin (Miyakawa *et al.*, 2003) and Fmr1 (The Dutch-Belgian Fragile X Consortium, 1994).

Accordingly, several reports indicate a higher incidence of attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in intellectual disability patients than in the general population [reviewed in (Seager and O'Brien, 2003)]. Furthermore, syndromes in which intellectual disability is a common

feature, such as tuberous sclerosis and fragile X, also include attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) as a major symptom [reviewed in (de Vries *et al.*, 2005; McLennan *et al.*, 2011)].

Although StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup>female mice show increased locomotor activity in the open field, no changes were observed in the time spent in the center or in the latency to enter the center for the first time, either in StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> or StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> mice, suggesting that these animals do not present anxiety-like behaviors. In agreement, no differences were observed in the elevated plus maze comparing Stg<sup>ID</sup> mice to WT animals, either in the time spent in the open arms or in the time spent to access open arms for the first time.

## Motor learning is impaired in Stg<sup>ID</sup> knock-in mice

Assessing motor functions in genetically modified animals is one of the most important requirements, since the vast majority of tests rely on the movement of the animals. If motor functions are impaired, complex tasks that demand movement towards food, inanimate objects or other animals will be confounded. Different alterations may lead to the outcome of abnormal motor function, as changes in the formation of dendrites and/or axons, alterations in neurotransmitter receptor-mediated signaling, and changes in the development of bones, tendons or muscles can potentially interfere with motor function.

Furthermore, stargazin is highly expressed in the cerebellum and, considering the importance of this brain region for motor balance and learning, we evaluated the performance of these mice in the rotarod, a widely used task to study cerebellum function.

Our results show that the average time the animals from different genotypes can withstand in the rotating beam does not vary significantly, suggesting that animals expressing the ID-associated stargazin variant do not present gross motor abnormalities.

When repeatedly evaluated in this task, WT animals are able to adapt to the task and significantly improve their performance; this observation corresponds to motor learning, which requires coordination and balance and is described to be correlated to the cerebellum function. The latency to fall was increased in WT animals across training days. On the other hand, for both StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> or StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> the performance in the first and second days did not significantly differ, suggesting that they were not able to substantially improve in the task, which is compatible with an impairment in motor learning mediated by changes in the function of stargazin. The role for stargazin in the cerebellum function has already been addressed by several studies given the striking ataxia phenotype of the *stargazer* mouse. The absence of stargazin expression in these mice leads to impairment in the trafficking of AMPAR to the surface of cerebellum granule cells, with striking

consequences to neuronal transmission. This effect is particularly deleterious in the cerebellum since the synapses of cerebellar granule cells are virtually devoid of functional AMPAR (Chen *et al.*, 2000; Hashimoto *et al.*, 1999). Accordingly, besides presenting ataxia, these mice also display impaired acquisition of the eyeblink conditioning, a paradigm of motor learning dependent on cerebellar function and plasticity (Hashimoto *et al.*, 1999).

Impairment of motor learning has been previously described in genetically modified mice lacking or expressing variants of proteins implicated in psychiatric disorders. In fact, mice lacking the expression of Dysbindin1, a protein implicated in SCZ (Takao *et al.*, 2008), and mice expressing ASD- and SCZ-associated variants of Shank3 present impaired motor learning in the rotarod (Zhou *et al.*, 2016a). Furthermore, *knock-out* mice for Erbin, a protein that interacts with stargazin, present both increased locomotor activity and decreased motor learning in the rotarod (Tao *et al.*, 2013).

Further studies are necessary to assess if cerebellum-related tasks are affected by the diseaseassociated mutation, namely other tests that evaluate motor learning and motor balance/coordination should be performed, such as conditional eyeblinking, the balance beam and footprint pattern evaluation.

Besides the behavioral analysis, evaluation of total and synaptic levels of stargazin and AMPAR in cerebellar cells would be informative of the impact of this mutation on stargazin function and regulation.

#### The V143L stargazin mutation affects spontaneous alternation phenotype

Despite being widely studied, the mechanisms underlying memory and learning are not yet fully characterized. It is accepted that changes in synaptic strength might be at the basis of information storage, and that mechanisms such as LTP and LTD play a pivotal role in those processes. Numerous glutamatergic synapse proteins are indispensable for the induction and maintenance of Hebbian and homeostatic plasticity mechanisms, and changes in the expression of several of these proteins were correlated with impairments in domains of learning and memory in mouse models.

Spatial working memory correlates with the ability to obtain and retain information regarding the surrounding environment for a short period of time and different regions of the prefrontal cortex are thought to correlate with its acquisition and recall. In fact, the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, a region that is affected in SCZ, was recently shown to be important in keeping spatial information for short periods (van Asselen *et al.*, 2006) and, accordingly, spatial working memory impairment has been described in SCZ patients (Glahn *et al.*, 2003; Park and Holzman, 1992). Different spatial mazes are used to assess spatial working memory. In most cases, the animals are allowed to choose between arms to receive reinforcements, in the form of food, water or shelter, which drive the

animals to recall the places where those rewards were found. Although the T-maze is often used for tests following the same rationale, it also enables the evaluation of spontaneous alternation. When placed in a T-shaped maze, rodents display a tendency for alternation between the arms as a measure of their exploratory behavior.

We observed that contrarily to WT animals which alternate significantly more than chance level, both StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> mice alternate around 50% of the times, suggesting that the choice is random, compatible with an impairment in recalling the memory of the previously visited arm. These observations are in accordance with the previously described pivotal role of stargazin not only for LTP and LTD but also for homeostatic scaling of AMPAR and experience-dependent plasticity (Louros *et al.*, 2014; Tomita *et al.*, 2005b). The role of stargazin in these processes makes it a critical regulator of synaptic strength, and, most likely, an important player in memory and learning.

Importantly, stargazin interacts with several proteins whose importance in learning and memory, and consequently in the development of cognitive disorders, has been described. In fact, altered spatial working memory was described in GluA1 *knock-out* mice, which perform poorly on tests of non-matching to place on T and Y-mazes (Reisel *et al.*, 2002; Sanderson *et al.*, 2009). Also, stargazin was recently shown to interact with ARC, an immediate early gene required for memory and learning that has been implicated in cognitive disorders such as fragile X and Angelman syndromes, characterized by intellectual disability (Zhang *et al.*, 2015).

Furthermore, as previously described in Chapter 2, we identified several new interaction partners for stargazin that are associated with aspects of memory and learning, such as Arvcf (Suzuki *et al.*, 2009), mGluR5 [reviewed in (Dolen and Bear, 2008)] and IQSEC2 (Shoubridge *et al.*, 2010). Thus, evaluation of the expression of these proteins in the brains of StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> mice, as well as evaluation of the strength of interaction with the mutated stargazin would give important insight regarding the role of these interactions in the observed phenotypes.

## Stg<sup>ID</sup> knock-in mice present altered nesting behavior

In nature, rodents build nests in order to provide shelter and protection from predators. They usually share nests with parents and offspring and nest building is therefore considered a phenotype correlated with social behavior. Several mouse models for psychiatric and neurodegenerative disorders present impairments in nest building behavior. In fact, nesting behavior is impaired in a Rett syndrome mouse model (Moretti *et al.*, 2005), in conditional *knock-out* animals for calcineurin (Miyakawa *et al.*, 2003) and for the Phospholipase C  $\beta$ 1, a protein implicated in SCZ (Koh *et al.*, 2008),

and in the triple transgenic mouse model for Alzheimer's disease (Torres-Lista and Gimenez-Llort, 2013).

Impairments in nest building are often correlated with motor abnormalities that would affect the ability for shredding and combining the pieces of material. In our observations, both StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup>showed poorly constructed nests, and since no motor abnormalities were observed in these mice, either in the open field arena or in the rotarod assay, it is unlikely that the inability in nest building can be accounted for by motor impairment; it is more likely related to a lack of interest in the nesting material, or in making a nest. Interestingly, ongoing analyses on the marble burying behavior test indicate that StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup>mice show an expressive decrease in the number of marbles buried over 20 min, in comparison to WT animals (personal communication, Tiago Rondão), corroborating the hypothesis of decreased interest on the interaction with the provided materials.

#### Male and female mice perform differently in behavior tests

Gender differences in psychiatric disorders constitute one of the most intriguing features in psychiatry (Riecher-Rossler, 2017b). In many psychiatric disorders, age of onset, symptoms and drug response are influenced by gender (Kokras and Dalla, 2014). During adolescence women present a higher prevalence of depression and mood disorders. As adults, this tendency is maintained as women present a higher prevalence of affective disorders, whereas men more often present social deficits and substance abuse. Nevertheless, women present a later onset for SCZ psychosis (Afifi, 2007). Many studies have shown that estradiol has a protective effect on schizophrenic psychosis and concordantly, gonadal dysfunction and estrogen deficiency in women suffering from SCZ have been reported (Riecher-Rossler, 2017a). An hypothesis linking stress, sex hormones and dopamine proposes that the increase of prolactin release following stress events culminates in a decrease in estrogen levels and a concomitant increase in dopamine levels, which in turn favors the development of psychosis in vulnerable people (Riecher-Rossler, 2017a). On the other hand, women are more vulnerable to mood and anxiety disorders, which has been hypothesized to be influenced by sex hormones.

It has been proposed that males have increased susceptibility to changes in genes involved in synaptic plasticity due to a lower threshold for the development of changes triggered by a genetic or environment factor, which may explain the higher prevalence of autism in males (Mottron *et al.*, 2015). Many studies report a higher prevalence of intellectual disability among males than females, in both adult and children populations (Maulik *et al.*, 2011). A meta-analysis study reports that among adults with ID, the female-to-male ratio varies between 0.7 and 0.9, while in children it varies

between 0.4 and 1.0 (Maulik *et al.*, 2011). The reasons for this discrepancy are not clear, but may include X-linked intellectual disability (XLID). XLID is a common cause of monogenic ID, overrepresented in males due to their single X chromosome, which lacks compensation. In fact, the prevalence of XLID in males is about 1:4000, accounting for 2% of the male ID cases. In females, only 0.3% of the ID cases are X-linked. Importantly, mutations in XLID genes in sporadic males is much lower, suggesting that the inheritance pattern is important to distinguish X-linked from autosomal mutations (Carlo and Verpelli, 2016).

Gender differences were also observed in the Stg<sup>ID</sup> *knock-in* mice for specific behaviors, including locomotor activity, spontaneous alternation and, to a smaller extent, motor learning.

In fact, StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> female mice present hyperactivity while no changes are observed among genotypes in males. Interestingly, there is evidence that locomotor activity is affected by estrogen, since females but not males, showed increased activity in the open field when an estradiol benzoate pellet was implanted following gonadectomy (Ogawa *et al.*, 2003). Accordingly, several behaviors mediated by dopamine sensitive sites are affected by estradiol (Joyce *et al.*, 1984), and enhanced dopaminergic activity in rodents leads to enhanced motor activity (van den Buuse, 2010). The same trend for increased locomotor activity specifically in females was observed in a transgenic mouse model for S100β, a calcium-binding protein that affects brain development and LTP, whose coding gene is located in the chromosome 21, and which is therefore overexpressed in Down syndrome (Gerlai and Roder, 1993).

Motor learning was more severely impaired in Stg<sup>ID</sup> females than males, which is in accordance with the observation in humans that males show a better performance and adaptation to motor tasks than females (Dorfberger *et al.*, 2009; Moreno-Briseno *et al.*, 2010).

Although not statistically significant, StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> males showed a tendency to alternate less than genotype-matched females, suggesting that the impairment in this task was more pronounced in males than in females. It is plausible that differences in the locomotor activity and in the latency to choose the second arm could account for the differences between sexes; however, neither the velocity and total distance traveled nor the time the animals took to choose the arms were evaluated in this test. Sex differences in spontaneous alternation have been observed previously. In a study involving hamsters, males spontaneously alternated significantly less in a T-maze than females (Hughes, 1989). A superior spatial memory was observed for female mice, comparing to age-matched males, following repetitive concussive brain injuries, which led to the suggestion of a role for female sex hormones in neuroprotection, as previously described in the literature (Velosky *et al.*, 2017). As reviewed in (Hill, 2016), in some developmental models of SCZ, males present a higher vulnerability for early developmental insults in the prefrontal cortex, and in several genetic models cognitive performance is more disrupted in males.

102

The account for gender differences in animal behavior represents an underrated subject of study as the vast majority of reports involving animal models of disease disregard gender for data analysis or do not include animals from both genders in experimental designs. Given the important observations concerning the effect of sex hormones in pivotal processes such as memory and learning or the predisposition to specific conditions, we believe that the inclusion of the gender variable to animal behavior studies, especially if in the context of psychiatric disorders, is of utmost importance.

#### Concluding remarks and future perspective

Taken together, these results suggest that mice carrying the ID-associated stargazin mutation present defects in locomotor activity, motor learning, working memory and social behavior, which might be correlated to the changes in synaptic composition and plasticity evidenced in the previous chapter. The elucidation of the behavioral phenotypes triggered by the ID-associated mutations in stargazin helps not only on the elucidation of the mechanisms in which stargazin takes part but also on the correlation between specific mechanism or circuits and disease-relevant phenotypes.

Many other behavior tests could be performed in order to determine the effect of the ID-associated mutation in cognition, namely the novel object recognition (NOR) test, a paradigm associated to both cortex and hippocampus function, which enables the evaluation of short-, middle- and long-term memory (Antunes and Biala, 2012). The Morris water maze and the Barnes maze allow the evaluation of spatial memory in rodents, since both tests evaluate the latency to recall the localization of a previously visited shelter-comparable platform and hole, respectively. Although the Morris water maze is more widely used than the Barnes maze, the latter is considered less anxiogenic since it does not involve swimming (Harrison *et al.*, 2006).

Sensory gating corresponds to a filtering mechanism that prevents the flooding of information. Sensory gating deficits are often observed in psychiatric disorders patients, as deficits in the ability to inhibit a response to a stimulus are commonly observed in these patients. As previously mentioned, the PPI test is used to evaluate sensorimotor gating in both humans and animals (Brody *et al.*, 2004). In fact, as described in the Table 1.4, several models of psychiatric disorders present deficits in PPI; thus, it would be interesting to evaluate if this disease-associated mutation in stargazin results in alterations in PPI. Furthermore, given the importance of stargazin in the visual-dependent refinement of the retino-thalamic connection (Louros *et al.*, 2014), the evaluation of the visual perception is particularly interesting in this case, and can be performed using the visual cliff test (Fox, 1965) for evaluating visual depth perception, and the optomotor system (Abdeljalil *et al.*, 2005) to study spatial vision.

Social behavior deficits are one of the hallmarks of psychiatric disorders, and are often comorbid with intellectual disability (Charman *et al.*, 2011). Several behavior tests have been developed to enable the evaluation of social behavior in rodents, as are the cases of the tube test, which allows the evaluation of social dominance, or the three-chamber test, which tests the preference for the exploration of an animal over the exploration of an inanimate object, and the discrimination between a known and a new animal. The observed defects in the nest building behavior of the Stg<sup>ID</sup>*knock-in* mice thrust further evaluation of the behavior of these mice in social paradigms to unveil the role of stargazin in social behavior.

Interestingly, most of the behavior defects observed for Stg<sup>ID</sup>*knock-in* mice have been described in animals modelling intellectual disability, ASD or SCZ, highlighting the overlap between different psychiatric disorders. As a future perspective, we aim at further studying the molecular and functional alterations occurring in these animals, namely at evaluating the effect of this mutation on the interaction between stargazin and other synaptic proteins with roles on excitation and inhibition and consequently in circuit formation and regulation.

The observation of an effect of the disease-associated mutations on stargazin-mediated AMPAR trafficking and synaptic scaling (Chapter 2) prompts the evaluation of their impact in synaptic transmission *in vivo*. Electrophysiological analyses of these animals would shed light on the impact of Stg<sup>ID</sup> on synapse function and plasticity, and allow the assessment of functional alterations in specific circuits. Given the expression of stargazin in the cortex and hippocampus, electrophysiology studies in these brain regions are of relevance. Thus, the determination of the frequency, amplitude and kinetics of mEPSC as well as evaluation of paired pulse facilitation would largely contribute to evaluate both postsynaptic and presynaptic function. Furthermore, the importance of stargazin in plasticity and the identification of mGluR5 as a stargazin interaction partner (Chaper 2) instigate the evaluation of LTP and LTD in these mice.

Given the shared and distinct effects mediated by the SCZ and ID-associated mutations in stargazin on the function of stargazin and related cellular and molecular phenotypes (Chapter 2), it would be interesting to compare the effects of the two mutations in the behavior and biochemical features of both lines. More, provided that the differences between the two mutations include the distinct response to the drug tianeptine, which reverts cellular effects mediated by the SCZ-associated mutation but not by the ID-associated variant, it is relevant to assess the effect of this drug on the reversion of disease-associated phenotypes.

The generation and thorough characterization of *knock-in* mice for the SCZ-associated stargazin mutation would strengthen our knowledge about the common pathways among psychiatric disorders and help on enlightening how mutations in the same gene can culminate in different psychiatric disorders.

# 3.5. Material and Methods

We generated *knock-in* mice bearing the ID-associated stargazin mutation, V143L, using a gene targeting technique, which enables the introduction of directed modifications in the genome through homologous recombination (Peca *et al.*, 2011).

Unlike other engineering methods such as transgenic technology and gene trap, gene targeting does not involve the random insertion of genetic material or the interruption of the expression of other genes. Gene targeting makes use of mouse embryonic stem cells (ES cells), which are pluripotent cells from the inner cell mass of the blastocyst and can contribute to the formation of both somatic and germline tissues. These cells can be cultured, manipulated and implanted into blastocysts, allowing, with a high degree of precision, the generation of genetically engineered mice for the study of gene function and disease modeling (Starkey and Elaswarapu, 2010). The procedures regarding the vector design and animal generation were performed as described in [Heyer, Feliciano, Peça & Feng, "Elucidating gene function through use of genetically engineered mice", in Genomic: Essential methods, edited by (Starkey and Elaswarapu, 2010)].

#### 3.5.1. Vector design

Targeted modifications can be introduced into ES cells by homologous recombination of a targeting vector; since the rate of homologous recombination in mammals is extremely low, positive and negative selection mechanisms are needed to increase the success of the method. Thus, a neomycin resistance gene under the control of a strong promoter is present in the targeting vector pLFN-DTA (kindly provided by Guoping Feng, MIT), allowing the selection of cells that incorporated the vector into the genome and were, therefore, resistant to G418/geneticin. Also, a diphtheria toxin A (DTA) cassette is present in the targeting vector for further negative selection. Most of the cells that incorporate the vector and are therefore resistant to G148/geneticin, do not undergo homologous recombination took place, the DTA cassette, because it sits outside the homologous regions is excised preventing cell death. However, if the DTA cassette was randomly inserted in a transcriptionally inactive region of the genome, it will not be produced, resulting in false positive colonies. In order to overcome this issue, a DNA extraction protocol was performed, followed by PCR with one primer that binds on the newly introduced Neo cassette and another that binds

outside of the short homology arm (SA); thus, amplification only occurred if homologous insertion took place.

The recombination rate increases with homology between a vector and its target and this is maximized by using two homology arms, a long arm (LA) and a short arm (SA). For our vector we designed a ~8 kb LA and a ~800 bp SA. In addition, a ~400bp middle arm (MA), containing the point mutation to be introduced in the genome, was designed.

#### 3.5.1.1. SA and MA

All the homology arms were obtained using bacterial artificial chromosomes (BACs) DNA as template. Commercial bacteria containing the BAC (Source BioScience) were grown with the appropriate antibiotic at  $37^{\circ}$ C, overnight, and 5 ml of cell suspension were collected by centrifugation at 16,100 x *g* for 1 min. The pellet was ressuspended in 250 µl of P1, 250µl of P2 and 350µl of P3 buffers from the NZYMiniprep kit (NZYTech). Tubes were centrifuged at 16,100 x*g* for 4 min. The supernatant was centrifuged again with the same speed and after discarding the pellet, the supernatant was incubated for 10 min at RT with 750µl of isopropanol to precipitate de DNA. The DNA was collected by spinning the tubes at 16,100 x *g* for 10 min. The resultant pellet was washed with 70% ethanol, air dried and resuspended in TE. The SA and MA were obtained by standard PCR and amplification primers were designed to introduce restriction sites to allow cloning into the final vector (Figure 3.7 A) and an additional site to allow the combined cloning of both SA and MA into the pLFN-DTA in a single step (SA was flanked by KpnI and ApaI restriction sites and MA was flanked by ApaI and AscI sites). MA forward primer also included a random sequence, non-homologous to the mouse genome, to allow the genotyping of the animals (Table 3.1).

Both the SA and the MA were subcloned into a pBluescript vector by blunt cloning with EcoRI to facilitate the site-directed mutagenesis of the MA and subsequent cloning into the final vector. Sitedirected mutagenesis was performed by PCR (Primers shown in Table 3.1) and confirmed by Sanger sequencing (Figure 3.7 B).



**Figure 3.7 SA and MA amplification.** SA and MA were obtained by standard PCR (**A**). A single point mutation was introduced into the MA by site-directed mutagenesis and confirmed by Sanger sequencing analysis (**B**).

#### 3.5.1.2. LA retrieval

Due to its size, the LA could not be directly amplified by PCR and had to be obtained by "recombineering" *i.e.* recombination-mediated genetic engineering. In this strategy, large sequences of DNA are retrieved from BAC DNA by using a modified *E.coli* strain that allow recombination, the SW102 strain.

#### 3.5.1.2.1. Amplification of the subcloning vector

Retrieval of the LA required the amplification of a subcloning vector, the pNAPP. Therefore, standard PCR primers were designed, complementary to regions of the pNAPP and overlapping the multiple cloning site containing rare cutting restriction enzyme sites (Table 3.1). The primers had an additional 50 bp sequence at their 3' end that was homologous to the ends of the LA sequence to be retrieved, as shown in Figure 3.8. The confirmation of pNAPP amplification is shown in Figure 3.8 B.

#### 3.5.1.2.2. Electroporation of BAC into the recombinogenic bacteria

SW102 bacteria were grown overnight at 32°C, to minimize undesired recombination, and were collected by centrifugation at 2000 × g for 5 min at 4°C. The pellet was resuspended in ice-cold water, spinned (15-20s) at maximum speed, the supernatant was discarded and the pellet was resuspended in 50µl of ice-cold water. After repeating this washing step 3 to 5 times, 1 µl of BAC DNA, extracted as described above, was added to the tube and the cells were transferred to a pre-cooled electroporation cuvette. Cells were electroporated using the following conditions: 1.75kV and 25µF, and plated in the antibiotic selection for the BAC. A PCR with primers to amplify the MA was performed to confirm BAC DNA incorporation by the SW102 cells (Figure 3.8 C).

#### 3.5.1.2.3. Electroporation of the pNAPP DNA into the recombinogenic bacteria containing BAC DNA

SW102 cells containing the BAC were grown overnight at 32 °C and then incubated at 42°C, with shaking, for 15 min, to activate their recombinogenic capacity. In order to decrease the temperature as quickly as possible, the flasks were incubated on ice for 5 min. Cells were collected again by centrifuging at 2000 × g for 5 min, at 4°C, washed with ice-cold water and electroporated with the PCR product obtained as described in 3.5.1.2.1. The electroporation was performed as described above. Cells were plated with antibiotic selection for the pNAPP vector (kindly provided by Guoping Feng, MIT). Retrieval of the LA sequence from the BAC DNA was confirmed by restriction analysis (Figure 3.8 D) and Sanger sequencing.



**Figure 3.8. pNAPP vector amplification.** The pNAPP vector was amplified with a forward and a reverse primer containing a 50 bp-long tail, homologous to the end and to the beginning of the long homology arm, respectively. The linearized vector and a BAC containing the *CACNG2* gene sequence were both electroporated into recombinogenic bacteria. Once activated, the recombinogenic bacteria allowed the retrieval of the LA sequence from the BAC DNA into the pNAPP vector through homologous recombination (**A**). pNAPP was amplified by standard PCR (**B**). Both the amplified pNAPP and BAC DNA were electroporated into recombinogenic bacteria and the latter was confirmed by PCR with the MA amplification primers (**C**). Retrieval of the LA sequence into the pNAPP vector was confirmed by restriction analysis (**D**).

# 3.5.1.3. Cloning of the homology arms into the pLFN-DTA

The LA was cloned into the PacI and NotI sites of the pLFN-DTA. The cloning was confirmed by restriction analysis (Figure 3.9A) SA and MA were then cloned into the KpnI and AscI sites of the pLFN-DTA vector already containing the LA. The cloning was confirmed by restriction digestion (Figure 3.9 B). Both cloning steps were confirmed by Sanger sequencing (data not shown). The final vector map is displayed in Figure 3.9 C.



**Figure 3.9. Cloning of the homology arms into the final vector.** LA was cloned into the pLNF-DTA vector between the PacI and NotI restriction sites (**A**). SA and MA were then cloned simultaneously into the pLFN-DTA already containing the LA (**B**). The final construct (**C**) was electroporated into the ES cells.

# 3.5.2. Embryonic Stem Cells and Mouse Embryonic Fibroblasts cell culture

As mentioned before, targeted modifications can be introduced into ES cells by homologous recombination of a targeting vector. After the targeting vector was designed, it was incorporated into ES cells through electroporation, and rounds of selection were performed in order to pick ES cell colonies where homologous recombination took place, and thus suitable for injection into a blastocyst.

For this work, we used the R1 line of ES cells, a well-established line with good rates of germline transmission, derived from the crossing of 129/Sv and 129/SvJ substrains. These cells were kindly provided by Andras Nagy, Mount Sinai Hospital, Toronto.

One critical aspect of this strategy is that ES cells had to be maintained in an undifferentiated status throughout the whole process. In the case of the R1 ES cells this is accomplished by plating these cells on top of a mouse embryonic fibroblast (MEF) cell feeder-layer, which provides the ES cells with differentiation inhibitory signals, and by adding the leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) to the culture medium.

#### 3.5.2.1. Mouse embryo fibroblasts (MEFs)

As mentioned before, the pLFN-DTA contains a Neomycin resistance cassette that allows the selection of ES cells that incorporated the plasmid. Thus, the MEF cells were derived from a transgenic mouse line expressing the Neomycin resistance cassette allowing them to be cultured in the same selection medium as the ES cells containing the targeting vector. EmbryoMAX primary mouse embryo fibroblasts, Neo resistant, FVB strain were purchased from Millipore.

#### 3.5.2.1.1. Expansion, harvesting and cryopreservation of MEF cells

MEF cells were plated in 0.1% gelatin-coated 100mm Petri dishes, in MEF medium: DMEM (high glucose, high bicarbonate, without pyruvate, with L-glutamine, Invitrogen), 1x penicillin/gentamicin (1000x stock – 0.59% penicillin and 8% gentamicin, Sigma) and 10% FBS (FBS cell screened, heat inactivated, Thermo Scientific Hyclone). When confluent, cells were trypsinized with 0.25% trypsin/EDTA (Gibco) and dissociated by pipetting up and down with glass pipettes. Cells were spinned for 3 min at 600 × *g* and the pellet was resuspended in MEF medium. One third of the cell suspension was plated in 150 cm<sup>2</sup> cell culture flask (Corning) and incubated at 37°C, 5%CO<sub>2</sub>. Medium was changed every two days until confluency (Figure 3.10).





Prior to the addition of ES cells to the MEF feeder layer, MEF cells must be mitotically inactivated. In order to do so, we treated P4 MEF cells with 10µg/ml of Mitomycin C (Sigma) for 3 hours. The cells were washed 3 times, dissociated with trypsin/EDTA and cryopreserved with 10% DMSO in liquid nitrogen.

#### 3.5.2.2. Embryonic stem cells (ES cells)

#### 3.5.2.2.1. ES cells plating, passaging and electroporation

At least 48h prior to ES cells plating, MEF cells were plated in a 0.1% gelatin coated 100 mm dish. After being rapidly thawed at 37°C, cells were centrifuged for 3 min at 600 × *g* and cultured in ES cells medium: DMEM (high glucose, high bicarbonate, no pyruvate, with L-glutamine, Invitrogen), 20% FBS (FBS cell screened, heat inactivated, Thermo Scientific Hyclone), 1x penicillin/gentamicin (1000x stock – 0.59% penicillin and 8% gentamicin, Sigma), 1:10000 dilution of LIF (10<sup>7</sup> units/ml, Chemicon) and 1xβ-mercaptoethanol (from the Embryomax 100x stock for ES Cells, Millipore). The medium was changed daily until cells reached about 70% confluency. At this stage cells were trypsinized and either cryopreserved as described previously for MEF cells, or electroporated with the targeting vector.

#### 3.5.2.2.2. ES cells electroporation

The targeting vector was amplified in non-recombinogenic bacteria and purified by the endotoxin free Nucleobond Xtra Midi Plus kit (Macherey-Nagel). About 80µg of the purified vector was linearized with the Notl enzyme and purified with the NucleoSpin Gel and PCR Clean-up (Macherey-Nagel). 60-70% confluent ES cells were incubated with 0.25% trypsin/EDTA at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 5 min, after which ES medium was added to stop the action of trypsin. Cells were completely dissociated by pipetting up and down with glass pipettes and centrifuged at  $600 \times g$  for 3 min. After resuspension in DPBS (without calcium and magnesium, Gibco), cells were centrifuged at  $600 \times g$  for 3 min and resuspended in DPBS with 25 µg of the linearized targeting vector DNA in a total volume of 800 µl. The suspension was added to a 4mm cuvette (Bio-Rad) and incubated for 5 min at RT. Cells were electroporated with a 225 V, 500µF pulse and after 10 min on ice, they were transferred to 10 ml of medium. ES cells were then plated on 5-6 dishes containing a feeder layer of MEF cells in ES medium. After 24 h the medium was changed by ES medium + 100 mg/ml G418/Geneticin (Sigma) in order to select the cells that incorporated the vector. The medium was changed by ES medium with 50 mg/ml G418/Geneticin (Selection ES medium), 24 hours later.

#### 3.5.2.2.3. Picking colonies

Nearly 48 h before colony picking, MEF cells were plated on 0.1% gelatin-coated 24-well plates and 1 h before the picking, the medium was changed to Selection ES medium. A plate containing ES cell colonies was placed in a clean microscope stage, and isolated and undifferentiated colonies (Figure 3.11) were picked with a 20 µl pipette set for 8 µl. Each colony was added to a well of a 96-well plate containing 100 µl of trypsin/EDTA and pipetted up and down a few times to break the colony. After 10 min at RT, the colonies were transferred to a 24-well plate (containing MEF cells in Selection ES medium). The medium was replaced 48 h after picking and daily after then until the harvesting.



**Figure 3.11. ES cells colonies.** Only undifferentiated colonies were picked to be screened. Undifferentiated colonies presented well defined margins and rounded shapes (**A**) whereas differentiated colonies were diffuse and often lacked distinguishable margins (**B**).

#### 3.5.2.2.4. Harvesting and Cryopreservation

Wells containing 20 to 100 medium to large colonies were selected to be harvested. The medium was replaced by 350  $\mu$ l 0.25%/EDTA trypsin and incubated at 37 °C for 5 min. After 5 min, 400  $\mu$ l of warm FBS was added to each well and pipetted up and down to dissociate the cells. 400  $\mu$ l of cell suspension were immediately frozen at -80°C with 10% DMSO and the remaining was centrifuged at maximum speed for 2 min. The pellets were stored at -20°C until used for PCR screening.

#### 3.5.2.2.5. ES cells screening by PCR

ES cells colony pellets, previously stored at -20 °C, were resuspended in 50  $\mu$ l of digestion buffer (50 mM Tris pH 8.0, 1 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 1% Tween 20 in H<sub>2</sub>O) supplemented with 2 $\mu$ g/ul proteinase K (GRISP). The cells were digested for 3h at 55°C and then immersed in boiling water for 10 min to denature proteinase K. After cooled to room temperature, 2  $\mu$ l of the digested cell suspension were used for PCR reaction. Reaction primers were designed in order to amplify a fragment if homologous insertion occurred. The forward primer hybridized a region outside the vector and the reverse primer hybridized a region flanking the Neo cassette which is not present in the mouse genome.

#### 3.5.2.2.6. Expansion of positive colonies

Tubes containing the positive colonies were quickly thawed in a 37 °C water bath and the content was transferred to a falcon tube containing Selection ES medium. The tubes were centrifuged for 3

min at 600xg and the pelleted cells were resuspended in 1ml Selection ES medium and then plated in dishes containing the MEF feeder layer. The medium was changed daily until the colonies were clearly visible. Cells were then trypsinized and half of the suspension was plated in a dish containing MEF cells. The other half of the suspension was freezed in 10% DMSO and regular ES medium. When the colonies became dense, they were trypsinized again and 1/5 of the content was plated in a noncoated 10 cm dish for genomic DNA extraction, whereas the remaining volume was frozen in 5 vials, with 10% DMSO, in regular ES medium.

#### 3.5.2.2.7. Blastocyst microinjection

This part of the strategy was performed at vivarium in the Champalimaud Foundation for the Unknown. Shortly, positive ES cells were plated in dishes containing MEF cells in ES cell medium and allowed to grow until large colonies were apparent. The cells were then trypsinized as described before, centrifuged for 3 min at 600 x *g* and resuspended in 2 ml of injection buffer (8.3 g/L of DMEM without phenol red and sodium bicarbonate, Sigma D5030, 4.5 g/L D-glucose, 25 mM HEPES and 584 mg/L L-glutamine). Visually identified ES cells were microinjected into the fluid-filled blastocoele cavity of 3.5-day-old embryos at the blastocyst stage, obtained from a C57BL/6 mouse. The injected embryos were then implanted in the uterus of pseudopregnant females.

#### 3.5.2.3. Chimera mating and backcrossings

The targeted R1 ES cells were from the 129 genetic background, which presents agouti coat color. The blastocysts where the ES cells were injected were obtained from the C57BL/6 mouse strain which presents black coat color. Thus, the resulting offspring included chimeric animals presenting black and agouti coat (Figure 3.12). Chimeric males were mated with C57BL/6 females and the presence of agouti coat in the F1 generation confirmed germline transmission. Tail DNA from the brown pups was used for PCR screening of the germline transmission of the targeted gene. Heterozygous animals were backcrossed to the C57BL/6 strain for 4 generations to decrease the contribution of genetic background to the observed phenotypes. Heterozygous animals were then intercrossed to generate homozygous and WT littermates.



**Figure 3.12. Male chimera.** Chimeras presented a mixed color coat due to the mixed background of C57BL/6 and 129 strains

#### 3.5.2.4. Genotyping

Animals were genotyped by standard PCR with a reverse primer for the end of the MA and a forward primer for the boundary between the SA and MA that differs in the WT and in the KI form due to the insertion of a random sequence in the initial segment of the MA of the latter (Table 3.1). The homologous insertion of the engineered sequence was also confirmed by the amplification of a ~1.5 kb fragment by standard PCR using a primer against a region flanking, but not included in the SA, and a primer against a sequence flanking the Neo cassette that is not present in the mouse genome (Figure 3.1 A,B).

#### 3.5.2.5. Neo cassette deletion

The targeting vector included a Neo cassette containing the Neo resistance gene and its promoter flanked by two FRTR sites to allow the selection of ES cells that incorporated the plasmid and were therefore resistant to geneticin/G148. In order to prevent protein expression issues, the Neo cassette was eliminated by crossing the *knock-in* mice with Rosa FLP transgenic mice which express the FLP recombinase, an enzyme that recognizes the two FRTR2 sites and excises the sequence flanked by them. Confirmation of the presence of the FLP gene and of deletion of the Neo cassette was obtained by standard PCR (Primers shown in Table 3.1). In animals in which the Neo cassette was deleted, the fragment amplified by PCR was substantially smaller since it did not include the sequence between the two FRTR2 sites.

# 3.5.3. Behavioral characterization of stargazin V143L knock-in mice

In order to study how the mutation in stargazin could interfere with its function and consequently be contributing to disease development, we characterized selected behavioral features of these mice. Considering brain regions that are affected in intellectual disability and/or SCZ and also the expression patterns of stargazin in the brain, we performed a set of behavioral tests that are dependent on those regions. The behavior analysis was divided in three main categories: locomotor activity, anxiety-like tests and cognitive performance tests.

#### 3.5.3.1. Locomotor activity tests

Stargazin is highly expressed in the cerebellum, a brain region that is extremely important for balance and coordination. In fact, *stargazer* mice, lacking stargazin expression, present ataxic gait. To determine whether the ID-associated stargazin mutation, V143L, affected locomotor activity and motor function/learning, Stg<sup>ID</sup> *knock-in* mice were tested in the rotarod apparatus and in the open field arena.

#### 3.5.3.1.1. Rotarod

Motor coordination and learning were evaluated with a rotarod apparatus (Med Associates) that accelerates from 4 to 40 rpm in 5 minutes. Each animal was tested for three trials in two different days. Latency to fall (in seconds) was determined for each trial and averaged for each day. The improvement in performance in the second day was considered motor learning.

#### 3.5.3.1.2. Open-field

Spontaneous locomotor activity was assessed in a 40x40 cm open-field arena subjected to 100 lux of illumination. The total distance traveled (m), speed, latency to enter the center and the time spent in the center were automatically determined Ethovision (Noldus, Netherlands). Activity was quantified over a period of 60 minutes.

#### 3.5.3.2. Anxiety-like behavior tests

3.5.3.2.1. Elevated plus maze

The elevated plus maze consists of a cross-shaped platform, containing four arms, that is elevated from the ground; two of the arms are enclosed by walls whereas the other two are open and thus subjected to bright illumination (100 lux). The animals initiated the test in the center of the maze and their preference for the open or closed arms, as well as the latency to enter each of them, was evaluated for 10 minutes.

#### 3.5.3.3. Cognitive behavior test

Stargazin plays an important role in synaptic plasticity and it is highly expressed in regions associated to memory and learning. Furthermore, the *knock-in* mice generated in this work carry a mutation that is associated with intellectual disability. Therefore, one of the main goals of this work was to assess the effect of this mutation in cognition and further study the importance of stargazin for these processes. To do so, we evaluated the performance of these mice in the T-maze, in a spontaneous alternation task correlated to spatial working memory.

#### 3.5.3.3.1. T-maze

The T-maze is a T-shaped apparatus used for several types of cognition tests. One of the most common tests performed in this maze is the spontaneous alternation task. It is based on the observation that, when placed in the base of the arm (base of the T), the animal rapidly chooses one arm, left or right. If subjected to a second round, most of the animals tend to choose the previously unexplored arm in order to look for food or shelter. This is called spontaneous alternate in a second round due to the inability to recall which arm was visited in the first place.

Thus, in this test, the animals were allowed to choose an arm, where they were restricted for 30 seconds. After additional 30 seconds, the animals were re-placed in the base of the T, and repeated the task. If two different arms were visited, spontaneous alternation was considered; on the contrary, if the same arm was visited twice, no alternation occurred. After five trials, the percentage of alternation was compared with a percentage of 50%, *i. e.*, to randomness.

# 3.5.3.4. Social behavior test

## 3.5.3.4.1. Nesting behavior

To assess the nesting behavior, the animals were transferred to individual cages about one hour before the dark phase. A cotton disk was added to the cage and in the next morning the nests built with the provided material were evaluated from 1 to 5 using the following rating scale: 1 – Untouched nest; 2 – Nesting partially torn (50-90% intact); 3 – Less than half of the material remain intact, shredded material dispersed in the cage (50-90% shredded); 4 – Flat nest with walls (for less than 50% of its circumference), more than 90% of the material is torn and the material is gathered in one place; 5 – More than 90% of the material is shredded, nest is a crater with high walls (for more than 50% of its circumference) (Deacon, 2006). The evaluation of the nests was performed by seven observers.

# Table 3.1 Primers

Use	Section	Sequence
SA amplification primer (FW)	3.5.1.1.	5'GGTACCGCCTCCGTTGACTGGCATTC3'
SA amplification primer (RV)	3.5.1.1.	5'GGCGCGCGGGCCCCCCTTAAAGACTCTCCATGGCC3'
MA amplification primer (FW)	3.5.1.1.	5'GGTACCGGGCCCGGTGCAATACACGCCCTCTCCTTACACCGCTAAACC3'
MA amplification primer (RV)	3.5.1.1.	5'GGCGCGCCCCCTTTCCTTAGAGACAGGAGG3'
Mutagenesis primers for the V143L mutation in the MA (FW)	3.5.1.1.	5'GCTGGCATCTTCTTCCTGTCTGCAGGTAAGGC3'
Mutagenesis primers for the V143L mutation in the MA (RV)	3.5.1.1.	5'CCTGCCTTACCTGCAGACAGGAAGAAGATGCC3'
pNAPP amplification primer with LA- homologous overhangs (FW)	3.5.1.2.1.	5'GCGGCCGCGCCACTTGGCCCTGCCTACTGCTGGCAGTCAC
		AGATGCAAATCCAGTTCCCTAAGCGGCCGCCACCGCG3'
pNAPP amplification primer with LA- homologous overhangs (RV)	3.5.1.2.1.	5'TTAATTAAGAGGGCAGAGGGCAAGTGCTGTGGGTG
		GGCCTGGTGTCCTGAAAATTACAGCCCTTAATTAACCGGTCG3′
Genotyping primer (Common SA sequence) (FW)	3.5.2.4	5'GCTACGGTCAGGTTCCAGCC3'
Genotyping primer specific for WT form of <i>CACNG2</i> (RV)	3.5.2.4	5'GAGAGGACGGAGGGTCCCTT3'
Genotyping primer specific for KI form of <i>CACNG2</i> (RV)	3.5.2.4	5'GCGTGTATTGCACCGGGCC3'
Homologous insertion confirmation primer (outside the targeted sequence) (FW)	3.5.2.4	5'GGCAGCTGGGTCATGACGCC3'
Homologous insertion confirmation primer (LRFNO – flanking Neo cassette) (RV)	3.5.2.4	5'AGG AAC TTC GCG CTA TAA CTT CG3'
Genotyping primer for FLP (FW)	3.5.2.5.	5'CACTGATATTGTAAGTAGTTTGC3'
Genotyping primer for FLP (RV)	3.5.2.5	5'CTAGTG CGAAGTAGTGATCAGG3'
Neo cassette deletion confirmation primer (FW)	3.5.2.5	5'GAGTGCTGGCATCTTCTTCCTG3'
Neo cassette deletion confirmation primer (RV)	3.5.2.5	5'GAGGGCAGAGGGCAAGTGCTGT3'

# **CHAPTER 4**

Closing remarks and Future Perspective
Psychiatric disorders present a significant genetic overlap as many common circuits and gene alterations have been identified in different disorders. Recently, glutamatergic synapses have been on the spotlight in the context of these disorders due to the identification of a substantial number of mutations in genes encoding synaptic networks components (Fromer *et al.*, 2014; Hamdan *et al.*, 2011; Kirov *et al.*, 2012; Krumm *et al.*, 2014; Network and Pathway Analysis Subgroup of Psychiatric Genomics, 2015; Purcell *et al.*, 2014; Schizophrenia Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics, 2014). The association of SNPs and CNVs in the *CACNG2* gene with psychiatric disorders has suggested a role for stargazin in these disorders (Ament et al., 2015; Drummond et al., 2013; Liu et al., 2008; Nissen et al., 2012; Wilson et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2013). Interestingly, a recent study reported four ID cases caused by microdeletions in chromosome 17q24.2, where the genes *CACNG1, 4* and *5*, which code for other TARPs, are located. Furthermore, all of these patients presented seizures and half of those experienced hallucinations and mood swings (Vergult et al., 2012). Recently, a missense mutation was identified in an 8 year-old non-syndromic intellectual disability patient, V143L, and was shown to affect the interaction with AMPAR and to reduce both total and surface levels of GluA1(Hamdan et al., 2011).

In order to study the role of stargazin in psychiatric disorders we searched for mutations in the exons of the *CACNG2* gene from psychiatric disorder patients from the Portuguese Island Collection. We identified a missense mutation in the third exon of the *CACNG2* gene in a SCZ patient. Analysis of DNA sequences from other family members showed this mutation was inherited from his mother who suffered from major depression. The mutation was not found in any of the other, non-affected, family members. Herein we evaluated the effect of these mutations on stargazin function, by expressing the disease-associated stargazin variants in dissociated cortical neurons where endogenous stargazin was depleted by interference RNA. As predicted by several computational tools, both the mutations affect stargazin function. However, expression of disease-associated stargazin variants results in shared and distinct cellular phenotypes

## Disease-associated mutations produce shared and distinct effects on stargazin function

Stargazin-AMPAR interaction was shown to be important not only for the traffic of AMPAR to the surface (Chen et al., 2000; Vandenberghe et al., 2005a) but also for their stabilization at the synapse (Chen et al., 2000; Opazo et al., 2010) and for synaptic plasticity (Constals et al., 2015; Louros et al., 2014; Tomita et al., 2005b). In fact, LTP requires the activation of CaMKII which phosphorylates stargazin, enhancing its binding to PSD95 and consequently the synaptic stabilization of AMPAR. On the other hand, once bound to glutamate, AMPAR become desensitized and more mobile due to the dissociation from stargazin, allowing the exchange of desensitized receptors by naïve ones,

and rapid recovery from short-term synaptic depression (Constals et al., 2015). These observations highlight the central role of stargazin in excitatory transmission and synaptic plasticity, and hint at the importance of fine-tuned expression, function and interactions of stargazin with other synaptic components for the maintenance of plasticity mechanisms.

Disease-associated variants of stargazin present altered surface diffusion properties, displaying a more mobile behavior than the WT form of stargazin. Providing the importance of stargazin for the stabilization of AMPAR at the synapses, changes in stargazin mobility likely interfere with synaptic AMPAR function and synaptic plasticity. Indeed, besides impacting the stargazin-mediated trafficking of AMPAR the disease-associated mutations affect the stabilization of AMPAR at synapses. Given that no significant changes in the interaction between stargazin variants and AMPAR were found, we hypothesize that these changes in the interaction with other synaptic proteins. Stargazin interacts with PSD95 in a phosphorylation-dependent manner, and this interaction was shown to be essential for the synaptic immobilization of stargazin and, consequently, for the clustering of AMPAR (Chen et al., 2000). Hereupon, the evaluation of the interaction of these variants with PSD95 and other scaffold proteins would be important to further understand how stargazin variants impact AMPAR synaptic expression.

The chronic blockade of neuronal activity results in a stargazin-dependent homeostatic increase of GluA1-containing AMPAR at the cell surface (Louros et al., 2014); however, the ID-associated stargazin mutation prevents synaptic scaling of AMPAR. Oppositely, although the SCZ-associated mutation affects the basal traffic of AMPAR it does not prevent synaptic scaling. Interestingly, contrarily to what was observed in neurons expressing the SCZ-associated mutation, the effects mediated by the ID-associated mutation in the trafficking and stabilization of AMPAR are not reverted by tianeptine, the anti-depressant drug that increases stargazin phosphorylation and consequently its interaction with PSD95. These observations suggest that the mechanisms underlying the effects of the two stargazin mutations in AMPAR function may differ, and that the SCZ-associated variant is more responsive to stimuli that enhance stargazin function.

Additionally, the SCZ-linked mutation (but not the ID-associated one) affects both dendritic arborization and the number of inhibitory synapses onto neurons expressing the Stg<sup>SCZ</sup> mutation. These alterations potentially contribute to changes in the neuronal circuitry and to unbalanced excitation/inhibition ratio, respectively. In agreement with these observations are the reports of a decrease in the volume of cortical gray matter of SCZ patients, attributed mainly to the regression of synapses and changes in the dendritic arborization (Bennett, 2011b).

Also, an increase in the ratio of excitation/inhibition in the mouse prefrontal cortex was described to induce an impairment in social function and cognition without motor abnormalities or increased anxiety (Yizhar et al., 2011).

The observation of distinct effects of these mutations, both located in the same transmembrane domain, on the function of stargazin is noteworthy. These observations corroborate the reports on the overlap of susceptibility genes and symptoms among different disorders (Cross-Disorder Group of the Psychiatric Genomics, 2013; Fromer et al., 2014; Network and Pathway Analysis Subgroup of Psychiatric Genomics, 2015) and highlight the importance of identifying disease-associated variants and establishing genotype/phenotype correlations. The identification of novel stargazin interactors that are associated to psychiatric disorders creates new opportunities to further explore these effects of stargazin mutations on stargazin function.

## The Stg<sup>ID</sup>knock-in mice present behavior phenotypes associated to psychiatric disorders symptomatology

The generation of the *knock-in* mouse for the ID-associated mutation aimed at further studying the effect of this mutation on stargazin function and at correlating these effects with behavioral phenotypes that are relevant for psychiatric disorders. Stg<sup>ID</sup> *knock-in* mice were generated by gene targeting, a technique that allowed the directed targeting of a single nucleotide in the third exon of the *CACNG2* gene. In cultured cortical neurons the surface expression of both variants was decreased, which is in agreement with the observed decrease of stargazin levels in the post-synaptic densities of StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup>mice (personal communication, Tiago Rondão).

Considering the expression pattern of stargazin and the behavioral features more often associated to psychiatric disorder models, we evaluated the behavior of the Stg<sup>ID</sup>*knock-in* mice in tasks that assess locomotor activity, anxiety-like behaviors, motor balance, nesting behavior and cognition.

StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> female mice presented increased locomotor activity, characterized by increased speed and total distance traveled in an open field arena. Hyperactivity is a common feature in genetic mouse models harboring mutations or lacking the expression of ID- and SCZ-associated proteins, including *knock-out* mice for GluA1 (Wiedholz et al., 2008) and *knock-out* mice for the dopamine transporter (DAT) which reuptakes dopamine into presynaptic terminals. The hyperactivity in DAT *knock-out* model was further increased by blockade of NMDAR with MK801, corroborating a functional interaction between dopaminergic and glutamatergic systems in the regulation of this phenotype (Gainetdinov et al., 2001). Accordingly, another study showed that the increase in locomotor activity mediated by PCP and amphetamine could be reversed by antipsychotic treatment (Freed et al., 1984; Powell and Miyakawa, 2006) Interestingly, a subset of schizophrenic patients have been described to display psychomotor agitation, which includes stereotypic movements and hyperactivity (Powell and Miyakawa, 2006) and several reports indicate a higher incidence of attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in intellectual disability patients than in the general population [reviewed in (Seager and O'Brien, 2003)], and syndromes in which intellectual disability is a common feature, such as tuberous sclerosis and fragile X, also include attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) as a major symptom [reviewed in (de Vries *et al.*, 2005; McLennan *et al.*, 2011)].

Stargazin is highly expressed in the cerebellum, a brain region implicated in motor function and learning. Thus, we evaluated the performance of Stg<sup>ID</sup>*knock-in* models in the rotarod. Although no differences were observed in the motor balance between genotypes, both StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> present motor learning deficits, since contrarily to WT animals they do not significantly improve their performance in the second day. Other cerebellum-dependent tasks could be performed to study the effect of this mutation in cerebellum functioning, including the balance beam, footprint pattern or the acquisition of eyeblink conditioning, a task that is impaired in the *stargazer* mice, which lack surface expression of AMPAR in cerebellar granule cells (Hashimoto et al., 1999). The striking effect of the ID-associated mutation in the trafficking of AMPAR in cultured cortical neurons prompts the evaluation of the AMPAR expression in the post-synaptic densities of different brain regions of the Stg<sup>ID</sup>*knock-in* mice. Analogously to what was observed in the *stargazer* mice, a decrease in the synaptic levels of AMPAR in cerebellar neurons is a plausible explanation for the motor learning deficits presented by the Stg<sup>ID</sup> mice.

The role of stargazin in several forms of plasticity anticipates its importance in memory and learning processes. Working spatial memory was evaluated using the spontaneous alternation task in the T-maze. In this test, whereas WT animals alternate significantly more than 50%, StgV143<sup>+/-</sup> and StgV143L<sup>+/+</sup> mice alternate randomly, reflecting the inability to recall which arm was previously visited. Electrophysiological analysis of LTP and LTD induction in cortical and/or hippocampal slices from these mice would be important to elucidate functional changes at the basis of cognitive defects. Interestingly, as described in the Chapter 2, stargazin interacts with several proteins implicated in cognitive disorders, including ARC, IQSEC2 and mGluR5, with a role in synaptic plasticity. Analysis of the interactome of Stg<sup>ID</sup> using brain samples from these mice or heterologous systems (to differentiate between direct and indirect interactions) would contribute to unravel the mechanisms and/or brain regions underlying this phenotype.

Several other behavior tests have been developed to evaluate cognitive function, namely the novel object recognition, the Barnes maze and the Morris water maze. A further behavior characterization is necessary to evaluate which domains of memory and learning are affected by the StgV143L mutation.

Providing that many of the mouse models for psychiatric disorders present social deficits, we evaluated social behavior of the Stg<sup>ID</sup> knock-in mice. Besides the nesting behavior, that is impaired in StgV143L<sup>+/-</sup> and StgV143L<sup>+/+,</sup> other tests that evaluate social behavior are currently being performed at our laboratory, namely the three-chamber social test and the dyadic social interaction test.

Social interaction and social discrimination are important features to be evaluated in any model of psychiatric disorders since social dysfunction is a hallmark for most of them.

Interestingly, in the case of SCZ, social dysfunction is often noticeable years before the diagnosis and is considered a robust predictor of the development of SCZ. A correlation between social function and the frontal cortex has been made early in the history of SCZ, when Kraepelin recognized that patients with frontal lesions showed emotional flattening and social withdrawal similarly to SCZ patients (Chemerinski et al., 2002). Accordingly, imaging studies showed that the morphology of the ventral frontal cortex has a significant association to social dysfunction in a group of SCZ patients (Chemerinski et al., 2002).

## Future perspectives

Taking into consideration the pattern of effects elicited by the disease-associated variants on stargazin function and providing that StgID *knock-in* mice display behavior phenotypes correlated to symptoms that are transversal to ID and SCZ, we believe that the comparison of cellular and behavior phenotypes displayed by mice expressing the distinct variants would largely contribute to the elucidation of the mechanisms implicated in both disorders. Furthermore, it would allow the correspondence between behavior phenotypes and the cellular changes that are specific for one variant versus the other. Thus, the generation of the Stg<sup>SCZ</sup>*knock-in* mice would constitute a valuable tool for further studying the role of stargazin in the pathogenesis of psychiatric disorders.

Besides the tests used to evaluate behavior of the Stg<sup>ID</sup> *knock-in* mice in this brief characterization, many others should be considered for the clear and robust characterization of both mouse lines, namely tests focusing on the cognitive function and on sensorimotor gating. Furthermore, given the important role of stargazin on the experience-dependent plasticity of the retinogeniculate synapse, it would be particularly interesting to test the visual perception on these animals.

The numerous reports on changes in the morphology of several brain regions in SCZ (Bennett, 2011b), the described effect of stargazin in activity-dependent dendritogenesis of immature neocortical pyramidal neurons (Hamad et al., 2014), and the observation of impaired dendritic arborization in cortical neurons where stargazin has been depleted or expressing the SCZ-linked

stargazin variant, highlight the need for evaluating dendritic arborization and spine morphology in mice harboring disease-associated stargazin variants.

The effect of the disease-associated variants on AMPAR trafficking and homeostatic plasticity likely result on functional alterations in synaptic transmission *in vivo*. These observations instigate the electrophysiological analysis of functional alterations in circuits in brain regions where stargazin is expressed, namely hippocampus, cortex and thalamus. The recording of frequency, amplitudes and kinetics of mEPSCs and mIPSCs and the AMPAR/NMDAR ratio in cortex and hippocampus would help unveiling defects on basal synapse function and allow determining whether the excitation/inhibition balance is compromised in these mice.

Considering the role of stargazin for the experience-dependent development of the retinogeniculate synapse (Louros et al., 2014), analyzing activity-dependent remodeling of this synapse in Stg<sup>ID</sup> *knock-in* mice would be relevant.

Despite the shared effect of stargazin mutations on AMPAR trafficking and synapse stabilization, only the SCZ-linked mutation effects are reverted by tianeptine. This antidepressant drug, which increases stargazin phosphorylation and thus the levels of surface AMPAR, has also been proposed as a cognitive enhancer since it was shown to have a beneficial effect on learning and working memory (Jaffard et al., 1991). Furthermore, tianeptine also showed beneficial effects on stress-induced defects on working memory and on hippocampal neuronal remodeling. Interestingly, stargazin has been shown to play a role in stress coping. In fact, a study involving monkeys showed that learning to cope with stress induced by social isolation protects these animals from subsequent stress-induced deficits in emotionality tests. These observations were accompanied by an increase in the stargazin mRNA levels in the anterior cingulate cortex (Lee et al., 2016).

In collaboration with Dr. Célia Carvalhos's group (University of Azores), a psychological assessment of the susceptibility to positive, negative and neutral stressors (Carvalho et al., 2015) was performed for the SCZ patient where the missense mutation on the *CACNG2* gene was identified, and for his mother who suffers from major depression and also carries the mutation. Interestingly, although neither of the two individuals showed alterations in the response to positive or negative stressors, they presented an exacerbated vulnerability to neutral stressors in comparison with healthy individuals (Data not shown).

Hereupon, we suggest that the potential of tianeptine in the reversion of the defects associated to the disease-linked mutations should be addressed. To do so, we propose the evaluation of the effect of tianeptine on the biochemical, functional and behavioral features of the mice harboring the disease-associated mutations. Taken together, our data provide evidence for a role of stargazin in cellular and behavioral phenotypes that correlate to psychiatric disorders, which prompts the research and development of therapies that target the pathways in which stargazin takes part.

The observation of common and distinct effects mediated by the two mutations in the *CACNG2* gene corroborates evidence suggesting genetic overlap between different disorders, and highlights that the correlation of risk gene variants to specific disease endophenotypes would stem the development of more personalized and efficient therapeutic strategies.

## **CHAPTER 5**

References

Abdeljalil, J., Hamid, M., Abdel-Mouttalib, O., Stephane, R., Raymond, R., Johan, A., Jose, S., Pierre, C., Serge, P., 2005. The optomotor response: a robust first-line visual screening method for mice. *Vision research* 45, 1439-1446.

Aberg, K., Saetre, P., Lindholm, E., Ekholm, B., Pettersson, U., Adolfsson, R., Jazin, E., 2006. Human QKI, a new candidate gene for schizophrenia involved in myelination. *American journal of medical genetics. Part B, Neuropsychiatric genetics : the official publication of the International Society of Psychiatric Genetics* 141B, 84-90.

Adams, R.A., Stephan, K.E., Brown, H.R., Frith, C.D., Friston, K.J., 2013. The computational anatomy of psychosis. *Frontiers in psychiatry* 4, 47.

Adzhubei, I., Jordan, D.M., Sunyaev, S.R., 2013. Predicting functional effect of human missense mutations using PolyPhen-2. *Current protocols in human genetics* Chapter 7, Unit7 20.

Adzhubei, I.A., Schmidt, S., Peshkin, L., Ramensky, V.E., Gerasimova, A., Bork, P., Kondrashov, A.S., Sunyaev, S.R., 2010. A method and server for predicting damaging missense mutations. *Nat Methods* 7, 248-249.

Afifi, M., 2007. Gender differences in mental health. Singapore medical journal 48, 385-391.

Allen, R.M., Young, S.J., 1978. Phencyclidine-induced psychosis. The American journal of psychiatry 135, 1081-1084.

Alstott, J., Breakspear, M., Hagmann, P., Cammoun, L., Sporns, O., 2009. Modeling the impact of lesions in the human brain. *PLoS computational biology* 5, e1000408.

Ament, S.A., Szelinger, S., Glusman, G., Ashworth, J., Hou, L., Akula, N., Shekhtman, T., Badner, J.A., Brunkow, M.E., Mauldin, D.E., Stittrich, A.B., Rouleau, K., Detera-Wadleigh, S.D., Nurnberger, J.I., Jr., Edenberg, H.J., Gershon, E.S., Schork, N., Bipolar Genome, S., Price, N.D., Gelinas, R., Hood, L., Craig, D., McMahon, F.J., Kelsoe, J.R., Roach, J.C., 2015. Rare variants in neuronal excitability genes influence risk for bipolar disorder. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 112, 3576-3581.

American Psychiatry Association, A., 2013. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5).

Anggono, V., Clem, R.L., Huganir, R.L., 2011. PICK1 loss of function occludes homeostatic synaptic scaling. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 31, 2188-2196.

Anggono, V., Huganir, R.L., 2012. Regulation of AMPA receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. *Current opinion in neurobiology* 22, 461-469.

Anticevic, A., Lisman, J., 2017. How Can Global Alteration of Excitation/Inhibition Balance Lead to the Local Dysfunctions That Underlie Schizophrenia? *Biological psychiatry*.

Antunes, M., Biala, G., 2012. The novel object recognition memory: neurobiology, test procedure, and its modifications. *Cognitive processing* 13, 93-110.

Arendt, K.L., Zhang, Z., Ganesan, S., Hintze, M., Shin, M.M., Tang, Y., Cho, A., Graef, I.A., Chen, L., 2015. Calcineurin mediates homeostatic synaptic plasticity by regulating retinoic acid synthesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 112, E5744-5752.

Athanasakis, E., Licastro, D., Faletra, F., Fabretto, A., Dipresa, S., Vozzi, D., Morgan, A., d'Adamo, A.P., Pecile, V., Biarnes, X., Gasparini, P., 2014. Next generation sequencing in nonsyndromic intellectual disability: from a negative molecular karyotype to a possible causative mutation detection. *American journal of medical genetics. Part A* 164A, 170-176.

Babiec, W.E., Guglietta, R., Jami, S.A., Morishita, W., Malenka, R.C., O'Dell, T.J., 2014. Ionotropic NMDA receptor signaling is required for the induction of long-term depression in the mouse hippocampal CA1 region. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 34, 5285-5290.

Banke, T.G., Bowie, D., Lee, H., Huganir, R.L., Schousboe, A., Traynelis, S.F., 2000. Control of GluR1 AMPA receptor function by cAMP-dependent protein kinase. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 20, 89-102.

Barad, Z., Shevtsova, O., Arbuthnott, G.W., Leitch, B., 2012. Selective loss of AMPA receptors at corticothalamic synapses in the epileptic stargazer mouse. *Neuroscience* 217, 19-31.

Barbon, A., Fumagalli, F., La Via, L., Caracciolo, L., Racagni, G., Riva, M.A., Barlati, S., 2007. Chronic phencyclidine administration reduces the expression and editing of specific glutamate receptors in rat prefrontal cortex. *Experimental neurology* 208, 54-62.

Barria, A., Derkach, V., Soderling, T., 1997. Identification of the Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II regulatory phosphorylation site in the alpha-amino-3-hydroxyl-5-methyl-4-isoxazole-propionate-type glutamate receptor. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 272, 32727-32730.

Bats, C., Groc, L., Choquet, D., 2007. The interaction between Stargazin and PSD-95 regulates AMPA receptor surface trafficking. *Neuron* 53, 719-734.

Bedoukian, M.A., Weeks, A.M., Partin, K.M., 2006. Different domains of the AMPA receptor direct stargazin-mediated trafficking and stargazin-mediated modulation of kinetics. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 281, 23908-23921.

Bedoukian, M.A., Whitesell, J.D., Peterson, E.J., Clay, C.M., Partin, K.M., 2008. The stargazin C terminus encodes an intrinsic and transferable membrane sorting signal. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 283, 1597-1600.

Beique, J.C., Na, Y., Kuhl, D., Worley, P.F., Huganir, R.L., 2011. Arc-dependent synapse-specific homeostatic plasticity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 108, 816-821.

Belforte, J.E., Zsiros, V., Sklar, E.R., Jiang, Z., Yu, G., Li, Y., Quinlan, E.M., Nakazawa, K., 2010. Postnatal NMDA receptor ablation in corticolimbic interneurons confers schizophrenia-like phenotypes. *Nature neuroscience* **13**, 76-83.

Ben-Yaacov, A., Gillor, M., Haham, T., Parsai, A., Qneibi, M., Stern-Bach, Y., 2017. Molecular Mechanism of AMPA Receptor Modulation by TARP/Stargazin. *Neuron*.

Bendikov, I., Nadri, C., Amar, S., Panizzutti, R., De Miranda, J., Wolosker, H., Agam, G., 2007. A CSF and postmortem brain study of D-serine metabolic parameters in schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia research* 90, 41-51.

Beneyto, M., Meador-Woodruff, J.H., 2006. Lamina-specific abnormalities of AMPA receptor trafficking and signaling molecule transcripts in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. *Synapse* 60, 585-598.

Beneyto, M., Meador-Woodruff, J.H., 2008. Lamina-specific abnormalities of NMDA receptor-associated postsynaptic protein transcripts in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Neuropsychopharmacology : official publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology* 33, 2175-2186.

Bennett, M.R., 2011a. The prefrontal-limbic network in depression: A core pathology of synapse regression. *Progress in neurobiology* 93, 457-467.

Bennett, M.R., 2011b. Schizophrenia: susceptibility genes, dendritic-spine pathology and gray matter loss. *Prog Neurobiol* 95, 275-300.

Bergmann, C., Zerres, K., Senderek, J., Rudnik-Schoneborn, S., Eggermann, T., Hausler, M., Mull, M., Ramaekers, V.T., 2003. Oligophrenin 1 (OPHN1) gene mutation causes syndromic X-linked mental retardation with epilepsy, rostral ventricular enlargement and cerebellar hypoplasia. *Brain : a journal of neurology* 126, 1537-1544.

Berkel, S., Marshall, C.R., Weiss, B., Howe, J., Roeth, R., Moog, U., Endris, V., Roberts, W., Szatmari, P., Pinto, D., Bonin, M., Riess, A., Engels, H., Sprengel, R., Scherer, S.W., Rappold, G.A., 2010. Mutations in the SHANK2 synaptic scaffolding gene in autism spectrum disorder and mental retardation. *Nature genetics* 42, 489-491.

Blundell, J., Blaiss, C.A., Etherton, M.R., Espinosa, F., Tabuchi, K., Walz, C., Bolliger, M.F., Sudhof, T.C., Powell, C.M., 2010. Neuroligin-1 deletion results in impaired spatial memory and increased repetitive behavior. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 30, 2115-2129.

Braff, D., Stone, C., Callaway, E., Geyer, M., Glick, I., Bali, L., 1978. Prestimulus effects on human startle reflex in normals and schizophrenics. *Psychophysiology* 15, 339-343.

Breese, C.R., Freedman, R., Leonard, S.S., 1995. Glutamate receptor subtype expression in human postmortem brain tissue from schizophrenics and alcohol abusers. *Brain research* 674, 82-90.

Brisch, R., Saniotis, A., Wolf, R., Bielau, H., Bernstein, H.G., Steiner, J., Bogerts, B., Braun, K., Jankowski, Z., Kumaratilake, J., Henneberg, M., Gos, T., 2014. The role of dopamine in schizophrenia from a neurobiological and evolutionary perspective: old fashioned, but still in vogue. *Frontiers in psychiatry* 5, 47.

Brody, S.A., Dulawa, S.C., Conquet, F., Geyer, M.A., 2004. Assessment of a prepulse inhibition deficit in a mutant mouse lacking mGlu5 receptors. *Molecular psychiatry* 9, 35-41.

Bruchez, M.P., 2005. Turning all the lights on: quantum dots in cellular assays. *Current opinion in chemical biology* 9, 533-537.

Cais, O., Herguedas, B., Krol, K., Cull-Candy, S.G., Farrant, M., Greger, I.H., 2014. Mapping the interaction sites between AMPA receptors and TARPs reveals a role for the receptor N-terminal domain in channel gating. *Cell reports* 9, 728-740.

Camacho-Garcia, R.J., Planelles, M.I., Margalef, M., Pecero, M.L., Martinez-Leal, R., Aguilera, F., Vilella, E., Martinez-Mir, A., Scholl, F.G., 2012. Mutations affecting synaptic levels of neurexin-1beta in autism and mental retardation. *Neurobiology of disease* 47, 135-143.

Candiano, G., Bruschi, M., Musante, L., Santucci, L., Ghiggeri, G.M., Carnemolla, B., Orecchia, P., Zardi, L., Righetti, P.G., 2004. Blue silver: a very sensitive colloidal Coomassie G-250 staining for proteome analysis. *Electrophoresis* 25, 1327-1333.

Carlisle, H.J., Manzerra, P., Marcora, E., Kennedy, M.B., 2008. SynGAP regulates steady-state and activity-dependent phosphorylation of cofilin. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 28, 13673-13683.

Carlo, S., Verpelli, C., 2016. Neuronal and synaptic dysfunction in autism spectrum disorder and intellectual disability.

Carroll, L.S., Woolf, R., Ibrahim, Y., Williams, H.J., Dwyer, S., Walters, J., Kirov, G., O'Donovan, M.C., Owen, M.J., 2016. Mutation screening of SCN2A in schizophrenia and identification of a novel loss-of-function mutation. *Psychiatric genetics* 26, 60-65.

Cartmell, J., Schoepp, D.D., 2000. Regulation of neurotransmitter release by metabotropic glutamate receptors. *Journal of neurochemistry* 75, 889-907.

Carvalho, C., Motta, C., Sousa, M., Cabral, J., Carvalho, A., Peixoto, E., 2015. Development and Validation of the Response to Stressful Situations Scale in the General Population. *International Journal of Social, Behavioral, Educational, Economic, Business and Industrial Engineering* 9, 1607-1614.

Chang, H.J., Lane, H.Y., Tsai, G.E., 2014. NMDA pathology and treatment of schizophrenia. *Current pharmaceutical design* 20, 5118-5126.

Charman, T., Pickles, A., Simonoff, E., Chandler, S., Loucas, T., Baird, G., 2011. IQ in children with autism spectrum disorders: data from the Special Needs and Autism Project (SNAP). *Psychological medicine* 41, 619-627.

Chelly, J., Khelfaoui, M., Francis, F., Cherif, B., Bienvenu, T., 2006. Genetics and pathophysiology of mental retardation. *European journal of human genetics : EJHG* 14, 701-713.

Chemerinski, E., Nopoulos, P.C., Crespo-Facorro, B., Andreasen, N.C., Magnotta, V., 2002. Morphology of the ventral frontal cortex in schizophrenia: relationship with social dysfunction. *Biological psychiatry* 52, 1-8.

Chen, L., Chetkovich, D.M., Petralia, R.S., Sweeney, N.T., Kawasaki, Y., Wenthold, R.J., Bredt, D.S., Nicoll, R.A., 2000. Stargazin regulates synaptic targeting of AMPA receptors by two distinct mechanisms. *Nature* 408, 936-943.

Chen, N., Schors, R.C., Smit, A. B., 2011. A 1D-PAGE/LC-ESI Linear Ion Trap Orbitrap MS Approach for the Analysis of Synapse Proteomes and Synaptic Protein Complexes . In Li, K. W., (Ed), Neuroproteomics.

Chetkovich, D.M., Chen, L., Stocker, T.J., Nicoll, R.A., Bredt, D.S., 2002. Phosphorylation of the postsynaptic density-95 (PSD-95)/discs large/zona occludens-1 binding site of stargazin regulates binding to PSD-95 and synaptic targeting of AMPA receptors. *J Neurosci* 22, 5791-5796.

Cho, C.H., St-Gelais, F., Zhang, W., Tomita, S., Howe, J.R., 2007. Two families of TARP isoforms that have distinct effects on the kinetic properties of AMPA receptors and synaptic currents. *Neuron* 55, 890-904.

Choi, J., Ko, J., Park, E., Lee, J.R., Yoon, J., Lim, S., Kim, E., 2002. Phosphorylation of stargazin by protein kinase A regulates its interaction with PSD-95. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 277, 12359-12363.

Choi, Y., Sims, G.E., Murphy, S., Miller, J.R., Chan, A.P., 2012. Predicting the functional effect of amino acid substitutions and indels. *PloS one* 7, e46688.

Chu, T.T., Liu, Y., 2010. An integrated genomic analysis of gene-function correlation on schizophrenia susceptibility genes. *Journal of human genetics* 55, 285-292.

Chung, H.J., Xia, J., Scannevin, R.H., Zhang, X., Huganir, R.L., 2000. Phosphorylation of the AMPA receptor subunit GluR2 differentially regulates its interaction with PDZ domain-containing proteins. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 20, 7258-7267.

Cichon, S., Nothen, M.M., Stober, G., Schroers, R., Albus, M., Maier, W., Rietschel, M., Korner, J., Weigelt, B., Franzek, E., Wildenauer, D., Fimmers, R., Propping, P., 1996. Systematic screening for mutations in the 5'-regulatory region of the human dopamine D1 receptor (DRD1) gene in patients with schizophrenia and bipolar affective disorder. *American journal of medical genetics* 67, 424-428.

Clement, J.P., Aceti, M., Creson, T.K., Ozkan, E.D., Shi, Y., Reish, N.J., Almonte, A.G., Miller, B.H., Wiltgen, B.J., Miller, C.A., Xu, X., Rumbaugh, G., 2012. Pathogenic SYNGAP1 mutations impair cognitive development by disrupting maturation of dendritic spine synapses. *Cell* 151, 709-723.

Clement, J.P., Ozkan, E.D., Aceti, M., Miller, C.A., Rumbaugh, G., 2013. SYNGAP1 links the maturation rate of excitatory synapses to the duration of critical-period synaptic plasticity. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 33, 10447-10452.

Cochoy, D.M., Kolevzon, A., Kajiwara, Y., Schoen, M., Pascual-Lucas, M., Lurie, S., Buxbaum, J.D., Boeckers, T.M., Schmeisser, M.J., 2015. Phenotypic and functional analysis of SHANK3 stop mutations identified in individuals with ASD and/or ID. *Molecular autism* 6, 23.

Cohen, S.M., Tsien, R.W., Goff, D.C., Halassa, M.M., 2015. The impact of NMDA receptor hypofunction on GABAergic neurons in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia research* 167, 98-107.

Cokic, B., Stein, V., 2008. Stargazin modulates AMPA receptor antagonism. Neuropharmacology 54, 1062-1070.

Conrad, C.D., Galea, L.A., Kuroda, Y., McEwen, B.S., 1996. Chronic stress impairs rat spatial memory on the Y maze, and this effect is blocked by tianeptine pretreatment. *Behavioral neuroscience* 110, 1321-1334.

Constals, A., Penn, A.C., Compans, B., Toulme, E., Phillipat, A., Marais, S., Retailleau, N., Hafner, A.S., Coussen, F., Hosy, E., Choquet, D., 2015. Glutamate-induced AMPA receptor desensitization increases their mobility and modulates short-term plasticity through unbinding from Stargazin. *Neuron* 85, 787-803.

Cordeiro, Q., Siqueira-Roberto, J., Vallada, H., 2010. Association between the SLC6A3 A1343G polymorphism and schizophrenia. *Arquivos de neuro-psiquiatria* 68, 716-719.

Coyle, J.T., Tsai, G., Goff, D., 2003. Converging evidence of NMDA receptor hypofunction in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1003, 318-327.

Creese, I., Burt, D.R., Snyder, S.H., 1976. Dopamine receptor binding predicts clinical and pharmacological potencies of antischizophrenic drugs. *Science* 192, 481-483.

Cross-Disorder Group of the Psychiatric Genomics, C., 2013. Identification of risk loci with shared effects on five major psychiatric disorders: a genome-wide analysis. *Lancet* 381, 1371-1379.

Cuadra, A.E., Kuo, S.H., Kawasaki, Y., Bredt, D.S., Chetkovich, D.M., 2004. AMPA receptor synaptic targeting regulated by stargazin interactions with the Golgi-resident PDZ protein nPIST. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 24, 7491-7502.

Dakoji, S., Tomita, S., Karimzadegan, S., Nicoll, R.A., Bredt, D.S., 2003. Interaction of transmembrane AMPA receptor regulatory proteins with multiple membrane associated guanylate kinases. *Neuropharmacology* 45, 849-856.

Davis, B.A., Isles, A.R., 2014. Modelling the genetic contribution to mental illness: a timely end for the psychiatric rodent? *The European journal of neuroscience* 39, 1933-1942.

Day, R., Nielsen, J.A., Korten, A., Ernberg, G., Dube, K.C., Gebhart, J., Jablensky, A., Leon, C., Marsella, A., Olatawura, M., et al., 1987. Stressful life events preceding the acute onset of schizophrenia: a cross-national study from the World Health Organization. *Culture, medicine and psychiatry* 11, 123-205.

de Sena Cortabitarte, A., Degenhardt, F., Strohmaier, J., Lang, M., Weiss, B., Roeth, R., Giegling, I., Heilmann-Heimbach, S., Hofmann, A., Rujescu, D., Fischer, C., Rietschel, M., Nothen, M.M., Rappold, G.A., Berkel, S., 2017. Investigation of SHANK3 in schizophrenia. *American journal of medical genetics. Part B, Neuropsychiatric genetics : the official publication of the International Society of Psychiatric Genetics.* 

de Vries, P., Humphrey, A., McCartney, D., Prather, P., Bolton, P., Hunt, A., Panel, T.S.C.B.C., 2005. Consensus clinical guidelines for the assessment of cognitive and behavioural problems in Tuberous Sclerosis. *European child & adolescent psychiatry* 14, 183-190.

Deacon, R.M., 2006. Assessing nest building in mice. Nature protocols 1, 1117-1119.

Deacon, R.M., Rawlins, J.N., 2006. T-maze alternation in the rodent. Nature protocols 1, 7-12.

DeLisi, L.E., Shaw, S.H., Crow, T.J., Shields, G., Smith, A.B., Larach, V.W., Wellman, N., Loftus, J., Nanthakumar, B., Razi, K., Stewart, J., Comazzi, M., Vita, A., Heffner, T., Sherrington, R., 2002. A genome-wide scan for linkage to chromosomal regions in 382 sibling pairs with schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder. *The American journal of psychiatry* 159, 803-812.

Deng, F., Price, M.G., Davis, C.F., Mori, M., Burgess, D.L., 2006. Stargazin and other transmembrane AMPA receptor regulating proteins interact with synaptic scaffolding protein MAGI-2 in brain. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 26, 7875-7884.

Deng, X., Shibata, H., Ninomiya, H., Tashiro, N., Iwata, N., Ozaki, N., Fukumaki, Y., 2004. Association study of polymorphisms in the excitatory amino acid transporter 2 gene (SLC1A2) with schizophrenia. *BMC psychiatry* 4, 21.

Deng, X., Shibata, H., Takeuchi, N., Rachi, S., Sakai, M., Ninomiya, H., Iwata, N., Ozaki, N., Fukumaki, Y., 2007. Association study of polymorphisms in the glutamate transporter genes SLC1A1, SLC1A3, and SLC1A6 with schizophrenia. *American journal of medical genetics. Part B, Neuropsychiatric genetics : the official publication of the International Society of Psychiatric Genetics* 144B, 271-278.

Dickman, D.K., Davis, G.W., 2009. The schizophrenia susceptibility gene dysbindin controls synaptic homeostasis. *Science* 326, 1127-1130.

Dolen, G., Bear, M.F., 2008. Role for metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5) in the pathogenesis of fragile X syndrome. *The Journal of physiology* 586, 1503-1508.

Dorfberger, S., Adi-Japha, E., Karni, A., 2009. Sex differences in motor performance and motor learning in children and adolescents: an increasing male advantage in motor learning and consolidation phase gains. *Behavioural brain research* 198, 165-171.

Dracheva, S., McGurk, S.R., Haroutunian, V., 2005. mRNA expression of AMPA receptors and AMPA receptor binding proteins in the cerebral cortex of elderly schizophrenics. *Journal of neuroscience research* 79, 868-878.

Drummond, J.B., Tucholski, J., Haroutunian, V., Meador-Woodruff, J.H., 2013. Transmembrane AMPA receptor regulatory protein (TARP) dysregulation in anterior cingulate cortex in schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia research* 147, 32-38.

Dudchenko, P.A., 2004. An overview of the tasks used to test working memory in rodents. *Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews* 28, 699-709.

Eastwood, S.L., Harrison, P.J., 2005. Decreased expression of vesicular glutamate transporter 1 and complexin II mRNAs in schizophrenia: further evidence for a synaptic pathology affecting glutamate neurons. *Schizophrenia research* 73, 159-172.

Eastwood, S.L., Kerwin, R.W., Harrison, P.J., 1997. Immunoautoradiographic evidence for a loss of alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazole propionate-preferring non-N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptors within the medial temporal lobe in schizophrenia. *Biological psychiatry* 41, 636-643.

Egan, M.F., Goldberg, T.E., Kolachana, B.S., Callicott, J.H., Mazzanti, C.M., Straub, R.E., Goldman, D., Weinberger, D.R., 2001. Effect of COMT Val108/158 Met genotype on frontal lobe function and risk for schizophrenia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 98, 6917-6922.

Ehninger, D., Han, S., Shilyansky, C., Zhou, Y., Li, W., Kwiatkowski, D.J., Ramesh, V., Silva, A.J., 2008. Reversal of learning deficits in a Tsc2+/- mouse model of tuberous sclerosis. *Nature medicine* 14, 843-848.

Ellison-Wright, I., Bullmore, E., 2010. Anatomy of bipolar disorder and schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Schizophrenia research* 117, 1-12.

Endele, S., Rosenberger, G., Geider, K., Popp, B., Tamer, C., Stefanova, I., Milh, M., Kortum, F., Fritsch, A., Pientka, F.K., Hellenbroich, Y., Kalscheuer, V.M., Kohlhase, J., Moog, U., Rappold, G., Rauch, A., Ropers, H.H., von Spiczak, S., Tonnies, H., Villeneuve, N., Villard, L., Zabel, B., Zenker, M., Laube, B., Reis, A., Wieczorek, D., Van Maldergem, L., Kutsche, K., 2010. Mutations in GRIN2A and GRIN2B encoding regulatory subunits of NMDA receptors cause variable neurodevelopmental phenotypes. *Nature genetics* 42, 1021-1026.

Erlenhardt, N., Yu, H., Abiraman, K., Yamasaki, T., Wadiche, J.I., Tomita, S., Bredt, D.S., 2016. Porcupine Controls Hippocampal AMPAR Levels, Composition, and Synaptic Transmission. *Cell reports* 14, 782-794.

Etherton, M.R., Blaiss, C.A., Powell, C.M., Sudhof, T.C., 2009. Mouse neurexin-1alpha deletion causes correlated electrophysiological and behavioral changes consistent with cognitive impairments. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 106, 17998-18003.

Fanous, A.H., Middleton, F.A., Gentile, K., Amdur, R.L., Maher, B.S., Zhao, Z., Sun, J., Medeiros, H., Carvalho, C., Ferreira, S.R., Macedo, A., Knowles, J.A., Azevedo, M.H., Pato, M.T., Pato, C.N., 2012. Genetic overlap of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder in a high-density linkage survey in the Portuguese Island population. *American journal of medical genetics. Part B, Neuropsychiatric genetics : the official publication of the International Society of Psychiatric Genetics* 159B, 383-391.

Fenstermaker, V., Chen, Y., Ghosh, A., Yuste, R., 2004. Regulation of dendritic length and branching by semaphorin 3A. *Journal of neurobiology* 58, 403-412.

Fernandes, D., Carvalho, A.L., 2016. Mechanisms of homeostatic plasticity in the excitatory synapse. *Journal of neurochemistry* 139, 973-996.

Ferraguti, F., Shigemoto, R., 2006. Metabotropic glutamate receptors. Cell and tissue research 326, 483-504.

Fornito, A., Yucel, M., Dean, B., Wood, S.J., Pantelis, C., 2009. Anatomical abnormalities of the anterior cingulate cortex in schizophrenia: bridging the gap between neuroimaging and neuropathology. *Schizophrenia bulletin* 35, 973-993.

Fox, M.W., 1965. The visual cliff test for the study of visual depth perception in the mouse. Animal behaviour 13, 232-233.

Freed, W.J., Bing, L.A., Wyatt, R.J., 1984. Effects of neuroleptics on phencyclidine (PCP)-induced locomotor stimulation in mice. *Neuropharmacology* 23, 175-181.

Friedman, J.I., Vrijenhoek, T., Markx, S., Janssen, I.M., van der Vliet, W.A., Faas, B.H., Knoers, N.V., Cahn, W., Kahn, R.S., Edelmann, L., Davis, K.L., Silverman, J.M., Brunner, H.G., van Kessel, A.G., Wijmenga, C., Ophoff, R.A., Veltman, J.A., 2008. CNTNAP2 gene dosage variation is associated with schizophrenia and epilepsy. *Molecular psychiatry* 13, 261-266.

Fromer, M., Pocklington, A.J., Kavanagh, D.H., Williams, H.J., Dwyer, S., Gormley, P., Georgieva, L., Rees, E., Palta, P., Ruderfer, D.M., Carrera, N., Humphreys, I., Johnson, J.S., Roussos, P., Barker, D.D., Banks, E., Milanova, V., Grant, S.G., Hannon, E., Rose, S.A., Chambert, K., Mahajan, M., Scolnick, E.M., Moran, J.L., Kirov, G., Palotie, A., McCarroll, S.A., Holmans, P., Sklar, P., Owen, M.J., Purcell, S.M., O'Donovan, M.C., 2014. De novo mutations in schizophrenia implicate synaptic networks. *Nature* 506, 179-184.

Fujita, Y., Ishima, T., Hashimoto, K., 2016. Supplementation with D-serine prevents the onset of cognitive deficits in adult offspring after maternal immune activation. *Scientific reports* 6, 37261.

Fung, S.J., Webster, M.J., Weickert, C.S., 2011. Expression of VGluT1 and VGAT mRNAs in human dorsolateral prefrontal cortex during development and in schizophrenia. *Brain research* 1388, 22-31.

Funke, B., Finn, C.T., Plocik, A.M., Lake, S., DeRosse, P., Kane, J.M., Kucherlapati, R., Malhotra, A.K., 2004. Association of the DTNBP1 locus with schizophrenia in a U.S. population. *American journal of human genetics* 75, 891-898.

Gabriele, N., Pontoriero, G.F., Thomas, N., Shethwala, S.K., Pristupa, Z.B., Gabriele, J.P., 2010. Knockdown of mortalin within the medial prefrontal cortex impairs normal sensorimotor gating. *Synapse* 64, 808-813.

Gainetdinov, R.R., Mohn, A.R., Bohn, L.M., Caron, M.G., 2001. Glutamatergic modulation of hyperactivity in mice lacking the dopamine transporter. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 98, 11047-11054.

Gainey, M.A., Hurvitz-Wolff, J.R., Lambo, M.E., Turrigiano, G.G., 2009. Synaptic scaling requires the GluR2 subunit of the AMPA receptor. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 29, 6479-6489.

Gandomi, S.K., Farwell Gonzalez, K.D., Parra, M., Shahmirzadi, L., Mancuso, J., Pichurin, P., Temme, R., Dugan, S., Zeng, W., Tang, S., 2014. Diagnostic exome sequencing identifies two novel IQSEC2 mutations associated with X-linked intellectual disability with seizures: implications for genetic counseling and clinical diagnosis. *Journal of genetic counseling* 23, 289-298.

Gassaway, M.M., Rives, M.L., Kruegel, A.C., Javitch, J.A., Sames, D., 2014. The atypical antidepressant and neurorestorative agent tianeptine is a mu-opioid receptor agonist. *Translational psychiatry* 4, e411.

Gecz, J., Barnett, S., Liu, J., Hollway, G., Donnelly, A., Eyre, H., Eshkevari, H.S., Baltazar, R., Grunn, A., Nagaraja, R., Gilliam, C., Peltonen, L., Sutherland, G.R., Baron, M., Mulley, J.C., 1999. Characterization of the human glutamate receptor subunit 3 gene (GRIA3), a candidate for bipolar disorder and nonspecific X-linked mental retardation. *Genomics* 62, 356-368.

Gerlai, R., Roder, J., 1993. Female specific hyperactivity in S100 beta transgenic mice does not habituate in open-field. *Behavioural brain research* 59, 119-124.

Ghose, S., Gleason, K.A., Potts, B.W., Lewis-Amezcua, K., Tamminga, C.A., 2009. Differential expression of metabotropic glutamate receptors 2 and 3 in schizophrenia: a mechanism for antipsychotic drug action? *The American journal of psychiatry* 166, 812-820.

Gill, M., Vallada, H., Collier, D., Sham, P., Holmans, P., Murray, R., McGuffin, P., Nanko, S., Owen, M., Antonarakis, S., Housman, D., Kazazian, H., Nestadt, G., Pulver, A.E., Straub, R.E., MacLean, C.J., Walsh, D., Kendler, K.S., DeLisi, L., Polymeropoulos, M., Coon, H., Byerley, W., Lofthouse, R., Gershon, E., Read, C.M., et al., 1996. A combined analysis of D22S278 marker alleles in affected sib-pairs: support for a susceptibility locus for schizophrenia at chromosome 22q12. Schizophrenia Collaborative Linkage Group (Chromosome 22). *American journal of medical genetics* 67, 40-45.

Gladding, C.M., Fitzjohn, S.M., Molnar, E., 2009. Metabotropic glutamate receptor-mediated long-term depression: molecular mechanisms. *Pharmacological reviews* 61, 395-412.

Glahn, D.C., Therman, S., Manninen, M., Huttunen, M., Kaprio, J., Lonnqvist, J., Cannon, T.D., 2003. Spatial working memory as an endophenotype for schizophrenia. *Biological psychiatry* 53, 624-626.

Gould, T., 2009. Mood and Anxiety Related Phenotypes in Mice. Humana Press.

Gourzis, P., Katrivanou, A., Beratis, S., 2002. Symptomatology of the initial prodromal phase in schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia bulletin* 28, 415-429.

Greger, I.H., Watson, J.F., Cull-Candy, S.G., 2017. Structural and Functional Architecture of AMPA-Type Glutamate Receptors and Their Auxiliary Proteins. *Neuron* 94, 713-730.

Groc, L., Heine, M., Cognet, L., Brickley, K., Stephenson, F.A., Lounis, B., Choquet, D., 2004. Differential activity-dependent regulation of the lateral mobilities of AMPA and NMDA receptors. *Nature neuroscience* 7, 695-696.

Groth, R.D., Lindskog, M., Thiagarajan, T.C., Li, L., Tsien, R.W., 2011. Beta Ca2+/CaM-dependent kinase type II triggers upregulation of GluA1 to coordinate adaptation to synaptic inactivity in hippocampal neurons. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 108, 828-833.

Gu, X., Mao, X., Lussier, M.P., Hutchison, M.A., Zhou, L., Hamra, F.K., Roche, K.W., Lu, W., 2016. GSG1L suppresses AMPA receptor-mediated synaptic transmission and uniquely modulates AMPA receptor kinetics in hippocampal neurons. *Nature communications* **7**, 10873.

Guex, N., Peitsch, M.C., Schwede, T., 2009. Automated comparative protein structure modeling with SWISS-MODEL and Swiss-PdbViewer: a historical perspective. *Electrophoresis* 30 Suppl 1, S162-173.

Gupta, D.S., McCullumsmith, R.E., Beneyto, M., Haroutunian, V., Davis, K.L., Meador-Woodruff, J.H., 2005. Metabotropic glutamate receptor protein expression in the prefrontal cortex and striatum in schizophrenia. *Synapse* 57, 123-131.

Hafner, A.S., Penn, A.C., Grillo-Bosch, D., Retailleau, N., Poujol, C., Philippat, A., Coussen, F., Sainlos, M., Opazo, P., Choquet, D., 2015. Lengthening of the Stargazin Cytoplasmic Tail Increases Synaptic Transmission by Promoting Interaction to Deeper Domains of PSD-95. *Neuron* 86, 475-489.

Halim, N.D., Weickert, C.S., McClintock, B.W., Hyde, T.M., Weinberger, D.R., Kleinman, J.E., Lipska, B.K., 2003. Presynaptic proteins in the prefrontal cortex of patients with schizophrenia and rats with abnormal prefrontal development. *Molecular psychiatry* 8, 797-810.

Hall, J., Trent, S., Thomas, K.L., O'Donovan, M.C., Owen, M.J., 2015. Genetic risk for schizophrenia: convergence on synaptic pathways involved in plasticity. *Biological psychiatry* 77, 52-58.

Hamad, M.I., Jack, A., Klatt, O., Lorkowski, M., Strasdeit, T., Kott, S., Sager, C., Hollmann, M., Wahle, P., 2014. Type I TARPs promote dendritic growth of early postnatal neocortical pyramidal cells in organotypic cultures. *Development* 141, 1737-1748.

Hamdan, F.F., Gauthier, J., Araki, Y., Lin, D.T., Yoshizawa, Y., Higashi, K., Park, A.R., Spiegelman, D., Dobrzeniecka, S., Piton, A., Tomitori, H., Daoud, H., Massicotte, C., Henrion, E., Diallo, O., Group, S.D., Shekarabi, M., Marineau, C., Shevell, M., Maranda, B., Mitchell, G., Nadeau, A., D'Anjou, G., Vanasse, M., Srour, M., Lafreniere, R.G., Drapeau, P., Lacaille, J.C., Kim, E., Lee, J.R., Igarashi, K., Huganir, R.L., Rouleau, G.A., Michaud, J.L., 2011. Excess of de novo deleterious mutations in genes associated with glutamatergic systems in nonsyndromic intellectual disability. *American journal of human genetics* 88, 306-316.

Hamdan, F.F., Gauthier, J., Spiegelman, D., Noreau, A., Yang, Y., Pellerin, S., Dobrzeniecka, S., Cote, M., Perreau-Linck, E., Carmant, L., D'Anjou, G., Fombonne, E., Addington, A.M., Rapoport, J.L., Delisi, L.E., Krebs, M.O., Mouaffak, F., Joober, R., Mottron, L., Drapeau, P., Marineau, C., Lafreniere, R.G., Lacaille, J.C., Rouleau, G.A., Michaud, J.L., Synapse to Disease, G., 2009a. Mutations in SYNGAP1 in autosomal nonsyndromic mental retardation. *The New England journal of medicine* 360, 599-605.

Hamdan, F.F., Piton, A., Gauthier, J., Lortie, A., Dubeau, F., Dobrzeniecka, S., Spiegelman, D., Noreau, A., Pellerin, S., Cote, M., Henrion, E., Fombonne, E., Mottron, L., Marineau, C., Drapeau, P., Lafreniere, R.G., Lacaille, J.C., Rouleau, G.A., Michaud, J.L., 2009b. De novo STXBP1 mutations in mental retardation and nonsyndromic epilepsy. *Annals of neurology* 65, 748-753.

Hammond, J.C., McCullumsmith, R.E., Funk, A.J., Haroutunian, V., Meador-Woodruff, J.H., 2010. Evidence for abnormal forward trafficking of AMPA receptors in frontal cortex of elderly patients with schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology : official publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology* **35**, 2110-2119.

Harripaul, R., Vasli, N., Mikhailov, A., Rafiq, M.A., Mittal, K., Windpassinger, C., Sheikh, T.I., Noor, A., Mahmood, H., Downey, S., Johnson, M., Vleuten, K., Bell, L., Ilyas, M., Khan, F.S., Khan, V., Moradi, M., Ayaz, M., Naeem, F., Heidari, A., Ahmed, I., Ghadami, S., Agha, Z., Zeinali, S., Qamar, R., Mozhdehipanah, H., John, P., Mir, A., Ansar, M., French, L., Ayub, M., Vincent, J.B., 2017. Mapping autosomal recessive intellectual disability: combined microarray and exome sequencing identifies 26 novel candidate genes in 192 consanguineous families. *Molecular psychiatry*.

Harrison, F.E., Reiserer, R.S., Tomarken, A.J., McDonald, M.P., 2006. Spatial and nonspatial escape strategies in the Barnes maze. *Learning & memory* 13, 809-819.

Hasegawa, S., Sakuragi, S., Tominaga-Yoshino, K., Ogura, A., 2015. Dendritic spine dynamics leading to spine elimination after repeated inductions of LTD. *Scientific reports* 5, 7707.

Hashimoto, K., Fukaya, M., Qiao, X., Sakimura, K., Watanabe, M., Kano, M., 1999. Impairment of AMPA receptor function in cerebellar granule cells of ataxic mutant mouse stargazer. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 19, 6027-6036.

Hastie, P., Ulbrich, M.H., Wang, H.L., Arant, R.J., Lau, A.G., Zhang, Z., Isacoff, E.Y., Chen, L., 2013. AMPA receptor/TARP stoichiometry visualized by single-molecule subunit counting. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 110, 5163-5168.

Hayashi, T., Huganir, R.L., 2004. Tyrosine phosphorylation and regulation of the AMPA receptor by SRC family tyrosine kinases. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 24, 6152-6160.

Hayashi, T., Rumbaugh, G., Huganir, R.L., 2005. Differential regulation of AMPA receptor subunit trafficking by palmitoylation of two distinct sites. *Neuron* 47, 709-723.

He, H., Wu, H., Yang, L., Gao, F., Fan, Y., Feng, J., Ma, X., 2016. Associations between dopamine D2 receptor gene polymorphisms and schizophrenia risk: a PRISMA compliant meta-analysis. *Neuropsychiatric disease and treatment* 12, 3129-3144.

Healy, D.J., Haroutunian, V., Powchik, P., Davidson, M., Davis, K.L., Watson, S.J., Meador-Woodruff, J.H., 1998. AMPA receptor binding and subunit mRNA expression in prefrontal cortex and striatum of elderly schizophrenics. *Neuropsychopharmacology : official publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology* 19, 278-286.

Heine, M., Groc, L., Frischknecht, R., Beique, J.C., Lounis, B., Rumbaugh, G., Huganir, R.L., Cognet, L., Choquet, D., 2008. Surface mobility of postsynaptic AMPARs tunes synaptic transmission. *Science* 320, 201-205.

Henley, J.M., Wilkinson, K.A., 2016. Synaptic AMPA receptor composition in development, plasticity and disease. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience* 17, 337-350.

Heresco-Levy, U., Javitt, D.C., 2004. Comparative effects of glycine and D-cycloserine on persistent negative symptoms in schizophrenia: a retrospective analysis. *Schizophrenia research* 66, 89-96.

Herring, B.E., Shi, Y., Suh, Y.H., Zheng, C.Y., Blankenship, S.M., Roche, K.W., Nicoll, R.A., 2013. Cornichon proteins determine the subunit composition of synaptic AMPA receptors. *Neuron* 77, 1083-1096.

Hewson, S., Puka, K., Mercimek-Mahmutoglu, S., 2017. Variable expressivity of a likely pathogenic variant in KCNQ2 in a three-generation pedigree presenting with intellectual disability with childhood onset seizures. *American journal of medical genetics. Part A.* 

Hill, R.A., 2016. Sex differences in animal models of schizophrenia shed light on the underlying pathophysiology. *Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews* 67, 41-56.

Hoftman, G.D., Volk, D.W., Bazmi, H.H., Li, S., Sampson, A.R., Lewis, D.A., 2015. Altered cortical expression of GABA-related genes in schizophrenia: illness progression vs developmental disturbance. *Schizophrenia bulletin* **41**, 180-191.

Hollmann, M., Heinemann, S., 1994. Cloned glutamate receptors. Annual review of neuroscience 17, 31-108.

Horan, W.P., Ventura, J., Nuechterlein, K.H., Subotnik, K.L., Hwang, S.S., Mintz, J., 2005. Stressful life events in recent-onset schizophrenia: reduced frequencies and altered subjective appraisals. *Schizophrenia research* **75**, 363-374.

Horiguchi, M., Ohi, K., Hashimoto, R., Hao, Q., Yasuda, Y., Yamamori, H., Fujimoto, M., Umeda-Yano, S., Takeda, M., Ichinose, H., 2014. Functional polymorphism (C-824T) of the tyrosine hydroxylase gene affects IQ in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry and clinical neurosciences* 68, 456-462.

Howes, O.D., Kapur, S., 2014. A neurobiological hypothesis for the classification of schizophrenia: type A (hyperdopaminergic) and type B (normodopaminergic). *The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science* 205, 1-3.

Hu, J.H., Park, J.M., Park, S., Xiao, B., Dehoff, M.H., Kim, S., Hayashi, T., Schwarz, M.K., Huganir, R.L., Seeburg, P.H., Linden, D.J., Worley, P.F., 2010. Homeostatic scaling requires group I mGluR activation mediated by Homer1a. *Neuron* 68, 1128-1142.

Hu, J.X., Yu, L., Shi, Y.Y., Zhao, X.Z., Meng, J.W., He, G., Xu, Y.F., Feng, G.Y., He, L., 2007. An association study between PPP1R1B gene and schizophrenia in the Chinese population. *Progress in neuro-psychopharmacology & biological psychiatry* 31, 1303-1306.

Huentelman, M.J., Muppana, L., Corneveaux, J.J., Dinu, V., Pruzin, J.J., Reiman, R., Borish, C.N., De Both, M., Ahmed, A., Todorov, A., Cloninger, C.R., Zhang, R., Ma, J., Gallitano, A.L., 2015. Association of SNPs in EGR3 and ARC with Schizophrenia Supports a Biological Pathway for Schizophrenia Risk. *PloS one* 10, e0135076. Hughes, R.N., 1989. Sex Differences in Spontaneous Alternation and Open-Field Behavior of Hamsters: Habituation Diferences. *Current Psychology:Research & Reviews* 8, 144-150.

Hur, E.M., Saijilafu, Lee, B.D., Kim, S.J., Xu, W.L., Zhou, F.Q., 2011. GSK3 controls axon growth via CLASP-mediated regulation of growth cone microtubules. *Genes & development* 25, 1968-1981.

Iacobucci, G.J., Popescu, G.K., 2017. NMDA receptors: linking physiological output to biophysical operation. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience* 18, 236-249.

Inamura, M., Itakura, M., Okamoto, H., Hoka, S., Mizoguchi, A., Fukazawa, Y., Shigemoto, R., Yamamori, S., Takahashi, M., 2006. Differential localization and regulation of stargazin-like protein, gamma-8 and stargazin in the plasma membrane of hippocampal and cortical neurons. *Neuroscience research* 55, 45-53.

Insel, T.R., Cuthbert, B.N., 2015. Medicine. Brain disorders? Precisely. Science 348, 499-500.

Irie, K., Tsujimura, K., Nakashima, H., Nakashima, K., 2016. MicroRNA-214 Promotes Dendritic Development by Targeting the Schizophrenia-associated Gene Quaking (Qki). *The Journal of biological chemistry* 291, 13891-13904.

Itokawa, M., Yamada, K., Yoshitsugu, K., Toyota, T., Suga, T., Ohba, H., Watanabe, A., Hattori, E., Shimizu, H., Kumakura, T., Ebihara, M., Meerabux, J.M., Toru, M., Yoshikawa, T., 2003. A microsatellite repeat in the promoter of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor 2A subunit (GRIN2A) gene suppresses transcriptional activity and correlates with chronic outcome in schizophrenia. *Pharmacogenetics* 13, 271-278.

Ives, J.H., Fung, S., Tiwari, P., Payne, H.L., Thompson, C.L., 2004. Microtubule-associated protein light chain 2 is a stargazin-AMPA receptor complex-interacting protein in vivo. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 279, 31002-31009.

Iwayama-Shigeno, Y., Yamada, K., Itokawa, M., Toyota, T., Meerabux, J.M., Minabe, Y., Mori, N., Inada, T., Yoshikawa, T., 2005. Extended analyses support the association of a functional (GT)n polymorphism in the GRIN2A promoter with Japanese schizophrenia. *Neuroscience letters* 378, 102-105.

Jackson, A.C., Nicoll, R.A., 2011. Stargazin (TARP gamma-2) is required for compartment-specific AMPA receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity in cerebellar stellate cells. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 31, 3939-3952.

Jaffard, R., Mocaer, E., Poignant, J.C., Micheau, J., Marighetto, A., Meunier, M., Beracochea, D., 1991. Effects of tianeptine on spontaneous alternation, simple and concurrent spatial discrimination learning and on alcohol-induced alternation deficits in mice. *Behavioural pharmacology* 2, 37-46.

Jia, J.M., Hu, Z., Nordman, J., Li, Z., 2014. The schizophrenia susceptibility gene dysbindin regulates dendritic spine dynamics. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 34, 13725-13736.

Jiang, M., Deng, L., Chen, G., 2004. High Ca(2+)-phosphate transfection efficiency enables single neuron gene analysis. *Gene Ther* 11, 1303-1311.

Jones, C.A., Watson, D.J., Fone, K.C., 2011. Animal models of schizophrenia. *British journal of pharmacology* 164, 1162-1194.

Jonsson, E.G., Kaiser, R., Brockmoller, J., Nimgaonkar, V.L., Crocq, M.A., 2004. Meta-analysis of the dopamine D3 receptor gene (DRD3) Ser9Gly variant and schizophrenia. *Psychiatric genetics* 14, 9-12.

Jonsson, E.G., Sillen, A., Vares, M., Ekholm, B., Terenius, L., Sedvall, G.C., 2003. Dopamine D2 receptor gene Ser311Cys variant and schizophrenia: association study and meta-analysis. *American journal of medical genetics. Part B, Neuropsychiatric genetics : the official publication of the International Society of Psychiatric Genetics* 119B, 28-34.

Joyce, J.N., Montero, E., Van Hartesveldt, C., 1984. Dopamine-mediated behaviors: characteristics of modulation by estrogen. *Pharmacology, biochemistry, and behavior* 21, 791-800.

Kaech, S., Banker, G., 2006. Culturing hippocampal neurons. Nature protocols 1, 2406-2415.

Kahn, R.S., Sommer, I.E., Murray, R.M., Meyer-Lindenberg, A., Weinberger, D.R., Cannon, T.D., O'Donovan, M., Correll, C.U., Kane, J.M., van Os, J., Insel, T.R., 2015. Schizophrenia. *Nature reviews. Disease primers* 1, 15067.

Kalashnikova, E., Lorca, R.A., Kaur, I., Barisone, G.A., Li, B., Ishimaru, T., Trimmer, J.S., Mohapatra, D.P., Diaz, E., 2010. SynDIG1: an activity-regulated, AMPA- receptor-interacting transmembrane protein that regulates excitatory synapse development. *Neuron* 65, 80-93.

Kalscheuer, V.M., James, V.M., Himelright, M.L., Long, P., Oegema, R., Jensen, C., Bienek, M., Hu, H., Haas, S.A., Topf, M., Hoogeboom, A.J., Harvey, K., Walikonis, R., Harvey, R.J., 2015. Novel Missense Mutation A789V in IQSEC2 Underlies X-Linked Intellectual Disability in the MRX78 Family. *Frontiers in molecular neuroscience* 8, 85.

Kantrowitz, J.T., Malhotra, A.K., Cornblatt, B., Silipo, G., Balla, A., Suckow, R.F., D'Souza, C., Saksa, J., Woods, S.W., Javitt, D.C., 2010. High dose D-serine in the treatment of schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia research* 121, 125-130.

Kapoor, R., Lim, K.S., Cheng, A., Garrick, T., Kapoor, V., 2006. Preliminary evidence for a link between schizophrenia and NMDA-glycine site receptor ligand metabolic enzymes, d-amino acid oxidase (DAAO) and kynurenine aminotransferase-1 (KAT-1). *Brain research* 1106, 205-210.

Karl, T., Duffy, L., Scimone, A., Harvey, R.P., Schofield, P.R., 2007. Altered motor activity, exploration and anxiety in heterozygous neuregulin 1 mutant mice: implications for understanding schizophrenia. *Genes, brain, and behavior* 6, 677-687.

Kato, A.S., Gill, M.B., Ho, M.T., Yu, H., Tu, Y., Siuda, E.R., Wang, H., Qian, Y.W., Nisenbaum, E.S., Tomita, S., Bredt, D.S., 2010a. Hippocampal AMPA receptor gating controlled by both TARP and cornichon proteins. *Neuron* 68, 1082-1096.

Kato, A.S., Gill, M.B., Yu, H., Nisenbaum, E.S., Bredt, D.S., 2010b. TARPs differentially decorate AMPA receptors to specify neuropharmacology. *Trends in neurosciences* 33, 241-248.

Kato, A.S., Siuda, E.R., Nisenbaum, E.S., Bredt, D.S., 2008. AMPA receptor subunit-specific regulation by a distinct family of type II TARPs. *Neuron* 59, 986-996.

Kato, A.S., Zhou, W., Milstein, A.D., Knierman, M.D., Siuda, E.R., Dotzlaf, J.E., Yu, H., Hale, J.E., Nisenbaum, E.S., Nicoll, R.A., Bredt, D.S., 2007. New transmembrane AMPA receptor regulatory protein isoform, gamma-7, differentially regulates AMPA receptors. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 27, 4969-4977.

Kaufman, L., Ayub, M., Vincent, J.B., 2010. The genetic basis of non-syndromic intellectual disability: a review. *Journal of neurodevelopmental disorders* 2, 182-209.

Khelfaoui, M., Denis, C., van Galen, E., de Bock, F., Schmitt, A., Houbron, C., Morice, E., Giros, B., Ramakers, G., Fagni, L., Chelly, J., Nosten-Bertrand, M., Billuart, P., 2007. Loss of X-linked mental retardation gene oligophrenin1 in mice impairs spatial memory and leads to ventricular enlargement and dendritic spine immaturity. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 27, 9439-9450.

Kirov, G., Gumus, D., Chen, W., Norton, N., Georgieva, L., Sari, M., O'Donovan, M.C., Erdogan, F., Owen, M.J., Ropers, H.H., Ullmann, R., 2008. Comparative genome hybridization suggests a role for NRXN1 and APBA2 in schizophrenia. *Human molecular genetics* 17, 458-465.

Kirov, G., Pocklington, A.J., Holmans, P., Ivanov, D., Ikeda, M., Ruderfer, D., Moran, J., Chambert, K., Toncheva, D., Georgieva, L., Grozeva, D., Fjodorova, M., Wollerton, R., Rees, E., Nikolov, I., van de Lagemaat, L.N., Bayes, A., Fernandez, E., Olason, P.I., Bottcher, Y., Komiyama, N.H., Collins, M.O., Choudhary, J., Stefansson, K., Stefansson, H., Grant, S.G., Purcell, S., Sklar, P., O'Donovan, M.C., Owen, M.J., 2012. De novo CNV analysis implicates specific abnormalities of postsynaptic signalling complexes in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia. *Molecular psychiatry* 17, 142-153.

Klaassen, R.V., Stroeder, J., Coussen, F., Hafner, A.S., Petersen, J.D., Renancio, C., Schmitz, L.J., Normand, E., Lodder, J.C., Rotaru, D.C., Rao-Ruiz, P., Spijker, S., Mansvelder, H.D., Choquet, D., Smit, A.B., 2016. Shisa6 traps AMPA receptors at postsynaptic sites and prevents their desensitization during synaptic activity. *Nature communications* 7, 10682.

Klippel, A., Viechtbauer, W., Reininghaus, U., Wigman, J., van Borkulo, C., Merge, Myin-Germeys, I., Wichers, M., 2017. The Cascade of Stress: A Network Approach to Explore Differential Dynamics in Populations Varying in Risk for Psychosis. *Schizophrenia bulletin.* 

Koh, H.Y., Kim, D., Lee, J., Lee, S., Shin, H.S., 2008. Deficits in social behavior and sensorimotor gating in mice lacking phospholipase Cbeta1. *Genes, brain, and behavior* 7, 120-128.

Kohler, M., Kornau, H.C., Seeburg, P.H., 1994. The organization of the gene for the functionally dominant alpha-amino-3hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-4-propionic acid receptor subunit GluR-B. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 269, 17367-17370.

Koike, H., Arguello, P.A., Kvajo, M., Karayiorgou, M., Gogos, J.A., 2006. Disc1 is mutated in the 129S6/SvEv strain and modulates working memory in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 103, 3693-3697.

Kokras, N., Dalla, C., 2014. Sex differences in animal models of psychiatric disorders. *British journal of pharmacology* 171, 4595-4619.

Kopec, C.D., Li, B., Wei, W., Boehm, J., Malinow, R., 2006. Glutamate receptor exocytosis and spine enlargement during chemically induced long-term potentiation. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 26, 2000-2009.

Korostishevsky, M., Kaganovich, M., Cholostoy, A., Ashkenazi, M., Ratner, Y., Dahary, D., Bernstein, J., Bening-Abu-Shach, U., Ben-Asher, E., Lancet, D., Ritsner, M., Navon, R., 2004. Is the G72/G30 locus associated with schizophrenia? single nucleotide polymorphisms, haplotypes, and gene expression analysis. *Biological psychiatry* 56, 169-176.

Krampfl, K., Schlesinger, F., Zorner, A., Kappler, M., Dengler, R., Bufler, J., 2002. Control of kinetic properties of GluR2 flop AMPA-type channels: impact of R/G nuclear editing. *The European journal of neuroscience* 15, 51-62.

Kristiansen, L.V., Beneyto, M., Haroutunian, V., Meador-Woodruff, J.H., 2006. Changes in NMDA receptor subunits and interacting PSD proteins in dorsolateral prefrontal and anterior cingulate cortex indicate abnormal regional expression in schizophrenia. *Molecular psychiatry* 11, 737-747, 705.

Krumm, N., O'Roak, B.J., Shendure, J., Eichler, E.E., 2014. A de novo convergence of autism genetics and molecular neuroscience. *Trends in neurosciences* 37, 95-105.

Kumar, P., Henikoff, S., Ng, P.C., 2009. Predicting the effects of coding non-synonymous variants on protein function using the SIFT algorithm. *Nature protocols* 4, 1073-1081.

Kurita, M., Holloway, T., Garcia-Bea, A., Kozlenkov, A., Friedman, A.K., Moreno, J.L., Heshmati, M., Golden, S.A., Kennedy, P.J., Takahashi, N., Dietz, D.M., Mocci, G., Gabilondo, A.M., Hanks, J., Umali, A., Callado, L.F., Gallitano, A.L., Neve, R.L., Shen, L., Buxbaum, J.D., Han, M.H., Nestler, E.J., Meana, J.J., Russo, S.J., Gonzalez-Maeso, J., 2012. HDAC2 regulates atypical antipsychotic responses through the modulation of mGlu2 promoter activity. *Nature neuroscience* 15, 1245-1254.

Kurita, M., Holloway, T., Gonzalez-Maeso, J., 2013. HDAC2 as a new target to improve schizophrenia treatment. *Expert review of neurotherapeutics* 13, 1-3.

Kushima, I., Nakamura, Y., Aleksic, B., Ikeda, M., Ito, Y., Shiino, T., Okochi, T., Fukuo, Y., Ujike, H., Suzuki, M., Inada, T., Hashimoto, R., Takeda, M., Kaibuchi, K., Iwata, N., Ozaki, N., 2012. Resequencing and association analysis of the KALRN and EPHB1 genes and their contribution to schizophrenia susceptibility. *Schizophrenia bulletin* 38, 552-560.

Lahti, A.C., Weiler, M.A., Medoff, D.R., Tamminga, C.A., Holcomb, H.H., 2005. Functional effects of single dose first- and second-generation antipsychotic administration in subjects with schizophrenia. *Psychiatry research* 139, 19-30.

Lalonde, R., 2002. The neurobiological basis of spontaneous alternation. *Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews* 26, 91-104.

Lang, U.E., Puls, I., Muller, D.J., Strutz-Seebohm, N., Gallinat, J., 2007. Molecular mechanisms of schizophrenia. *Cellular physiology and biochemistry : international journal of experimental cellular physiology, biochemistry, and pharmacology* 20, 687-702.

Laursen, T.M., Nordentoft, M., Mortensen, P.B., 2014. Excess early mortality in schizophrenia. *Annual review of clinical psychology* 10, 425-448.

Lee, A.G., Capanzana, R., Brockhurst, J., Cheng, M.Y., Buckmaster, C.L., Absher, D., Schatzberg, A.F., Lyons, D.M., 2016. Learning to cope with stress modulates anterior cingulate cortex stargazin expression in monkeys and mice. *Neurobiology of learning and memory* 131, 95-100.

Lee, H.K., Kameyama, K., Huganir, R.L., Bear, M.F., 1998. NMDA induces long-term synaptic depression and dephosphorylation of the GluR1 subunit of AMPA receptors in hippocampus. *Neuron* 21, 1151-1162.

Lee, H.K., Takamiya, K., He, K., Song, L., Huganir, R.L., 2010. Specific roles of AMPA receptor subunit GluR1 (GluA1) phosphorylation sites in regulating synaptic plasticity in the CA1 region of hippocampus. *Journal of neurophysiology* 103, 479-489.

Letts, V.A., 2005. Stargazer--a mouse to seize! Epilepsy currents 5, 161-165.

Letts, V.A., Felix, R., Biddlecome, G.H., Arikkath, J., Mahaffey, C.L., Valenzuela, A., Bartlett, F.S., 2nd, Mori, Y., Campbell, K.P., Frankel, W.N., 1998. The mouse stargazer gene encodes a neuronal Ca2+-channel gamma subunit. *Nature genetics* 19, 340-347.

Li, J., Cai, T., Jiang, Y., Chen, H., He, X., Chen, C., Li, X., Shao, Q., Ran, X., Li, Z., Xia, K., Liu, C., Sun, Z.S., Wu, J., 2016. Genes with de novo mutations are shared by four neuropsychiatric disorders discovered from NPdenovo database. *Molecular psychiatry* 21, 290-297.

Li, J.M., Lu, C.L., Cheng, M.C., Luu, S.U., Hsu, S.H., Hu, T.M., Tsai, H.Y., Chen, C.H., 2014. Role of the DLGAP2 gene encoding the SAP90/PSD-95-associated protein 2 in schizophrenia. *PloS one* 9, e85373.

Lisman, J., 2012. Excitation, inhibition, local oscillations, or large-scale loops: what causes the symptoms of schizophrenia? *Current opinion in neurobiology* 22, 537-544.

Liu, R., Dang, W., Du, Y., Zhou, Q., Liu, Z., Jiao, K., 2015. Correlation of functional GRIN2A gene promoter polymorphisms with schizophrenia and serum D-serine levels. *Gene* 568, 25-30.

Liu, Y.L., Fann, C.S., Liu, C.M., Chang, C.C., Yang, W.C., Hung, S.I., Yu, S.L., Hwang, T.J., Hsieh, M.H., Liu, C.C., Tsuang, M.M., Wu, J.Y., Jou, Y.S., Faraone, S.V., Tsuang, M.T., Chen, W.J., Hwu, H.G., 2007. More evidence supports the association of PPP3CC with schizophrenia. *Molecular psychiatry* 12, 966-974.

Liu, Y.L., Fann, C.S., Liu, C.M., Chen, W.J., Wu, J.Y., Hung, S.I., Chen, C.H., Jou, Y.S., Liu, S.K., Hwang, T.J., Hsieh, M.H., Chang, C.C., Yang, W.C., Lin, J.J., Chou, F.H., Faraone, S.V., Tsuang, M.T., Hwu, H.G., 2008. RASD2, MYH9, and CACNG2 genes at chromosome 22q12 associated with the subgroup of schizophrenia with non-deficit in sustained attention and executive function. *Biological psychiatry* 64, 789-796.

Lohoff, F.W., Hodge, R., Narasimhan, S., Nall, A., Ferraro, T.N., Mickey, B.J., Heitzeg, M.M., Langenecker, S.A., Zubieta, J.K., Bogdan, R., Nikolova, Y.S., Drabant, E., Hariri, A.R., Bevilacqua, L., Goldman, D., Doyle, G.A., 2014. Functional genetic variants in the vesicular monoamine transporter 1 modulate emotion processing. *Molecular psychiatry* 19, 129-139.

Lohoff, F.W., Weller, A.E., Bloch, P.J., Buono, R.J., Doyle, G.A., Ferraro, T.N., Berrettini, W.H., 2008. Association between polymorphisms in the vesicular monoamine transporter 1 gene (VMAT1/SLC18A1) on chromosome 8p and schizophrenia. *Neuropsychobiology* 57, 55-60.

Louros, S.R., Hooks, B.M., Litvina, L., Carvalho, A.L., Chen, C., 2014. A role for stargazin in experience-dependent plasticity. *Cell reports* 7, 1614-1625.

Luine, V., Villegas, M., Martinez, C., McEwen, B.S., 1994. Repeated stress causes reversible impairments of spatial memory performance. *Brain research* 639, 167-170.

Lung, F.W., Tzeng, D.S., Shu, B.C., 2002. Ethnic heterogeneity in allele variation in the DRD4 gene in schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia research* 57, 239-245.

Luscher, C., Huber, K.M., 2010. Group 1 mGluR-dependent synaptic long-term depression: mechanisms and implications for circuitry and disease. *Neuron* 65, 445-459.

Luscher, C., Malenka, R.C., 2012. NMDA receptor-dependent long-term potentiation and long-term depression (LTP/LTD). *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology* 4.

Ma, T.M., Paul, B.D., Fu, C., Hu, S., Zhu, H., Blackshaw, S., Wolosker, H., Snyder, S.H., 2014. Serine racemase regulated by binding to stargazin and PSD-95: potential N-methyl-D-aspartate-alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (NMDA-AMPA) glutamate neurotransmission cross-talk. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 289, 29631-29641.

Magarinos, A.M., Deslandes, A., McEwen, B.S., 1999. Effects of antidepressants and benzodiazepine treatments on the dendritic structure of CA3 pyramidal neurons after chronic stress. *European journal of pharmacology* 371, 113-122.

Maghsoodi, B., Poon, M.M., Nam, C.I., Aoto, J., Ting, P., Chen, L., 2008. Retinoic acid regulates RARalpha-mediated control of translation in dendritic RNA granules during homeostatic synaptic plasticity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 105, 16015-16020.

Malenka, R.C., Bear, M.F., 2004. LTP and LTD: an embarrassment of riches. Neuron 44, 5-21.

Mao, X., Gu, X., Lu, W., 2017. GSG1L regulates the strength of AMPA receptor-mediated synaptic transmission but not AMPA receptor kinetics in hippocampal dentate granule neurons. *Journal of neurophysiology* 117, 28-35.

Martin, S.J., Grimwood, P.D., Morris, R.G., 2000. Synaptic plasticity and memory: an evaluation of the hypothesis. *Annual review of neuroscience* 23, 649-711.

Martinez, F., Caro-Llopis, A., Rosello, M., Oltra, S., Mayo, S., Monfort, S., Orellana, C., 2017. High diagnostic yield of syndromic intellectual disability by targeted next-generation sequencing. *Journal of medical genetics* 54, 87-92.

Mas, S., Bernardo, M., Parellada, E., Garcia-Rizo, C., Gasso, P., Alvarez, S., Lafuente, A., 2009. ARVCF single marker and haplotypic association with schizophrenia. *Progress in neuro-psychopharmacology & biological psychiatry* 33, 1064-1069.

Massey, P.V., Johnson, B.E., Moult, P.R., Auberson, Y.P., Brown, M.W., Molnar, E., Collingridge, G.L., Bashir, Z.I., 2004. Differential roles of NR2A and NR2B-containing NMDA receptors in cortical long-term potentiation and long-term depression. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 24, 7821-7828.

Matosin, N., Fernandez-Enright, F., Lum, J.S., Newell, K.A., 2015. Shifting towards a model of mGluR5 dysregulation in schizophrenia: Consequences for future schizophrenia treatment. *Neuropharmacology*.

Matsuda, S., Kakegawa, W., Budisantoso, T., Nomura, T., Kohda, K., Yuzaki, M., 2013. Stargazin regulates AMPA receptor trafficking through adaptor protein complexes during long-term depression. *Nature communications* 4, 2759.

Matsuda, S., Miura, E., Matsuda, K., Kakegawa, W., Kohda, K., Watanabe, M., Yuzaki, M., 2008. Accumulation of AMPA receptors in autophagosomes in neuronal axons lacking adaptor protein AP-4. *Neuron* 57, 730-745.

Maulik, P.K., Mascarenhas, M.N., Mathers, C.D., Dua, T., Saxena, S., 2011. Prevalence of intellectual disability: a metaanalysis of population-based studies. *Research in developmental disabilities* 32, 419-436.

Mayford, M., Wang, J., Kandel, E.R., O'Dell, T.J., 1995. CaMKII regulates the frequency-response function of hippocampal synapses for the production of both LTD and LTP. *Cell* 81, 891-904.

McCarthy, S.E., Gillis, J., Kramer, M., Lihm, J., Yoon, S., Berstein, Y., Mistry, M., Pavlidis, P., Solomon, R., Ghiban, E., Antoniou, E., Kelleher, E., O'Brien, C., Donohoe, G., Gill, M., Morris, D.W., McCombie, W.R., Corvin, A., 2014. De novo mutations in schizophrenia implicate chromatin remodeling and support a genetic overlap with autism and intellectual disability. *Molecular psychiatry* 19, 652-658.

McCullumsmith, R.E., Hammond, J., Funk, A., Meador-Woodruff, J.H., 2012. Recent advances in targeting the ionotropic glutamate receptors in treating schizophrenia. *Current pharmaceutical biotechnology* 13, 1535-1542.

McEwen, B.S., Chattarji, S., Diamond, D.M., Jay, T.M., Reagan, L.P., Svenningsson, P., Fuchs, E., 2010. The neurobiological properties of tianeptine (Stablon): from monoamine hypothesis to glutamatergic modulation. *Molecular psychiatry* 15, 237-249.

McGrath, J., Saha, S., Welham, J., El Saadi, O., MacCauley, C., Chant, D., 2004. A systematic review of the incidence of schizophrenia: the distribution of rates and the influence of sex, urbanicity, migrant status and methodology. *BMC medicine* 2, 13.

McLennan, Y., Polussa, J., Tassone, F., Hagerman, R., 2011. Fragile x syndrome. Current genomics 12, 216-224.

Meng, H., Gao, R., Dai, Q., Qiao, X., 2007. Differential regulation of glutamate receptor-mediated BDNF mRNA expression in the cerebellum and its defects in stargazer mice. *Neuropharmacology* 53, 81-91.

Meng, Y., Zhang, Y., Jia, Z., 2003. Synaptic transmission and plasticity in the absence of AMPA glutamate receptor GluR2 and GluR3. *Neuron* 39, 163-176.

Mi, R., Sia, G.M., Rosen, K., Tang, X., Moghekar, A., Black, J.L., McEnery, M., Huganir, R.L., O'Brien, R.J., 2004. AMPA receptordependent clustering of synaptic NMDA receptors is mediated by Stargazin and NR2A/B in spinal neurons and hippocampal interneurons. *Neuron* 44, 335-349.

Millar, J.K., Christie, S., Semple, C.A., Porteous, D.J., 2000. Chromosomal location and genomic structure of the human translin-associated factor X gene (TRAX; TSNAX) revealed by intergenic splicing to DISC1, a gene disrupted by a translocation segregating with schizophrenia. *Genomics* 67, 69-77.

Mitchell, K.J., Huang, Z.J., Moghaddam, B., Sawa, A., 2011. Following the genes: a framework for animal modeling of psychiatric disorders. *BMC biology* 9, 76.

Miyakawa, T., Leiter, L.M., Gerber, D.J., Gainetdinov, R.R., Sotnikova, T.D., Zeng, H., Caron, M.G., Tonegawa, S., 2003. Conditional calcineurin knockout mice exhibit multiple abnormal behaviors related to schizophrenia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 100, 8987-8992.

Molnar, E., 2011. Long-term potentiation in cultured hippocampal neurons. *Seminars in cell & developmental biology* 22, 506-513.

Moreno-Briseno, P., Diaz, R., Campos-Romo, A., Fernandez-Ruiz, J., 2010. Sex-related differences in motor learning and performance. *Behavioral and brain functions : BBF* 6, 74.

Moretti, P., Bouwknecht, J.A., Teague, R., Paylor, R., Zoghbi, H.Y., 2005. Abnormalities of social interactions and homecage behavior in a mouse model of Rett syndrome. *Human molecular genetics* 14, 205-220.

Morimoto-Tomita, M., Zhang, W., Straub, C., Cho, C.H., Kim, K.S., Howe, J.R., Tomita, S., 2009. Autoinactivation of neuronal AMPA receptors via glutamate-regulated TARP interaction. *Neuron* 61, 101-112.

Morita, Y., Ujike, H., Tanaka, Y., Otani, K., Kishimoto, M., Morio, A., Kotaka, T., Okahisa, Y., Matsushita, M., Morikawa, A., Hamase, K., Zaitsu, K., Kuroda, S., 2007. A genetic variant of the serine racemase gene is associated with schizophrenia. *Biological psychiatry* 61, 1200-1203.

Mosca-Boidron, A.L., Gueneau, L., Huguet, G., Goldenberg, A., Henry, C., Gigot, N., Pallesi-Pocachard, E., Falace, A., Duplomb, L., Thevenon, J., Duffourd, Y., St-Onge, J., Chambon, P., Riviere, J.B., Thauvin-Robinet, C., Callier, P., Marle, N., Payet, M., Ragon, C., Goubran Botros, H., Buratti, J., Calderari, S., Dumas, G., Delorme, R., Lagarde, N., Pinoit, J.M., Rosier, A., Masurel-Paulet, A., Cardoso, C., Mugneret, F., Saugier-Veber, P., Campion, D., Faivre, L., Bourgeron, T., 2016. A de novo microdeletion of SEMA5A in a boy with autism spectrum disorder and intellectual disability. *European journal of human genetics : EJHG* 24, 838-843.

Motazacker, M.M., Rost, B.R., Hucho, T., Garshasbi, M., Kahrizi, K., Ullmann, R., Abedini, S.S., Nieh, S.E., Amini, S.H., Goswami, C., Tzschach, A., Jensen, L.R., Schmitz, D., Ropers, H.H., Najmabadi, H., Kuss, A.W., 2007. A defect in the ionotropic glutamate receptor 6 gene (GRIK2) is associated with autosomal recessive mental retardation. *American journal of human genetics* 81, 792-798.

Mottron, L., Duret, P., Mueller, S., Moore, R.D., Forgeot d'Arc, B., Jacquemont, S., Xiong, L., 2015. Sex differences in brain plasticity: a new hypothesis for sex ratio bias in autism. *Molecular autism* 6, 33.

Mueller, H.T., Meador-Woodruff, J.H., 2004. NR3A NMDA receptor subunit mRNA expression in schizophrenia, depression and bipolar disorder. *Schizophrenia research* 71, 361-370.

Muir, W.J., Thomson, M.L., McKeon, P., Mynett-Johnson, L., Whitton, C., Evans, K.L., Porteous, D.J., Blackwood, D.H., 2001. Markers close to the dopamine D5 receptor gene (DRD5) show significant association with schizophrenia but not bipolar disorder. *American journal of medical genetics* 105, 152-158.

Myin-Germeys, I., Delespaul, P., van Os, J., 2005. Behavioural sensitization to daily life stress in psychosis. *Psychological medicine* 35, 733-741.

Myin-Germeys, I., van Os, J., Schwartz, J.E., Stone, A.A., Delespaul, P.A., 2001. Emotional reactivity to daily life stress in psychosis. *Archives of general psychiatry* 58, 1137-1144.

Nabavi, S., Kessels, H.W., Alfonso, S., Aow, J., Fox, R., Malinow, R., 2013. Metabotropic NMDA receptor function is required for NMDA receptor-dependent long-term depression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 110, 4027-4032.

Nadif Kasri, N., Nakano-Kobayashi, A., Malinow, R., Li, B., Van Aelst, L., 2009. The Rho-linked mental retardation protein oligophrenin-1 controls synapse maturation and plasticity by stabilizing AMPA receptors. *Genes & development* 23, 1289-1302.

Nagerl, U.V., Eberhorn, N., Cambridge, S.B., Bonhoeffer, T., 2004. Bidirectional activity-dependent morphological plasticity in hippocampal neurons. *Neuron* 44, 759-767.

Naie, K., Tsanov, M., Manahan-Vaughan, D., 2007. Group I metabotropic glutamate receptors enable two distinct forms of long-term depression in the rat dentate gyrus in vivo. *The European journal of neuroscience* 25, 3264-3275.

Najmabadi, H., Hu, H., Garshasbi, M., Zemojtel, T., Abedini, S.S., Chen, W., Hosseini, M., Behjati, F., Haas, S., Jamali, P., Zecha, A., Mohseni, M., Puttmann, L., Vahid, L.N., Jensen, C., Moheb, L.A., Bienek, M., Larti, F., Mueller, I., Weissmann, R., Darvish, H., Wrogemann, K., Hadavi, V., Lipkowitz, B., Esmaeeli-Nieh, S., Wieczorek, D., Kariminejad, R., Firouzabadi, S.G., Cohen, M., Fattahi, Z., Rost, I., Mojahedi, F., Hertzberg, C., Dehghan, A., Rajab, A., Banavandi, M.J., Hoffer, J., Falah, M., Musante, L., Kalscheuer, V., Ullmann, R., Kuss, A.W., Tzschach, A., Kahrizi, K., Ropers, H.H., 2011. Deep sequencing reveals 50 novel genes for recessive cognitive disorders. *Nature* 478, 57-63.

Nakagawa, T., Cheng, Y., Sheng, M., Walz, T., 2006. Three-dimensional structure of an AMPA receptor without associated stargazin/TARP proteins. *Biological chemistry* 387, 179-187.

Network, Pathway Analysis Subgroup of Psychiatric Genomics, C., 2015. Psychiatric genome-wide association study analyses implicate neuronal, immune and histone pathways. *Nat Neurosci* 18, 199-209.

Nissen, S., Liang, S., Shehktman, T., Kelsoe, J.R., Bipolar Genome, S., Greenwood, T.A., Nievergelt, C.M., McKinney, R., Shilling, P.D., Smith, E.N., Schork, N.J., Bloss, C.S., Nurnberger, J.I., Jr., Edenberg, H.J., Foroud, T., Koller, D.L., Gershon, E.S., Liu, C., Badner, J.A., Scheftner, W.A., Lawson, W.B., Nwulia, E.A., Hipolito, M., Coryell, W., Rice, J., Byerley, W., McMahon, F.J., Berrettini, W.H., Potash, J.B., Zandi, P.P., Mahon, P.B., McInnis, M.G., Zollner, S., Zhang, P., Craig, D.W., Szelinger, S., Barrett, T.B., Schulze, T.G., 2012. Evidence for association of bipolar disorder to haplotypes in the 22q12.3 region near the genes stargazin, IFT27 and parvalbumin. *American journal of medical genetics. Part B, Neuropsychiatric genetics : the official publication of the International Society of Psychiatric Genetics* 159B, 941-950.

Niswender, C.M., Conn, P.J., 2010. Metabotropic glutamate receptors: physiology, pharmacology, and disease. *Annual review of pharmacology and toxicology* 50, 295-322.

Noebels, J.L., Qiao, X., Bronson, R.T., Spencer, C., Davisson, M.T., 1990. Stargazer: a new neurological mutant on chromosome 15 in the mouse with prolonged cortical seizures. *Epilepsy research* 7, 129-135.

Nomura, T., Kakegawa, W., Matsuda, S., Kohda, K., Nishiyama, J., Takahashi, T., Yuzaki, M., 2012. Cerebellar long-term depression requires dephosphorylation of TARP in Purkinje cells. *The European journal of neuroscience* 35, 402-410.

O'Brien, R.J., Kamboj, S., Ehlers, M.D., Rosen, K.R., Fischbach, G.D., Huganir, R.L., 1998. Activity-dependent modulation of synaptic AMPA receptor accumulation. *Neuron* 21, 1067-1078.

O'Donovan, M.C., Owen, M.J., 2016. The implications of the shared genetics of psychiatric disorders. *Nature medicine* 22, 1214-1219.

Ogawa, S., Chan, J., Gustafsson, J.A., Korach, K.S., Pfaff, D.W., 2003. Estrogen increases locomotor activity in mice through estrogen receptor alpha: specificity for the type of activity. *Endocrinology* 144, 230-239.

Ohtsuki, T., Sakurai, K., Dou, H., Toru, M., Yamakawa-Kobayashi, K., Arinami, T., 2001. Mutation analysis of the NMDAR2B (GRIN2B) gene in schizophrenia. *Molecular psychiatry* 6, 211-216.

Oni-Orisan, A., Kristiansen, L.V., Haroutunian, V., Meador-Woodruff, J.H., McCullumsmith, R.E., 2008. Altered vesicular glutamate transporter expression in the anterior cingulate cortex in schizophrenia. *Biological psychiatry* 63, 766-775.

Opazo, P., Labrecque, S., Tigaret, C.M., Frouin, A., Wiseman, P.W., De Koninck, P., Choquet, D., 2010. CaMKII triggers the diffusional trapping of surface AMPARs through phosphorylation of stargazin. *Neuron* 67, 239-252.

Ovadia, G., Shifman, S., 2011. The genetic variation of RELN expression in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *PloS one* 6, e19955.

Pae, C.U., Kim, J.J., Serretti, A., Lee, C.U., Lee, S.J., Lee, C., Paik, I.H., 2003. VNTR polymorphism of tyrosine hydroxylase gene and schizophrenia in the Korean population. *Neuropsychobiology* 47, 131-136.

Paoletti, P., Bellone, C., Zhou, Q., 2013. NMDA receptor subunit diversity: impact on receptor properties, synaptic plasticity and disease. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience* 14, 383-400.

Parente, D.J., Garriga, C., Baskin, B., Douglas, G., Cho, M.T., Araujo, G.C., Shinawi, M., 2017. Neuroligin 2 nonsense variant associated with anxiety, autism, intellectual disability, hyperphagia, and obesity. *American journal of medical genetics. Part A* 173, 213-216.

Park, S., Holzman, P.S., 1992. Schizophrenics show spatial working memory deficits. *Archives of general psychiatry* 49, 975-982.

Patil, S.T., Zhang, L., Martenyi, F., Lowe, S.L., Jackson, K.A., Andreev, B.V., Avedisova, A.S., Bardenstein, L.M., Gurovich, I.Y., Morozova, M.A., Mosolov, S.N., Neznanov, N.G., Reznik, A.M., Smulevich, A.B., Tochilov, V.A., Johnson, B.G., Monn, J.A., Schoepp, D.D., 2007. Activation of mGlu2/3 receptors as a new approach to treat schizophrenia: a randomized Phase 2 clinical trial. *Nature medicine* 13, 1102-1107.

Pato, C.N., Azevedo, M.H., Pato, M.T., Kennedy, J.L., Coelho, I., Dourado, A., Macedo, A., Valente, J., Ferreira, C.P., Madeira, J., Gago da Camara, J., Moniz, M., Correia, C., 1997. Selection of homogeneous populations for genetic study: the Portugal genetics of psychosis project. *Am J Med Genet* 74, 286-288.

Pato, C.N., Pato, M.T., Kirby, A., Petryshen, T.L., Medeiros, H., Carvalho, C., Macedo, A., Dourado, A., Coelho, I., Valente, J., Soares, M.J., Ferreira, C.P., Lei, M., Verner, A., Hudson, T.J., Morley, C.P., Kennedy, J.L., Azevedo, M.H., Daly, M.J., Sklar, P., 2004. Genome-wide scan in Portuguese Island families implicates multiple loci in bipolar disorder: fine mapping adds support on chromosomes 6 and 11. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet* 127B, 30-34.

Pato, M.T., Sobell, J.L., Medeiros, H., Abbott, C., Sklar, B.M., Buckley, P.F., Bromet, E.J., Escamilla, M.A., Fanous, A.H., Lehrer, D.S., Macciardi, F., Malaspina, D., McCarroll, S.A., Marder, S.R., Moran, J., Morley, C.P., Nicolini, H., Perkins, D.O., Purcell, S.M., Rapaport, M.H., Sklar, P., Smoller, J.W., Knowles, J.A., Genomic Psychiatry Cohort, C., Pato, C.N., 2013. The genomic psychiatry cohort: partners in discovery. *American journal of medical genetics. Part B, Neuropsychiatric genetics : the official publication of the International Society of Psychiatric Genetics* 162B, 306-312.

Payne, H.L., Connelly, W.M., Ives, J.H., Lehner, R., Furtmuller, B., Sieghart, W., Tiwari, P., Lucocq, J.M., Lees, G., Thompson, C.L., 2007. GABAA alpha6-containing receptors are selectively compromised in cerebellar granule cells of the ataxic mouse, stargazer. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 282, 29130-29143.

Peca, J., Feliciano, C., Ting, J.T., Wang, W., Wells, M.F., Venkatraman, T.N., Lascola, C.D., Fu, Z., Feng, G., 2011. Shank3 mutant mice display autistic-like behaviours and striatal dysfunction. *Nature* 472, 437-442.

Peca, J., Feng, G., 2012. Cellular and synaptic network defects in autism. Current opinion in neurobiology 22, 866-872.

Peng, X., Hughes, E.G., Moscato, E.H., Parsons, T.D., Dalmau, J., Balice-Gordon, R.J., 2015. Cellular plasticity induced by anti-alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptor encephalitis antibodies. *Annals of neurology* 77, 381-398.

Petryshen, T.L., Middleton, F.A., Tahl, A.R., Rockwell, G.N., Purcell, S., Aldinger, K.A., Kirby, A., Morley, C.P., McGann, L., Gentile, K.L., Waggoner, S.G., Medeiros, H.M., Carvalho, C., Macedo, A., Albus, M., Maier, W., Trixler, M., Eichhammer, P., Schwab, S.G., Wildenauer, D.B., Azevedo, M.H., Pato, M.T., Pato, C.N., Daly, M.J., Sklar, P., 2005. Genetic investigation of chromosome 5q GABAA receptor subunit genes in schizophrenia. *Molecular psychiatry* 10, 1074-1088, 1057.

Pettit, D.L., Perlman, S., Malinow, R., 1994. Potentiated transmission and prevention of further LTP by increased CaMKII activity in postsynaptic hippocampal slice neurons. *Science* 266, 1881-1885.

Porteous, D., 2008. Genetic causality in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: out with the old and in with the new. *Current opinion in genetics & development* 18, 229-234.

Powell, C.M., Miyakawa, T., 2006. Schizophrenia-relevant behavioral testing in rodent models: a uniquely human disorder? *Biological psychiatry* 59, 1198-1207.

Power, R.A., Tansey, K.E., Buttenschon, H.N., Cohen-Woods, S., Bigdeli, T., Hall, L.S., Kutalik, Z., Lee, S.H., Ripke, S., Steinberg, S., Teumer, A., Viktorin, A., Wray, N.R., Arolt, V., Baune, B.T., Boomsma, D.I., Borglum, A.D., Byrne, E.M., Castelao, E., Craddock, N., Craig, I.W., Dannlowski, U., Deary, I.J., Degenhardt, F., Forstner, A.J., Gordon, S.D., Grabe, H.J., Grove, J., Hamilton, S.P., Hayward, C., Heath, A.C., Hocking, L.J., Homuth, G., Hottenga, J.J., Kloiber, S., Krogh, J., Landen, M., Lang, M., Levinson, D.F., Lichtenstein, P., Lucae, S., MacIntyre, D.J., Madden, P., Magnusson, P.K., Martin, N.G., McIntosh, A.M., Middeldorp, C.M., Milaneschi, Y., Montgomery, G.W., Mors, O., Muller-Myhsok, B., Nyholt, D.R., Oskarsson, H., Owen, M.J., Padmanabhan, S., Penninx, B.W., Pergadia, M.L., Porteous, D.J., Potash, J.B., Preisig, M., Rivera, M., Shi, J., Shyn, S.I., Sigurdsson, E., Smit, J.H., Smith, B.H., Stefansson, H., Stefansson, K., Strohmaier, J., Sullivan, P.F., Thomson, P., Thorgeirsson, T.E., Van der Auwera, S., Weissman, M.M., Converge Consortium, C.C.G.C., Breen, G., Lewis, C.M., 2017. Genome-wide Association for Major Depression Through Age at Onset Stratification: Major Depressive Disorder Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium. *Biological psychiatry* 81, 325-335.

Price, M.G., Davis, C.F., Deng, F., Burgess, D.L., 2005. The alpha-amino-3-hydroxyl-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionate receptor trafficking regulator "stargazin" is related to the claudin family of proteins by Its ability to mediate cell-cell adhesion. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 280, 19711-19720.

Priel, A., Kolleker, A., Ayalon, G., Gillor, M., Osten, P., Stern-Bach, Y., 2005. Stargazin reduces desensitization and slows deactivation of the AMPA-type glutamate receptors. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 25, 2682-2686.

Purcell, S.M., Moran, J.L., Fromer, M., Ruderfer, D., Solovieff, N., Roussos, P., O'Dushlaine, C., Chambert, K., Bergen, S.E., Kahler, A., Duncan, L., Stahl, E., Genovese, G., Fernandez, E., Collins, M.O., Komiyama, N.H., Choudhary, J.S., Magnusson, P.K., Banks, E., Shakir, K., Garimella, K., Fennell, T., DePristo, M., Grant, S.G., Haggarty, S.J., Gabriel, S., Scolnick, E.M., Lander, E.S., Hultman, C.M., Sullivan, P.F., McCarroll, S.A., Sklar, P., 2014. A polygenic burden of rare disruptive mutations in schizophrenia. *Nature* 506, 185-190.

Qiao, X., Chen, L., Gao, H., Bao, S., Hefti, F., Thompson, R.F., Knusel, B., 1998. Cerebellar brain-derived neurotrophic factor-TrkB defect associated with impairment of eyeblink conditioning in Stargazer mutant mice. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 18, 6990-6999.

Qin, S., Zhao, X., Pan, Y., Liu, J., Feng, G., Fu, J., Bao, J., Zhang, Z., He, L., 2005. An association study of the N-methyl-Daspartate receptor NR1 subunit gene (GRIN1) and NR2B subunit gene (GRIN2B) in schizophrenia with universal DNA microarray. *European journal of human genetics : EJHG* 13, 807-814.

Ramiro-Cortes, Y., Israely, I., 2013. Long lasting protein synthesis- and activity-dependent spine shrinkage and elimination after synaptic depression. *PloS one* 8, e71155.

Ramocki, M.B., Zoghbi, H.Y., 2008. Failure of neuronal homeostasis results in common neuropsychiatric phenotypes. *Nature* 455, 912-918.

Rauch, A., Wieczorek, D., Graf, E., Wieland, T., Endele, S., Schwarzmayr, T., Albrecht, B., Bartholdi, D., Beygo, J., Di Donato, N., Dufke, A., Cremer, K., Hempel, M., Horn, D., Hoyer, J., Joset, P., Ropke, A., Moog, U., Riess, A., Thiel, C.T., Tzschach, A., Wiesener, A., Wohlleber, E., Zweier, C., Ekici, A.B., Zink, A.M., Rump, A., Meisinger, C., Grallert, H., Sticht, H., Schenck, A., Engels, H., Rappold, G., Schrock, E., Wieacker, P., Riess, O., Meitinger, T., Reis, A., Strom, T.M., 2012. Range of genetic mutations associated with severe non-syndromic sporadic intellectual disability: an exome sequencing study. *Lancet* 380, 1674-1682.

Rees, E., Kendall, K., Pardinas, A.F., Legge, S.E., Pocklington, A., Escott-Price, V., MacCabe, J.H., Collier, D.A., Holmans, P., O'Donovan, M.C., Owen, M.J., Walters, J.T., Kirov, G., 2016. Analysis of Intellectual Disability Copy Number Variants for Association With Schizophrenia. *JAMA psychiatry* 73, 963-969.

Reisel, D., Bannerman, D.M., Schmitt, W.B., Deacon, R.M., Flint, J., Borchardt, T., Seeburg, P.H., Rawlins, J.N., 2002. Spatial memory dissociations in mice lacking GluR1. *Nature neuroscience* **5**, 868-873.

Riecher-Rossler, A., 2017a. Oestrogens, prolactin, hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis, and schizophrenic psychoses. *The lancet. Psychiatry* 4, 63-72.

Riecher-Rossler, A., 2017b. Sex and gender differences in mental disorders. The lancet. Psychiatry 4, 8-9.

Roche, K.W., O'Brien, R.J., Mammen, A.L., Bernhardt, J., Huganir, R.L., 1996. Characterization of multiple phosphorylation sites on the AMPA receptor GluR1 subunit. *Neuron* 16, 1179-1188.

Rogasch, N.C., Daskalakis, Z.J., Fitzgerald, P.B., 2014. Cortical inhibition, excitation, and connectivity in schizophrenia: a review of insights from transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Schizophrenia bulletin* 40, 685-696.

Rosenmund, C., Carr, D.W., Bergeson, S.E., Nilaver, G., Scott, J.D., Westbrook, G.L., 1994. Anchoring of protein kinase A is required for modulation of AMPA/kainate receptors on hippocampal neurons. *Nature* 368, 853-856.

Rujescu, D., Ingason, A., Cichon, S., Pietilainen, O.P., Barnes, M.R., Toulopoulou, T., Picchioni, M., Vassos, E., Ettinger, U., Bramon, E., Murray, R., Ruggeri, M., Tosato, S., Bonetto, C., Steinberg, S., Sigurdsson, E., Sigmundsson, T., Petursson, H., Gylfason, A., Olason, P.I., Hardarsson, G., Jonsdottir, G.A., Gustafsson, O., Fossdal, R., Giegling, I., Moller, H.J., Hartmann, A.M., Hoffmann, P., Crombie, C., Fraser, G., Walker, N., Lonnqvist, J., Suvisaari, J., Tuulio-Henriksson, A., Djurovic, S., Melle, I., Andreassen, O.A., Hansen, T., Werge, T., Kiemeney, L.A., Franke, B., Veltman, J., Buizer-Voskamp, J.E., Investigators, G., Sabatti, C., Ophoff, R.A., Rietschel, M., Nothen, M.M., Stefansson, K., Peltonen, L., St Clair, D., Stefansson, H., Collier, D.A., 2009. Disruption of the neurexin 1 gene is associated with schizophrenia. *Human molecular genetics* 18, 988-996.

Russell, T.A., Blizinsky, K.D., Cobia, D.J., Cahill, M.E., Xie, Z., Sweet, R.A., Duan, J., Gejman, P.V., Wang, L., Csernansky, J.G., Penzes, P., 2014. A sequence variant in human KALRN impairs protein function and coincides with reduced cortical thickness. *Nature communications* **5**, 4858.

Sakimura, K., Kutsuwada, T., Ito, I., Manabe, T., Takayama, C., Kushiya, E., Yagi, T., Aizawa, S., Inoue, Y., Sugiyama, H., et al., 1995. Reduced hippocampal LTP and spatial learning in mice lacking NMDA receptor epsilon 1 subunit. *Nature* 373, 151-155.

Sanchez-Santed, F., de Bruin, J.P., Heinsbroek, R.P., Verwer, R.W., 1997. Spatial delayed alternation of rats in a T-maze: effects of neurotoxic lesions of the medial prefrontal cortex and of T-maze rotations. *Behavioural brain research* 84, 73-79.

Sanders, A.R., Rusu, I., Duan, J., Vander Molen, J.E., Hou, C., Schwab, S.G., Wildenauer, D.B., Martinez, M., Gejman, P.V., 2005. Haplotypic association spanning the 22q11.21 genes COMT and ARVCF with schizophrenia. *Molecular psychiatry* 10, 353-365.

Sanderson, D.J., Good, M.A., Skelton, K., Sprengel, R., Seeburg, P.H., Rawlins, J.N., Bannerman, D.M., 2009. Enhanced long-term and impaired short-term spatial memory in GluA1 AMPA receptor subunit knockout mice: evidence for a dual-process memory model. *Learning & memory* 16, 379-386.

Santos, S.D., Carvalho, A.L., Caldeira, M.V., Duarte, C.B., 2009. Regulation of AMPA receptors and synaptic plasticity. *Neuroscience* 158, 105-125.

Santos, S.D., Iuliano, O., Ribeiro, L., Veran, J., Ferreira, J.S., Rio, P., Mulle, C., Duarte, C.B., Carvalho, A.L., 2012. Contactinassociated protein 1 (Caspr1) regulates the traffic and synaptic content of alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA)-type glutamate receptors. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 287, 6868-6877.

Schizophrenia Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics, C., 2014. Biological insights from 108 schizophreniaassociated genetic loci. *Nature* 511, 421-427.

Schmidt-Kastner, R., van Os, J., H, W.M.S., Schmitz, C., 2006. Gene regulation by hypoxia and the neurodevelopmental origin of schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia research* 84, 253-271.

Schnell, E., Sizemore, M., Karimzadegan, S., Chen, L., Bredt, D.S., Nicoll, R.A., 2002. Direct interactions between PSD-95 and stargazin control synaptic AMPA receptor number. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 99, 13902-13907.

Scorza, C.A., Cavalheiro, E.A., 2011. Animal models of intellectual disability: towards a translational approach. *Clinics* 66 Suppl 1, 55-63.

Seager, M.C., O'Brien, G., 2003. Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: review of ADHD in learning disability: the Diagnostic Criteria for Psychiatric Disorders for Use with Adults with Learning Disabilities/Mental Retardation[DC-LD] criteria for diagnosis. *Journal of intellectual disability research : JIDR* 47 Suppl 1, 26-31.

Seeman, P., Lee, T., Chau-Wong, M., Wong, K., 1976. Antipsychotic drug doses and neuroleptic/dopamine receptors. *Nature* 261, 717-719.

Shaikh, S.A., Dolino, D.M., Lee, G., Chatterjee, S., MacLean, D.M., Flatebo, C., Landes, C.F., Jayaraman, V., 2016. Stargazin Modulation of AMPA Receptors. *Cell reports* 17, 328-335.

Shanks, N.F., Maruo, T., Farina, A.N., Ellisman, M.H., Nakagawa, T., 2010. Contribution of the global subunit structure and stargazin on the maturation of AMPA receptors. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 30, 2728-2740.

Shelley, C., Farrant, M., Cull-Candy, S.G., 2012. TARP-associated AMPA receptors display an increased maximum channel conductance and multiple kinetically distinct open states. *The Journal of physiology* 590, 5723-5738.

Shepherd, F.A., Rosell, R., 2007. Weighing tumor biology in treatment decisions for patients with non-small cell lung cancer. *Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer* 2 Suppl 2, S68-76.

Shepherd, J.D., Huganir, R.L., 2007. The cell biology of synaptic plasticity: AMPA receptor trafficking. *Annual review of cell and developmental biology* 23, 613-643.

Shepherd, J.D., Rumbaugh, G., Wu, J., Chowdhury, S., Plath, N., Kuhl, D., Huganir, R.L., Worley, P.F., 2006. Arc/Arg3.1 mediates homeostatic synaptic scaling of AMPA receptors. *Neuron* 52, 475-484.

Shevtsova, O., Leitch, B., 2012. Selective loss of AMPA receptor subunits at inhibitory neuron synapses in the cerebellum of the ataxic stargazer mouse. *Brain research* 1427, 54-64.

Shi, Y., Lu, W., Milstein, A.D., Nicoll, R.A., 2009. The stoichiometry of AMPA receptors and TARPs varies by neuronal cell type. *Neuron* 62, 633-640.

Shoubridge, C., Tarpey, P.S., Abidi, F., Ramsden, S.L., Rujirabanjerd, S., Murphy, J.A., Boyle, J., Shaw, M., Gardner, A., Proos, A., Puusepp, H., Raymond, F.L., Schwartz, C.E., Stevenson, R.E., Turner, G., Field, M., Walikonis, R.S., Harvey, R.J., Hackett, A., Futreal, P.A., Stratton, M.R., Gecz, J., 2010. Mutations in the guanine nucleotide exchange factor gene IQSEC2 cause nonsyndromic intellectual disability. *Nature genetics* 42, 486-488.

Silberberg, G., Levit, A., Collier, D., St Clair, D., Munro, J., Kerwin, R.W., Tondo, L., Floris, G., Breen, G., Navon, R., 2008. Stargazin involvement with bipolar disorder and response to lithium treatment. *Pharmacogenetics and genomics* 18, 403-412.

Silva, A.J., Stevens, C.F., Tonegawa, S., Wang, Y., 1992. Deficient hippocampal long-term potentiation in alpha-calciumcalmodulin kinase II mutant mice. *Science* 257, 201-206.

Singh, J.P., Volavka, J., Czobor, P., Van Dorn, R.A., 2012. A meta-analysis of the Val158Met COMT polymorphism and violent behavior in schizophrenia. *PloS one* 7, e43423.

Sklar, P., Pato, M.T., Kirby, A., Petryshen, T.L., Medeiros, H., Carvalho, C., Macedo, A., Dourado, A., Coelho, I., Valente, J., Soares, M.J., Ferreira, C.P., Lei, M., Verner, A., Hudson, T.J., Morley, C.P., Kennedy, J.L., Azevedo, M.H., Lander, E., Daly, M.J., Pato, C.N., 2004. Genome-wide scan in Portuguese Island families identifies 5q31-5q35 as a susceptibility locus for schizophrenia and psychosis. *Molecular psychiatry* 9, 213-218.

Smith, S.E., Zhou, Y.D., Zhang, G., Jin, Z., Stoppel, D.C., Anderson, M.P., 2011. Increased gene dosage of Ube3a results in autism traits and decreased glutamate synaptic transmission in mice. *Science translational medicine* 3, 103ra197.

Sommer, B., Keinanen, K., Verdoorn, T.A., Wisden, W., Burnashev, N., Herb, A., Kohler, M., Takagi, T., Sakmann, B., Seeburg, P.H., 1990. Flip and flop: a cell-specific functional switch in glutamate-operated channels of the CNS. *Science* 249, 1580-1585.

Song, I., Huganir, R.L., 2002. Regulation of AMPA receptors during synaptic plasticity. *Trends in neurosciences* 25, 578-588.

Soto, D., Coombs, I.D., Gratacos-Batlle, E., Farrant, M., Cull-Candy, S.G., 2014. Molecular mechanisms contributing to TARP regulation of channel conductance and polyamine block of calcium-permeable AMPA receptors. *The Journal of neuroscience* : *the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 34, 11673-11683.

Soto, D., Coombs, I.D., Kelly, L., Farrant, M., Cull-Candy, S.G., 2007. Stargazin attenuates intracellular polyamine block of calcium-permeable AMPA receptors. *Nature neuroscience* 10, 1260-1267.

Stahl, S., 2013. Stahl's Essential Psychopharmacology.

Starkey, M., Elaswarapu, R., 2010. Genomics: Essential methods. Wiley.

Stefansson, H., Rujescu, D., Cichon, S., Pietilainen, O.P., Ingason, A., Steinberg, S., Fossdal, R., Sigurdsson, E., Sigmundsson, T., Buizer-Voskamp, J.E., Hansen, T., Jakobsen, K.D., Muglia, P., Francks, C., Matthews, P.M., Gylfason, A., Halldorsson, B.V., Gudbjartsson, D., Thorgeirsson, T.E., Sigurdsson, A., Jonasdottir, A., Jonasdottir, A., Bjornsson, A., Mattiasdottir, S., Blondal, T., Haraldsson, M., Magnusdottir, B.B., Giegling, I., Moller, H.J., Hartmann, A., Shianna, K.V., Ge, D., Need, A.C., Crombie, C., Fraser, G., Walker, N., Lonnqvist, J., Suvisaari, J., Tuulio-Henriksson, A., Paunio, T., Toulopoulou, T., Bramon, E., Di Forti, M., Murray, R., Ruggeri, M., Vassos, E., Tosato, S., Walshe, M., Li, T., Vasilescu, C., Muhleisen, T.W., Wang, A.G., Ullum, H., Djurovic, S., Melle, I., Olesen, J., Kiemeney, L.A., Franke, B., Group, Sabatti, C., Freimer, N.B., Gulcher, J.R., Thorsteinsdottir, U., Kong, A., Andreassen, O.A., Ophoff, R.A., Georgi, A., Rietschel, M., Werge, T., Petursson, H., Goldstein, D.B., Nothen, M.M., Peltonen, L., Collier, D.A., St Clair, D., Stefansson, K., 2008. Large recurrent microdeletions associated with schizophrenia. *Nature* 455, 232-236.

Stefansson, H., Sigurdsson, E., Steinthorsdottir, V., Bjornsdottir, S., Sigmundsson, T., Ghosh, S., Brynjolfsson, J., Gunnarsdottir, S., Ivarsson, O., Chou, T.T., Hjaltason, O., Birgisdottir, B., Jonsson, H., Gudnadottir, V.G., Gudmundsdottir, E., Bjornsson, A., Ingvarsson, B., Ingason, A., Sigfusson, S., Hardardottir, H., Harvey, R.P., Lai, D., Zhou, M., Brunner, D., Mutel, V., Gonzalo, A., Lemke, G., Sainz, J., Johannesson, G., Andresson, T., Gudbjartsson, D., Manolescu, A., Frigge, M.L., Gurney, M.E., Kong, A., Gulcher, J.R., Petursson, H., Stefansson, K., 2002. Neuregulin 1 and susceptibility to schizophrenia. *American journal of human genetics* **71**, 877-892.

Steffek, A.E., Haroutunian, V., Meador-Woodruff, J.H., 2006. Serine racemase protein expression in cortex and hippocampus in schizophrenia. *Neuroreport* 17, 1181-1185.

Stein, E.L., Chetkovich, D.M., 2010. Regulation of stargazin synaptic trafficking by C-terminal PDZ ligand phosphorylation in bidirectional synaptic plasticity. *Journal of neurochemistry* 113, 42-53.

Stephenson, J.R., Wang, X., Perfitt, T.L., Parrish, W.P., Shonesy, B.C., Marks, C.R., Mortlock, D.P., Nakagawa, T., Sutcliffe, J.S., Colbran, R.J., 2017. A Novel Human CAMK2A Mutation Disrupts Dendritic Morphology and Synaptic Transmission, and Causes ASD-Related Behaviors. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 37, 2216-2233.

Straub, R.E., Lipska, B.K., Egan, M.F., Goldberg, T.E., Callicott, J.H., Mayhew, M.B., Vakkalanka, R.K., Kolachana, B.S., Kleinman, J.E., Weinberger, D.R., 2007. Allelic variation in GAD1 (GAD67) is associated with schizophrenia and influences cortical function and gene expression. *Molecular psychiatry* 12, 854-869.

Sullivan, P.F., Kendler, K.S., Neale, M.C., 2003. Schizophrenia as a complex trait: evidence from a meta-analysis of twin studies. *Archives of general psychiatry* 60, 1187-1192.

Sumioka, A., Yan, D., Tomita, S., 2010. TARP phosphorylation regulates synaptic AMPA receptors through lipid bilayers. *Neuron* 66, 755-767.

Sun, C., Cheng, M.C., Qin, R., Liao, D.L., Chen, T.T., Koong, F.J., Chen, G., Chen, C.H., 2011. Identification and functional characterization of rare mutations of the neuroligin-2 gene (NLGN2) associated with schizophrenia. *Human molecular genetics* 20, 3042-3051.

Sun, Q., Turrigiano, G.G., 2011. PSD-95 and PSD-93 play critical but distinct roles in synaptic scaling up and down. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 31, 6800-6808.

Sutton, M.A., Ito, H.T., Cressy, P., Kempf, C., Woo, J.C., Schuman, E.M., 2006. Miniature neurotransmission stabilizes synaptic function via tonic suppression of local dendritic protein synthesis. *Cell* 125, 785-799.

Suzuki, G., Harper, K.M., Hiramoto, T., Funke, B., Lee, M., Kang, G., Buell, M., Geyer, M.A., Kucherlapati, R., Morrow, B., Mannisto, P.T., Agatsuma, S., Hiroi, N., 2009. Over-expression of a human chromosome 22q11.2 segment including TXNRD2, COMT and ARVCF developmentally affects incentive learning and working memory in mice. *Human molecular genetics* 18, 3914-3925.

Svenningsson, P., Bateup, H., Qi, H., Takamiya, K., Huganir, R.L., Spedding, M., Roth, B.L., McEwen, B.S., Greengard, P., 2007. Involvement of AMPA receptor phosphorylation in antidepressant actions with special reference to tianeptine. *The European journal of neuroscience* 26, 3509-3517. Szegedi, V., Juhasz, G., Zhang, X., Barkoczi, B., Qi, H., Madeira, A., Kapus, G., Svenningsson, P., Spedding, M., Penke, B., 2011. Tianeptine potentiates AMPA receptors by activating CaMKII and PKA via the p38, p42/44 MAPK and JNK pathways. *Neurochemistry international* 59, 1109-1122.

Takao, K., Toyama, K., Nakanishi, K., Hattori, S., Takamura, H., Takeda, M., Miyakawa, T., Hashimoto, R., 2008. Impaired long-term memory retention and working memory in sdy mutant mice with a deletion in Dtnbp1, a susceptibility gene for schizophrenia. *Molecular brain* 1, 11.

Talbot, K., 2009. The sandy (sdy) mouse: a dysbindin-1 mutant relevant to schizophrenia research. *Progress in brain research* 179, 87-94.

Tan, S.E., Wenthold, R.J., Soderling, T.R., 1994. Phosphorylation of AMPA-type glutamate receptors by calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II and protein kinase C in cultured hippocampal neurons. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 14, 1123-1129.

Tang, J., Chen, X., Xu, X., Wu, R., Zhao, J., Hu, Z., Xia, K., 2006. Significant linkage and association between a functional (GT)n polymorphism in promoter of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunit gene (GRIN2A) and schizophrenia. *Neuroscience letters* 409, 80-82.

Tao, Y., Chen, Y.J., Shen, C., Luo, Z., Bates, C.R., Lee, D., Marchetto, S., Gao, T.M., Borg, J.P., Xiong, W.C., Mei, L., 2013. Erbin interacts with TARP gamma-2 for surface expression of AMPA receptors in cortical interneurons. *Nature neuroscience* 16, 290-299.

Tarpey, P., Parnau, J., Blow, M., Woffendin, H., Bignell, G., Cox, C., Cox, J., Davies, H., Edkins, S., Holden, S., Korny, A., Mallya, U., Moon, J., O'Meara, S., Parker, A., Stephens, P., Stevens, C., Teague, J., Donnelly, A., Mangelsdorf, M., Mulley, J., Partington, M., Turner, G., Stevenson, R., Schwartz, C., Young, I., Easton, D., Bobrow, M., Futreal, P.A., Stratton, M.R., Gecz, J., Wooster, R., Raymond, F.L., 2004. Mutations in the DLG3 gene cause nonsyndromic X-linked mental retardation. *American journal of human genetics* 75, 318-324.

The Dutch-Belgian Fragile X Consortium, T.D.-B.F.X.C., 1994. Fmr1 knockout mice: a model to study fragile X mental retardation. The Dutch-Belgian Fragile X Consortium. *Cell* 78, 23-33.

Thevenon, J., Callier, P., Andrieux, J., Delobel, B., David, A., Sukno, S., Minot, D., Mosca Anne, L., Marle, N., Sanlaville, D., Bonnet, M., Masurel-Paulet, A., Levy, F., Gaunt, L., Farrell, S., Le Caignec, C., Toutain, A., Carmignac, V., Mugneret, F., Clayton-Smith, J., Thauvin-Robinet, C., Faivre, L., 2013. 12p13.33 microdeletion including ELKS/ERC1, a new locus associated with childhood apraxia of speech. *European journal of human genetics : EJHG* 21, 82-88.

Thompson, C.L., Tehrani, M.H., Barnes, E.M., Jr., Stephenson, F.A., 1998. Decreased expression of GABAA receptor alpha6 and beta3 subunits in stargazer mutant mice: a possible role for brain-derived neurotrophic factor in the regulation of cerebellar GABAA receptor expression? *Brain research. Molecular brain research* 60, 282-290.

Tomita, S., Adesnik, H., Sekiguchi, M., Zhang, W., Wada, K., Howe, J.R., Nicoll, R.A., Bredt, D.S., 2005a. Stargazin modulates AMPA receptor gating and trafficking by distinct domains. *Nature* 435, 1052-1058.

Tomita, S., Chen, L., Kawasaki, Y., Petralia, R.S., Wenthold, R.J., Nicoll, R.A., Bredt, D.S., 2003. Functional studies and distribution define a family of transmembrane AMPA receptor regulatory proteins. *The Journal of cell biology* 161, 805-816.

Tomita, S., Fukata, M., Nicoll, R.A., Bredt, D.S., 2004. Dynamic interaction of stargazin-like TARPs with cycling AMPA receptors at synapses. *Science* 303, 1508-1511.

Tomita, S., Sekiguchi, M., Wada, K., Nicoll, R.A., Bredt, D.S., 2006. Stargazin controls the pharmacology of AMPA receptor potentiators. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 103, 10064-10067.

Tomita, S., Shenoy, A., Fukata, Y., Nicoll, R.A., Bredt, D.S., 2007. Stargazin interacts functionally with the AMPA receptor glutamate-binding module. *Neuropharmacology* 52, 87-91.

Tomita, S., Stein, V., Stocker, T.J., Nicoll, R.A., Bredt, D.S., 2005b. Bidirectional synaptic plasticity regulated by phosphorylation of stargazin-like TARPs. *Neuron* 45, 269-277.

Toonen, R.F., Wierda, K., Sons, M.S., de Wit, H., Cornelisse, L.N., Brussaard, A., Plomp, J.J., Verhage, M., 2006. Munc18-1 expression levels control synapse recovery by regulating readily releasable pool size. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 103, 18332-18337.

Toro, C., Deakin, J.F., 2005. NMDA receptor subunit NRI and postsynaptic protein PSD-95 in hippocampus and orbitofrontal cortex in schizophrenia and mood disorder. *Schizophrenia research* 80, 323-330.

Torres-Lista, V., Gimenez-Llort, L., 2013. Impairment of nesting behaviour in 3xTg-AD mice. *Behavioural brain research* 247, 153-157.

Tran Mau-Them, F., Willems, M., Albrecht, B., Sanchez, E., Puechberty, J., Endele, S., Schneider, A., Ruiz Pallares, N., Missirian, C., Rivier, F., Girard, M., Holder, M., Manouvrier, S., Touitou, I., Lefort, G., Sarda, P., Moncla, A., Drunat, S., Wieczorek, D., Genevieve, D., 2014. Expanding the phenotype of IQSEC2 mutations: truncating mutations in severe intellectual disability. *European journal of human genetics : EJHG* 22, 289-292.

Trautmann, S., Rehm, J., Wittchen, H.U., 2016. The economic costs of mental disorders: Do our societies react appropriately to the burden of mental disorders? *EMBO reports* 17, 1245-1249.

Tucholski, J., Simmons, M.S., Pinner, A.L., Haroutunian, V., McCullumsmith, R.E., Meador-Woodruff, J.H., 2013. Abnormal N-linked glycosylation of cortical AMPA receptor subunits in schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia research* 146, 177-183.

Turetsky, D., Garringer, E., Patneau, D.K., 2005. Stargazin modulates native AMPA receptor functional properties by two distinct mechanisms. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 25, 7438-7448.

Turrigiano, G.G., Leslie, K.R., Desai, N.S., Rutherford, L.C., Nelson, S.B., 1998. Activity-dependent scaling of quantal amplitude in neocortical neurons. *Nature* 391, 892-896.

Twomey, E.C., Yelshanskaya, M.V., Grassucci, R.A., Frank, J., Sobolevsky, A.I., 2016. Elucidation of AMPA receptor-stargazin complexes by cryo-electron microscopy. *Science* 353, 83-86.

Uematsu, K., Heiman, M., Zelenina, M., Padovan, J., Chait, B.T., Aperia, A., Nishi, A., Greengard, P., 2015. Protein kinase A directly phosphorylates metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 to modulate its function. *Journal of neurochemistry* 132, 677-686.

van Asselen, M., Kessels, R.P., Neggers, S.F., Kappelle, L.J., Frijns, C.J., Postma, A., 2006. Brain areas involved in spatial working memory. *Neuropsychologia* 44, 1185-1194.

van den Buuse, M., 2010. Modeling the positive symptoms of schizophrenia in genetically modified mice: pharmacology and methodology aspects. *Schizophrenia bulletin* 36, 246-270.

van Os, J., Kenis, G., Rutten, B.P., 2010. The environment and schizophrenia. Nature 468, 203-212.

Vandenberghe, W., Nicoll, R.A., Bredt, D.S., 2005a. Interaction with the unfolded protein response reveals a role for stargazin in biosynthetic AMPA receptor transport. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 25, 1095-1102.

Vandenberghe, W., Nicoll, R.A., Bredt, D.S., 2005b. Stargazin is an AMPA receptor auxiliary subunit. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 102, 485-490.

Velosky, A.G., Tucker, L.B., Fu, A.H., Liu, J., McCabe, J.T., 2017. Cognitive performance of male and female C57BL/6J mice after repetitive concussive brain injuries. *Behavioural brain research* 324, 115-124.

Vergult, S., Dauber, A., Delle Chiaie, B., Van Oudenhove, E., Simon, M., Rihani, A., Loeys, B., Hirschhorn, J., Pfotenhauer, J., Phillips, J.A., 3rd, Mohammed, S., Ogilvie, C., Crolla, J., Mortier, G., Menten, B., 2012. 17q24.2 microdeletions: a new syndromal entity with intellectual disability, truncal obesity, mood swings and hallucinations. *European journal of human genetics : EJHG* 20, 534-539.

Verhage, M., Maia, A.S., Plomp, J.J., Brussaard, A.B., Heeroma, J.H., Vermeer, H., Toonen, R.F., Hammer, R.E., van den Berg, T.K., Missler, M., Geuze, H.J., Sudhof, T.C., 2000. Synaptic assembly of the brain in the absence of neurotransmitter secretion. *Science* 287, 864-869.

Verrall, L., Walker, M., Rawlings, N., Benzel, I., Kew, J.N., Harrison, P.J., Burnet, P.W., 2007. d-Amino acid oxidase and serine racemase in human brain: normal distribution and altered expression in schizophrenia. *The European journal of neuroscience* 26, 1657-1669.

Volk, D.W., Eggan, S.M., Lewis, D.A., 2010. Alterations in metabotropic glutamate receptor 1alpha and regulator of G protein signaling 4 in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. *The American journal of psychiatry* 167, 1489-1498.

Volk, D.W., Pierri, J.N., Fritschy, J.M., Auh, S., Sampson, A.R., Lewis, D.A., 2002. Reciprocal alterations in pre- and postsynaptic inhibitory markers at chandelier cell inputs to pyramidal neurons in schizophrenia. *Cerebral cortex* 12, 1063-1070.

Volk, L., Chiu, S.L., Sharma, K., Huganir, R.L., 2015. Glutamate synapses in human cognitive disorders. *Annual review of neuroscience* 38, 127-149.

von Engelhardt, J., Mack, V., Sprengel, R., Kavenstock, N., Li, K.W., Stern-Bach, Y., Smit, A.B., Seeburg, P.H., Monyer, H., 2010. CKAMP44: a brain-specific protein attenuating short-term synaptic plasticity in the dentate gyrus. *Science* 327, 1518-1522.

Walsh, R.N., Cummins, R.A., 1976. The Open-Field Test: a critical review. Psychological bulletin 83, 482-504.

Walsh, T., McClellan, J.M., McCarthy, S.E., Addington, A.M., Pierce, S.B., Cooper, G.M., Nord, A.S., Kusenda, M., Malhotra, D., Bhandari, A., Stray, S.M., Rippey, C.F., Roccanova, P., Makarov, V., Lakshmi, B., Findling, R.L., Sikich, L., Stromberg, T., Merriman, B., Gogtay, N., Butler, P., Eckstrand, K., Noory, L., Gochman, P., Long, R., Chen, Z., Davis, S., Baker, C., Eichler, E.E., Meltzer, P.S., Nelson, S.F., Singleton, A.B., Lee, M.K., Rapoport, J.L., King, M.C., Sebat, J., 2008. Rare structural variants disrupt multiple genes in neurodevelopmental pathways in schizophrenia. *Science* 320, 539-543.

Walss-Bass, C., Liu, W., Lew, D.F., Villegas, R., Montero, P., Dassori, A., Leach, R.J., Almasy, L., Escamilla, M., Raventos, H., 2006. A novel missense mutation in the transmembrane domain of neuregulin 1 is associated with schizophrenia. *Biological psychiatry* 60, 548-553.

Wang, L.Y., Dudek, E.M., Browning, M.D., MacDonald, J.F., 1994. Modulation of AMPA/kainate receptors in cultured murine hippocampal neurones by protein kinase C. *The Journal of physiology* 475, 431-437.

Ward, S.E., Pennicott, L.E., Beswick, P., 2015. AMPA receptor-positive allosteric modulators for the treatment of schizophrenia: an overview of recent patent applications. *Future medicinal chemistry* **7**, 473-491.

Wei, M., Zhang, J., Jia, M., Yang, C., Pan, Y., Li, S., Luo, Y., Zheng, J., Ji, J., Chen, J., Hu, X., Xiong, J., Shi, Y., Zhang, C., 2016. alpha/beta-Hydrolase domain-containing 6 (ABHD6) negatively regulates the surface delivery and synaptic function of AMPA receptors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 113, E2695-2704.

Weickert, C.S., Fung, S.J., Catts, V.S., Schofield, P.R., Allen, K.M., Moore, L.T., Newell, K.A., Pellen, D., Huang, X.F., Catts, S.V., Weickert, T.W., 2013. Molecular evidence of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor hypofunction in schizophrenia. *Molecular psychiatry* 18, 1185-1192.

Weickert, C.S., Straub, R.E., McClintock, B.W., Matsumoto, M., Hashimoto, R., Hyde, T.M., Herman, M.M., Weinberger, D.R., Kleinman, J.E., 2004. Human dysbindin (DTNBP1) gene expression in normal brain and in schizophrenic prefrontal cortex and midbrain. *Archives of general psychiatry* 61, 544-555.

Wenthold, R.J., Petralia, R.S., Blahos, J., II, Niedzielski, A.S., 1996. Evidence for multiple AMPA receptor complexes in hippocampal CA1/CA2 neurons. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 16, 1982-1989.

Widagdo, J., Chai, Y.J., Ridder, M.C., Chau, Y.Q., Johnson, R.C., Sah, P., Huganir, R.L., Anggono, V., 2015. Activity-Dependent Ubiquitination of GluA1 and GluA2 Regulates AMPA Receptor Intracellular Sorting and Degradation. *Cell reports*.

Wiedholz, L.M., Owens, W.A., Horton, R.E., Feyder, M., Karlsson, R.M., Hefner, K., Sprengel, R., Celikel, T., Daws, L.C., Holmes, A., 2008. Mice lacking the AMPA GluR1 receptor exhibit striatal hyperdopaminergia and 'schizophrenia-related' behaviors. *Molecular psychiatry* 13, 631-640.

Wiegert, J.S., Oertner, T.G., 2013. Long-term depression triggers the selective elimination of weakly integrated synapses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 110, E4510-4519.

Wilson, G.M., Flibotte, S., Chopra, V., Melnyk, B.L., Honer, W.G., Holt, R.A., 2006. DNA copy-number analysis in bipolar disorder and schizophrenia reveals aberrations in genes involved in glutamate signaling. *Human molecular genetics* 15, 743-749.

Won, H., Lee, H.R., Gee, H.Y., Mah, W., Kim, J.I., Lee, J., Ha, S., Chung, C., Jung, E.S., Cho, Y.S., Park, S.G., Lee, J.S., Lee, K., Kim, D., Bae, Y.C., Kaang, B.K., Lee, M.G., Kim, E., 2012. Autistic-like social behaviour in Shank2-mutant mice improved by restoring NMDA receptor function. *Nature* 486, 261-265.

Wondolowski, J., Dickman, D., 2013. Emerging links between homeostatic synaptic plasticity and neurological disease. *Front Cell Neurosci* **7**, 223.

Woo, T.U., Walsh, J.P., Benes, F.M., 2004. Density of glutamic acid decarboxylase 67 messenger RNA-containing neurons that express the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunit NR2A in the anterior cingulate cortex in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Archives of general psychiatry* 61, 649-657.

Wright, A., Vissel, B., 2012. The essential role of AMPA receptor GluR2 subunit RNA editing in the normal and diseased brain. *Frontiers in molecular neuroscience* 5, 34.

Wu, Y., Arai, A.C., Rumbaugh, G., Srivastava, A.K., Turner, G., Hayashi, T., Suzuki, E., Jiang, Y., Zhang, L., Rodriguez, J., Boyle, J., Tarpey, P., Raymond, F.L., Nevelsteen, J., Froyen, G., Stratton, M., Futreal, A., Gecz, J., Stevenson, R., Schwartz, C.E., Valle, D., Huganir, R.L., Wang, T., 2007. Mutations in ionotropic AMPA receptor 3 alter channel properties and are associated with moderate cognitive impairment in humans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 104, 18163-18168.

Yamazaki, M., Ohno-Shosaku, T., Fukaya, M., Kano, M., Watanabe, M., Sakimura, K., 2004. A novel action of stargazin as an enhancer of AMPA receptor activity. *Neurosci Res* 50, 369-374.

Yang, H.C., Liu, C.M., Liu, Y.L., Chen, C.W., Chang, C.C., Fann, C.S., Chiou, J.J., Yang, U.C., Chen, C.H., Faraone, S.V., Tsuang, M.T., Hwu, H.G., 2013. The DAO gene is associated with schizophrenia and interacts with other genes in the Taiwan Han Chinese population. *PloS one* 8, e60099.

Yang, S.T., Shi, Y., Wang, Q., Peng, J.Y., Li, B.M., 2014. Neuronal representation of working memory in the medial prefrontal cortex of rats. *Molecular brain* 7, 61.

Yashiro, K., Riday, T.T., Condon, K.H., Roberts, A.C., Bernardo, D.R., Prakash, R., Weinberg, R.J., Ehlers, M.D., Philpot, B.D., 2009. Ube3a is required for experience-dependent maturation of the neocortex. *Nature neuroscience* 12, 777-783.

Yin, D.M., Chen, Y.J., Lu, Y.S., Bean, J.C., Sathyamurthy, A., Shen, C., Liu, X., Lin, T.W., Smith, C.A., Xiong, W.C., Mei, L., 2013. Reversal of behavioral deficits and synaptic dysfunction in mice overexpressing neuregulin 1. *Neuron* 78, 644-657.

Yizhar, O., Fenno, L.E., Prigge, M., Schneider, F., Davidson, T.J., O'Shea, D.J., Sohal, V.S., Goshen, I., Finkelstein, J., Paz, J.T., Stehfest, K., Fudim, R., Ramakrishnan, C., Huguenard, J.R., Hegemann, P., Deisseroth, K., 2011. Neocortical excitation/inhibition balance in information processing and social dysfunction. *Nature* 477, 171-178.

Yoon, T., Okada, J., Jung, M.W., Kim, J.J., 2008. Prefrontal cortex and hippocampus subserve different components of working memory in rats. *Learning & memory* 15, 97-105.

Zhang, H., Etherington, L.A., Hafner, A.S., Belelli, D., Coussen, F., Delagrange, P., Chaouloff, F., Spedding, M., Lambert, J.J., Choquet, D., Groc, L., 2013. Regulation of AMPA receptor surface trafficking and synaptic plasticity by a cognitive enhancer and antidepressant molecule. *Molecular psychiatry* **18**, 471-484.

Zhang, W., Wu, J., Ward, M.D., Yang, S., Chuang, Y.A., Xiao, M., Li, R., Leahy, D.J., Worley, P.F., 2015. Structural basis of arc binding to synaptic proteins: implications for cognitive disease. *Neuron* 86, 490-500.

Zhao, Y., Chen, S., Yoshioka, C., Baconguis, I., Gouaux, E., 2016. Architecture of fully occupied GluA2 AMPA receptor-TARP complex elucidated by cryo-EM. *Nature* 536, 108-111.

Zhong, X., Li, H., Chang, Q., 2012. MeCP2 phosphorylation is required for modulating synaptic scaling through mGluR5. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 32, 12841-12847.

Zhou, Y., Kaiser, T., Monteiro, P., Zhang, X., Van der Goes, M.S., Wang, D., Barak, B., Zeng, M., Li, C., Lu, C., Wells, M., Amaya, A., Nguyen, S., Lewis, M., Sanjana, N., Zhou, Y., Zhang, M., Zhang, F., Fu, Z., Feng, G., 2016a. Mice with Shank3 Mutations Associated with ASD and Schizophrenia Display Both Shared and Distinct Defects. *Neuron* 89, 147-162.

Zhou, Z., Hu, Z., Zhang, L., Hu, Z., Liu, H., Liu, Z., Du, J., Zhao, J., Zhou, L., Xia, K., Tang, B., Shen, L., 2016b. Identification of RELN variation p.Thr3192Ser in a Chinese family with schizophrenia. *Scientific reports* 6, 24327.

Zoghbi, H.Y., Bear, M.F., 2012. Synaptic dysfunction in neurodevelopmental disorders associated with autism and intellectual disabilities. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology* 4.

Zweier, C., 2012. Severe Intellectual Disability Associated with Recessive Defects in CNTNAP2 and NRXN1. *Molecular syndromology* 2, 181-185.

Zweier, C., de Jong, E.K., Zweier, M., Orrico, A., Ousager, L.B., Collins, A.L., Bijlsma, E.K., Oortveld, M.A., Ekici, A.B., Reis, A., Schenck, A., Rauch, A., 2009. CNTNAP2 and NRXN1 are mutated in autosomal-recessive Pitt-Hopkins-like mental retardation and determine the level of a common synaptic protein in Drosophila. *American journal of human genetics* 85, 655-666.
